

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems

Romaric Marcilly, Craig E Kuziemsky, Christian Nøhr, Sylvia Pelayo

► To cite this version:

Romaric Marcilly, Craig E Kuziemsky, Christian Nøhr, Sylvia Pelayo. Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems. 265, 2019, Studies in Health Technology and Informatics, 978-1-64368-005-7. 10.3233/SHTI265. hal-04097648

HAL Id: hal-04097648 https://hal.science/hal-04097648

Submitted on 15 May 2023

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

STUDIES IN HEALTH TECHNOLOGY AND INFORMATICS 265

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems



Editors: Romaric Marcilly Craig E. Kuziemsky Christian Nøhr Sylvia Pelayo



The digital transformation of healthcare delivery remains a work in progress, and contextual variation continues to be one of the barriers to the development of sustainable health information technology. Context-sensitive health informatics concerns health information technologies and their environments, which may be people such as patients, users, designers and evaluators, but also non-human constructs such as organizations, work practices, guidelines and protocols, or buildings and markets.

This book presents papers from CSHI 2019, the international conference on Context Sensitive Health Informatics, held in Lille, France, on 23 and 24 August 2019. The subtitle of the conference was Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems, and the thirty papers included here are divided into six sections: understanding organizational contexts; towards sustainable EHR; different contexts for medication errors and patient safety; methods and models to study contexts for health information systems; citizens in health contexts; and designing and evaluating in contexts. Two keynote speeches from the conference are also included.

With its focus on context sensitivity and sustainability in digital healthcare, the book will be of interest to all those working in the field of health informatics.



ISBN 978-1-64368-004-0 (print) ISBN 978-1-64368-005-7 (online) ISSN 0926-9630 (print) ISSN 1879-8365 (online)

CONTEXT SENSITIVE HEALTH INFORMATICS: SUSTAINABILITY IN DYNAMIC ECOSYSTEMS

Studies in Health Technology and Informatics

International health informatics is driven by developments in biomedical technologies and medical informatics research that are advancing in parallel and form one integrated world of information and communication media and result in massive amounts of health data. These components include genomics and precision medicine, machine learning, translational informatics, intelligent systems for clinicians and patients, mobile health applications, data-driven telecommunication and rehabilitative technology, sensors, intelligent home technology, EHR and patient-controlled data, and Internet of Things.

Studies in Health Technology and Informatics (HTI) series was started in 1990 in collaboration with EU programmes that preceded the Horizon 2020 to promote biomedical and health informatics research. It has developed into a highly visible global platform for the dissemination of original research in this field, containing more than 250 volumes of high-quality works from all over the world.

The international Editorial Board selects publications with relevance and quality for the field. All contributions to the volumes in the series are peer reviewed.

The HTI series is indexed by MEDLINE/PubMed; Web of Science: Conference Proceedings Citation Index – Science (CPCI-S) and Book Citation Index – Science (BKCI-S); Google Scholar; Scopus; EMCare.

Series Editors:

- B. Blobel, O. Bodenreider, E. Borycki, M. Braunstein, C. Bühler, J.P. Christensen, R. Cooper,
- R. Cornet, J. Dewen, O. Le Dour, P.C. Dykes, A. Famili, M. González-Sancho, E.J.S. Hovenga, J.W. Jutai, Z. Kolitsi, C.U. Lehmann, J. Mantas, V. Maojo, A. Moen, J.F.M. Molenbroek,
- G. de Moor, M.A. Musen, P.F. Niederer, C. Nøhr, A. Pedotti, N. Peek, O. Rienhoff, G. Riva, W. Rouse, K. Saranto, M.J. Scherer, S. Schürer, E.R. Siegel, C. Safran, N. Sarkar,
- T. Solomonides, E. Tam, J. Tenenbaum, B. Wiederhold, P. Wilson and L.H.W. van der Woude

Volume 265

Recently published in this series

- Vol. 264 L. Ohno-Machado and B. Séroussi (Eds.), MEDINFO 2019: Health and Wellbeing e-Networks for All – Proceedings of the 17th World Congress on Medical and Health Informatics
- Vol. 263 P. Scott, N. de Keizer and A. Georgiou (Eds.), Applied Interdisciplinary Theory in Health Informatics – A Knowledge Base for Practitioners
- Vol. 262 J. Mantas, A. Hasman, P. Gallos, A. Kolokathi, M.S. Househ and J. Liaskos (Eds.), Health Informatics Vision: From Data via Information to Knowledge
- Vol. 261 B. Blobel and M. Giacomini (Eds.), pHealth 2019 Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Wearable Micro and Nano Technologies for Personalized Health – 10–12 June 2019, Genoa, Italy

ISSN 0926-9630 (print) ISSN 1879-8365 (online)

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems

Edited by

Romaric Marcilly

University of Lille, Lille Hospital, France

Craig E. Kuziemsky

University of Ottawa, Canada

Christian Nøhr

University of Southern Denmark, Denmark

and

Sylvia Pelayo University of Lille, Lille Hospital, France



Amsterdam • Berlin • Washington, DC

© 2019 The authors and IOS Press.

This book is published online with Open Access and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0).

ISBN 978-1-64368-004-0 (print) ISBN 978-1-64368-005-7 (online) Library of Congress Control Number: 2019947395 doi: 10.3233/SHTI265

Publisher IOS Press BV Nieuwe Hemweg 6B 1013 BG Amsterdam Netherlands fax: +31 20 687 0019 e-mail: order@iospress.nl

For book sales in the USA and Canada: IOS Press, Inc. 6751 Tepper Drive Clifton, VA 20124 USA Tel.: +1 703 830 6300 Fax: +1 703 830 2300 sales@iospress.com

LEGAL NOTICE

The publisher is not responsible for the use which might be made of the following information.

PRINTED IN THE NETHERLANDS

Preface

This volume presents the papers of the International Conference on "Context Sensitive Health Informatics" held at Lille University in August 2019.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics is about health information technologies and their environments. Environments may be people in different roles such as citizens, patients, users, designers, and evaluators, but also non-human constructs such as organizations, work practices, guidelines and protocols, buildings and markets.

The conference is endorsed by and organized/supported by the International Medical Informatics Association (IMIA) working groups "Human Factors Engineering for Healthcare Informatics" and "Organizational and Social Issues", and by the European Federation for Medical Informatics (EFMI), especially the working group "Human and Organizational Factors in Medical Informatics".

The CSHI 2019 conference is sponsored by Lille University, Lille Academic Hospital, the Federative Research Structure for Health Technology" (SFR-TS), the research team 2694, I-site ULNE, and Inserm.

The editors want to thank the sponsors and the local organizing committee for making it possible to have the conference in Lille.

We would also like to thank Pierre-François Gautier for setting up the conference web site and Linda Peute for designing the logo of the conference. Finally, we want to thank the Scientific Program Committee for their efforts to establish the content of the conference and all the reviewers for providing constructive feedback to the authors. Their excellent work has significantly improved the quality of many papers.

Romaric Marcilly Christian Nøhr Craig Kuziemsky Sylvia Pelayo May 2019 This page intentionally left blank

CSHI 2019 Conference Committees

Local Organizing Committee

Aurélie Debeyre Laura Douze Pierre-François Gautier Clément Gazza Loïc Leveau Romaric Marcilly Bertille Mazure Sylvia Pelayo Jessica Schiro Mélanie Steffe Clément Wawrziniak Nathalie Zenani

Master's degree students of Lille University

Scientific Program Committee

Craig Kuziemsky, University of Ottawa, Canada Romaric Marcilly, Lille Academic Hospital and University of Lille, France Christian Nøhr, Aalborg University, Denmark Sylvia Pelayo, University of Lille and Lille Academic Hospital, France

Student and Best Paper Award Chair

Peter Elkin, University at Buffalo, The State University of New York USA

Reviewers

- Hege Kristin Andreassen Melissa Baysari Pernille Bertelsen Marie-Catherine Beuscart-Zéphir Elisabeth Borycki Lars Botin Ann Bygholm Pascal Carayon Jim Cimino Catherine Craven Liz Cummings Paul DeMuro Eric Eisenstein
- Peter Elkin Gunnar Ellingsen Andrew Georgiou Heidi Gilstad Yang Gong Werner Hackl Maria Hägglund Peter Hoonaker Monique Jaspers Sanne Jensen Johanna Kaipio Bonnie Kaplan Finn Kensing

Ross Koppel Andre Kushniruk Blake Lesselroth Winnie Leung Bertil Lindenfalk Farah Magrabi Carey Mather Helen Monkman Karsten Niss Roxana Ologeanu-Taddei Rune Pedersen Habibollah Pirnejad Rebecca Randell Raquel Santos Thomas Schmidt Raphaela Schnittker Yalini Senathirajah Chris Showell Zoie Shui-Yee Wong Dean Sittig Berglind Smaradottir Terje Solvoll Sidsel Villumsen Vivian Vimarlund Ying Wang Clement Wawrzyniak Gaby Ann Wildenbos Ming Chao Wong Kwang Chien Yee

Disclaimer

While the CSHI 2019 editors have made every effort to ensure that all accepted contributions are published in these proceedings, it reserves the right to:

- Edit/alter one or more parts of an original contribution, including its title, author and affiliation listings, as it sees fit in order to comply with publications requirements.
- Withhold the publication of a contribution due to one or more of the following circumstances:
 - failure to meet the final deadline for submission of all original/revised contributions;
 - failure to revise the original contribution in accordance with the instructions of the reviewers, including the advice of the Editors.

The Editors are not responsible for the alteration and/or omission of part or parts of an original contribution in cases where a contribution has not fully complied with the submission guidelines and has to be partially or fully rewritten and/or reformatted for the final publication. This page intentionally left blank

Contents

Preface Romaric Marcilly, Christian Nøhr, Craig Kuziemsky and Sylvia Pelayo	v
CSHI 2019 Conference Committees	vii
Disclaimer	ix
Introduction and Keynote Papers	
Sustainable Health Informatics: Health Informaticians as Alchemists Christian Nøhr, Craig E. Kuziemsky, Peter L. Elkin, Romaric Marcilly and Sylvia Pelayo	3
Human Factors and Ergonomics for a Safe Transition to Digital Health Tommaso Bellandi and Sara Albolino	12
Human Factors in Health(care) Informatics: Toward Continuous Sociotechnical System Design Pascale Carayon	22
Understanding Organizational Contexts	
Researching Collective Mindfulness and Health IT: A Framework and Translation to Context-Specific Questions Valentina Lichtner, Bryony Dean Franklin and Johanna I. Westbrook	31
Impact of Work Organization on Technology Use: The Case of Hydration Process with a Smart Drinking Glass <i>Clément Gazza, Sylvia Pelayo, Brice Kovacs, Jessica Schiro</i> <i>and Romaric Marcilly</i>	37
Lost in Translation? Care Coordination Across Contexts in Swedish Homecare Nursing Gudbjörg Erlingsdottir, Johanna Persson, Gerd Johansson, Roger Larsson and Christofer Rydenfält	42
Adapting mHealth to Workflow – A Case Study in South Africa Malin Lindberg, Sofia Rosborg, Mokholelana Margaret Ramukumba and Maria Hägglund	48
Exploring mHealths Fit to Workflow in Homecare – A Case Study in Sweden Sofia Rosborg, Malin Lindberg, Margaret Ramukumba, Lovisa Jäderlund Hagstedt and Maria Hägglund	54

Towards Sustainable EHR

Sustainable Information Infrastructures: Insights from a Realist Synthesis Justin Keen, Maysam Abdulwahid, Joanne Greenhalgh, Natalie King, Judy Wright and Rebecca Randell	63
Context and Meaning in EHR Displays Craig E. Kuziemsky, Diane G. Schwartz, Subha Airan-Javia and Ross Koppel	69
Educational Electronic Health Records at the University of Victoria: Challenges, Recommendations and Lessons Learned <i>Elizabeth M. Borycki and Andre W. Kushniruk</i>	74
Development of a Video Coding Scheme for Understanding Human-Computer Interaction and Clinical Decision Making Andre W. Kushniruk, Helen Monkman, Nicole Kitson and Elizabeth M. Borycki	80
From Free-Text to Structure in Electronic Patient Records Gro-Hilde Severinsen, Line Silsand, Gunnar Ellingsen and Rune Pedersen	86
Different Contexts for Medication Errors and Patient Safety	
Mandatory Medication Indications in Electronic Systems – The Prescriber Perspective Melissa Baysari, Jessica Del Gigante, Maria Moran, Elin Lehnbom and Richard Day	95
Data Quality Assessment of Narrative Medication Error Reports Bin Yao, Hong Kang and Yang Gong	101
Medication Errors and Safety Culture in a Norwegian Hospital Marit Waaseth, Adelina Ademi, Mette Fredheim, Margaret A. Antonsen, Nina M.B. Brox and Elin C. Lehnbom	107
Classification Scheme for Incident Reports of Medication Errors Yuko Shiima and Zoie Shui-Yee Wong	113
Methods and Models to Study Contexts for Health Information Systems	
Supporting Safety in Health Care Transformations Helle Sofie Wentzer	121
Shared Decision-Making in Emergency Departments: Context Sensitivity Through Divergent Discourses <i>Melissa Miao, Andrew Georgiou, Maria R. Dahm, Julie Li</i> and Judith Thomas	128

The Design of PE Dx, a CDS to Support Pulmonary Embolism Diagnosis in the ED Peter L.T. Hoonakker, Pascale Carayon, Megan E. Salwei, Ann S. Hundt, Douglas Wiegmann, Peter Kleinschmidt, Michael S. Pulia, Yudi Wang, Clair Novak and Brian W. Patterson	134
Model for Evaluating the Implementation of a Third Generation EHR System Morten Balle Hansen, Kristian Kidholm, Christian Nøhr, Thomas Schmidt and Kasper Trolle Elmholdt	141
Lessons Learned from Implementing a Patient Prioritization Tool Designed with End-Users in a Pediatric Emergency Ward <i>Clément Wawrzyniak, Jessica Schiro, François Dubos, Sylvia Pelayo</i> <i>and Romaric Marcilly</i>	148

Citizens in Health Contexts

Managing Privacy and Data Sharing Through the Use of Health Care Information Fiduciaries Paul R. Demuro and Carolyn Petersen	157
The Evaluation of Decision Support Tools Needs to Be Preference Context-Sensitive Jack Dowie and Mette Kjer Kaltoft	163
Avoiding Sedentary Work: Exploring Motivational Issues Ann Bygholm and Lisbeth Kappelsgaard	169
Narratives and Stories: Novel Approaches to Improving Patient-Facing Information Resources and Patient Engagement Blake Lesselroth and Helen Monkman	175
Patient Experiences and Digital Involvement in Patient-Centred Care Models Berglind F. Smaradottir and Rune W. Fensli	181
Designing and Evaluating in Contexts	
We Built It, But They Are Not Coming: Exploring Deterrents to Consumer Medication Information Use Helen Monkman, Andre W. Kushniruk, Jeff Barnett, Elizabeth M. Borycki and Debra Sheets	189
"I feel like a nurse and my clients learn more": mHealth, Capacity Building and Empowerment in Community Based Care Mokholelana Margaret Ramukumba and Maria Hägglund	195
Application Programming Interfaces (APIs) in Health Care: Findings from a Current-State Assessment Prashila Dullabh, Lauren Hovey, Krysta Heaney-Huls, Nithya Rajendran, Adam Wright and Dean F. Sittig	201

Open or Closed: A Project Proposal for Investigating Two Different EHR Platform Approaches Kristian Malm-Nicolaisen, Rune Pedersen and Asbjørn J. Fagerlund	207
Evaluating the Contextual Integrity of Australia's My Health Record Timothy Kariotis, Megan Prictor, Shanton Chang and Kathleen Gray	213
Subject Index	219
Author Index	221

Introduction and Keynote Papers

This page intentionally left blank

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190129

Sustainable Health Informatics: Health Informaticians as Alchemists

Christian NØHR^{a, 1}, Craig E. KUZIEMSKY^b, Peter L. ELKIN^c, Romaric MARCILLY^d and Sylvia PELAYO^d

 ^a Maersk Mc-Kinney Moller Institute, University of Southern Denmark
^b Telfer School of Management, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada
^c Department of Biomedical Informatics, Jacobs School of Medicine, University at Buffalo, The State University of New York
^d Univ. Lille, INSERM, CHU Lille, CIC-IT/Evalab 1403 - Centre d'Investigation clinique, EA 2694, F-59000 Lille, France

Abstract. The digital transformation of health care delivery remains an elusive work in progress. Contextual variation continues to be a significant barrier to the development of sustainable health information systems. In this paper we characterize health informaticians as modern alchemists and use this characterization to describe informatics progress in addressing four key healthcare challenges. We highlight the need for informaticians to be diligent and loyal to basic methodological principles while also appreciating the role that contextual variation plays in informatics research. We also emphasize that meaningful health systems in our quest to develop sustainable health information systems.

Keywords. Sustainability, Health informatics, Decision support, Ontologies, standards, Work practice, Usability, Context

1. Introduction

In the middle ages Alchemists used mixture of science, philosophy and mysticism to find the philosopher's stone that would enable them to develop:

- (1) A formula for the elixir of immortality a mythical portion that would cure all diseases and grants the drinker with eternal life
- (2) A universal alkahest which is a solvent having the power to dissolve every other substance including gold
- (3) An elusive substance that was believed to make the transmutation of common substances into gold.

To find the elixir of immortality became more of a theological religious task and the trials to prove the effect has probably taken the lives of more alchemists that it has cured. The search for the universal alkahest faced the fundamental problem that, if it dissolves everything, then it cannot be placed into a container because it would dissolve the container.

¹ Corresponding Author. Christian Nøhr, E-mail: CN@mmmi.sdu.dk

The English alchemist James Price had demonstrated to lay audiences that he could turn mercury into silver or gold by mixing borax, potassium nitrate, and a red or white powder – the white powder produced silver while the red produced gold. Challenged by other members of the Royal Society he reluctantly accepted to demonstrate his capability, but when they turned up to watch his transmutation, he in their presence drank a flask of Laurel water (contained hydrocyanic acid) and promptly died before the audience could do anything. Price was supposedly terrified by peer review [1].

The original alchemists can be divided into two categories, tricksters who fooled thousands of gullible people to obtain gold and jewels, and obsessed, but enthusiastic men who spent all their lives occupied by the science of alchemy. The latter were the early chemist pioneers who discovered numerous substances and chemical elements, which eventually led to the drawing up of the periodic table.

Health informaticians can be characterized as the present-day alchemists. We have all seen examples of well-hyped health information technology (HIT) systems that fail to live up to the promised functionalities when implemented in complex clinical work settings. However, many informaticians are also diligent scientists who have been striving for years to achieve useful and sustainable solutions for healthcare's most pressing issues. This paper describes informatics progress in addressing four key healthcare challenges. We focus on the contextual aspects of these contributions in keeping with the theme of the Context Sensitive Healthcare Informatics Conference.

2. Areas in focus

In the following sections, we will describe the state of science of four specific areas where health informaticians have developed meaningful solutions to key healthcare challenges including interoperable health systems, redesigning clinical work practices, the development of algorithms to enable safe and efficient decision making, and the design of interfaces to support the entire user experience continuum.

2.1. Ontologies and standards

Interoperable data interchange needs the backbone of clinical data exchange and the substrate for all large-scale big data analytics and predictive modeling [2]. We have made considerable progress over the last thirty years in advancing interoperability [3]. We have come from looking at basic science informatics questions regarding the quality of standards (terminological, messaging and transport), NLP [4], Health Information Exchange [5] and data warehousing [6] to studies of the impact of these implementations on clinical outcomes and business measures of health and healthcare [7, 8].

To define the problem more clearly, we need to define interoperability. Here Robert Heinlien's concept of "Grocking" can be instructive [9]. This is described as where one person or in our case healthcare organization when receiving information understands it exactly as the person who sent the information understands the information exchanged. To break this down further we need to define syntactic interoperability where the way that the information is structured is well defined. Semantic Interoperability implies that one has syntactic interoperability and in addition has defined in a computable fashion the information in the content of the information being exchanged or stored for reuse [10].

We have made great progress on defining standards to support all the layers of the model that define true semantic interoperability. However, there is still work to be done.

To date, we have transport standards and great examples of syntactic interoperability such as HL7 v2.X for many use cases including admission, discharge and transfer messages used in many and perhaps most hospitals and NCPDP Script [11] for prescription information which has empowered ePrescribing and is one of the few parts of the EHR that has improved the safely of healthcare. For semantic interoperability we have strong upper level ontologies such as the Basic Formal Ontology (BFO) [12], we have domain ontologies such as HL7 FHIR [13] and the Ontology of General Medical Sciences [14] and we have large scale clinical ontologies for naming such as SNOMED CT for diagnoses and findings, LOINC for laboratory Test Results, RxNorm and ATC for drug codes. There is a new effort by the US Department of Veterans Affairs to create a merged ontology of SNOMED CT, LOINC and RxNorm, named SOLOR, which is focused on greater interoperability among and between these individual standards. There is ongoing work to make the terminological standards conformant with the domain models and the domain models conformant with the upper level ontologies. Good work has already been accomplished which encapsulates terminological standards into messages and then the transport layers [15].

Some studies have already been published showing the importance of these methods and that their use leads to important clinical outcomes [16, 17]. This can improve the quality of data for input into predictive analytics to improve both the efficacy of healthcare and the safety of the care that we provide [18, 19]. More work is needed to use these integrated pipelines to represent large portions of our healthcare data which will improve our clinical decision support, our biosurveillance and help to move healthcare from a cottage industry into a systematized practice of health and healthcare [2, 20-22].

2.2. Redesigning work practices in healthcare

When we think about how technology will change work practices it is not a matter of if it will happen but rather how it will happen. Technology such as electronic medical record (EMR) systems enables new connections across patients, providers and settings and we need to understand the nature of these connections to enable better redesign of work practices [23]. One on hand, technology can enhance existing processes. Healthcare practitioners spend a substantial amount of time documenting and doing information retrieval tasks. Artificial intelligence (AI), Natural Language Processing or speech recognition-based tools such as digital scribes can automate some of these documentation tasks, allowing providers to spend more time delivering true patient centered care [24].

Technology can also support new or evolving processes. Collaborative care delivery is a fundamental part of healthcare transformation initiatives worldwide but collaboration is still not well operationalized in front line care delivery. We need to better understand the transition from macro level collaborative processes to front line micro level collaborative work practices. However, this transition is challenging because collaborative care delivery takes place within a complex and dynamic system of people, processes, care delivery settings and technologies. Further, we cannot understand collaboration by focusing on individual aspects of care deliver. Redesigning work practices to support collaboration requires the development of collaborative competencies that enable the transition between individual and collaborative work practices [25]. One such competency is common ground, which is essential to ensure that all agents engaging in collaboration have shared knowledge of the processes, technologies and terminologies that will operationalize collaborative care delivery [23, 25]. Another evolving process enabled by connected health technologies is patient engagement. Patients can play active roles not only in the planning and delivery of their care, but also in informatics tasks such as the development and implementation of HIT [26].

Regardless of whether we are redesigning work practices for existing or evolving processes, we must understand that technology alone will not transform healthcare delivery into a collaborative patient centered system. Rather we need to ensure that redesigned work practices are contextually grounded in the needs of all users (e.g. patients, practitioners and providers) in the sociotechnical ecosystem where HIT will be used.

2.3. Decision support

Expert systems use heuristics that employ methods of reasoning with only partial evidence. This requires experts in the field to encode knowledge about how they reason and put it into a computable format. This is accomplished by specifying weightings such as Evoking Strength which is defined as given the manifestation (finding, test result, etc.) how strongly should you think of the diagnosis. The other method used frequently is feature selection in a machine learning algorithm. Bayesian approaches employ conditional probabilities in the form of sensitivity and specificity to define and combine probabilities of for example a diagnosis being present. For many years, leaders in medicine have felt that there was something special about the heuristics doctors use to create a differential diagnosis.

In 1959, Ledley and Lusted reported that computers could help doctors in the diagnostic process [27]. Many papers have been published demonstrating the accuracy of computational medical diagnosis, generally in a very limited field such as thyroid disease or congenital heart disease. Only a few of these early systems were used outside the environment of their developers' institutions due to their specific coding against their local databases, limited knowledge bases, poor user interfaces and the many obstacles to sharing computer systems developed in the early 1960's. In the current environment of the Internet and widespread availability of personal computers and smartphones, the potential for routine use of decision-support systems to assist health professionals in the diagnostic process has become a reality.

Tim de Dombal at the University of Leeds created the first abdominal pain diagnosis program using Bayesian probability theory. The system helped users differentiate between appendicitis, diverticulitis, perforated ulcers, cholecystitis small-bowel obstruction, pancreatitis and non-specific abdominal pain using data acquired from thousands of patient presentations [28]. Ted Shortliffe at Stanford University developed a program MYCIN, that provided decision support regarding the empiric antibiotic management of infectious diseases [29]. MYCIN used production rules consisting of conditional statements [30]. This is one methodology that falls under the general category of artificial intelligence [31].

Homer Warner at the University of Utah developed the HELP system which was integrated with the hospital information system (HIS) and provided clinicians with clinical decision support [32, 33]. The HELP system incorporated a complete electronic medical record within an HIS. The rules in the HELP system were written in the Arden Syntax [34]. Each complete rule set is a medical logic module and each such module has

its own conclusions [35]. Homer Warner also built the Iliad system that used a pure Bayesian approach calculating the post-test odds for each disorder.

Randy Miller and Jack Myers created the quick medical reference (QMR) system, that was developed as a diagnostic decision support system in support of all of general medicine [36]. QMR was employed at the University of Pittsburgh for use on a consult service which functioned under the model that a physician with a computerized clinical diagnostic decision support system was more effective at making diagnoses than the physician alone [37]. In QMR, manifestations are associated with diagnoses and the positive association of these manifestations are graded by their frequency of occurrence and by their evoking strength (i.e. how often should a clinician think of this diagnosis if one has a particular manifestation). Manifestations and diagnoses are both graded by their importance and this information is used as part of the weightings to provide a ranked list of the differential diagnoses for a given set of manifestations [38].

DXplain, a computer-based decision support system, was developed in the early 1980's by Octo Barnett, MD from the Laboratory of Computer Science (LCS) at Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) [39, 40]. DXplain has been employed as an electronic medical textbook, a medical reference system and a decision support tool. In the role of a medical textbook, DXplain can provide a comprehensive description with selected references for over 2,300 diseases. Descriptions include the etiology, the pathology, and the prognosis for the diagnosis. As a clinical decision support tool, DXplain uses its knowledge base of probabilities of approximately 6,000 clinical manifestations (History, PE findings, Lab data, X-ray data and elements of the past medical history) and generates a differential diagnosis [41]. The system uses an interactive format to collect clinical information and makes use of a modified form of Bayesian logic to produce a ranked differential diagnose list. The system also provides references and disease descriptions for each of the diagnoses in its database [42].

Over the past nineteen years, DXplain has been used by thousands of physicians and medical students. Eleven years ago, LCS began to make DXplain available over the Internet to hospitals, medical schools, and medical organizations [43]. Elkin, et al compared the predictive accuracy if using Evoking Strength as compared with Sensitivity in arriving at the correct diagnosis computationally [2].

Zhou et al, developed machine learning algorithms for disease phenotypes for primary care using electronic health records which she tested in Rheumatoid Arthritis [44]. Qureshi et al, reported a hierarchical machine learning method for distinguishing types of Attention Deficit disorder from structural MRI data [45]. Ye et al, used support vector machines to predict cancer type from full text articles from the biomedical literature [46].

CDS has had variable uptake in the practice of medicine and override rates continue to be quite high. Vendors and healthcare institutions continue to work to find a balance between efficiencies in the practice and patient safety.

We are working toward a learning health system organized with the infrastructure to facilitate continuous practice improvement by incorporating data from our practice and our clinical outcomes to improve our next day's clinical practice [47]. This data driven continuous quality improvement employing a human-computer partnership can lead us to a future of safer and more effective health and healthcare.

2.4. From usability to user experience

Problems in usability of health information technology (HIT) systems are well acknowledged in research [48]. The vast investments in the adoption of HIT in the United States as well as in Europe have been driven by expectations reflecting key usability goals, particularly increased effectiveness and efficiency in health care [49]. Usability is defined by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) as "the extent to which a user can use a product to achieve specific goals with effectiveness, efficiency and satisfaction in a specified context" [50]. The term human factors is described by the American National Standards Institute and the Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation as "the application of knowledge about human capabilities (physical, sensory, emotional, and intellectual) and limitations to the design and development of tools, devices, systems, environments and organizations" [51]. In the US, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, and in Europe, the European Commission have called for usability and human factors evaluation of HIT systems and medical devices during the design process, requiring evidence of end user involvement during the design process.

User-centered design (UCD) is a design philosophy that seeks to place the end user at the center of the design process. The term was coined in the 1980s by Donald Norman [52] who put forward guidelines that designers could follow in order for their interfaces to achieve good usability outcomes. From that point on, many designers, researchers, and policy makers have proposed various methodologies and techniques that seek to involve the end user in the design process. In their 2010 standard ISO 9241-210 [53], the ISO extended the definition of UCD to "address impacts on a number of stakeholders, not just those typically considered as users," referring to the design approach as humancentered design (HCD) and defining human-centered design as "an approach to systems design and development that aims to make interactive systems more usable by focusing on the use of the system and applying human factors/ergonomics and usability knowledge and techniques." The main goal of HCD is to increase the usability of the product in order to create maximum user satisfaction and increase the safety performance of the device. There are six requirements that a process must meet if it is to be considered an HCD process: (1) The design is based upon an explicit understanding of users, tasks, and environments; (2) Users are involved throughout design and development; (3) The design is driven and refined by user-centered evaluation; (4) The process is iterative; (5) The design team includes multidisciplinary skills and perspectives; (6) The design addresses the whole user experience (UX).

UX is an intriguing phenomenon that has been widely disseminated and speedily accepted in the Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) community. The immense interest in UX in academia and industry can be attributed to the fact that HCI researchers and practitioners have become well aware of the limitations of the traditional usability framework, which focuses primarily on user cognition and user performance in human-technology interactions. In contrast, UX highlights non-utilitarian aspects of such interactions, shifting the focus to user affect, sensation, and the meaning as well as value of such interactions in everyday life. UX is defined as the perceptions and responses of users that result from their experience of using a product or service [53]. It reflects the overall experience related to usability, usefulness, function, credibility, and satisfaction with the technology [54]. To show evidence of significant quality and productivity gains with technology, appropriate measures need to be used integrating long term usability and user experience collection [55].

3. Discussion and Conclusion

The vision of HIT being a key player in health care delivery has existed for a long time and has consumed many individuals and organizations. However, this grand vision remains elusive and HIT implementation continues to be a struggle with very few systems proving to be sustainable solutions when implemented in complex health care contexts. In looking at our field, we see a clear parallel to the alchemists where viability over time can be attributed to a set of basic methodological principles. Health informatics involves basic knowledge about the empirical world as well as specific knowledge on the plethora of evolving and constant contextual issues that influence human health. This knowledge must be acquired in a systematic way using transparent logic so that others can replicate an experiment or observation. True alchemists also highlight that finding the right mix of chemicals that lead to real scientific discoveries and societal benefit takes time. Similarly, health system transformation will not happen overnight but rather is an ongoing process and we must continue to be diligent and methodological in our approaches while also being patient in our quest for meaningful outcomes. Formative evaluation and concepts from learning health systems [47] must be an integral part of health informatics research.

Health informaticians can become modern day alchemists by:

- Turning leaden software into usable, responsive and efficient software;
- Weaving golden and usable threads out of the vast number of chaotic data formats and contexts;
- Using HIT to improve work processes that were/are often inchoate or informally arranged usually formed by history, past privilege, old technologies, legacy systems, etc.
- Making decision support systems more responsive and available to the right user at the right processes at the right time. This requires incorporating AI and machine learning approaches for the benefit of all concerned patients, providers, administrators and research and science.

Our work as informatics alchemists is frequently influenced by the political and economic contexts of where health care is being delivered. In societies with a liberal market-controlled economy, the criteria of full transparency and replicability can be difficult to satisfy because vendors want to protect their proprietary product to maintain their market share. Political policy can also impact how health care is designed and governed, including the role that informatics will play in health care delivery. Despite these challenges we implore health informaticians to strive to honor basic methodological principles in our overall quest to develop and evaluate innovative and sustainable health information systems.

References

- [1] D. Duveen, James Price (1752-1783) Chemist and Alchemist, Isis 41 (1950), 281-283.
- [2] P.L. Elkin, D.R. Schlegel, M. Anderson, J. Komm, G. Ficheur, and L. Bisson, Artificial Intelligence: Bayesian versus Heuristic Method for Diagnostic Decision Support, *Appl Clin Inform* 9 (2018), 432-439.
- [3] P.L. Elkin, D. Froehling, B.A. Bauer, D. Wahner-Roedler, S.T. Rosenbloom, K. Bailey, et al. Brown, Aequus communis sententia: defining levels of interoperability, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 129 (2007), 725-729.
- [4] D.R. Schlegel, C. Crowner, F. Lehoullier, and P.L. Elkin, HTP-NLP: A New NLP System for High

Throughput Phenotyping., Stud Health Technol Inform 235 (2017), 276-280.

- [5] A.J. Holmgren and J. Adler-Milstein, Health Information Exchange in US Hospitals: The Current Landscape and a Path to Improved Information Sharing, *J Hosp Med* 12 (2017), 193-198.
- [6] R. Makadia and P.B. Ryan, Transforming the Premier Perspective® hospital database into the OMOP Common Data Model, *EGEMs* 2 (2014), 1110.
- [7] P.L. Elkin, D.A. Froehling, D.L. Wahner-Roedler, S.H. Brown, and K.R. Bailey, Comparison of Natural Language Processing Biosurveillance Methods for Identifying Influenza From Encounter Notes, *Ann Intern Med* **156** (2012), 11.
- [8] H.J. Murff, F. FitzHenry, M.E. Matheny, N. Gentry, K.L. Kotter, K. Crimin, et al., Automated Identification of Postoperative Complications Within an Electronic Medical Record Using Natural Language Processing, *JAMA* 306 (2011), 848-855.
- [9] R.A. Heinlein, Stranger in a Strange Land, Putnam Adult, 1963.
- [10] P.L. Elkin, S. Mullin, and S. Sakilay, Biomedical Informatics Investigator, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 255 (2018), 195-199.
- [11] Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), Medicare program; identification of backward compatible version of adopted standard for e-prescribing and the Medicare prescription drug program (NCPDP SCRIPT 10.6), *Federal Register* 71 (2010), 36020.
- [12] W. Ceusters, P. Elkin, and B. Smith, Negative findings in electronic health records and biomedical ontologies: a realist approach, *Int J Med Inform* 76 (2007), S326-333.
- [13] D. Raths, Trend: standards development. Catching FHIR. A new HL7 draft standard may boost web services development in healthcare, *Healthc Informatics Bus Mag Inf Commun Syst* 31 (2014), 13-16.
- [14] S. El-Sappagh, F. Franda, F. Ali, and K.-S. Kwak, SNOMED CT standard ontology based on the ontology for general medical science, *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 18 (2018), 76.
- [15] M. Hosseini, J. Meade, J. Schnitzius, and B.E. Dixon, Consolidating CCDs from multiple data sources: a modular approach, J Am Med Inform Assoc 23 (2016), 317-323.
- [16] F. FitzHenry, H.J. Murff, M.E. Matheny, N. Gentry, E.M. Fielstein, S.H. Brown, et al., Exploring the frontier of electronic health record surveillance: the case of postoperative complications, *Med Care* 51 (2013), 509-516.
- [17] J.H. Garvin, P.L. Elkin, S. Shen, S. Brown, B. Trusko, E. Wang, et al., Automated quality measurement in Department of the Veterans Affairs discharge instructions for patients with congestive heart failure, J Healthc Qual 35 (2013), 16-24.
- [18] P.L. Elkin, D.R. Schlegel, and E. Anand, Recruiting Participants to Local Clinical Trials using Ontology and the IoT, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 221 (2016), 119.
- [19] P.L. Elkin, H.C. Johnson, M.R. Callahan, and D.C. Classen, Improving patient safety reporting with the common formats: Common data representation for Patient Safety Organizations, *J Biomed Inform* 64 (2016), 116-121.
- [20] S. Sinha, M. Jensen, S. Mullin, and P.L. Elkin, Safe Opioid Prescription: A SMART on FHIR Approach to Clinical Decision Support, *Online J. Public Health Inform* 9 (2017), e193.
- [21] C. Gaudioso and P. Elkin, Considerations of Human Factors in the Design and Implementation of Clinical Decision Support Systems for Tumor Boards, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 245 (2017), 1324.
- [22] A. Dezetree, E. Chazard, D.R. Schlegel, S. Sakilay, P.L. Elkin, and G. Ficheur, Comparison of Changes in the Number of Included Patients Between Interventional Trials and Observational Studies Published from 1995 to 2014 in Three Leading Journals, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 255 (2018), 50-54.
- [23] C. Kuziemsky, R.M. Abbas, and N. Carroll, Towards a connected health delivery framework. In Proceedings of the International Workshop on Software Engineering in Healthcare Systems (SEHS '18), ACM, New York, USA, 46-49, 2018.
- [24] E. Coiera, B. Kocaballi, J. Halamka, and L. Laranjo, The digital scribe, Npj Digit Med 1 (2018), 58.
- [25] E.V. Eikey, M.C. Reddy, and C.E. Kuziemsky, Examining the role of collaboration in studies of health information technologies in biomedical informatics: A systematic review of 25 years of research, *J Biomed Inform* 57 (2015), 263-277.
- [26] C. Petersen, Patient informaticians: Turning patient voice into patient action, J Am Med Inform Assoc Open 1 (2018), 130-135.
- [27] R.S. Ledley and L.B. Lusted, The role of computers in medical diagnosis, Med Dok 5 (1961), 70-78.
- [28] T. de Dombal, S. Clamp, M. Margulies, and M. Chan, Computer training for doctors and students, *BMJ* 309 (1994), 1234-1235.
- [29] E.H. Shortliffe, S.G. Axline, B.G. Buchanan, T.C. Merigan, and S.N. Cohen, An artificial intelligence program to advise physicians regarding antimicrobial therapy, *Comput Biomed Res* 6 (1973), 544-560.
- [30] E.H. Shortliffe, R. Davis, S.G. Axline, B.G. Buchanan, C.C. Green, and S.N. Cohen, Computer-based consultations in clinical therapeutics: explanation and rule acquisition capabilities of the MYCIN system, *Comput Biomed Res* 8 (1975), 303-320.
- [31] E.H. Shortliffe and B.G. Buchanan, Artificial intelligence, N Engl J Med 302 (1980), 1482.

10

- [32] H.R. Warner, C.M. Olmsted, and B.D. Rutherford, HELP--a program for medical decision-making, *Comput Biomed Res* 5 (1972), 65–74.
- [33] T.A. Pryor, R.M. Gardner, P.D. Clayton, and H.R. Warner, The HELP system, J Med Syst 7 (1983), 87-102.
- [34] G. Hripcsak, O.B. Wigertz, M.G. Kahn, P.D. Clayton, and T.A. Pryor, ASTM E31.15 on health knowledge representation: the Arden Syntax, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 6 (1993), 105–112.
- [35] T.A. Pryor, The use of medical logic modules at LDS hospital, Comput Biol Med 24 (1994), 391-395.
- [36] R. Miller, F.E. Masarie, and J.D. Myers, Quick medical reference (QMR) for diagnostic assistance, *MD Comput* 3 (1986), 34-48.
- [37] R.A. Bankowitz, M.A. McNeil, S.M. Challinor, R.C. Parker, W.N. Kapoor, and R.A. Miller, A computerassisted medical diagnostic consultation service. Implementation and prospective evaluation of a prototype, *Ann Intern Med* **110** (1989), 824-832.
- [38] D.A. Giuse, N.B. Giuse, and R.A. Miller, A tool for the computer-assisted creation of QMR medical knowledge base disease profiles. In *Proc Symp Comput Appl Med Care*, 978-979, 1991.
- [39] G.O. Barnett, E.P. Hoffer, M.S. Packer, K.T. Famiglietti, R.J. Kim, C. Cimino, et al., DXplain-Important Issues in the Development of a Computer-Based Decision Support System. In *Proc Annu Symp Comput Appl Med Care*, 1013, 1990.
- [40] G.O. Barnett, J.J. Cimino, J.A. Hupp, and E.P. Hoffer, DXplain. An evolving diagnostic decision-support system, JAMA 258 (1987), 67-74.
- [41] P. Elkin, G. Barnett, K. Famiglietti, and R. Kim, Closing the Loop on Diagnostic Decision Support Systems. In Proc Annu Symp Comput App Med Care, 589–593, 1990.
- [42] P. Elkin, J.P. Mclatchey, M. Packer, E.P. Hoffer, C. Cimino, and G.O. Barnett, Automated Batch Searching of MEDLINE for DXplain. In *Proc Annu Symp Comput Appl Med Care*, 436-440, 1989.
- [43] G.O. Barnett, K.T. Famiglietti, R.J. Kim, E.P. Hoffer, and M.J. Feldman, DXplain on the Internet. In Proc AMIA Symp, 607-611, 1998.
- [44] S.M. Zhou, F. Fernandez-Gutierrez, J. Kennedy, R. Cooksey, M. Atkinson, S. Denaxas, et al., Defining Disease Phenotypes in Primary Care Electronic Health Records by a Machine Learning Approach: A Case Study in Identifying Rheumatoid Arthritis, *PLoS One* 11 (2016), e0154515.
- [45] M.N.I. Qureshi, B. Min, H.J. Jo, and B. Lee, Multiclass Classification for the Differential Diagnosis on the ADHD Subtypes Using Recursive Feature Elimination and Hierarchical Extreme Learning Machine: Structural MRI Study, *PLoS One* 11 (2016), e0160697.
- [46] Z. Ye, A.P. Tafti, K.Y. He, K. Wang, and M.M. He, SparkText: Biomedical Text Mining on Big Data Framework, *PLoS One* 11 (2016), e0162721.
- [47] C.P. Friedman, N.J. Allee, B.C. Delaney, A.J. Flynn, J.C. Silverstein, K. Sullivan, et al., The science of Learning Health Systems: Foundations for a new journal, *Learn Heal Sys* 1 (2017), e10020.
- [48] L.C. Roman, J.S. Ancker, S.B. Johnson, and Y. Senathirajah, Navigation in the electronic health record: A review of the safety and usability literature, *J Biomed Inform* 67 (2017), 69-79.
- [49] A. Sheikh, H.S. Sood, and D.W. Bates, Leveraging health information technology to achieve the "triple aim" of healthcare reform, J Am Med Inform Assoc 22 (2015), 849-856.
- [50] International Standardization Organization, Ergonomic requirements for office work with visual display terminals (VDTs) — Part 11: Guidance on usability (Rep N° ISO 9241-11:1998(en), International Standardization Organization, Geneva, 1998.
- [51] ANSI/AAMI HE75:2009/(R)2013. Human factors engineering Design of medical devices, Arlington, V A, 2009.
- [52] D.A. Norman and S.W. Draper, User Centered System Design: New Perspectives on Human-Computer Interaction, CRC Press, Hillsdale, New Jersey, 1986.
- [53] International Standardization Organization, Ergonomics of human system interaction Part 210:Human centered design for interactive systems (Rep N°9241-210), International Standardization Organization, Geneva, 2010.
- [54] C. Codagnone and F. Lupiañez-Villanueva, Benchmarking Deployment of eHealth among General Practitioners 2013 (SMART 2011/0033), European Commission, DG Communications Networks. Content & Technology, 2014.
- [55] H. Hyppönen, J. Kaipio, T. Heponiemi, T. Lääveri, A.-M. Aalto, J. Vänskä, and M. Elovainio, Developing the National Usability-Focused Health Information System Scale for Physicians: Validation Study, *J Med Internet Res* 21 (2019), e12875.

Human Factors and Ergonomics for a Safe Transition to Digital Health

Tommaso BELLANDI a, 1 and Sara ALBOLINO b

^aDirector Patient Safety Unit, Tuscany North West Trust, Regional Health Service ^bDeputy Director Regional Centre for Patient Safety - WHO Collaborating Centre, Tuscany Region

Abstract. In this paper we elaborate a preliminary framework to fill this gap and describe the potential contributions of HFE to improve digital health interventions, at the macro, meso and micro level of a health system. Researchers present a practical approach, integrated with some limited reflections on methodological aspects, recently covered in a position paper [8], while previously in conference series and handbooks. This paper presents a HFES perspective on digital health -from the macro, meso and micro level to improve patient safety and delivery of quality care. Experts in HFE can play a key role in creating evidence for an ethical and effective design of digital health intervention and providing support to their implementation and evaluation at the macro, meso and micro level. This framework may help to integrate HFE at the different levels of the system and following the tracks of organization, technology and human factors.

Keywords. Digital health, human factors and ergonomics, patient safety

1. Introduction

"Health care delivery systems are complex by design and prone to errors. Human factors are a core element in most cases of harm, operating in systems where procedures and practices are poorly designed. Punitive cultures of blaming individuals prevent reporting of safety-related incidents and impede learning. Certain patient groups are more vulnerable to safety incidents, including the elderly, children, migrant populations, patients with chronic conditions and those in palliative care" [1].

The "Global action on patient safety", approved at the World Health Assembly in 2019, clearly recognizes the role of human factors in affecting the delivery of care, by stating that a poor design of procedures and practices is a core element of most cases of harm. We would have preferred to read the same sentence in positive terms, but to date research in human factors and ergonomics (HFE) in healthcare has been more effective to show the dark side of patient safety rather than the wide opportunities for improvement at all levels of the system.

Digital health is one of the areas where we accumulated evidence of failures and few examples of effective interventions.

As previously argued [2], programs for the development and implementation of digital healthcare, have sometimes failed miserably despite the investments and

¹ Corresponding Author, Tommaso Bellandi, E-mail: tommaso.bellandi@uslnordovest.toscana.it

commitment of key stakeholders [3], due to inconsistencies generated on the clinical, organizational and institutional level or to open confrontation between professionals, managers and policy makers for decision-making power on technological innovation [4]. Also, the intrinsic quality of IT products for health care is sometimes lacking, both in terms of functionality, and above all of ergonomics and systems integration [5]. Consequently, the transition to digital systems to manage internal and external communications have been much slower in health services than in other industrial sectors, even in high income countries.

Not surprisingly, while WHO recognizes the relevance of human factors in negative terms as a key risk for patient safety, no reference is made to the potential contribution of HFE in the development and implementation of digital health interventions, neither in the WHA resolution [6] nor in the most recent guideline just released [7].

In this paper we elaborate a preliminary framework to fill this gap and describe the potential contributions of HFE to improve digital health interventions, at the macro, meso and micro level of a health system. We present a practical approach, integrated with some limited reflections on methodological aspects, recently covered in a position paper [8], while previously in conference series and handbooks.

Therefore the goal of this paper is to present a HFES perspective on digital health from the macro, meso and micro level to improve patient safety and delivery of quality care.

2. Framework for HFE in digital health

From the point of view of HFE, the transition to digital health is a complex process with multiple interactions between policies, systems and practices, generated through decisions and actions of a relevant quantity of qualified and non-qualified actors, using a huge number of applications and devices accumulated over time in busy and highly variable working environments. In order to clarify and classify the potential interventions to support and improve the transition, a functional distinction between a macro, meso and micro level is proposed, taking the perspectives of users and the goal of safety and efficiency that are the basic principles of HFE. For each level, we address 3 critical interactions to improve the transition to digital health, related to organization (O), technology (T) and human factors (H). Therefore, our framework can be applied either following a horizontal (O-T-H) or a vertical sequence (macro-meso-micro).

2.1. Macro level

At the macro level we recognize and report the following critical interactions: national and international policies, systems features and infrastructure, stakeholder's profiles and power.

At the macro level we can affirm that digital health interventions are not a substitute for functioning health systems and should complement and enhance health system functions.

So it is important understanding the ecosystem and its ability to absorb digital interventions, understanding in the local context, the contributing factors related to ergonomics and human factors which are fundamental for a successful implementation of the technology, such as the health domain area and associated content; the available software and communication channels; the ICT infrastructure, with a special attention to the understanding of the *work as done vs the work as imagined*.

In the next paragraphs we report current problems and discuss potential opportunities for HFE interventions.

2.1.1. National and international policies - O

Taking into account the current policies of WHO and EU to the transition to digital health, we observe first of all a late recognition of the digital revolution that has been occurring in the past few years. On one side, we observe the spread of computer supported clinical and administrative procedures in health services, on the other side, we see the rise of the web as an enormous knowledge base and relational context for health problems. The WHO issued guidelines for the use of digital technologies based mainly on identifying digital health interventions, primarily available via mobile devices, able to address health system challenges in order to support the promotion of UHC. The understanding of ergonomics and human factors for improving its use and the impact on patient safety it is actually not a main focus of the elaborated recommendations from WHO. Nevertheless, it is emphasized how it is important to address some enabling layers in order to have success in the implementation of the digital interventions. Especially, at the system level, a country should consider to establish a clear leadership and powerful governance based on the development of a common strategy and adequate investments. This should be the basis for creating a national infrastructure, or at least interoperable systems based on common standards and shared services and applications to use in all the different parts of the healthcare system. These prerequisites bring in immediately the issue of HFE, which are key factors in order to create a robust enabling environment, without this kind of environment, there is the risk of a proliferation of unconnected systems and a severe impact on the effectiveness and sustainability of the health intervention.

The European Commission, in a recent document (November 2018) related to an expert panel on effective ways of investing in health underlined how governments could be more active in optimizing the decision making process and the related outcomes [9]. In this document the EU emphasizes the need to find a balance in the development of the digitalization between promoting centralized and decentralized activities. It is also important to deal with all the aspects that can prepare the health sector to accept the transition to the digitalization like education of the main stakeholders, the introduction of specific regulatory conditions, the implementation of monitoring systems to monitor its effects on health system performance. All this aspects are interconnected and need a systemic approach, typical of the human factors discipline, in order to be developed synergically and to guide the transition to digitalization successfully. It is also important to build a European repository. Further investment in developing and sharing methods and evidence on evaluations of digital health are also considered as a recommended actions from the EU, and we argue that in this sense the adoption of the HFE approach can help in introducing consolidated methods of evaluation for understanding the impact of an innovation into a specific context.

2.1.2. Systems features and infrastructure - T

Digital technologies are introducing a powerful group of innovations that can support healthcare in the realization of some important purposes, such as:

- Bridging gaps in care delivery systems (through the use of mobile applications that can reach everyone in the most remote places) and supporting the UHC to ensure the quality, accessibility and affordability of health services;
- Facilitating communications to individuals in order to generate demand and broaden contact coverage;
- To give to healthcare workers more immediate access to clinical protocols and telemedicine consultations with other health workers.

But, at the moment, these innovations are a big challenge to realize as the current situation represents some relevant limits to their diffusion. First of all, the adopted applications are isolated one from the other and not integrated with the main clinical documentation, in primis with the clinical record. In the development of these applications, as well as for the development of digitalized clinical documentation, there are no established standards, both at the international and national/regional level. Usually the usability of a digital solution, is considered only when healthcare workers, while using it, face a practical problem that affect their performance. Then the approach to the evaluation of such solutions is usually a reaction to a bad events or a bad user-experience. The reactive mode is dominant comparing to a proactive way to design and develop technology by embedding the principles of HFE into this process. There is also a lack of competencies on this field inside the healthcare systems, which facilitate the lack of attention to this aspect while designing information systems. The presence of experts in HFE among the professionalities involved in the project team for the transition to digitalization and the consideration in a proactive way of these aspects during the analysis and design of a clinical care process into an informative system, are essential elements for avoiding primarily adverse events and secondly underqualified performances and inefficiencies.

2.1.3. Stakeholder's profiles and power - H

At the macro level, the strategic functions we discussed in the previous paragraph, especially the establishment of a strong leadership, an effective governance, some transparent regulator mechanisms, are dependent from the key stakeholders at the international and national level. The challenge here for the national institutions and regulators is to overcome a consolidated technology and administrative driven approach, where the main skills involved in the design for transition to digitalization are usually engineeristic and normative/administrative. These skills are more addressed to satisfy the organization's needs in terms of having a reliable infrastructure and a legal protection instead of looking also at the users' needs (both healthcare workers and patients) in terms of transparency, usability, effectiveness of the clinical performance. HFE approach helps stakeholders to consider the system with a wider perspective and introduces methodologies that can favor the design of the informative system according to the real world of the daily practices rather than according to the organization as imagined.

Another critical point concerning the stakeholders' role at the national level is the difficulty in setting up a clear agenda for the transition to the digital era for the healthcare system. Usually national programs are too generic and fail in including specific goals and controls over their use.

There is also a lack of awareness about safety and security of personal data, and how to manage it with a potential clash between data protection and patient safety.

These criticalities can be overcome only if the transition to digitalization is seen as an occasion for triggering a deep innovation process.

2.2. Meso level

At the meso level of the system, that is the context where health organizations are set up to manage important amount of public and private resources to deliver care services, we recognize three main themes: development, selection and purchase of systems; management and integration of information systems and devices; fitness with strategies and goals to deliver safe and quality care.

At this level, the transition to digital health is generally an incremental process, where new software or digital devices are added to current clinical practices and preexisting tools without a clear and integrated vision about opportunities and threats related to the presumed innovation.

2.2.1. Development, selection and purchase of systems - O

HFE principles may help decision makers within health organizations to develop, select and purchase systems. If we take the example of electronic patient record, a significant amount of literature is already available to suggest some basic principles that can be applied to integrate HFE at this level:

- Co-development
- Continuous evaluation and iterative design
- Service dominant logic

First of all, the digital solutions, where considered an integrated part of the care process, can be co-developed between providers and health organizations by performing basic and applied research before and after the release of any digital solutions. As it is common with medications or surgical techniques, the cooperation between producers, researchers and users is fundamental to guarantee safety, effectiveness and hopefully sustainability of any intervention. A well-known systematic review of electronic patient records conducted in the United States has promoted only a very limited number of products, highlighting how the few co-developed products between computer scientists and clinicians within healthcare facilities were superior to commercial products [4]. This is HFE in practice, given that the participatory approach to design of any artifact, especially to address complex problems, is the standard strategy included in the national and international norms on principle of HFE, such as ISO 6385:2016 Ergonomics principles in the design of work systems.

Secondly, while selecting any digital intervention, a continuous evaluation must be considered in order to support dynamic interactions with the new technology and a contribution to a recurrent design at least of the digital interfaces. End-user products are routinely selected according to their recognized capacity to adapt to different situations and be updated according to user experience and feedback. Health organizations need to be prepared to have pro-active facilitators who can collect, analyze and report data about user-experience so to systematically evaluate the digital intervention and pretend a human centered iterative design of each tool, well summarized in the manifesto for an ethical design [10].

A service dominant logic [11] should substitute any remaining traditional way of contracting the purchase of products between health organizations and providers of digital solutions. A "one size for all" product seldom exists for interventions where the capacity of the health organization to succeed and survive strongly depends to its connections with macro-level strategies on one side and with local practices on the

micro-level. Therefore, in a service dominant logic a digital intervention is at the same time compliant within a highly regulated institutional environment and flexible to respond to emerging needs of fast changing communities and personalization of care [12].

2.2.2. Management and integration of information systems and devices - T

Despite the density of information systems and devices in health organization, we still see relevant problems of integration and lack of coordination between software and devices. An extensive evaluation program of the digitization process of health information systems conducted in the UK has shown all the limitations of existing products and even the new risks that may result in clinical activities (eg errors of prescription of medications induced by automatisms in the data entry) and managerial (eg prolonged waits for exam results due to difficulties in finding relevant information), as well as the ways that operators and managers use to override software limitations, through routine violations of procedures and good working practices (eg transcription of operational notes on paper notes to prepare the letter of discharge, use of commercial applications for internal communications such as handover or consultancies) [4].

On the other hand we have very good examples of a strong integration of systems and practices in the development of chronic care models, where health organization have established care plans for people affected by chronic conditions, such as diabetes or hypertension, that are based on the growing use of wearable or implantable devices, connected to a patient record, integrated in a network of interactions between professionals and services capable of providing effective and timely response to the needs of an empowered patient [13].

2.2.3. Fitness with strategies and goals to deliver safe and quality care - H

Measuring quality and safety is a fundamental duty for health organizations. Nowadays, the collection and analysis of data on health processes and outcomes are included in authorization and accreditation schemes all around the world, in order to guarantee patient safety and value of health services. These activities are often based on extensive review of paper-based records or on the production of data for the unique goal of measurement. Many human and technical resources are spent for data processing, even the time of clinicians is absorbed more by documentation than by direct patient care. Besides, both the impact of accreditation systems the publication of data on strategies and goals of health organization on performances are still debated [14].

In any case, from an HFE perspective, we consider measurement as a basic requirement to understand the fitness between strategies, goals and the delivery of care. The problem is more about how and what to measure and who is involved in doing measurement. New technologies provide new opportunities to look at measurement as part of the managerial and clinical work, rather than as an additional duty to be performed for accreditation purposes. The intrinsic characteristic of digital technologies allow them to support workflows and at the same time to produce data about process performance, as it is well known in manufacturing. So any software or device, co-developed with the health organization and contracted in a service dominant logic, can also automatically produce useful data on performance just if it fits with strategies and goals of quality and safety improvement. Technology driven approaches cannot help because they are not necessarily aligned with the responsibilities of a health organization to deliver safe and

quality care, according to its institutional context and resources, communities needs and demands [15].

2.3. Micro level

The Micro level is where real people interact and health eventually flourishes thanks to individual decisions and behaviors, organizational capacities to address and act against accidents and diseases, institutional and communal resources to sustain people needs and desires.

When we look at our three themes about HFE for digital health at the micro level we see: users and designers interactions; flexibility of workflows; availability and characteristics of hardware and infrastructures. The transition is very fast at this level and often outside of the deliberate control of an institution or an organization, especially as a consequence of the development of mobile technologies and internet connections.

2.3.1. Flexibility of workflows - O

Patient pathways are spread throughout home care, community services and hospitals. The fragmentation of information systems and accountability for care interventions negatively affects workflow and patient experiences. In high income countries, the hyper-specialization of medical treatments has contributed to the success of life saving procedures, sometimes at the expenses of an holistic approach to care and cure, that integrates illness as the personal experience along with the classification, diagnosis and eventual resolution of a disease. In low and middle income countries, as well as in poor and deprived sector of HIC, contacts with providers are less systematic and often patients and their families take the clinical and social burden of a disease on their shoulder, in an attempt to compensate limited availability of specialized services with traditional remedies based on cultural heritage that are difficult to connect with western medicine. In this scenario, dissemination of mobile devices and access to the internet give an opportunity to connect people in needs and health providers in new ways, yet to be explored in their full potential along with their risks. Knowledge about health promotion and disease prevention can be designed and delivered through the web, from accountable health organizations and providers to fit with user needs, old and new habits about personal care and life styles. Moreover, for diagnosis, treatments and rehabilitation, HFE can contribute to the design of health plans with flexible workflows for health professionals, built around health profiles of selected populations, mixing traditional with digital consultations and integrating patients activation in performing tasks and reporting data about their health and care experiences.

2.3.2. Availability and characteristics of hardware and infrastructures - T

Hardware and infrastructure to support the transition to digital health has been developing much slower in health systems than in other industrial sectors, where user experience pushed systems to change such as in banking, commerce or travel services. More and more health professionals report to use their personal devices to help decision making, to communicate with peers and patients, to record relevant information about a treatment, in place of official tools provided by the health organizations. Investment in health information technologies is still very low, compared to the budget for medications or biomedical devices, despite the evidence related to how communication may negatively affect patient care [16] and efficient workflows [17]. Provided enough

security in terms of data protection and continuity of services at the macro and meso level, a distributed decision making process about hardware and infrastructures can help to hardwire the provision of digital health within the local microsystem, by creating lean and adaptable infrastructures open to low cost hardware solutions that can host software and devices aligned with user habits and needs (users = patients and professionals), fully integrated within flexible workflows.

2.3.3. Users and designers interactions - H

Traditionally, digital interventions, especially based on software to support and manage information flows, have generated a tension on the clinical level between standardization and personalization of care, as well as some preoccupations about organizational control over the autonomy of health professionals to take decisions about diagnosis and treatments. Medicine is still considered an art and the doctor a special kind of human with the capacity to integrate intuition rooted in experience with complex reasoning related to a wide knowledge base. Certainly, medicine has got an artistic component in the creative processes of decision-making and actions in practice that help to solve complex problems with limited information and tools, and doctors are probably the professionals who dedicate more time to education and training than any other to be prepared to face daily tens of patients with multiple and highly variable conditions. Anyway, from our perspective, acceptability and usability of digital interventions in healthcare can be addressed by improving the interactions between users and designers. Therefore, the macro level principle to consider organization as it is rather than organization as imagined, it may unfold in daily practices as the users become designers of the systems and designers walk in the shoes of the users through the application of classical HFE techniques such as cognitive walkthrough or scenario based design [18]. To close the gap between users and designers, both professionals and patients have to spend time to express their needs about effective interactions with software and devices. On the other hand designers have to access actionable knowledge about those interactions. The contribution of expert in HFE is critical to analyze real context and represent user needs.

3. Potential application and limits of the framework

The "health system" in Western countries has an urgent need to implement innovative organizational models and reallocate resources optimally between the various care settings.

Digital technology can be an enabling tool to respond to these needs with a profound structural change in care and assistance models, starting with the strengthening of interactions and the integration between the health world and the social world at the micro-level of the system.

The evolution of IT tools provides solutions of proven efficacy to address the core functions of care, that is to assist professionals and patients in their daily work, using accessible digital technologies within flexible workflows, fitted to institutional and organizational strategies and goals.

However, the change will take time; it is necessary to set a multi-year implementation plan, in which a strategic regional and national vision is combined with the priorities of the local contexts, with the involvement of all the stakeholders: policy
regional makers, doctors and health professions, technologists, citizen associations, suppliers. Experts in HFE can play a key role in creating evidence for an ethical and effective design of digital health intervention and providing support to their implementation and evaluation at the macro, meso and micro level. Our framework, summarized in table 1, may help to integrate HFE at the different level of the system and following the tracks of organization, technology and human factors.

Areas of	Macro-level	Meso-level	Micro-level
interventions			
Organization	National and international policies	Development, selection and purchase of systems	Flexibility of workflows
	 creating a national infrastructure, or at least interoperable systems based on common standards and shared services and applications to use in all the different parts of the healthcare system. create a robust enabling environment, for avoiding the risk of proliferation of unconnected systems and a severe impact on the effectiveness and sustainability of the health intervention 	 Inree principles to integrate HFE in the development: Co-development Continuous evaluation and iterative design Service dominant logic 	 contribute to the design of health plans with flexible workflows for health professionals, built around health profiles of selected populations mixing traditional with digital consultations and integrating patients activation in performing tasks and reporting data on their health experiences
Technology	Systems features and infrastructure	Management and integration of information systems and device	Availability and characteristics of hardware and infrastructures
	 promoting a proactive way to design and develop technology by embedding the principles of HFE into this process. including experts in HFE among the professionals involved in the project team for the transition to digitalization 	 strong integration of systems and practices in the development of chronic care models, connection of wearable or implantable devices, with a patient record, integrated in a network of interactions between professionals and services capable of providing effective and timely response to the needs of an empowered patient 	 creating lean and adaptable infrastructures open to low cost hardware solutions software and devices aligned with user habits and needs (users = patients and professionals), fully integrated within flexible workflow
Human Factors	Stakeholder's profiles and power	Fitness with strategies and goals to deliver safe and quality care	Users and designers interactions
	 overcoming a consolidated technology and administrative driven approach, and introduce a systemic approach value digitalization as an occasion for triggering a deep innovation process 	 adopting measurement as a basic requirement to understand the fitness between strategies, goals and the delivery of care align data produced with software or device on performance to strategies and goals of quality and safety improvement 	 Application of classical HFE techniques such as cognitive walkthrough or scenario based design Analyze real context and represent user needs

Table 1. The HFE contribution to the transition to digital health.

References

- World Health Organization, Global action on patient safety, Provisional agenda item 12.5, 72nd World Health Assembly, World Health Organization, 2019.
- [2] T. Bellandi, G. Luchini, A. Reale, M. Micalizzi and M, Mangione, An action research to study and support the transition to a comprehensive Electronic Patient Record in acute care, *Proceedings of the 20th Congress* of the International Ergonomics Association (IEA 2018), Volume I: Healthcare Ergonomics, Springer, 2018, 759–766.
- [3] A. Robertson, D.W. Bates, and A. Sheikh, The rise and fall of England's national programme for IT. J R Soc Med 104 (2011), 434–435.
- [4] B. Middleton, M. Bloomrosen, M.A. Dente, B. Hashmat, R. Koppel, J.M. Overhage, et al., Enhancing patient safety and quality of care by improving the usability of electronic health record systems: recommendations from AMIA J Am Med Inform Assoc 20 (2013), e2–e8.
- [5] B. Chaudhry, J. Wang, S. Wu, M. Maglione, W. Mojica, E. Roth, et al., Systematic review: impact of health information technology on quality, efficiency, and costs of medical care. *Ann Int Med* 144 (2006),742–752.
- [6] World Health Organization, Digital Health, Agenda item 12.4, 71st World Health Assembly, World Health Organization, 2018.
- [7] World Health Organization, *WHO guideline: recommendations on digital interventions for health system strengthening*, World Health Organization, 2019.
- [8] Chartered Institute of Ergonomics and Human Factors, *Human factors for health and social care, White paper CIEHF*, Chartered Institute of Ergonomics and Human Factors, 2018.
- [9] European Commission, EXpert Panel on effective ways of investing in Health, *DG Health & Food Safety, Directorate B: Health Systems, medical products and innovation* (2018)
- [10] Ethical Design Manifesto, Ind.ie, (2017). https://2017.ind.ie/ethical-design/ (accessed Jun 7, 2019).
- [11] S.L. Vargo and R.F. Lusch, Service-dominant logic: continuing the evolution, *Journal of the Academy of marketing Science* 36 (2008), 1-10.
- [12] H. Mintzberg, Managing the myths of health care, World Hospitals and Health Services 48 (2012), 4-7.
- [13] T. Bodenheimer and E.H. Wagner, and K. Grumbach, Improving primary care for patients with chronic illness, JAMA 288 (2002), 1775-1779.
- [14] G. Flodgren, M.P. Pomey, S. A. Taber, M. P. Eccles, Effectiveness of external inspection of compliance with standards in improving healthcare organisation behaviour, healthcare professional behaviour or patient outcomes, *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 11 (2011).
- [15] World Health Organization, Framework on integrated, people-centred health services, 69th World Helth Assembly, World Health Organization, 2016.
- [16] E.N de Vries, M.A Ramrattan, S.M.Smorenburg, D.J. Gouma, M.A. Boermeester, The incidence and nature of in-hospital adverse events: a systematic review, *BMJ Quality & Safety* 17 (2008), 216-223.
- [17] G. Toccafondi, S. Albolino, T. Bellandi, F. Venneri, Handover process: how to improve quality and safety through an ergonomic solution, *Work* 41 (2012), 2941-2945.
- [18] P. Carayon, Handbook of human factors and ergonomics in health care and patient safety, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2006.

Human Factors in Health(care) Informatics: Toward Continuous Sociotechnical System Design

Pascale CARAYON¹

Department of Industrial & Systems Engineering, Wisconsin Institute for Healthcare Systems Engineering, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

Abstract. Developing structures and processes for continuous sociotechnical system design is key to sustaining human factors (HF) knowledge in the context of rapid health care changes and technological innovations. Two research studies illustrate how to embed HF in organizational learning processes and structures. We need to develop innovative HF methods for continuous sociotechnical system design.

Keywords. Sociotechnical systems, organizational learning, human factors and systems engineering, continuous implementation, usability of health IT

1. Introduction

There is increasing evidence of the benefits of human factors (HF)-based health IT design for patient safety [1]. We also see how HF-based health IT design can support clinicians' work and improve clinician outcomes, such as reduced workload [2]. The application of HF methods and design principles to health IT can make a difference for both patients and clinicians. However, we continue to see poorly designed health IT and negative impact on patients (e.g. health IT-related errors with harmful consequences for patients [3]) and clinicians (e.g. burnout [4]). Clearly, our extensive compendium of HF knowledge is not sufficiently applied. Are we providing usable HF knowledge that can be systematically applied to health IT design? Are we addressing emerging problems with health IT (e.g. health IT to support team-based care of chronically ill patients)? Are we developing HF knowledge relevant for evolving health care needs and constraints? In this paper, I focus on challenges posed to our HF community by the constantly evolving world of health care and technological innovations. I will address <u>sustainability</u> of HF knowledge in the context of health IT design, implementation and use.

Given rapid changes in health care and technologies, it may not be judicious to focus on sustainability of specific health IT-based interventions. Instead, we should address how our HF knowledge can be sustained and embedded in organizational learning processes and structures. This approach fits with the concept of <u>continuous technology</u> <u>implementation</u> [5]. The continuous cycle of technology design, implementation and use involves both formal and informal activities where technology users adapt to the technology and adapt the technology [6, 7]. I first review various conceptual approaches

¹ Corresponding Author: Pascale Carayon, Email: pcarayon@wisc.edu

of continuous sociotechnical system design, drawing on literature in human factors and ergonomics, organizational psychology and technology adaptation. I then present two research studies that address various aspects of continuous sociotechnical system design. Finally, I compare the two studies and highlight the need for innovative HF methods of continuous sociotechnical system design.

2. Continuous Sociotechnical System Design

Sociotechnical (work) systems are dynamic systems that continuously adapt, evolve and change [6]. In the SEIPS model of work system and patient safety [8, 9], the feedback loops exemplify the dynamic nature of sociotechnical systems as they represent (1) continuous improvement and learning (e.g. data on patient safety outcomes used as input to redesign work system), and (2) adaptation to the work system or adaptation of the work system (e.g. workers learn the new work system and/or adapt system elements over time). This has major implications for sociotechnical system design, including the need to go beyond technology design and initial implementation and consider <u>emergent properties of technology-in-use</u>.

2.1. Sociotechnical system design as a longitudinal extended process

In 2000, Clegg [10] wrote: <u>"Design is an extended social process"</u>. Designing a technology and the rest of the sociotechnical (work) system is not clearly temporally bounded: it does not have a clear beginning or end. Technology design occurs over an extended period of time: before, during, immediately after and long after the technology is in use. Clegg emphasized the HF implications of this sociotechnical principle: "Different people will interpret systems in different ways, and there need to be structures and mechanisms through which views can be aired, recognized and understood".

Participation of end users and more broadly of stakeholders is key in developing structures and processes for organizational learning that extends over time. Initially, HF experts may accompany end users and other stakeholders in their individual learning, e.g. skills in usability evaluation. Over time, organizational learning and integration of HF in organizational structures and processes will move from external regulation (e.g. HF experts) to internal regulation (e.g. "just-in-case" HF consultants) [11].

2.2. Continuous change and emergent technology-in-use

As proposed by Weick and Quinn [12], episodic change is infrequent, discontinuous and intentional. Effective approaches for managing episodic changes, such as implementation of health IT, include planning for the change, change management and use of change agents or champions. In contrast to episodic change, Weick and Quinn propose continuous change, i.e., a series of ongoing, evolving, cumulative, and often uncertain and less predictable activities. Individual and organizational learning are key concepts in effective continuous change. As ongoing changes occur, individuals need to develop new skills and knowledge, and organizations need to develop new modes of functioning. Individual and organizational learning contribute to system adaptation, i.e. feedback loops in SEIPS model [8, 9]. In line with the idea of continuous change, Orlikowski and her colleagues emphasize the need to go beyond the transition phase of technology implementation and to understand *technology-in-use* and different ways that



Figure 1. Continuous adaptation and improvement of healthcare sociotechnical systems [7].

users adapt to and adapt the technologies [13]. In systems thinking, emergence plays a key role as system elements (including technology) interact and produce outcomes that may not have been anticipated at the stages of design or implementation. Therefore, systems evolve through continuous phases of design, implementation and use, and adapt as users interact with technologies [7] (see Figure 1).

3. Example 1: Continuous Implementation of Smart Infusion Pump Technology

Smart infusion pump technology has helped to reduce medication administration errors, but has not completely eliminated them [14]. In addition, the technology has had multiple usability challenges, e.g. alert fatigue. Whereas HF methods such as proactive risk assessment can identify and mitigate design vulnerabilities [15], these methods are not full-proof and, as suggested above, technology-in-use may bring up emergent issues that were not anticipated at the design stage. In a study on the implementation of smart IV pump technology in an academic hospital, we described what we call <u>"continuous technology implementation"</u> [5]. Using Weick and Quinn's [12] framework, we identified activities and processes related to both episodic and continuous changes.

Before the smart IV pump technology was implemented, the hospital convened a committee to evaluate various IV pump technologies, conducted an ROI analysis of IV pump technology, performed an FMEA of the IV administration process [15], executed a pilot test of the new IV pump technology on one hospital unit, and conducted extensive just-in-time training for all pump users (e.g. nurses and anesthesiologists). These activities aimed at managing the episodic change, i.e., the implementation of smart IV pump technology in the entire hospital. A few weeks after the IV pump technology was in use, a major safety event occurred; fortunately the event did not produce long-term patient harm [16]. The safety event was followed by multiple activities that fit the concept of continuous change. The hospital had developed capabilities to react quickly to the safety event, as well as an open organizational culture for error detection and correction. The FMEA team was reconstituted as a multidisciplinary (e.g. nursing, anesthesia, medicine, pharmacy, human factors engineering) implementation team, which led the investigation of the pump-related safety event. A small interdisciplinary group was rapidly organized to conduct usability evaluation of the various IV pump technology versions produced by the manufacturer [17]. Both individual and organizational learning occurred in this phase of continuous technology implementation.



Figure 2. Collaborative Usability Evaluation (CUE) model [20]

4. Example 2: Collaborative Usability Evaluation (CUE) Model for Inpatient EHR Implementation

Usability of EHR technology remains a major concern with responsibilities shared by EHR manufacturers, vendors and implementers [18]. In particular, technology design decisions made by health care organizations contribute to (lack of) usability of EHR technology [19]. A challenge is then *how to institutionalize usability skills and processes in health care organizations*. In collaboration with a large health care organization, we developed a participatory ergonomics model aimed at building a network of individuals trained and proficient at usability evaluation [20]. As shown in Figure 2, the Collaborative Usability Evaluation (CUE) model consists of two phases: an initial phase where HF experts play a significant role in setting up the network and providing training, and an ongoing phase where health IT analysts conduct usability evaluations, implement technology redesigns, and share their experience and learnings. Individual and organizational learning are key to move the CUE program from external regulation (initial phase) to internal regulation (ongoing phase) [11].

In the initial phase, 28 people, including IT analysts and IT leaders from the health care organization and analysts from the EHR vendor, learned and applied usability methods (e.g. heuristic evaluation, user testing, scenario-based evaluation). Over time, the collaborative network of internal usability specialists deepened their impact as they participated in ongoing discussion and application of what they learned in the initial training. In addition, usability evaluations were formally incorporated in the health care organization's implementation timeline for all new EHR functionality and vendor upgrades.

5. Discussion and Conclusion

The two research studies provide examples of continuous sociotechnical system design and illustrate methods for embedding HF in organizational learning processes and structures. The first study shows how a health care organization reacted to a safety event after the implementation of smart IV pump technology. The second study describes an organizational approach for embedding HF in technology implementation. Table 1 compares the two examples on multiple characteristics of continuous sociotechnical system design, and emphasizes the <u>developmental or constructive perspective to HF</u>, i.e., an approach that focuses on both individual and organizational learning [21]. Participation of end users and stakeholders from various disciplines, units and organizational levels is key to developing and sustaining learning.

The two studies provide examples of HF methods for continuous sociotechnical system design (i.e., continuous technology implementation and collaborative usability model), and demonstrate that sustaining HF knowledge cannot be considered as a "one shot" activity. Designing usable health IT is important, but it needs to be embedded in a broader organizational framework to be sustained and have continued impact. In 2004, Bentzi Karsh wrote an important article on "Beyond usability: Designing effective technology implementation systems to promote patient safety" [22]. He argued that we need to not only consider HF technology design (e.g. usability), but also consider HF and organizational methods for implementation and change management. I am proposing to go "beyond-beyond" usability and to not only consider technology design and implementation but also technology-in-use (see Figure 1). Effort should be dedicated to the development of HF methods to support the extended sociotechnical system design process described by Clegg [10]. Because health IT users often collaborate to provide team-based care, we need to develop HF methods through which multiple (team members') perspectives can be shared and understood. This may, for instance, rely on visual methods such as cognitive mapping [23] or collaborative design approaches [24]. For HF to make deep, sustained impact on health IT and both patient and clinician outcomes, we need to support the continuous process of sociotechnical system design.

Characteristics	Continuous implementation of smart IV pump technology	CUE model for organizational health IT usability
Initial structures &	IV pump committee; FMEA team;	Two phases of in-house usability training
processes	pilot test; training on new IV pump	for 28 CUE participants; shared
-		experience and learning
Ongoing structures	Implementation team;	Usability evaluation embedded in health
& processes	multidisciplinary safety investigation;	IT implementation timeline; shared
	multiple usability evaluation cycles	experience and learning
User &	IV pump nurse as liaison; participants	28 CUE participants (including 2 analysts
stakeholder	in usability evaluation;	from EHR vendor); participants in
participation	multidisciplinary teams (FMEA,	usability evaluation; involvement of
	implementation, event investigation)	hospital IT leaders
HF methods	FMEA, usability evaluation, safety	Usability evaluation (heuristics, scenario-
	investigation	based)
Individual learning	Skills and knowledge in usability	Skills and knowledge in usability
	evaluation and safety investigation	evaluation
Organizational	Multidisciplinary structures and	Incorporation of scenario-based usability
learning	processes; open organizational culture	evaluation in health IT implementation
	for error detection and correction	timeline for all new EHR functionality
		and vendor releases/upgrades

Table 1.	Characteristics	of continuous	sociotechnical	system design.
				- Jores

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Clinical and Translational Science Award (CTSA) program, through the NIH National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences

(NCATS), Grant UL1TR000427. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

References

- A.L. Russ, A.J. Zillich, B.L. Melton, S.A. Russell, S. Chen, J.R. Spina, et al., Applying human factors principles to alert design increases efficiency and reduces prescribing errors in a scenario-based simulation, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 21 (2014), e287-e96.
- [2] L.M. Mazur, P.R. Mosaly, C. Moore, and L. Marks, Association of the usability of electronic health records with cognitive workload and performance levels among physicians, *JAMA Network Open* 2 (2019), e191709-e09.
- [3] R.M. Ratwani, E. Savage, A. Will, A. Fong, D. Karavite, N. Muthu, et al., Identifying electronic health record usability and safety challenges in pediatric settings, *Health Aff* 37 (2018), 1752-1759.
- [4] R.L. Gardner, E. Cooper, J. Haskell, D.A. Harris, S. Poplau, P.J. Kroth, et al., Physician stress and burnout: the impact of health information technology, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 26 (2018), 106-114.
- [5] P. Carayon, T.B. Wetterneck, A.S. Hundt, S. Rough, and M. Schroeder, Continuous technology implementation in health care: The case of advanced IV infusion pump technology, in: K. Zink (Ed.), *Corporate Sustainability as a Challenge for Comprehensive Management*, Springer, NewYork, 2008,139-151.
- [6] P. Carayon, Human factors of complex sociotechnical systems, Appl Ergon 37 (2006), 525-535.
- [7] P. Carayon, E.J. Bass, T. Bellandi, A.P. Gurses, M.S. Hallbeck, and V. Mollo V. Sociotechnical systems analysis in health care: A research agenda, *IIE Transactions on Healthcare Systems Engineering*, 1 (2011), 145-160.
- [8] P. Carayon, A.S. Hundt, B.-T. Karsh, A.P. Gurses, C.J. Alvarado, M. Smith, et al., Work system design for patient safety: The SEIPS model, *Quality & Safety in Health Care* 15 (2006), i50-i58.
- [9] P. Carayon, T.B. Wetterneck, A.J. Rivera-Rodriguez, A.S. Hundt, P. Hoonakker, R. Holden, et al., Human factors systems approach to healthcare quality and patient safety, *Appl Ergon* 45 (2014), 14-25.
- [10] C.W. Clegg, Sociotechnical principles for system design, Appl Ergon 31 (2000), 463-477.
- [11] M.C. Haims and P. Carayon, Theory and practice for the implementation of 'in-house', continuous improvement participatory ergonomic programs, *Appl Ergon* 29 (1998), 461-472.
- [12] K.E. Weick and R.E. Quinn, Organizational change and development, Annu Rev Psychol 50 (1999), 361-386.
- [13] M.J. Tyre and W.J. Orlikowski, Windows of opportunity: Temporal patterns of technological adaptation in organizations, Organization Science 5 (1994), 98-188.
- [14] K. Ohashi, O. Dalleur, P.C. Dykes, and D.W. Bates, Benefits and risks of using smart pumps to reduce medication error rates: A systematic review, *Drug Saf* 37 (2014), 1011-1020.
- [15] T.B. Wetterneck, K.A. Skibinski, T.L. Roberts, S.M. Kleppin, M.E. Schroeder, M. Enloe, et al., Using failure mode and effects analysis to plan implementation of Smart intravenous pump technology, *Am J Health Syst Pharm* 63 (2006),1528-1538.
- [16] M.E. Schroeder, R.L. Wolman, T.B. Wetterneck, and P. Carayon, Tubing misload allows free flow event with Smart intravenous infusion pump, *Anesthesiology* 105 (2006), 434-435.
- [17] A.S. Hundt, P. Carayon, T.B. Wetterneck, M. Schroeder, and M. Enloe, Evaluating design changes of a smart IV pump, in: R. Tartaglia, S. Bagnara, T. Bellandi, S. Albolino (Eds), *Healthcare Systems Ergonomics and Patient Safety*, Taylor & Francis, Florence, Italy, 2005, 239-242.
- [18] D.F. Sittig, E. Belmont, and H. Singh, Improving the safety of health information technology requires shared responsibility: It is time we all step up, *Healthcare* 6 (2018), 7-12.
- [19] R.M. Ratwani, E. Savage, A. Will, R. Arnold, S. Khairat, K. Miller, et al., A usability and safety analysis of electronic health records: a multi-center study, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 25 (2018), 1197-1201.
- [20] A.S. Hundt, J.A. Adams, and P. Carayon, Collaborative Usability Evaluation (CUE) model for health IT design and implementation, *International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction* 33 (2016): 287-297.
- [21] P. Falzon, Constructive Ergonomics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2015.
- [22] B.T. Karsh, Beyond usability: Designing effective technology implementation systems to promote patient safety, *Quality and Safety in Health Care* 13 2004, 388-394.
- [23] A.L. Kjaergaard, T.B. Jensen, Using cognitive mapping to represent and share users' interpretations of technology, *Communications of the Association for Information Systems* 34 (2014), 1097-1114.
- [24] F. Détienne, Collaborative design: Managing task interdependencies and multiple perspectives, Interacting with Computers 18 (2006), 1-20.

This page intentionally left blank

Understanding Organizational Contexts

This page intentionally left blank

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190133

Researching Collective Mindfulness and Health IT: A Framework and Translation to Context-Specific Questions

Valentina LICHTNER ^{a, b, 1}, Bryony Dean FRANKLIN ^{a, c} and Johanna I. WESTBROOK ^b ^aDepartment of Practice and Policy, UCL School of Pharmacy, UK

 ^b Centre for Health Systems and Safety Research, AIHI, Macquarie University, Australia
 ^c Centre for Medication Safety and Service Quality, Pharmacy Department, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust, UK

Abstract. To improve patient safety, hospital organisations are encouraged to run their operations in line with high reliability organisations' collective mindfulness principles and practices. For the same safety goals, they also implement health information technology (IT). However, little is known about whether, or how, health IT can impact organisational mindfulness, and thereby safety. We propose that research in this area can be approached through a simple framework of overarching, umbrella questions, then carefully translated into nuanced context-specific questions and study designs. The framework and approach we propose provides a structure for comparing results from studies of collective mindfulness and health IT, across different clinical contexts and IT applications.

Keywords. Patient safety, collective mindfulness, health IT, research methods

1. Introduction

Hospital organisations are encouraged to become high reliability organisations (HROs) to improve patient safety [1, 2]. The HRO approach to reliability and safety takes a resilience perspective, relying on an organisational capacity to detect and recover from errors or near misses [3]. In particular, five dimensions have been identified at collective (organisational or group) level in HROs contributing to reliability and safety, in aggregate known as 'collective mindfulness': *preoccupation with failure, reluctance to simplify, sensitivity to operations, commitment to resilience*, and *underspecification of hierarchical structure* [4]. Through 'mindful organizing' – such as enhancing staff alertness to risks and resourcefulness – organisations can enhance their resilience. Research suggests, for example, that higher mortality after surgery is associated with some hospitals acting less resiliently, or 'failing to rescue' [5]. Collective mindfulness²

¹ Corresponding Author: Valentina Lichtner, Email: valentina.lichtner@mq.edu.au, v.lichtner@ucl.ac.uk

² Collective mindfulness [4] is not equivalent to an aggregate of individuals' mindfulness [6] but more akin to processes of organisational learning. However, for the purpose of our research, and the improvement of patient safety, both individual and collective mindfulness are important. For brevity, in this paper with collective mindfulness we refer to both individual and group level mindfulness.

builds on individuals' mindfulness – i.e. awareness of interdependency of actions and capacity for interpretations beyond familiar categories [6]. Both individuals' and collective mindfulness are critical, since the "locus of resilience" is across individuals, groups and systems [7].

Health information technology (IT) is introduced in hospitals worldwide with the aim of improving safety [8]. Health IT can fundamentally change work practices, and it is reasonable to ask whether this can affect an organisation's capacity for collective mindfulness. For example, IT can facilitate information flows, thus potentially enhancing organisational mindfulness [9]. However, it can also disrupt existing (e.g. face to face) communication processes, and/or increase opacity over organisational interdependencies, thus potentially hindering mindfulness. Research on mindfulness with IT in the workplace is limited and fragmented [10], and very little is known of the consequences of *health IT* for collective mindfulness in healthcare settings.

Over the past year we have launched a program of research to study the impact of health IT on collective mindfulness in hospitals. The initial focus of this work is medication safety. In this research in progress we have been exploring the impact of electronic medication management systems of different kinds – including electronic prescribing and administration systems (EPMA; also known as computerized provider order entry – CPOE) and ward-based automated dispensing cabinets (ADCs) on collective mindfulness in its various dimensions. Our current study sites are children's hospitals in Sydney (Australia), implementing a range of IT applications for medications. In this paper we describe the development of a framework of research questions and methods, and how we adapted these to specific clinical settings in these children's hospitals (paediatric ICU, paediatric oncology).

2. Methods

The aims of our research are to improve patient safety in hospital inpatients by: 1. developing theory and methods for evaluation of individual and collective mindfulness associated with health IT; 2. investigating whether and how technology can support organisational resilience; 3. providing (locally/nationally-adjusted) guidance for technology implementation aimed at achieving and sustaining resilience.

To address these aims we pose six overarching questions (Table 1), underpinned by sociotechnical assumptions and human factors understanding of technology in the workplace [11, 12]. These questions constitute a framework to plan collective mindfulness studies of the implementation of different health IT applications in different clinical contexts. Q1 and Q2 are about understanding current practices, with Q2 focused on the role of information systems in use before health IT implementation. Q3 focuses on the changes introduced with the health IT implementation, and the role of the new technology. Q4 reminds us to expand the unit of analysis to patients and their families, as they have an important role in maintaining patient safety. Q5 is about future improvements. And since improvement interventions are difficult to implement beyond national borders - as countries differ in structures, processes, technology and legislation, Q6 addresses generalizability of research findings across nations.

The questions call for qualitative methods in data collection and analysis, including interviews, ethnographic observations, analysis of hospital patient safety incident reports, and review of documentation of medication use.

Understanding current practices

Q1. How does mindfulness manifest in healthcare work practices?

Q2. Does the current sociotechnical system support mindfulness? What role do existing tools (e.g. paperbased systems) have on staff 'rescuing' potential patient safety near misses?

Understanding the change

Q3. How do practices change with the implementation of heath IT? What role has the new technology on maintaining mindfulness?

Understanding patients' role in the sociotechnical system

Q4. What is the role of patients in processes of collective mindfulness and 'rescuing' patient safety near misses in hospital? Does the role change with the introduction of new technology?

Exploring improvements

Q5. How can we improve system design and implementation strategies in order to support mindfulness in hospital inpatients for better and safer patient outcomes?

Identifying potential for generalizability

Q6. Are there specific factors that may affect processes and outcomes of mindfulness in different contexts?

In planning for our current studies (research in progress), we applied these questions to the challenges of medication safety, and in particular to two different clinical contexts (paediatric oncology and ICU) and different types of medications (e.g. chemotherapy and 'drugs of dependence' such as opioids) and to IT applications implemented in these settings to improve medication safety. We adapted the framework to each of these settings by first identifying which medication safety incidents are specific/typical to each of these settings (which the IT may be aimed at preventing) and then drawing hypotheses on which of the five dimensions of collective mindfulness are likely to be most relevant to prevent or rescue such medication safety incidents (with or without the IT) (Figure 1).

Context specific background understanding through: Analysis of safety incidents; Review of literature on clinical practice and incidents; Analysis of technology design Identification of collective mindfulness dimension most likely to be involved in preventing/rescuing incidents in specific context Adapting questions to focus on identified dimensions/specific context and incident type Empirical study (mixed qualitative methods)

Figure 1. Methods to adapt framework of questions to collective mindfulness dimensions.

3. Results

In this section we explain the context-specific medication safety challenges and the questions we ask for each of the two settings.

3.1. Oncology and a chemotherapy electronic prescribing/administration system

Oncology medications are a particularly risky area of medicine management [13], and especially complex in pediatrics. Prescriptions are set in terms of cycles, repeated a number of times on the basis of prescriptive protocols. Medications must be sequenced and timed correctly, upon clinical monitoring of patient response, to contain side effects [14]. The treatment can last for months or years. The medicine management work is distributed in time and place (inpatient and outpatient settings, home care), with a number

of people and roles involved. Thus, oncology medications present a high degree of interdependencies. Research has shown how EPMA systems can reduce oncology medication errors [14-16] although limited work has focused on their impact on 'errors linked to interdependencies' (e.g. erroneous scheduling of cycles) – which, we hypothesize, could be associated with problems in collective mindfulness, and in particular *sensitivity to operations*. Thus, we have adapted our questions (Table 2) with this collective mindfulness dimension in focus.

 Table 2. The framework applied to medication safety and medication management systems, adapted to two different technologies, types of medications and clinical contexts.

Overarching questions applied to medication safety and IT systems for medications	EPMA in oncology setting – questions refined to this context	ADC in ICU setting - questions refined to this context
Q1. How does mindfulness manifest in <i>medicines</i> management practices, including their prescribing, dispensing and administration?	Q1. How does mindfulness manifest in managing the <i>interdependencies inherent in</i> <i>children patients' chemotherapy</i> <i>treatments</i> ?	Q1. How does mindfulness manifest in DD management practices, including supplying, controlling, administration and documentation?
Q2 . Does the current sociotechnical system support mindfulness <i>in medicines supply and use</i> ? What role do existing tools (e.g. paper-based systems) <i>have on 'rescuing' potential risks in the medicines use process</i> ?	Q2 . Does the current sociotechnical system support mindfulness <i>in chemotherapy supply and use</i> ? What role do existing tools (<i>e.g. paper-based chemotherapy protocols</i>) have on maintaining awareness of the treatment process?	Q2. Does the current sociotechnical system support mindfulness <i>in DD supply and</i> <i>use</i> ? What role do existing tools <i>have on 'rescuing'</i> <i>potential risks in the DD use</i> <i>process, such as those posed</i> <i>by unaccounted use</i> ?
Q3. How does the practice of <i>medicines use</i> change with the implementation of IT? What role has the new technology on maintaining mindfulness in <i>medicines use</i> ?	Q3. How does the practice change with the implementation of <i>EPMA</i> systems? What role has the new technology on maintaining awareness of the treatment process, and in particular in consideration of its potential for adding opacity or transparency over interdependencies?	Q3. How does the practice of <i>DD use</i> change with the implementation of <i>ADCs</i> ? What role has the new technology on maintaining mindfulness <i>in DD use</i> ?
Q4. What is the role of patients in processes of 'rescuing' in <i>using medicines</i> in hospital? Does the role change with the introduction of new technology?	Q4. What is the role of <i>patients'</i> families in hospitals maintaining awareness of interdependencies? Does the role change with the introduction of new technology?	Q4 . What is the role of <i>patients' families achieving safety/security of DD</i> ? Does it change with the introduction of new technology?
Q5. How can we improve system design and implementation strategies in order to support mindfulness <i>and medication safety</i> in hospital inpatients for better and safer patient outcomes?	Q5. How can we improve system design and implementation strategies in order to support mindfulness <i>and awareness of interdependencies in the treatment process</i> for better and safer patient outcomes?	Q5. How can we improve system design and implementation strategies in order to reduce the potential risks to mindfulness associated with the introduction of automation?
Q6 . Are there specific factors that may affect processes and outcomes of mindfulness and	[to be explored with future studies in Europe in 2020]	[to be explored with future studies in Europe in 2020]

Note: *italics* indicates adaptation of generic framework to specific setting. Abbreviations - ADC: automated dispensing cabinets; DD: drugs of dependence, e.g. opioids; EPMA: electronic prescribing and administration system; ICU: intensive care unit.

rescuing *in medicines use* in different nations?

3.2. Intensive care and an automated dispensing cabinet for drugs of dependence

'Drugs of dependence' (DD) can be dangerous. In hospitals, DD misuse can lead to harm to staff and patients, and legal and financial consequences for the organisation [17]. Documentation of DD use in paper registries, for control and legal purposes, is very time consuming, especially in wards where DD are used frequently, such as intensive care units (ICU). Automated dispensing cabinet (ADCs) are introduced in hospital pharmacies and/or in clinical wards to improve control of medications [18, 19] and reduce the burden of documentation. However, as most health IT, they may generate unwanted effects on workflows and introduce new mechanisms for errors, such as the nurse not recognizing a wrong drug in the ADC drawer, assuming it to be as expected – a phenomenon known as automation bias [20]. It is necessary that healthcare professionals maintain awareness of risks to prevent harm occurring. Thus in this context, we adapted our questions (Table 2) to investigate specific technology-related mechanisms for errors (automation [21, 22], 'equivocality' [23]) and collective mindfulness dimension essential to counter these (*reluctance to simplify* [4]).

4. Discussion and conclusion

With our research we are proposing a framework of questions to structure the study of the impact of health IT on collective mindfulness in hospitals. The questions must be translated to the specific clinical contexts and IT applications, as each can be expected to have specific patient safety risks and different potential impacts of the technology on the varied dimensions of collective mindfulness. For example, a workflow management system, such as an EPMA system, implemented in paediatric oncology, is expected to support (and semi-automate) the distributed work of the different clinicians involved in a patient's treatment, and to affect the management of the many interdependencies that characterize oncology care. This clinical context invites a study focus on sensitivity of operations, and the potential for increased opacity (or transparency) over interdependencies. Instead, a technology such as automated dispensing cabinets (ADCs), implemented in an ICU, where there is high use of dangerous drugs of dependence, is expected to change specific tasks (e.g. retrieving medications at the time of administration). New risks brought by ADCs are associated with automation effects such as individuals' premature cognitive commitment ('mindlessness'). Thus, it invites a focus on collective mindfulness strategies put in place to counter these effects, such as 'reluctance to simplify'. By the process of translation, we hope to be able to drill into the many varied ways that health IT may affect collective mindfulness in different organisational settings. We will use the framework of overarching questions to then 'reassemble' the distinct findings into a larger picture of whether and how health IT affects collective mindfulness in healthcare. As our studies progress, and with them our understanding of collective mindfulness with health IT, we may refine our original questions. We invite others wishing to investigate this territory to position their findings in this framework, to 'test' it and contribute to our collective understanding.

Acknowledgements

The MindSEIS project is a Marie-Skłodowska Curie individual global fellowship

awarded to Valentina Lichtner, in partnership with UCL School of Pharmacy and the Australian Institute of Health Innovation. The fellowship received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie-Skłodowska Curie Grant Agreement number 740131.

References

- S. Hines, K. Luna, J. Lofthus, M. Marquardt, and D. Stelmokas, *Becoming a high reliability organization:* operational advice for hospital leaders, AHRQ publication, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD, 2008.
- [2] K.M. Sutcliffe and K.E. Weick, Mindful Organising and Resilient Healthcare, in: E. Hollnagel, J. Braithwaite, and R. Wears (Eds), *Resilient Health Care*, Ashgate, London, 2013, 145-156.
- [3] R. Amalberti, Navigating safety: Necessary compromises and trade-offs-theory and practice, Springer, 2013.
- [4] K.E. Weick, K.M. Sutcliffe, and D. Obstfeld, Organizing for High Reliability: Processes of Collective Mindfulness, *Research in Organizational Behavior* 3 (1999), 81-123.
- [5] B.T. Fry, M.E. Smith, J.R. Thumma, A.A. Ghaferi, and J.B. Dimick, Ten-year Trends in Surgical Mortality, Complications, and Failure to Rescue in Medicare Beneficiaries, *Annals of Surgery* (2019), Ahead of Print.
- [6] E.J. Langer, *Mindfulness*, Da Capo Press, 2014.
- [7] E. Hollnagel, J. Braithwaite, and R. Wears, *Resilient Health Care*, Ashgate, London, 2013.
- [8] E.L. Abramson, L.M. Kern, S. Brenner, M. Hufstader, V. Patel, and R. Kaushal, Expert panel evaluation of health information technology effects on adverse events, *J Eval Clin Pract* 20 (2014), 375-382.
- [9] N.C. Ramiller and E. Burton Swanson, Mindfulness routines for innovating with information technology, *Journal of Decision Systems* 18 (2009), 13-26.
- [10] S. Dernbecher and R. Beck, The concept of mindfulness in information systems research: a multidimensional analysis, *European Journal of Information Systems* 26 (2017), 121-142.
- [11] M. Berg, J. Aarts, and J. van der Lei, ICT in health care: Sociotechnical approaches, Methods of Information in Medicine 42 (2003), 297-301.
- [12] P. Carayon, Human factors of complex sociotechnical systems, Applied Ergonomics 37 (2006), 525-535.
- [13] S.N. Weingart, L. Zhang, M. Sweeney, and M. Hassett, Chemotherapy medication errors, *The Lancet Oncology* 19 (2018), e191-e199.
- [14] A.R. Chen and C.U. Lehmann, Computerized Provider Order Entry in Pediatric Oncology: Design, Implementation, and Outcomes, *Journal of Oncology Practice* 7 (2011), 218-222.
- [15] M. Aita, O. Belvedere, E. De Carlo, L. Deroma, F. De Pauli, L. Gurrieri, et al., Chemotherapy prescribing errors: an observational study on the role of information technology and computerized physician order entry systems, *BMC Health Services Research* 13 (2013), 522-522.
- [16] K.A. Elsaid, S. Garguilo, and C.M. Collins, Chemotherapy e-prescribing: opportunities and challenges, *Integr Pharm Res Pract* 4 (2015), 39-48.
- [17] K.H. Berge, K.R. Dillon, K.M. Sikkink, T.K. Taylor, and W.L. Lanier, Diversion of drugs within health care facilities, a multiple-victim crime: patterns of diversion, scope, consequences, detection, and prevention, *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 87 (2012), 674-682.
- [18] C. Chapuis, M. Roustit, G. Bal, C. Schwebel, P. Pansu, S. David-Tchouda, et al., Automated drug dispensing system reduces medication errors in an intensive care setting, *Critical care medicine* 38 (2010), 2275-2281.
- [19] A. Boyd and B. Chaffee, Critical Evaluation of Pharmacy Automation and Robotic Systems: A Call to Action, *Hospital Pharmacy* 54 (2019), 4-11.
- [20] ECRI & ISMP, Problems associated with automated dispensing cabinets, Patient Safety Advisory, Pennsylvania Patient Safety Authority, 2005.
- [21] N. Sarter, D. Woods, and C. Billings, Automation surprises, in: G. Salvendy (Ed.), Handbook of human factors and ergonomics, New York: Wiley, 1997, 1926-1951.
- [22] D. Lyell and E. Coiera, Automation bias and verification complexity: a systematic review, J Am Med Inform Assoc 24 (2016), 423-431.
- [23] K. Weick, Technology as equivoque: Sense-making in new technologies, in: In: P.S. Goodman and L.S. Sproull (Eds.), *Technology and organizations*, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, 1990, 1-44.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190134

Impact of Work Organization on Technology Use: The Case of Hydration Process with a Smart Drinking Glass

Clément GAZZA^{a, 1}, Sylvia PELAYO^a, Brice KOVACS^b, Jessica SCHIRO^a and Romaric MARCILLY^a

^a Univ. Lille, INSERM, CHU Lille, CIC-IT/Evalab 1403 - Centre d'Investigation Clinique, EA 2694, F-59000 Lille, France ^b AplusB, Paris, France

Abstract. This paper presents preliminary results from a larger project led with the French company Auxivia. The latter offers a smart drinking glass (SDG), supporting monitoring daily water intakes of elderly people and helping identify residents to encourage. Contexts and work organizations can deeply differ from a nursing home to another and can impact the use of the SDG. Based on a comparison between two nursing homes, we unveil the impact of both work organizations on the integration of technology requirements. We discuss the results by providing recommendations to improve the integration of SDGs in various work organizations.

Keywords. Smart drinking glass, Work organization, Technology requirements, Acceptability, Adapted design, Nursing homes

1. Introduction

Scientific literature has highlighted the risks related to the dehydration of elderly people [1-7]. It has been shown that the thirst sensation is blunted in this population [7-8]. Hence it is essential for elderly people, as for their formal or informal caregivers, to know if the daily water intake is sufficient or not.

In order to prevent dehydration, a few companies have developed tools which allow to track the water intake over a given period of time [9]. The French company called Auxivia is one of them, which offers a smart drinking glass (SDG) specifically for elderly people. Thanks to its connection to a personal tag, the glass allows to monitor the volumes drunk by each person. In nursing homes, especially if the elderly is not autonomous, those data can be used by the staff to judge whether the person needs more or less liquid intakes. The process of hydration monitoring through SDGs involves four requirements (R1, R2, R3, R4):

- R1: the SDG must be charged. The caregivers have to put the glass on a charger and meet the time charge before using it anew. Only a few hours of charging enable to use the SDG for one week.
- R2: ensure the pairing between the glass (which is not assigned to a specific resident) and a personal tag (assigned to a resident). The tag must be kept close

¹ Corresponding Author: Clément Gazza, Email: clement.gazza@univ-lille.fr

to the person. With this aim in mind, several solutions can be considered: worn tag (necklace or wristband) or installed on furniture (table or coaster).

- R3: the glass detects and records water intakes. To be exploitable, the data must be transferred to a computer platform. A pairing between the glass and a data collector is needed. To ensure the data are properly collected, the glass must remain less than five meters from the data collector for 30-45 minutes.
- R4: a resident who is monitored must *always* drink in a SDG. If (s)he drinks in regular glasses, the water intake will not be measured. Therefore, the collected data will not reflect the overall water intake.

The SDGs logistics is the same as for regular glasses: distribution, dishwashing (they can be washed by the dishwasher) and storing.

The aforementioned SDG requirements may be sometimes difficult to meet in certain nursing homes because of the various existing work organizations (WOs). As with any technology, the implementation initial WO impacts the SDGs logistics and vice versa [10]. Thus, this paper explores how two initial WOs impact the acceptability of the tool by the staff and the integration of the SDG requirements. With this goal in mind, we performed work system analyses of two nursing homes' WOs.

2. Material and method

The present study is part of an Auxivia company project aiming to improve the implementation of their SDG in nursing homes. Auxivia SDGs are implemented in fifteen nursing homes, all located in France. Our observations were carried out in three of them, selected according to WO criteria that may impact the hydration process (nursing home size, fixed or random seat at the restaurant, formal hydration process or not). This article relates preliminary results from two nursing homes, representing two very different WOs.

Nine hours of observation were spent in each nursing home, by the same observer and with the same observation table. The observed items concerned both the hydration process (i.e. regardless of the SDG: distribution, collection and washing of the glasses, staff involved, division of tasks) and the use of the SDG (including constraints for the staff depending on their role, and usability or use problems).

Lastly, interviews were conducted with the staff. They complemented our observations and were based on the same items. Six interviews were conducted in the nursing home A (the nurse coordinator, the housekeeper, a psychomotor therapist, a hospitality aide, two caregivers) and six in the nursing home B (the assistant director at the care unit, the general practitioner, a nurse coordinator, a nurse, two caregivers).

The collected data were used to compare nursing homes item by item.

3. Results

3.1. Nursing home A

3.1.1. Context and initial WO

The 63 rooms (representing 63 residents) are distributed over four floors. The ground

floor provides a central restaurant, where most of the residents eat, and a smaller restaurant dedicated to a specific unit for people with memory or behavior disorders (12 residents). The two restaurants are about 50 meters apart from each other. Cooking, setting the tables and dishwashing are outsourced to a hospitality aide from an external company. Cooking and dishwashing are performed in the basement.

The glasses (connected or not) are brought and distributed by the caregivers at several places: residents' rooms, common spaces on the four floors, central restaurant, and small restaurant. To bring the glasses at each floor, caregivers use two lifts (often overused leading to long waiting times). Then glasses are brought back to the ground floor by the caregivers, to be washed by the hospitality aides in a dishwasher for communities. Lastly, hospitality aides store them in a cabinet at the central restaurant.

Despite the rather small size of the nursing home A, the circulation of the glasses is large and complex because: (1) the glass can be used at many places; (2) distances (and time) between places are significant, and (3) the process involves both caregivers and hospitality aides.

3.1.2. Use of the SDG

Ten residents are monitored by the means of SDGs. Thirty glasses have been initially put into circulation for these ten residents to guarantee there is always a glass available for each resident.

SDGs are distributed, washed and stored as the regular glasses. In comparison to regular glasses, hospitality aides have an additional task: to put the glasses on the charger after they have been washed, and to wait for the green light before using them anew. The charger and the data collector are close: therefore, when charging the glasses, hospitality aides meet both requirements R1 and R3 at the same time.

However, some difficulties to stick to the requirements have been noticed, especially R4 (always drink in a SDG). The difficulties are often related to the spatial configuration or to the diversity of staffs involved in the hydration process, or both. Table 1 details the impact of those characteristics on the adherence to these requirements.

The care staff asserts that SDG are not always available. Hence, they use regular glasses, so that the technology requirements are not met, and the measure of the daily water intake is distorted. Accordingly, the long and complex circulation of the glasses impacts the integration of technology requirements in the WO.

3.2. Nursing home B

3.2.1. Context and initial WO

Unlike nursing home A, each floor ("living unit") accommodates 17 to 20 residents. Each one has its own restaurant, and a kitchen equipped with a standard dishwasher and cupboards to store the glasses.

Glasses can be used in the residents' rooms, in common spaces (including the restaurant) located at the same floor, and they are washed and stored in the floor kitchen. As a consequence, all glasses (connected or not) always remain on the same floor, in places not further than a few dozen meters apart from each other.

In this WO, only the caregivers are in charge of distributing the glasses, bringing them back to the kitchen, putting them in the dishwasher and storing them. Thus, the circulation of the glasses is short and simple because: (1) there is only one place for the meals, (2) distances are reduced, and (3) only the care staff takes action in the process.

Characteristics of	Observations in nursing home A
the organization	
Diversity of places	Some glasses have been broken or lost, others remain a long time in the rooms or
	in common spaces at the floors. As a consequence, glasses are rarely available in the storage cabinet
	Pageura glasses are not dedicated to a particular place, the caregivers often take
	mere then needed to mervent running out. As a result SDCs are missing on other
	floors.
	The personal tags are glued to a necklace; sometimes, they are not worn because
	the care staff forget them or because the resident refuses them. Then the water
	intakes are not recorded.
Diversity of operators	Because of a lack of information or training and due to turnover, caregivers do not really know the SDG requirements, or they do not know which residents are
	monitored. They frequently give a regular glass to the monitored residents, causing the water intake not to be recorded.
Both diversity of	Meal trays are provided to the small restaurant. According to caregivers, the SDGs
places and diversity	should be provided with the trays by the hospitality aides; but according to the
of operators	latter, the caregivers must fetch them at the central restaurant. Then there is a
•	misunderstanding about the rules related to the circuit of the SDG. As a
	consequence, SDGs are often missing at the small restaurant.

Table 1. Impact of the nursing home A's characteristics on the use of the SDG.

3.2.2. Use of the SDG

Most of the residents (about 50) of three living units are monitored by the means of the SDG. As in nursing home A, three glasses per resident have been initially provided by Auxivia. The distribution, washing and storage processes are the same as for regular glasses.

Nevertheless, the use in nursing home B differs from nursing home A. Table 2 shows the impact of the characteristics of the glass circulation on the adherence to the technology requirements.

Caregivers access a SDG more easily than in nursing home A. In this situation, technology requirements are more often met. In this WO, the short and simple circulation of the glasses impacts the use of the technology, by facilitating the compliance with the requirements.

Characteristics of	Observations in nursing home B
the organization	
Proximity of various places	The charger and the data collector are both installed in the kitchen, as well as the dishwasher and the storage cupboard. These elements are not further than three meters from each other. As a result, the SDGs always remain within a limited area. When the caregivers look after a SDG, either they see it right away or they have a relatively short distance to walk and fetch one at the residents' rooms.
	The personal tags are glued under the restaurant table and tables in the residents' rooms as one resident always eat at the same place. But the caregivers have difficulties to ensure that the monitored residents are always close to their personal tags when they drink. As a consequence, water intakes can be recorded for another resident.
Only the caregivers are involved in the process	All caregivers have the same rules in mind. The newcomers arrive in a small team, so that they soon reproduce their colleagues' activity. The communications are fast, the technology requirements are rapidly learned by the operators.

Table 2. Impact of the nursing home B's characteristics on the use of the SDG.

4. Discussion

For the care staff, the integration of the Auxivia technology requirements appears to be more difficult in case A than in case B. The two WOs impact differently the use of the SDG and the integration of the technology requirements. The acceptability of the SDGs depends partly on the matching between their requirements and the actual WO: in the present study, nursing home B's organization suits better the SDGs' requirements than nursing home A's.

A thorough analysis of the WO upstream of the implementation is therefore crucial to ensure a more efficient integration of the technology.

Yet, manufacturers cannot design a tailor-made tool for each WO. To ensure that the technology is adapted to various organizations, one approach could be to set different profiles of WOs, and to define the needed adaptations of the technology to these profiles. For instance, when the technology is implemented in a long and complex glass circuit, as in case A, three solutions can be considered in order to help the staff better understand and adhere to all the steps: (1) provide more glasses, knowing that it would increase the costs to nursing homes; (2) emphasize support, information and training towards the care staff; (3) introduce the tasks related to the SDG in the job descriptions.

Despite the differences we observed in the meeting of technology requirements between A and B, results do not mean that the use of the technology is better in one nursing home than in the other, as it depends on a wide range of requirements and tasks. In this article, we focused on the acceptability of a few ones by the staff. A forthcoming paper will further develop the overall efficiency of the SDG.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests in conducting and in reporting this study.

References

- J. Chidester and A. Spangler, Fluid intake in the institutionalized elderly, *Journal of the American Dietetics Association* 97 (1997), 23-28.
- [2] N. Hoffman, Dehydration in the elderly: Insidious and manageable, Geriatrics 46 (1990), 35-38.
- [3] J. Kositizke, A question of balance. Dehydration in the elderly, *Journal of Gerontological Nursing* 16 (1990), 4-11.
- [4] A. Rowat, C. Graham, and M. Dennis, Dehydration in hospital-admitted stroke patients: Detection, frequency, and association, *Stroke* 43 (2012), 857-859.
- [5] H. Xiao, J. Barber, E.S. Campbell, Economic burden of dehydration among hospitalized elderly patients, *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy* 61 (2004), 2534-2540.
- [6] B. Wakefield, J. Mentes, L. Diggelmann, and Culp, K., Monitoring hydration status in elderly veterans, Western Journal of Nursing Research 24 (2002), 132-142.
- [7] M. Ferry, Strategies for ensuring good hydration in the elderly, *Nutrition reviews* 63 (2005), 22-29.
- [8] W.L. Kenney and P. Chiu, Influence of age on thirst and fluid intake, Medicine and science in sports and exercise 33 (2001), 1524-1532.
- [9] N.D. Schüll, Data for life: Wearable technology and the design of self-care, *BioSocieties* 11 (2016), 317-333.
- [10] M.C. Beuscart-Zéphir, P. Elkin, S. Pelayo, and R. Beuscart, The human factors engineering approach to biomedical informatics projects: state of the art, results, benefits and challenges, *Yearb Med Inform* 16 (2007), 109-127.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHT1190135

Lost in Translation? Care Coordination Across Contexts in Swedish Homecare Nursing

Gudbjörg ERLINGSDOTTIR¹, Johanna PERSSON, Gerd JOHANSSON, Roger LARSSON and Christofer RYDENFÄLT

Ergonomics and Aerosol Technology, Department of Design Sciences, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

Abstract. The responsibilities for delivery of care in Sweden is divided between the regions and the municipalities. The regions run the hospitals and the primary care centres (PCCs) whereas the municipalities are responsible for homecare nursing and nursing homes. The homecare nurses and the doctors they need to seek advice from, thus belong to different organizations/contexts. As more patients with multi- and long-term illnesses are taken care of in their homes the workload of the homecare nurses has increased. A new healthcare agreement has thus been signed between a region in South Sweden and its municipalities. The healthcare agreement states that doctors from the PCCs are to form mobile teams together with the homecare nurses. This paper reports from a pre-study investigating how the agreement, in terms of translation sociology, is interpreted in four of the municipalities. The aim of the research project as a whole is to develop digital support systems for the mobile teams.

Keywords. Care coordination, homecare, nursing, teams, sociology of translation

1. Introduction

In Sweden, there is an increasing trend of patients, especially the elderly, being cared for in their home, even during multi- and long-term illnesses [1, 2]. This means that the care moves from the hospitals to the patients' homes. This, in turn, increases the workload of the homecare nurses [3]. Another aggravating circumstance is that the organization and responsibility of healthcare in Sweden is divided between two organizational levels, the regions and the municipalities included in the regions. The regions run the hospitals and the primary care centres (PCCs) whereas the municipalities are responsible for homecare nursing and nursing homes. The homecare nurses and the doctors they need to seek advice from, thus belong to different organizations. In response to this, a new *healthcare agreement* was signed in 2016 between a Region in Southern Sweden and the region's municipalities. The healthcare agreement states that the homecare nurses should be able to call a doctor from the PPC when needed. When called upon, a doctor is to reside in the patient's home within two hours, around the clock, to team up with the homecare nurse. A PPC doctor and a homecare nurse are thus the core of the new team but can, when needed, request other care professionals as an assistant nurse, a physiotherapist or

¹ Corresponding Author: Gudbjörg Erlingsdóttir, Email: Gudbjorg.Erlingsdottir@design.lth.se

an occupational therapist to join the team. This will potentially imply increased support for the homecare nursing staff, as they will get a team to turn to.

Besides the apparent organizational challenges with a transition to a new work form including several organizations, the interpretation of the core concept, the *team*, can constitute another obstacle. Previous research indicates that different understandings of how the team is supposed to work together lead to poor team functionality and communication failures [4-6]. Furthermore, we know that the concepts of a *team* and *teamwork*, sometimes are interpreted differently [7, 8]. Thus, it is of interest to investigate how a team based organizational change initiative, implemented broadly in several different municipalities, is interpreted and translated into organizational practice.

In this paper, we present findings from a pre-study of how the new healthcare agreement has been interpreted in the local context in four different municipalities. The pre-study is the first step in a larger project intended to develop digital support systems for the mobile teams. In the paper we will consider; 1) how the interpretation of the agreement and multi-professional team varies between the different municipalities, 2) to what degree the multi-professional teams have materialized in the four municipalities so far, 3) how (and by whom) the cooperation between the region and the municipalities has been organized, and 4) what possible indications this may have for the future development of digital support systems.

2. Theory: Sociology of translation

To catch and analyse the variations in interpretation of the agreement and multiprofessional teams between the different municipalities we use sociology of translation i.e. the notion that ideas are translated when they move in/through the field [9, 10]. Latour [9] and Callon [10] define translation in a wide sense, including all possible variations in a process of interpretation. Thus, here translation goes beyond mere translation word for word, and also refers to, for instance, that an abstract language can be translated into a concrete one, or that words can be translated into action. This implies that it is difficult to control the process of implementation. Latour [9] writes of tokens, which implies anything that can be spread. Latour's intention with the concept of translation is to give an alternative to the "usual" diffusion models [11]. Latour [9] rather sees each and every encounter between the token being spread and the people it meets as an "happening" to which the outcome cannot be predicted. This in turn has implications for the power of the ideas. There is an important difference between Latour's and Callon's translation models as they focus on or highlight different parts of the translation process. Latour's translation model highlights the translation itself, while Callon's model of translation highlights the translators and how they become translated through the process. Callon uses the concept of the *obligatory passage* to explain how different translators (actors) are linked to each other through the mutual "problem".

3. Methodology

The design of the pre-study was qualitative and the data was obtained through: 1) document studies related to the *healthcare agreement* and its implementation and 2) semi-structured interviews with representatives from the four municipalities' home care nursing units. The interview questions were concerned with; *the current organization of*

home care nursing in the municipality, how the mobile teams are interpreted and organized, plans to develop their organization with regards to the mobile teams, power and influence over the organization of the mobile teams, how the patients were selected and enrolled in the program, and perceived effects on the patient care and the work environment of the nurses. All interviews were recorded and transcribed. In total, 13 persons were interviewed, from the four municipalities (see table 1).

Municipality	Section	Home health-	Medically responsible	Social service
	manager	care nurse	nurse	manager
А	2	1	0	0
В	0	1	1	0
С	2	3	0	1
D	1	1	0	0

Table 1. Number of interviewed personnel in relation to municipality and profession/occupation.

4. Results: The agreement and interpretation of the agreement in four municipalities

In the agreement, the region and the municipalities commit to a common development of the organization and work-routines of the mobile teams, their healthcare quality and a better resource allocation. Enrolment of patients into a mobile team is to be a common activity and decision between the region and the municipalities (i.e. a doctor from a PPC and a nurse from the homecare organization). In order to be enrolled, the patient has to fulfil four out of six predefined inclusion criteria. If the patient accepts enrolment, a joint coordinated individual plan for the patient's care is established. Before the agreement, the municipalities have been able to call a *mobile doctor service*, an emergency service procured by the Region when the PPCs are closed (ca 16.30-8.00). The mobile doctor service provides a doctor on call that comes directly to the patients' home. Patients are normally listed on a specific doctor at a PCC of their own choice.

4.1. The state of affairs in the municipalities

The four municipalities were chosen to represent different types of municipalities in the Region: two small towns, one by the sea including small satellite villages A (a total of 20 000 inhabitants); one in the country side including rural habitation B (a total of 15 000 inhabitants); and two larger towns, one with concentrated town habitation C (a total of 33 000 inhabitants) and one including rural habitation D (a total of 33 000 habitation).

4.1.1. Municipality A

In municipality A, the respondents from the homecare organisation did not know which patients were enrolled and listed on the mobile team. They had vague perception of the mobile team and seemed to have the opinion that the mobile teams are the PCCs responsibility. The homecare nurses were not informed of the list of patients that had been enrolled in the mobile teams and they have to phone the PCC to be informed on the matter. During the day the PCC sends a doctor to team up with the homecare nurse or decides what other actions to take (as calling the mobile doctor service or arranging for an ambulance transport to the hospital). In municipality A they claim that they mostly work in the same way as they did before, daytime they call for a doctor from the PCC and other hours they call the mobile doctor service. They have not made any changes in

their organization or the composition of their staff on behalf of the agreement. Still they feel that the PCC doctors make more visits to the patients than before but they also point out that the intention was even more enhanced cooperation with the PCC and that it is difficult to share information between the homecare and the PCCs as they belong to two different healthcare organizations. They communicate with the PCC through a weekly meeting about patients (planning), fax and telephone. They also told us that they are interested in becoming more mobile, amongst other with support of e-health technology, but they did not connect this to the agreement or the mobile team. The respondents also commented that the mobile doctor service was intended to become superfluous but that this has not happened yet.

4.1.2. Municipality B

The respondents in municipality B referred to another type of a mobile team – regional mobile teams that have been put together by and depart from the regional hospital and serve the municipalities in the area. These teams are better equipped than the local mobile team and the mobile doctor service and can provide more advanced care on site. The routine is that when needed the homecare nurses call the PCC for a doctor and the PCC decides whether to send one of their own doctors, the mobile doctor service or the regional mobile team to the patient. According to the respondents, the PCC doctors rarely come themselves though. The homecare nurses are involved, together with the PCC, in the enrolment of patients into the local mobile teams. Planning is done through a monthly meeting between the operational managers from the PCCs and the municipality together with the medically responsible nurse. They do not work differently from before but say that now the PCC takes larger responsibility to call for the mobile doctor service or the regional mobile team. The respondents also made a comment about not really understanding why there is an enrolment of patients for the mobile team because all patients seem to have the right to be visited by the regional mobile team. The bottom line is that the respondents from municipality B do not feel that they work with the PCC in mobile teams but they do meet up with the regional mobile team at the patient's home.

4.1.3. Municipality C

In municipality C, they have decided that the mobile team coincides with their "ordinary teams". They have thus not created any new organizational forms or teams for the mobile team but have extended their teams with competence in rehabilitation. The respondents also doubt that the PCCs are well enough equipped to work with the mobile teams i.e. to fulfil their part of the agreement. Still, they have good communication with the different PCCs amongst others through already existing collaboration groups. The local hospital is also involved in the communication. The municipality has chosen to work with one particular PCC to form the mobile teams. The other PCCs are included in the information loop but are not involved in setting the guidelines for the cooperation. The respondents note that on a higher level in the organizations everyone agrees on what the agreement means, but that when it comes to the shop-floor in a particular PCC the interpretation can be more problematic. The PCCs work as they have always done and individual doctors can be more or less informed about the agreement. The result is, according to the respondents, that the doctors are not always involved and engaged in the enrolment of patients and the writing of the joint coordinated individual plans. They perceive the lack of doctors as the main cause of this. As the PCC does not live up to their part of the agreement, the region has come up with the idea of a regional mobile team as a support (the same sort of team as in municipality B). However, in the homecare organization they have done what they can but are dependent on the PCC to develop their part of the mobile teams further and come into action.

4.1.4. Municipality D

In municipality D the respondents claim that the homecare nurses have worked in mobile teams with doctors from the PCCs for quite a while before the agreement (daytime). Therefore, the agreement has not changed much for their organization. Normally, the particular doctor that the patient is assigned to will team up with the homecare nurse. Thus, more or less all doctors at a PCC can be involved in a team with the same homecare nurse. One of the PCCs is testing a system where one doctor takes all team calls and teams up with the same homecare nurse (forming a stable team). However, some nurses work with as many as three different PCCs and with several doctors at each PCC. If the patient changes PCC or doctor the homecare nurses will follow the patient and work with a new PCC and doctor. The respondents claim that sometimes the PCCs try to get the homecare nurses to contact the specialists in the hospital but the nurses refuse, as this is the responsibility of the PCCs. Still, they say that they have had a good cooperation and communication with the PCCs since before and sometimes the doctors manage to team up with the homecare nurse and sometimes the PCC calls the mobile doctor service or the regional mobile team instead. None of the PCCs provide doctors during the nightshift yet (the same is true for the other municipalities). The respondents also claim that the number of patients that are sent to the emergency at the hospital have not been reduced even if that was one of the aims of the implementation of the mobile teams. They also comment the fact that the regional mobile team is called the same as the local mobile team (both are called "the mobile team") which they think is confusing and a pity. The respondents also state that they need to reorganize some of the homecare nurses' work so that they cover up for the nurse that teams up with the doctor (implicitly meaning that the nurse that teams up with the doctor misses out on her/his round of patients). They will thus hire an assistant nurse that can support the homecare nurses. The enrolment of the patients is done in cooperation between the homecare nurses and the PCCs and the homecare nurses have weekly planning meetings with the PCCs. The respondents do not feel that there is a need for the PCCs to provide a doctor outside daytime as they have a good cooperation and communication with the mobile doctor service.

5. Discussion

The brief accounts from the interviews in the municipalities above, show that the agreement has been interpreted or translated, in Latour's [9] and Callon's [10] meaning, in different ways in the different contexts/municipalities. The interpretations also seem to be dependent on the local routines and the contact and communication channels between the homecare and PCCs'. Where there is an established communication and cooperation between the homecare and the PCCs, as in municipalities C and D, the translation of the agreement into practice seems to be simpler than in municipalities A and B where the communication and planning is not so elaborated or happens on a level above the homecare nurses and the PCC doctors. In addition, there is a difference between the different PCCs understanding of the agreement and the degree to which they translate it into practice. Several of the respondents describe a disbelief in the PCCs

capacity to fulfil their part of the agreement. The fact that the PCCs often prefer to call the mobile doctor service or the regional mobile team instead of sending their own doctors also indicates that they have problems realizing the agreement in practice.

The common enrolment of patients could have been an obligatory passage [10] for both the homecare nurses and the doctors, as they become linked to the patient and the mobile team. However, the doctors do not seem to be totally translated into team members (even though the degree of commitment varies between the different municipalities) as they pass on the task to the mobile doctor service or the regional mobile team. This shows that an obligatory passage only works as long as there are enough available resources, in this case doctors, to materialize the engagement in practice or as long as the problem is not recognized as mutual and the linkage of the obligatory passage is not made as in municipality A where the homecare nurses were not even invited to participate in the enrolment of the patients.

All the municipalities have, to different degrees, translated the agreement to become a part of "business as usual", adjusting their work only to a small extent, or not at all. In some cases (C and D) because the existing routines already resembled the agreement and the mobile teams or because there was a confusion about what the agreement and the mobile team really meant (as in municipality A and B). An idea, in this case the agreement, that allows for this type of adjustment to the existing contexts has to be vague or abstract enough for the different actors to translate it in different ways [12]. However, a digital system is per definition more concrete and does not allow the same type of local interpretation. The task to develop a uniform digital support system for the mobile teams will thus be challenging as long as the participating organisations do not align their interpretation of how to translate the agreement into practice.

References

- [1] The National Board of Health and Welfare, Hemvård en kartläggning av översikter, 2014.
- [2] The National Board of Health and Welfare, Samordnad vård och omsorg om de mest sjuka äldre-Redovisning av arbetsläget hösten 2014, 2014.
- [3] A. Öhlén, Advanced home care: murses' everyday practice. (2015). Licence dissertation. Dept of Neurobiology, Care Sciences and Society, Karolinska Institute: Stockholm.
- [4] C. Rydenfält, G. Johansson, P.A. Larsson, K. Akerman, P. Odenrick, Social structures in the operating theater: How contradicting rationalities and trust affect work, *J Adv Nurs* 68 (2012), 783-795.
- [5] S. Kvarnström, Difficulties in collaboration: A critical incident study of interprofessional healthcare teamwork, *Journal of Interprofessional Care* **22** (2008), 191-203.
- [6] P. Hall, Interprofessional teamwork: Professional cultures as barriers, *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 19 (2005), 188-196.
- [7] J. Lyubovnikova, M.A. West, J.F. Dawson, M.R. Carter, 24-Karat or fool's gold? Consequences of real team and co-acting group membership in healthcare organizations, *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology* 24 (2015), 929-950.
- [8] C. Rydenfält, J. Borell, and G. Erlingsdóttir, What do doctors mean when they talk about teamwork? possible implications for interprofessional care, *Journal of interprofessional care* (2018), 1-10.
- [9] B. Latour, The powers of association, in: J. Law (Ed.), *Power, action and belief*, Routledge & Kegan Paul, Boston, MA, 1986, 264-280.
- [10] M. Callon, Some elements of a sociology of translation: Domestication of the scallops and the fishermen of St Brieu Bay, in: J. Law (Ed.), *Power, action and belief*, Routledge & Kegan Paul, London, 1986, 196-233.
- [11] L.A. Brown, Innovation diffusion: A new perspective, Methuen & Co Ltd, New-York, 1981.
- [12] G. Erlingsdóttir and K. Lindberg, Isomorphism, Isopraxism and Isonymism: Complementary or Competing Processes?, in B. Czarniawska and G Sevón (Eds), *Global Ideas: how ideas, objects and practices travel in the global economy*, Liber & Copenhagen Business School Press, Malmö, 2005, 47-70.

Adapting mHealth to Workflow – A Case Study in South Africa

Malin LINDBERG^a, Sofia ROSBORG^c, Mokholelana Margaret RAMUKUMBA^b and Maria HÄGGLUND^{a, c, 1}

^a Health Informatics Centre, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden ^bDepartment of Health Studies, University of South Africa ^cDepartment of Women's and Children's Health, Uppsala University and Uppsala University Hospital

Abstract. Community Health Workers (CHW) perform important healthcare and health promotion in many low and middle income countries. They are increasingly supported in their work by the use of mHealth. This study aims to explore how mHealth services can support the everyday work for CHWs when delivering home care in rural areas in South Africa. A single case study was performed, mapping CHWs workflow and investigating where and when CHW can be supported by mHealth services. Despite the very positive feedback from the CHWs and the fact that the studied mHealth solutions appears to support the majority of the important activities in the CHWs work process, the application is no longer in use. Financial and strategic decisions are behind the discontinuation of the project, further stressing the importance of taking all socio-technical dimensions into account when evaluating success or failure of implementation projects.

Keywords. mHealth, Socio-Technical Systems, Community Health Workers

1. Introduction

Globally, healthcare systems are facing similar challenges and a pressure to perform alongside limited budgets and shortage of staff. eHealth has the potential to facilitate the work for healthcare professionals, however problems with low usability and poor interoperability continue to cause problems [1]. Low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) suffer from several health care challenges, one of the major ones being lack of workforce. This leads to understaffed hospitals, patients not having access to care, and a communication-gap between patients and physicians, especially in rural areas. South Africa is a middle-income country with a private and a public healthcare sector. Healthcare is funded by a mixture of taxes, private medical schemes and out-of-pocket payments [2]. The private healthcare sector has larger funding, since it comprises private out-of-pocket payments and medical schemes. This leads to an unequal distribution of healthcare, since most health care professionals decide to work within the private sector, which the poor cannot afford [2].

To bridge this gap, community health workers (CHWs) play a vital role [3]. CHWs are a group of health workers who have a formal but limited training for certain health-related tasks [4]. Their tasks include providing health education, referrals and follow ups,

¹ Corresponding Author: Maria Hägglund, E-mail: maria.hagglund@kbh.uu.se

home visits to specific communities, and basic preventive health care. They support individuals and families to access the health and social services system [5]. CHWs work outside of health care facilities, visiting people in their homes, neighborhoods, communities or other nonclinical spaces [3]. The individuals and families they visit often do not have the means to go to the health care facility themselves, therefore the CHWs often work in rural areas. Mobile technology support community health workers in collecting health data, facilitate health education sessions, receive alerts and reminders, and to communicate [6]. The concept mHealth has emerged as a sub-category of eHealth and can be defined as medical and public health practice supported by mobile devices

and can be defined as medical and public health practice supported by mobile devices [7]. By using mHealth tools, CHWs might be able to improve the quality and range of the services they provide. To improve design and implementation of mHealth to support homecare in rural areas in the future, we need an in-depth understanding of the factors that impact the success or failure of mHealth interventions. Today, there is a lack of empirical evidence

success or failure of mHealth interventions. Today, there is a lack of empirical evidence of effectiveness when implementing mHealth services in rural homecare [8]. mHealth interventions can be classified as complex socio-technical systems [9], and therefore it is important to address more than only technical aspects when studying success and failures of mHealth implementations.

This study aims to explore how mHealth services can support the everyday work for CHWs when delivering home care in rural areas in South Africa.

2. Methods

A single case study was performed, focusing on how mHealth services can support CHWs in South Africa when delivering home care to patients in rural areas. The focus is on mapping their workflow and investigating where and when they can be supported by mHealth services.

2.1. Setting and participants

Data collection was done in two different sub-districts in the North-West province, South Africa. The municipality has a population of around 82 000 people. It is a farming community where the main economic sector is agriculture. There are eight clinics in the area. The clinics are either primary health care clinics or community health centers. Mobenzi is a mobile application for smartphones that had been used in the studied context. It was specifically developed for CHWs in South Africa. Mobenzi allows the CHWs to register patients, collect data and keep records of them. The mHealth solution also allows screening different diseases, sending referrals and intervention-specific functionality according to program guidelines and requirements [10]. Real-time notifications and screening provide real-time decision support. The automatic report makes it possible for management, the outreach team leaders (OTLs), to monitor key indicators. The mHealth application can be used offline, meaning data synchronization will happen automatically in the background, which makes it possible to use in remote areas without network connection [10]. It is possible for the users to communicate with each other through the application.

Since the study is limited to the pilot of a specific mobile health application, the number of users is small. Due to the small group of participants, convenience sampling was chosen as sampling technique [11]. Three focus group interviews were conducted,



Figure 1. CHWs workflow in the South African context.

one with OTLs and two with CHWs. A total of four OTLs and 23 CHWs participated in the focus group interviews.

2.2. Data collection and analysis

The focus group interviews were mainly held in English, but with support of local researchers indigenous languages were also used when necessary. Interview guides focused on understanding the workflow and activities undertaken by OTLs and CHWs and how the mHealth application supported them in their work. The interviews were transcribed and where necessary translated to English. Activity diagrams were used for visualizing the CHW's workflow (Figure 1). Based on the analysis of the focus group interviews, activities that could be supported through mHealth was identified, and a mapping with the functionality of Mobenzi was performed to further understand how well it supports the current workflow.Qualitative content analysis was used for analyzing the interviews [12]. In this study, we took our starting point in the socio-technical framework proposed by Sittig & Singh [13] focusing on two of the eight dimensions; workflow and clinical content.

3. Results

The analysis of the case study is presented in the form of activity diagrams (Figure 1) with accompanying descriptions of activities that could be supported through mHealth (marked by a symbol in the diagrams). A green star indicates that the studied mHealth solution provides support for this activity, whereas a red circle indicates that it does not. A further description of the marked activities is presented in Table 1.

The activity diagram for CHWs in South Africa was broken down into two parts, where A9 is broken down into sub-activities SA1-SA8.

3.1. Qualitative analysis of the focus group interviews

The South African CHWs were very positive towards the Mobenzi application and said it was very useful to them. They experienced an increase in efficiency, data collection and entry was faster, and they could do more patient visits when they used it. The application had reminders of which patient to visit and when, which also supported them. According to the CHWs, the application also made their work more tangible and possible to track. They thought Mobenzi helped them feel motivated to do a better job, because they could see their improvements, "*it motivates you to do better and to do more, go an extra mile*". Mobenzi would also help organizing and structuring the data; "*clients are being categorized in Mobenzi. For the pregnant woman, you found that there is a category for that one with this code, because of Mobenzi, if the woman has already delivered, it will automatically change, there was no need to scroll on the phone and change it".*

Activity	Description	Possible mHealth support	Supported?
A1	The CHW is entering the clinic and	The attendance could be registered	Yes
	registers their attendance	in the application which in turn	
		could be integrated with the OTLs'	
		application	
A2	Brings report from previous workday	The report could have been written	
	Competing the OTL and CUW and	in the application	
AS	sometime the OTL and CHW are	in the application for the CUW to	
	the uncoming work	fallow	
Δ7	Presents campaign for the household	Instructions for the campaign could	
111	The campaign can have themes such as	he integrated in the application	
	the usage of condom, encourage to be	before the presentation	
	tested and other health promotions	·····	
A8	If there is no campaign, the CHW	In order for the CHW to be	
	enters the household on their own	prepared for the visit he/she could	
		read about the household in the	
		application	
A10	Depending if it's a campaign the OTL	Instead of documenting on paper	Yes
	and CHW leave the household as a	on site or back at the clinic,	
	team, if not the CHW leaves the	changes could be edited in the	
	household. The CHW can either end	application on site	
SA1	If the household is not registered, the	This activity is possible to do in the	Ves
SAI	CHW registers it who lives there their	application instead of writing on	105
	work age and other demographic	naper	
	details	pupu	
SA2	If the household is registered the daily	The screening could be registered	Yes
	duties is followed by TB screening	in the application	
SA3	TB screening is followed by HIV	The screening could be registered	Yes
	screening if there is a new patient	in the application	
SA4	If the patient has an ongoing treatment	If the treatment was registered in	
	adherence support is given. The CHW	the application, the CHW could	
	instructs on how to take treatment and	check it and make sure the patient	
SAF	dosage	The program and agoild be registered	Var
SAS	household she will be registered and	in the application and book	1 05
	educated about healthy eating and the	appointments at the clinic for the	
	importance of booking visits at the	patient	
	clinic	panent	
SA6	Antenatal care is encouraged, and post-	The changes in pregnancy and	Yes
	natal care is provided after the child is	check-ups could be registered in	
	born.	the application	
SA8	If the patient is in need of a referral,	When entering patient data in the	Yes
	the CHW can refer the patient to the	application, it will provide a form	
	right clinic and department	with yes/no questions	

Table 1. Description of CHW's workflow with potential for mHealth support.

The CHWs also appreciated the improved confidentiality when using mHealth rather than paper-based documentation; "sometimes when you let the patient fill out a form, it will be as if the other household members see what this patient is saying in the form. So, if it was captured in the phone, it was much easier to keep the confidentiality" because, "each one of us was having a code to get into Mobenzi. I was not able to touch anyone else's Mobenzi. That's how it was confidential".

In table 2 below, findings from the focus group with the South African participants regarding the clinical content and human computer interface are presented. Three categories could be identified in this theme; missing functions, user satisfaction, and usability.

Category	Description	Quote
Missing	Referrals to other	"More icons for the paper referrals, more icons that would include
functions	departments is not	other departments, because we are delivering an integrated
	supported	well".
User	The participants are	"Mobenzi was making our work easy because it was faster than
satisfactio	satisfied with the application.	the papers"
Usabilit	The participants think	"Mobenzi can you show you your performance" and "for me,
	the application is	Mobenzi was like my additional colleague. In the sense that, it kept
	making their work	me on track with my visit plan. I just follow the guidance. So, it
	more efficient.	was like my guide, like my adviser, it led me in performing".

 Table 2. Findings of clinical content of Mobenzi.

When the participants were asked about what specific functions they miss, they only mentioned one; that they would like to be able to send electronic referrals of patients to not only health clinics, but also other departments, e.g. social services.

4. Discussion and Conclusion

According to the CHWs, they felt their work was more efficient when using Mobenzi. A systematic review about CHWs and mobile technology shows similar results [6]. The CHWs said that they were able to collect data faster, and that they could visit more households during a day when they had Mobenzi. They would also be more effective since Mobenzi reminded them who to visit and when. According to the systematic review [6], there would be less data loss when using mHealth. In this study however, we found that data loss could be one of the issues with Mobenzi. The collected data would sometimes disappear for no reason. We were not able to investigate why this happened, but it is a challenge for the developers to solve. An advantage with mHealth, that the review does not mention but was discussed during the focus group, was that the integrity of patients improved as data was not as easily accessed by non-authorized users in the mHealth tool as it was on paper. Although our results come from one case study, the workflow analysis and suggestions for functions to support the workflow are likely relevant in similar settings. The method of visualizing the workflow and mapping it to functions of the mHealth tool may also be useful to others.

Despite the very positive feedback from the CHWs and the fact that the studied mHealth solution appears to support the majority of the important activities in the CHWs work process, the pilot project was terminated and the mHealth is no longer in use. In the larger research project, further information regarding the implementation and use of the application has been gathered, indicating that financial and strategic decisions led to the discontinuation of the project. This is a common problem for mHealth and eHealth projects globally, and further stresses the importance of taking all socio-technical dimensions into account when evaluating success or failure of implementation projects.

Acknowledgement

The study was funded through the MobEVAL project (2016-00623) supported by FORTE – the Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare and SAMRC – the South Africa Medical Research Council. This research was also supported by Uppsala MedTech Science & Innovation (www.medtech.uu.se), a joint strategic initiative between Uppsala University and Uppsala University Hospital.

References

- I. Scandurra, M. Hägglund, A. Persson, and R.-M. Ahlfeldt, "Disturbing or facilitating?--on the Usability of Swedish eHealth Systems 2013, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 205 (2014), 221–225.
- [2] J.E.-O. Ataguba, and J. Akazili, Health care financing in South Africa: moving towards universal coverage, *Contin. Med. Educ* 28 (2010).
- [3] H.B. Perry, R. Zulliger, and M.M. Rogers, Community health workers in low-, middle-, and high-income countries: an overview of their history, recent evolution, and current effectiveness, *Annu. Rev. Public Health* 35 (2014), 399–421.
- [4] A. Olaniran, H. Smith, R. Unkels, S. Bar-Zeev, and N. van den Broek, Who is a community health worker?
 a systematic review of definitions, *Glob. Health Action* 10 (2017).
- [5] U. Lehmann and D. Sanders, Community health workers: what do we know about them? The state of the evidence on programmes, activities, costs and impact on health outcomes of using community health workers, Evidence and Information for Policy, Department of Human Resources for Health Geneva, 2007.
- [6] R. Braun, C. Catalani, J. Wimbush, and D. Israelski, Community health workers and mobile technology: a systematic review of the literature, *PLoS One* 8 (2013), e65772.
- [7] World Health Organization, mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth, Global Observatory for eHealth serie, World Health Organization, Geneva, 2011.
- [8] E. Hage, J.P. Roo, M.A.G. van Offenbeek, and A. Boonstra, Implementation factors and their effect on e-Health service adoption in rural communities: a systematic literature review, *BMC Health Serv. Res.* 13 (2013).
- [9] G. Baxter, I. and Sommerville, Socio-technical systems: From design methods to systems engineering, *Interact. Comput.* 23 (2011), 4–17.
- [10] Mobile Technology to Empower Community Healthcare Workers (CHWs) and Inform Decision-makers, Mobenzi, (2017). https://www.mobenzi.com/docs/CHW%20Info%20Pack%20-%20May%20217.pdf (accessed Jun 3, 2019).
- [11] I. Etikan, S.A. Musa, and R.S. Alkassim, Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling, Am. J. Theor. Appl. Stat. 5 (2016), 1–4.
- [12] U.H. Graneheim and B. Lundman, Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness, *Nurse Educ. Today* 24 (2004),105–112.
- [13] D.F. Sittig, and H. Singh, A New Socio-technical Model for Studying Health Information Technology in Complex Adaptive Healthcare Systems, *Qual Saf Heal. Care* 19 (2010), i68–i74.

Exploring mHealths Fit to Workflow in Homecare – A Case Study in Sweden

Sofia ROSBORG ^{a, c}, Malin LINDBERG ^a, Margaret RAMUKUMBA ^b, Lovisa JÄDERLUND HAGSTEDT ^a and Maria HÄGGLUND^{a, c, 1}

^a Health Informatics Centre, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden ^bDepartment of Health Studies, University of South Africa ^cDepartment of Women's and Children's Health, Uppsala University and Uppsala University Hospital

Abstract. With an ageing population and limited resources in healthcare, many high-income countries such as Sweden see an increase in homecare and mobile work for healthcare professionals. In this case study, we explore how mHealth services can support the everyday work for healthcare professionals when delivering home care in rural areas in Sweden. The studied mHealth application had failed to be adopted among district nurses, despite a great expressed need for mobile tools. The results indicate that the mHealth solution did not live up the healthcare professionals' expectations in terms of providing the same functions as the regular electronic health applications. In conclusion, in order for a mHealth application to be successfully implemented in a context where many digital services are already in use, it is not enough to support important activities in the current workflow. The mHealth applications to increase the chances of adoption.

Keywords. mHealth, Socio-Technical Systems, Evaluation, Homecare, Workflow

1. Introduction

Globally, healthcare systems are facing similar challenges and a great pressure to perform alongside limited budgets and shortage of staff. eHealth has an enormous potential to facilitate the work for healthcare professionals. The increased use of tablets and smartphones improve opportunities for mobile technologies, also in healthcare. Despite all these opportunities, the everyday life of healthcare professionals in Sweden is filled with outdated systems that are more frustrating than supportive [1]. New mobile technologies are developed and implemented to support clinicians in their daily workflow, yet the failure rate is still high.

To improve design and implementation of mHealth to support homecare in rural areas in the future, we need an in-depth understanding of the factors that impact the success or failure of mHealth interventions. Today, there is a lack of empirical evidence of effectiveness when implementing mHealth services in rural homecare [2]. Often, the focus of evaluation of mHealth is on technical aspects of the systems. As mHealth

¹ Corresponding Author: Maria Hägglund, E-mail: maria.hagglund@kbh.uu.se

interventions can be classified as complex socio-technical systems [3], it is important to consider also other aspects when evaluating mHealth.

Healthcare is to a large extent computerized in Sweden today, and information and communication technology, such as medical records, is used in everyday care. Most of the county councils and regions use one medical record system throughout hospitals, primary care and psychiatric care, which means the patient records are available in the entire county council. Private healthcare providers may use different systems which means the information access is limited, even though many county councils have an agreement with private actors, which allows information exchange [4]. The use of smartphones and tablets in healthcare is increasing and has the potential to improve workflow and access to information. Currently, seven (out of 20) county councils have strategies for the use of tablets, and they also use tablets in care-providing activities (e.g. to provide mobile access to medical records). The extent of implementation of mHealth solutions in homecare within these seven regions is however not known. Five county councils have strategies for the use of smartphones [4]. The use of mobile devices in homecare has increased in the municipalities as well. In 17 % of the municipalities, the health care staff have the possibility to read and write information using mobile device, compared to 5 % in 2015 and 11 % in 2016 [5].

This study aims to explore how mHealth services can support the everyday work for healthcare professionals when delivering home care in rural areas in Sweden. This study is part of the research project MobEval, a collaboration between Karolinska Institutet and Uppsala University, Sweden, and University of South Africa in Pretoria. The purpose of the project is to study different mHealth tools used in both countries, and try to exchange experiences, possible challenges and lessons from each other, to evaluate and possibly improve mHealth tools, and how they contribute to health care delivery.

2. Methods

A case study was performed, focusing on the implementation of a specific mHealth service intended to support district nurses in Sweden when delivering home care for patients in rural areas. The focus was on mapping their current workflow and investigate where and when healthcare professionals can be supported by mHealth services, and how well the implemented solution provided this support.

2.1. Setting and participants

"Hälsa På Plats" (HäPP) is a mobile application for tablets and is not tied to a specific medical record or supplier, but is built on established standards for information management within healthcare in Sweden [6]. The application is based on the "national service platform for information exchange", which is an online, virtual service and allows for information exchange between different systems used in health care [7]. The purpose of the service is interoperability, and for different systems to communicate with each other, regardless of which developer or technical solution they have [7]. The application was developed for clinicians working in primary care and homecare. Today, the mobile application HäPP is implemented in a municipality north of Stockholm. The area is partly located in the archipelago and countryside, which means the Internet/4G/5G network connection cannot be trusted. The functions of HäPP include access to the patients' medical records, which means reading and documenting in the records.


Figure 1. Study design.

patients' list of diagnoses is available, as well as certain lab results. The user can also create their own lists of patients, including the patient name unique identifier. There is a map function where the user can see where they and their co-workers are.

Participants in the case study were recruited using a convenience sampling strategy [8]. A total of seven healthcare professionals participated in the study. Five healthcare professionals were both observed and interviewed. To keep the anonymity, age, gender and workplace are not disclosed. More information about the participants can be found in Table 1.

Table 1. Overview over all participants.

Participant	Observation	Interview
1 district nurse	3 accommodations	One
2 district nurses, 1 physician	3 home visits	One
2 district nurses	-	One with both
1 district nurse	2 accommodations	One

2.2. Data collection and analysis

Two different qualitative data collection methods were used; observations and interviews. The participants were observed in their natural working environment. The aim of the observations was to obtain a clear understanding of the workflow. Interviews were also held with all participants in Sweden, in connection with the observations (Figure 1). The aim was to get in-depth knowledge of why the mobile service is not used. Ideally, interviews were to be held after the observations but for practical reasons the interview was sometimes held before the observation. The interview questions were developed by a team of researchers with both medical and technical background. The interviews were held face-to-face with the participants.

Activity diagrams were used for visualizing the healthcare professionals' workflow (Figure 2). Based on the analysis of observations and interviews, activities that could be supported through mHealth were identified, and a mapping with the functionality of HäPP was performed to further understand how well it supported the current workflow.

Qualitative content analysis was used for analyzing the interviews [9]. The first step of qualitative content analysis is to divide the text into meaning units; words, sentences or paragraphs that relate through their content and context. The meaning units are categorized into groups of common content. In this study, we took our starting point in the socio-technical framework proposed by Sittig & Singh [10] focusing on two of the eight dimensions they propose; workflow and clinical content. The study has an ethical approval in Sweden by the Stockholm Ethical Review Board (2015/1457-31/5).

3. Results

The analysis of the case study is presented in the form of an activity diagram (Figure 2) with accompanying descriptions of activities that could be supported through mHealth. In the diagrams, a green star indicates that the studied mHealth solution provides support for this activity, whereas a red circle indicates that it does not. Further descriptions of the marked activities are presented in Table 2.

	Description of the activity	Possible mHealth support	
A2	Print a to-do list of all patient visits during	The list of patient visit does not necessarily need	
	the day from ordinary medical record system	to be printed. The list can be provided in an	
		electronic format through a mHealth service.	
A4	A daily activity is to make calls to different	An asynchronous chat function provided in the	
	persons to co-ordinate work and activities.	mHealth service could make the communication	
		more efficient. However, the purpose is not to	
		replace phone calls	
A6	If a physician is participating during the	This is an interoperability problem, because the	
	home visit, the district nurse will print the	district nurse's and physician's systems are not	
	patient's measurement values for the	integrated. The measurements do not necessarily	
	physician, since the measurements are in the	need to be printed, but could be accessible in a	
	district nurse's system	mHealth service	
A7	All printed materials are put in a folder. The	The printed materials could be supported by a	
	rest of the materials are put in a nurse bag	mHealth service	
A8	The patient is notified in advanced that the	It is possible that this activity can be supported	
	healthcare professionals are coming	by a mHealth service, although it must be	
4.10		integrated to a mHealth service for the patient.	
A10	A GPS can be used to navigate.	The GPS is provided in the mHealth device	
AII	visit by according through the IntroPhone	alled IntroPhone which is however not	
	visit by scanning unough the intraPhone	integrated with LEDD	
A 1 2	If it is a shaltered housing, the district purse	The list of signatures could be provided in	
AIS	anters all apartments to check the signatures	electronic format	
	made when medications are administered to	ciccuonic iorniai	
	ensure adherence to the treatments		
A14	Notes are made on the napers that were	The medical records could be accessed through a	
1114	printed at the hospital	mHealth service	
A17	All patient visits must be documented in the	Function is provided in HäPP but due to	
,	medical record system. The administrative	technical issues it has not been used. A mHealth	
	work is scheduled to take approximately one	service could make it possible to document on-	
	hour	site.	

Table 2. Description of workflow with potential for mHealth support.

A district nurse working with the sheltered housing/nursing home for special needs patients makes approximately 1-4 visits a day. These visits are usually routine, and the same tasks are carried out. A district nurse usually works from 8 am to 5pm.

3.1. Qualitative analysis related to workflow and clinical content

During the observations, it was noted that the Swedish health care workers did not use the HäPP application. During the interviews, they were asked if they had used the HäPP application or not. All of them said that they had tested it, but that they do not use it. When they were asked about the reason why, they said that the application is not adapted



Figure 2. Workflow of healthcare professionals in rural homecare.

to their workflow. All participants mentioned this as the major reason. In table 3 below, findings from the interviews regarding the clinical content are presented.

Category	Description	Quote
User	The participants are not satisfied with the	"Isn't adapted to the way we work"
satisfaction	application.	
Interface	The participants are positive towards the application, and think it is easy to use.	"Easy to use and simplified compared to the medical record system".
Missing	The application lacks main functions from the	"The most important functions are
functions	ordinary medical record system that the health care workers need.	not there"
Usability	The participants mentioned that the application is not adapted to their workflow.	"Very few things were usable to us, unfortunately".

Table 3. Findings related to clinical content of HäPP.

4. Discussion and Conclusion

Without a mHealth service, paper and pen were used as the most common tool. The healthcare professionals find it insufficient; much of the work is spent on paperwork related tasks, it can be lost, missing or destroyed. The information stays local and takes longer to transfer. Despite a well-developed infrastructure, Sweden faces challenges of bad network connection in rural areas such as in the case study presented here. The healthcare professionals were handed the mHealth services with limited userinvolvement or plan that reached further than the pilot-phase. The mHealth solution failed to support the most important activities in the homecare workflow, which was described as one of the most important reasons for the low adoption among the healthcare professionals. An improved communication tool was also described as important. As a district nurse within home care in Sweden, one is quite alone and in need of communication with other healthcare providers. Also, because of the healthcare system's structure in Sweden, several healthcare providers need to share information about a patient, for example change of medication [11]. This is an interoperability issue that is well-known in healthcare. When introducing a new mHealth service in a context such as the Swedish, where many digital tools, such as medical record systems, are already in use, it is essential that the application is integrated with the systems currently in use. Therefore, the national health information exchange platform was used, however in this

case not all relevant systems were able to share information. In such a context, the new application risks being yet another system – increasing the risk for non-adoption.

In conclusion, for a mHealth application to be successfully implemented in a context where many digital services are already in use, it is not enough to support important activities in the current workflow. The mHealth application will need to be carefully integrated into the existing eco-system of healthcare applications to increase the chances of adoption.

Acknowledgement

The study was funded through the MobEVAL project (2016-00623) supported by FORTE – the Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare and SAMRC – the South Africa Medical Research Council. This research was also supported by Uppsala MedTech Science & Innovation (www.medtech.uu.se), a joint strategic initiative between Uppsala University and Uppsala University Hospital.

References

- I. Scandurra, M. Hägglund, A. Persson, and R.-M. Ahlfeldt, Disturbing or facilitating?--on the Usability of Swedish eHealth Systems 2013., *Stud. Health Technol. Inform* 205 (2014), 221–225.
- [2] E. Hage, J.P. Roo, M.A.G. van Offenbeek, and A. Boonstra, Implementation factors and their effect on e-Health service adoption in rural communities: a systematic literature review, *BMC Health Serv. Res* 13 (2013), 19.
- [3] G. Baxter and I. Sommerville, Socio-technical systems: From design methods to systems engineering, Interact. Comput 23 (2011), 4–17.
- [4] L. Jerlvall and T. Pehrsson, *eHälsa i Landstingen. Maj 2017*, Inventering på uppdrag av SLIT-gruppen, 2017.
- [5] "E-hälsa och välfärdsteknik i kommunerna 2017", 2017.
- [6] Hälsa på plats Mobila journallösningar, Chorus, https://chorus.se/halsa-pa-plats/ (accessed Jun 3, 2019).
- [7] N. Sellberg and J. Eltes, The Swedish Patient Portal and Its Relation to the National Reference Architecture and the Overall eHealth Infrastructure, in: M. Aanestad, M. Grisot, O. Hanseth, P. Vassilakopoulou, *Information Infrastructures within European Health Care.*, Springer, Switzerland, 2017, 225-244.
- [8] I. Etikan, S. A. Musa, and R. S. Alkassim, Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling, Am. J. Theor. Appl. Stat 5 (2016), 1–4.
- [9] U. H. Graneheim and B. Lundman, Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness, *Nurse Educ Today* 24 (2004), 105–112.
- [10] D. F. Sittig and H. Singh, A New Socio-technical Model for Studying Health Information Technology in Complex Adaptive Healthcare Systems, *Qual Saf Heal. Care* 19 (2010), i68–74.
- [11] M. Hägglund, I. Scandurra, and S. Koch, Scenarios to capture work processes in shared homecare From analysis to application, Int. J. Med. Inform 79 (2010), e126–134.

This page intentionally left blank

Towards Sustainable EHR

This page intentionally left blank

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190139

Sustainable Information Infrastructures: Insights from a Realist Synthesis

Justin KEEN¹, Maysam ABDULWAHID, Joanne GREENHALGH, Natalie KING, Judy WRIGHT and Rebecca RANDELL University of Leeds, England

Abstract. Policy makers and health system managers in many countries are advocating the deployment of inter-operable health information technology systems, spanning organisations in a health economy, believing that they will be clinically effective. The case for investments has not, however, been made to date. This paper presents early results from a systematic review of the effects of inter-operable systems on patient safety. The review uses the realist synthesis method, which focuses on evidence about the decisions and actions that link interventions and outcomes, as well as the evidence about those outcomes. The evidence base is sufficient to identify plausible arguments for investments in inter-operable systems. This said, there is limited empirical evidence about each of the steps in the sequences of events. We comment on implications for the design of sustainable socio-technical solutions. We suggest that current gaps in the evidence base are in areas where informatics field methods can make a valuable contribution to our understanding of the role of inter-operable systems in patient safety.

Keywords. Interoperable, health information technology, patient safety, realist synthesis

1. Introduction

Governments and health system managers in many countries are funding inter-operable health information technology (HIT) systems [1, 2]. They believe that clinicians need access to the whole of a patient's record, particularly when that patient has complex needs and is supported by several professionals. It is therefore necessary, they reason, to deploy inter-operable systems across all organisations in a health economy. While the argument is intuitively reasonable, though, the case for inter-operable HIT systems has not yet been made. This paper seeks to establish whether a case can be made, and if it can, what evidence is available to support it.

If everyone agreed on the way forward, and was convinced of the value of interoperable HITs, this might not matter. In practice, though, influential clinicians have recently drawn attention to the practical difficulties that they face in the course of their work [3, 4]. The case does, therefore, need to be made.

The need, then, is for a review method that 'opens the black box', and reveals on the sequences of decisions and actions that lie between the use of an inter-operable HIT and substantive outcomes, as well as establishing the nature and value of those outcomes. We present the early findings of a systematic literature review, using the realist synthesis

¹ Corresponding Author: Justin Kenn, Email: J.Keen@leeds.ac.uk

method, which focuses on the effects of inter-operable HIT systems on patient safety. The IEEE defines inter-operability as the ability of two or more systems or components to exchange information and to use the information that has been exchanged [5]. In this review we focused on foundational and structural deployments that are more common in practice: more evidence is available about them, and findings will be relevant to the majority of current practitioners [6].

2. Methods

Realist synthesis involves, first, identifying programme theories [7]. These are sequences of decisions and actions that link an intervention to an outcome, and thus capture the *intended* effects of the intervention. Attention is also paid to policy makers, researchers and others' theories about the intervention. The review team use their theories to develop their own accounts both of how *and why* the intervention might work in a particular way. Literature searches are then designed, and empirical evidence identified, assessed and synthesised, to evaluate the extent of evidence for *actual* sequences of decisions and actions. The evidence might lead to a particular programme theory being supported, rejected, or to being refined. Realist syntheses therefore address both components of a business case, empirical evidence and closely reasoned argument.

The five stage of a realist synthesis is described in detail by Pawson in *Evidence-based Policy* [7]. Stage 1 of the review involves developing programme theories (see Figure 1). There were two elements to the research in this Stage. Three literature searches were undertaken, using Medline, Embase and other electronic resources:

- (1) Systematic reviews that included insights into the relationships between interoperable HIT systems and patient safety;
- (2) Search for policy documents, opinion pieces (e.g. editorials) and reports describing leading theories about the relationships between HIT systems and patient safety;
- (3) Author searches for articles by David Bates, the most cited author in the health informatics literature, and Robert Wachter, the author of an influential 2016 report on IT in the NHS in England.

The search findings were used to develop initial programme theories.

2.1. Nominal Group Meetings

The second element of Stage 1 comprised nominal group meetings with each of two groups of stakeholders, namely senior health and care service IT managers and policy makers. The nominal group technique involves an initial meeting, where initial agreement on a topic of interest is reached. This is followed by one or two rounds of email consultation, to allow participants to reflect on the initial agreement, and if necessary refine it [8]. In this review participants were invited to comment critically on the initial programme theories, on the basis of their knowledge and experience. They were also asked to prioritise theories, and/or particular sequences of events within theories, for further study. Following these meetings, and consultation with the study patient and public involvement group, decisions were made about the focus of the evidence searches in subsequent Stages.

Realist synthesis: modified method



Figure 1. Stages of the realist synthesis (PT = programme theory).

2.2. Mid-Range Theory

Mid-range theories are more general forms of programme theories, which typically capture the way in which an intervention works across a number of settings, e.g. how a telehealth application works in a range of specialties, for different groups of patients, and in different countries [9]. They perform an integrating function in the course of a realist synthesis. As Figure 1 shows, they provide an explicit basis for methodological judgements in Stages 2-4. By their nature, realist syntheses deal mainly with observational evidence, typically drawn from studies undertaken in a number of different academic traditions (e.g. ethnography, cognitive psychology, organization studies). A mid-range theory was identified, which provided a broad theoretical framework for interpretation of evidence from the traditions covered in the review.

2.3. Evidence Search, Selection and Synthesis

Stages 2, 3 and 4 are designed to establish the sequence of events that lead to *actual* effects of inter-operable HIT systems: evidence is identified in literature searches, and used to evaluate the intended effects. Stage 2 comprises the main literature searches. Search PICOS – populations, interventions, comparators, outcomes and settings – were determined. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were agreed within the team, the searches undertaken, and included papers identified on the basis of titles and abstracts. Stage 3 involved close reading of the included papers, which were assessed for rigour and relevance. Papers were excluded at this Stage if it became clear that they were not relevant. In Stage 4 the findings from the included/relevant papers were synthesised, drawing on the mid-range theory as the theoretical basis for interpretation. The syntheses led to refinement of the initial programme theory.

Two sets of searches were undertaken, one focusing on the co-ordination of health and care services in general, and the other on a specific co-ordination challenge, medicine reconciliation, where a patient is prescribed by more than one professional. Each set involved a number of literature searches, which together were designed to evaluate key steps in the programme theory, and reveal both how and why inter-operable HIT systems were effective (or ineffective). For care co-ordination, reported here, the searches were designed to address three questions:

- (1) What is the nature of the care co-ordination problem? Are the problems of a kind that inter-operable HIT systems can help to solve or not?
- (2) What are the experiences of health and care professionals searching for information about patients in one anothers' systems?
- (3) What are the effects of inter-operable HIT systems on patients' clinical risks?

3. Results

In Stage 1, we did not find any published, plausible, sequence of events linking the use of inter-operable HITs to patient outcomes. The searches did, though, yield a number of theory fragments, and we used these to construct three initial programme theories. Consultation with the nominal groups led us to focus on a specific domain, namely the treatment and care for frail older people living in their own homes. The consultation also prompted us to focus on evidence about functional HIT systems. The argument was two-fold. First, we should find relevant evidence about current systems, but relatively little about semantically inter-operable systems. Second, policy makers' and practitioners' immediate need was to identify convincing business cases for their current systems. The battle for hearts and minds in the broader health and care system was not yet won.

We also settled on a mid-range theory, which located the synthesis in the literature on information infrastructures [10]. The first statement of the mid-range theory was:

Older people with complex needs are supported by care professionals who have different backgrounds and training, and who often work in different organisations. Networked IT systems in health and care settings are embryonic information infrastructures, which over time are likely to become more inter-operable (in the sense that an engineer would use that term). Information infrastructures span a number of professionals and organisations. The long-run intention is that professionals will integrate the use of the IT systems into their work, so that they effectively become invisible. When infrastructures become invisible, they contribute to overcoming co-ordination challenges that naturally arise in these institutional arrangements. The resulting improvements in the effectiveness of co-ordination will, in turn, lead to reductions in patients' risks.

At the time of writing we have completed three searches on each of two topics, care co-ordination and medication reconciliation, for older people living at home. The full search results, and synthesis, will be presented at CSHI 2019.

We comment here on the three care co-ordination searches. In the first search we found substantive evidence about the nature and extent of care co-ordination problems. Most of the problems were essentially social or cultural in nature. For example, there were several evidenced-based reports of difficulties due to different healthcare professionals having incompatible working assumptions about the kinds of support that older people needed. There was no obvious role for any HIT solution in most of these problems [11].

One problem, though, might be addressed using inter-operable HIT systems. This concerned difficulties associated with information seeking and retrieval, and the second set of searches focused on this question. A number of observational studies were identified, which reported a range of problems with information search and retrieval. The problems were attributed to inter-professional issues – not directly related to technology – as well characteristics of the technologies (such as multiple log-ons) and locating patient information held on other organisations' servers. We did not find any countervailing studies, which reported 'seamless' use of inter-operable HITs [12].

The third search focused on evidence of effectiveness – in this study, in measurable changes in risks to patient safety. We found very limited evidence relating to services for older people, and little more for services for adults more generally [13,14].

4. Discussion

The findings of the first Stage of the review indicate that no complete sequences of events have been published, that might plausibly represent the link between the use of interoperable HIT systems and effects on patient safety. It is always difficult to 'prove a negative', but we conducted a number of different searches, using different databases, search themes and methods.

This said, we believe that it is possible to identify the outline structure of cases for inter-operable systems in health economies. Our main finding is that, currently, there is limited empirical evidence to support programme theories, particularly in relation to the effects of using HITs on patient level changes in risks. We suggest that this opens up a significant research and development agenda.

The early findings enable us to identify three broad strategic outcomes of current policies. One is the ideal sustainable outcome, where inter-operable systems are deeply embedded in everyday working practices. We have not found evidence for this outcome. The second might be termed 'sustainable but ineffective', or 'frustration with technology': systems fit poorly with working practices, but clinicians have little choice but to use them. There is empirical support for this outcome. A third outcome is failure to deploy, which we have not investigated in this review, but which other studies remind us is a possibility.

The question that follows is: can we explain the current evidence? Wachter, Gawande and others argue that current technology solutions are simply not very good. Our findings offer indirect support for this position. We favour a slightly different explanation, though, which has two related components. The first concerns the design and deployment of systems. Inter-operable systems are, by definition, developed on the basis that can help to solve a systemic co-ordination – or collective action – problem. If the ways in which HITs will help to solve these problems are not addressed in the course of the design and deployment, the scope for an inter-operable system to contribute to safer care must be limited. If experiences in England are at all representative, information technology policy making tends to focus on defining data and communication standards, and on the broad direction of IT developments. They do not consider, in any detail, the ways in which those technologies might produce safer care (or any other desirable outcome).

The second component concerns the need to address social and cultural issues in parallel with design and deployment. If, for example, responsibilities for the reconciliation of medication lists, and of medication lists with patients' symptoms, are not clear in the first place, the extent to which any inter-operable solution can – by itself - lead to safer care will again be limited.

Finally, we suggest that the gaps in the evidence base are in areas where informatics methods can make a valuable contribution. The most obvious need is to understand the roles and responsibilities of health and care professionals, and the information flows involved. A research programme could draw on responsibility modelling, ethnographic studies of information flows and other methods to characterize these important sociotechnical challenges.

References

- S.O.Agboola, D.W. Bates, and J.C. Kvedar, Digital Health and Patient Safety, JAMA 315 (2016), 1697-1698.
- [2] S.K Brenner, R. Kaushal, Z. Grinspan, C. Joyce, I. Kim, R.J. Allard, et al., Effects of health information technology on patient outcomes: a systematic review, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 23 (2016), 1016-1036.
- [3] R. Wachter, *The digital doctor : hope, hype, and harm at the dawn of medicine's computer age*, McGraw Hill Education, New York, 2015.
- [4] A. Gawande, Why doctors hate their computers, The New Yorker (2018).
- [5] IEEE, IEEE Standard Computer Dictionary: A Compilation of IEEE Standard Computer Glossaries, IEEE, New York NY, 1990.
- [6] M. Delgado, The Evolution of Health Care IT: Are Current U.S. Privacy Policies Ready for the Clouds?, in Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE World Congress on Services, IEEE Computer Society, 371-378, 2011.
- [7] R. Pawson, Evidence-based policy, SAGE Publications, London, 2006.
- [8] D. Tolson, J. McIntosh, L. Loftus, and P. Cormie, Developing a managed clinical network in palliative care: a realistic evaluation, *Int J Nurs Stud* 44 (2007), 183–195.
- [9] S. Kirsh, D.C. Aron, K.D. Johnson, L.E. Santurri, L.D. Dtevenson, K.R. Jones, et al., A realist review of shared medical appointments: How, for whom, and under what circumstances do they work? *BMC Health Services Research* 17 (2017), 113.
- [10] G. Bowker and S. Star, Sorting Things Out: classification and its consequences, MIT Press, Cambridge MA, 1999.
- [11] C. Auschra, Barriers to the Integration of Care in Inter-Organisational Settings: A Literature Review, Int J Integr Care 18 (2018), 5.
- [12] P. Waterson, K. Eason, and M. Dent, Using HIT to deliver integrated care for the frail elderly in the UK: current barriers and future challenges, *Work* 41 (2012), 4490-4493.
- [13] V. Vimarlund, N.G. Olve, I. Scandurra, S. Koch, Organizational effects of information and communication technology (ICT) in elderly homecare: a case study, *Health Informatics Journal* 14 (2008), 195-210.
- [14] L. Samal, P.C. Dykes, J.O. Greenberg, O. Hasan, A.K. Venkatesh, L.A. Volk et al., Care coordination gaps due to lack of interoperability in the United States: a qualitative study and literature review, *BMC Health Services Research* 16 (2016), 143.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190140

Context and Meaning in EHR Displays

Craig E. KUZIEMSKY^{a, 1}, Diane G. SCHWARTZ^b, Subha AIRAN-JAVIA^c and Ross KOPPEL^{b, c}

^a Telfer School of Management, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada ^b Jacobs School of Medicine, University at Buffalo, SUNY, Buffalo, NY, USA ^c Perlman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Abstract. Many Electronic Health Record (EHRs) data displays are insensitive to their settings, contexts, and to clinicians' needs. Yet, the contexts in which the data are displayed critically affect EHR usability and patient safety. Medication prescribing is a complex task; especially sensitive to contextual variation in EHR displays as vast variations in formats and logic are often unnecessarily confusing, leading to unwanted cognitive burdens and medical errors. With examples of EHR screenshots, we illustrate contextual variations in medication and allergy displays across different EHR systems and implementations—noting often seemingly haphazard differences that can lead to misunderstandings and misinterpretations.

Keywords. Electronic health records, Data display, Medical errors, Context

1. Introduction

Context affects users' perceptions and understandings of data in health information technology (HIT) [1]. Among the models of relationships between context and HIT are the Context Implementation Model (CIM) that looks at the fit of HIT within individual, clinical and organizational contexts [2]. Other models have looked at specific contexts of HIT usage, i.e., primary care or pediatrics [3]. While these models help understand the relationship between context and HIT, we seek to examine contextual variability *across* different HITs and HIT implementations. Modern healthcare delivery requires connectivity across settings and clinicians, often requiring providers access to multiple systems. [4]. This multiplicity and variation create a contextual diversity that generate usability and other human computer interaction (HCI) issues because of differences in how data in different systems are accessed or displayed [5]. Unfortunately, the contextual aspects of EHR implementations have received insufficient attention.

Medication prescribing errors are a major cause of medical errors [6]. Although HIT has mitigated some errors it has also led to new categories of errors called Technology Induced Errors (TIE) [7]. We suggest that differences in EHR displays across different systems can lead to TIEs because of contextual variations in information presentations.

To date, contextual variations across different EHR systems have not been studied. In this paper, we address that issue by examining contextual variations across EHRs, offering differing systems' examples of medication displays. We indicate how these differences may lead to misunderstandings and misinterpretations that could be

¹ Corresponding Author: Craig E. Kuziemsky, Email: kuziemsky@telfer.uottawa.ca

precursors to medication errors. We also provide guidance for how system designers can better account for cross-setting EHR variation in the design and implementation of HIT.

2. Methods

Drawing on previous studies, we examined the contexts within which different EHRs display: 1. drug names, dosages, formulations, routes and schedules; 2. problem lists; and 3. allergy lists. We analyzed the different ways EHRs display these data, and how patient safety dangers are linked to the widely disparate EHR visualizations across and within vendors, versions, implementations, and local information technology (IT) teams.

3. Results

The screenshots reflect the variations in EHR displays--revealing ways of providing information that are sensitive (or insensitive) to clinical contexts.

Problem Lists: The three problem lists in Figure 1 illustrate contextual issues in EHRs that can generate different perceptions and prompt clinicians to ignore or misunderstand critical information. The list in Figure 1a is in strict alphabetical order, while the list in Figure 1b appears to differentiate chronic and acute conditions, and also provides a date stamp. Figure 1c (right) is separated by actively managed problems vs. inactive ones, i.e., clinical priorities are on top. It also adds time stamps, diagnostic and prognostic notes, laboratory metadata, and counts for allergies and medications (both inpatient and home).

Medication Lists: Figure 2 illustrates differences in how drugs are displayed in simple medication lists vs. in the medication administration record (MAR). Figure 2a (top left), is in reverse chronological order and includes dosage, schedule and route of administration. Figure 2b (top right) is the MAR in alphabetical order and extends horizontally to allow documenting time and date of administration. It is unclear if this list includes medications for the entire admission or just for the timeframe shown in the MAR. Within the MAR, nursing administration instructions are included. Figure 2b also reflects duplicate medications (see both chewable and tablet 81 mg aspirin), with the comforting display that the patient was not double dosed (i.e., only received one of the aspirins). Figure 2c (bottom image) is also alphabetical but does not reflect which of the several duplicate medications was (or, were) administered to the patient. The formats of these medications lists – within and outside of the MAR - are correspondingly different, but some of the differences lead to confusion, e.g., the MAR presents duplicates without any visual cue that one is viewing the same medication and whether it were ordered at a different time from its counterpart. The bottom image combines inpatient and ambulatory medications. In fact, this EHR varies significantly in how medications are displayed: some show medications from all encounters, while some show only the current encounter. In many instances (unlike this bottom view) one cannot tell that they are from different encounters. Worse, when these lists are transferred to other systems, it includes all encounters without clearly identifiable information about which encounter each medication is from. This can result in display errors in the receiving system. Note also that the medication list shows medication names including the concentration data or dispensed dosage form, however these can often differ from the actual dose ordered. This

1a: Sorted Alphabetically 1h: Sorted by date entered

d≘ Problem List 5	1c: Sorted by clinical priority/urgency				
Severe sensis	😤 Problem List	I IC. Sorted by clinical priority/urgency			
Adrenal insufficiency	Severe sepsis	<	811 11008 MID:		
AKI (acute kidney injury)	History of craniopharyngioma	anti-terre to a sub-second terrest to be a sub-			
Bacteremia due to Gram-positive bacteria	CHF (congestive heart failure)	11 Expand Rounding	Summary Stan Ter Do Action		
Cardiac enlargement	Coronary artery disease	and the second second	Burnnary (one-liner)		
Cellulitis	Hyperlipemia	G Care Team & Contacts V	78 yo F with PMH cranicpharyngioma, and CAD, who prese		
CHF (congestive heart failure)	Hypertension	I Vitals - Latast 15mins	stress dose steroids with course c/b delirium and decompensated HF lasix titratia		
Chronic Lower Extremity Lymphedema	Glaucoma		ENT/Endocrine (signed off), some take by		
Coronary artery disease	Hypernatremia	å Labs ∨ latest th	78 year old F with a history of admnal insufficiency.		
Craniopharyngioma in adult	Viral meningitis		Click to add Subjective		
Glaucoma	Rhinovirus	all Studies V latest 8d			
History of craniopharyngioma	Urinary incontinence in female	E Diet ~	Sort Pealant System		
Hyperlipemia	Lesion of liver	Indexts Renormalized States	11 Active/Acute Problems		
Hypernatremia	Adrenal insufficiency (Chronic)	P Allergies ~ 4			
Hypertension	Hypothyroid (Chronic)	Inpatient Meds - 90	Systolic and Diastolic HF, acute decompensated, improving ~ 28 and in		
Hypothyroid	Chronic Lower Extremity Lymphedema (Chronic)				
Lesion of liver	Septic shock due to Escherichia coli	A Home Meds - 13	LLE Cellulitis with Strep Dysgalactiae Bacteremia 2h apr by		
Lung nodule < 6cm on C1 UTI (urinary tract infection)		D Ensemplers	Chronic LE Lymphedema ~ 2hapt by C		
heakdown of skin	Toxic metabolic encephalopathy	C Encounters -			
Non-pressure chronic ulcer of right calf with fat lave	Craniopharyngioma in adult		Adrenal Insufficiency ~ 2h spo by i C		
exposed Cellulitis		1	E Normocytic Anemia (baseline 8-9's), stable ~ 25 apr by 1 C		
Normocytic anemia	AKI (acute kidney injury)	1	🚍 binanskuranja (kak) 99 stores dare skonide impresing		
Rhinovirus	Cardiac enlargement		 Hypergrycemia akey 2/2 stress dose steroids, improving + 31 aprop 1 		
Septic shock due to Escherichia coli		-	Hypothyroidism * 2h api byC		
Thyroid nodule			E Monartenalina y Income		
Toxic metabolic encephalopathy			- damage - da a		
Urinary incontinence in female		1	■ Morbid Obesity ~ 6d apt by		
UTI (urinary tract infection)		1	≡ GLOBAL × 2Nape for i C		
virai meningitis					

Figure 1 (a-c). Variation in problem lists displays.



Figure 2 (a-c). Formatting differences in medication lists.

can be very confusing to providers, as some views do not show how the ordered dose is different from the strength reflected in the medication's name.



Figure 3 (a-c). Display differences for allergies.

Allergy Lists: Figure 3 displays allergy lists. Figure 3a (top left) lists allergies by the date they were entered into the EHR. Here, drugs are listed by their generic names. Figure 3b shows the first two items with the second followed by a "…" to indicate there are more allergies. If clinicians miss this ellipsis they may not realize there are many more allergies. Note also that Atorvastatin includes its brand name, which may be helpful if the list is also accessed by lay users. But this is not consistent for all medications. Figure 3c (bottom image) lists drugs in inconsistent formats, e.g., sometimes both brand names (e.g., Sudafed) are displayed. In contrast, the allergy to "orange oil" is also listed as orange juice, which is probably how lay audiences understand it, and perhaps how it was entered into the EHR. Figure 3a also shows the option for listing allergy severity reactions, which is unpopulated in this example.

4. Discussion

We illustrate how differing EHR display contexts can affect clinicians' understanding and actions—often exacerbating patient safety dangers generated by the vastly different digital systems across the continuum of care. Undoubtedly, each format was created to address specific needs, even if the formats, and sometimes their juxtapositions, are vestigial remains that make little sense now. However, the plethora of data display configurations causes cognitive overload requiring each provider to mentally reconfigure different displays. Nevertheless, imposing a single display format or standard would be counter-productive and probably lead to more technology induced errors and other unintended consequences. Instead, we urge a context sensitive solution where HIT vendors, implementers, and users are obliged to systematically investigate the hundreds of ways information is presented in each of the relevant settings. They should seek common ground on EHR displays to reduce cognitive burdens, eliminate arbitrary surprises, and simplify visualization choices.

Designers should also consider the contextual reality of *why* information is being displayed and the significance behind the choices. Such a plan is straightforward: develop a matrix of users and settings, and then investigate the relevant display needs of

73

each combination. In this way, the solution to context insensitive EHRs is to examine the needs of the users in each context. This paper also emphasizes the need to consider both the semantics and the structure of how data fields are designed. While formal terminologies (e.g., SNOMED) can help with semantics, our findings suggest that we also need to pay attention to the way data fields are structured, (e.g., ordered alphabetically or by disease condition). Terminology and structure can both impact EHR usability.

The next step would be to develop responsive and coherent formats for each user that encourages intuitive comprehension appropriate to each setting and set of clinicians. Variations will still be pandemic, but we would be able to proactively identify the worst offenders to better design HIT displays to be contextually responsive. Mapping our findings to existing patient safety frameworks is also a next step.

5. Conclusion

Often the same data in EHRs are presented in vastly different arrangements, formats, linkages and sequences. Undoubtedly, there were once logical choices associated with each presentation, but with the multiplicity of screens, users and settings, it appears many displays are no longer logically connected to their relevant contexts-leading to significant confusion and misinterpretation. Such context-free arrangements should be reconfigured to reduce medical errors, and foster patient safety.

References

- C.E. Kuziemsky and A. Kushniruk, Context mediated usability testing, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 205 (2014), 905-909.
- [2] J.L. Callen, J. Braithwaite, and J.I. Westbrook, Contextual implementation model: a framework for assisting clinical information system implementations, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 15 (2008), 255-262.
- [3] A.E. Carroll, How health information technology is failing to achieve its full potential, *JAMA Pediatrics* **169** (2015), 201-202.
- [4] C. Kuziemsky, R. M. Abbas, and N. Carroll, Towards a connected health delivery framework. In Proceedings of the International Workshop on Software Engineering in Healthcare Systems (SEHS '18), ACM, New York, USA, 46-49, 2018.
- [5] S.W. Smith and R. Koppel, Healthcare information technology's relativity problems: a typology of how patients' physical reality, clinicians' mental and healthcare information technology differ, J Am Med Inform Assoc 21 (2014), 117-131.
- [6] G.P. Velo and P. Minuz, Medication errors: prescribing faults and prescription errors, *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 67 (2009), 624-628.
- [7] E. Borycki, J.W. Dexheimer, C. Hullin Lucay Cossio, Y. Gong, S. Jensen, J. Kaipio, et al., Methods for Addressing Technology-induced Errors: The Current State, *Yearb Med Inform* 10 (2016), 30-40.

doi:10.3233/SHTI190141

Educational Electronic Health Records at the University of Victoria: Challenges, Recommendations and Lessons Learned

Elizabeth M. BORYCKI¹ and Andre W. KUSHNIRUK School of Health Information Science, University of Victoria, Victoria, Canada

Abstract. There has been an acknowledged need for the integration of health technologies such as the electronic health record system (EHR) into health professional education. At the University of Victoria we have been experimenting with different models, architectures and applications of educational EHRs in the context of training health informatics, medical, and nursing students who will ultimately use this technology in their daily practice upon graduation. Our initial work involved the development of a Web-based portal that contained a number of open source EHRs and is described in this paper. In addition to the technology into the classroom and educational experience are discussed. Finally, challenges and lessons learned from our decade of work in this area are discussed.

Keywords. Electronic health record, education, physicians, nurses, health informatics

1. Introduction

Electronic health records (EHRs) are a ubiquitous technology in a modern health care system. From clinic offices, to hospitals, to a patient's home, EHRs are used to document patient data and support health care processes and health professionals' decision making. Yet, even as this technology has become available in most health care settings around the world, more work is needed to fully develop robust educational EHRs to support the development of digital competencies in a modern health care system. Educational EHRs are electronic records that are designed to support educators and students in their learning about how to manage a patient's health and disease. Educational EHRs also help students to learn about entering patient data, alerts, reminders and clinical decision support systems that can include links to the latest evidence based research. Such systems are designed to educate students in the technologies they will be using upon graduation in real health care settings by allowing students to access and work with the technology in an educational context [1]. In this paper, the authors outline their experiences over the past 10 years in the design, development, implementation and pilot testing of educational EHRs accessible via an EHR portal on the WWW with physician, nurse and health informatics students.

¹ Corresponding Author: Elizabeth Borycki, Email: emb@uvic.ca

2. Overall Architecture

Our initial work in deploying EHRs for education involved setting up a web portal that would allow for remote access to several different EHRs housed on computer servers at the University of Victoria [1, 2]. This involved three layers, including: a remote access layer, a middle firewall layer and EHR network layers, which hosted several systems and databases on our servers. Users of the initial system logged in on a remote desktop (using either PC or Mac computers). They could then select from several EHRs that are currently being used in hospital and community settings (including Open Vista, OpenMRS and POND4Kids) that run on a range of operating systems using virtual machine technology. The approach allowed for up to several hundred users (e.g. students and instructors) to simultaneously access hosted EHRs and related software from virtually any location in Canada or internationally [1, 2]. Since our initial deployment, we have been working on a new architecture to scale up to more EHRs and to lead to a sustainable platform (as will be discussed in a subsequent section of this paper). It was found that the approach to hosting educational EHRs on a centralized server mitigates the need for multiple sites or institutions to have to set up their own servers, removing complexity and cost for hosting and managing educational EHRs [1-3].

3. Development of a Portal and Access to Specific Electronic Health Records

Over the course of a lifetime, health professionals and health information technology professionals will work with many different EHRs and differing versions of the same EHR [1]. For these reasons, our work initially focused on identifying both open source and commercial EHRs that are typical in terms of the features and functions of those encountered in everyday work in differing health care settings [1]. This work began with identifying EHRs found to be the gold standard in design, function and ability to effect improved patient outcomes such as the Veteran's Affairs Vista system [1,5]. The Veteran's Affairs Vista system was identified as a core candidate EHR system for its user interface and fully functional decision support tools (e.g. drug-drug interaction checking) [1, 2, 5]. Followed by EHRs that have been developed for specific purposes such as a Pediatric EHR, a personal health record and a commonly utilized, and easily extensible, EHR - OpenMRS. Our choice of records was based on pedagogical reasons so that students would have the opportunity to engage with fully functional records [1]. Some students have limited exposure to EHRs in their training due to a lack of availability of an EHR in a classroom setting and/or the local regional health authority. Other students have access to a hybrid paper-electronic health record in their local health authority setting [3-6]. Here, the record may only provide access to specific components of a patient's record; for example, laboratory results, diagnostic imaging results, clinical documentation and medication information [6]. Some components of the EHR may be in the process of being implemented and may not be readily available such as ePrescribing and/or other decision support tools [6, 7]. For this reason, there is a need to provide students with the opportunity to access a fully operational EHR that has been successfully used and implemented [1]. In one pilot of this work, we provided access to OpenVista to nursing students as part of a classroom exercise. The students were provided access to OpenVista via the portal. Students were asked to interact with the record (that included artificial, simulated patient cases) and complete readings. Artificial patient cases (i.e. dummy data) were used so issues around patient privacy and confidentiality did not arise. In class, a presentation was provided to students about the EHR and its use in a modern healthcare system. During a classroom exercise a case study approach involving student group work and faculty facilitation enabled students' to identify the benefits and challenges of using an EHR. Students' described the interaction between the technology's design, nurse's work and its influences on patient communication and care. Students adapted to the use of the EHR, identifying the need to be able to use the technology in the classroom and then the workplace setting [1, 4].

4. Development of an Educational EHR Simulator

In an extension of this work, we developed an EHR simulator. The simulator is a fully robust EHR that provides access to a real-world EHR with all the features, functions and decision support tools present in a typical EHR. Unlike a traditional EHR, the EHR simulator, afforded faculty the opportunity to incorporate simulated educational cases into the EHR that could be used to stimulate critical thinking and problem solving, much as would be done when a health professional was presented with information about a patient over time as laboratory and diagnostic test results are completed. Rather than reading a case, as was historically done in the context of a problem based medical curriculum, medical students were presented with an initial lecture and access to an EHR, where patient information was presented as would be typically provided during a typical hospital stay. During the course of a week, students were provided with additional information about the patient's condition in the form of diagnostic and laboratory test information as well as information provided through consult reports (much as information would be made available over time as tests are completed and results are provided). The information provided via the EHR was integrated with standard lectures about chronic illness and disease. Each day the instructor was able to discuss the patient case and information made available via the EHR with the students face to face in a classroom setting. Students were able to interact with the patient case via the EHR. Students were also able to prescribe medications, order laboratory and diagnostic tests, document patient information and interact with decision support tools to support medical decision making. The EHR afforded students and faculty the opportunity to interact via an EHR and to review students' decisions in the context of hypothetical patients' whose medical conditions evolve over the course of a week. Medical students participated in medical lectures and engaged with the EHR and a patient case - the EHR added a dynamic element to the medical decision-making component [8]. Students identified that the EHR could support physician work, and there was a need to test out several differing types of EHRs to determine their ability to fully interface with their own clinic workflows. The students' positively evaluated the technology's use in the classroom. The students rated the educational sessions highly and suggested that more classroom work be done on EHR integration into a medical office as well as critiquing the technology. Lastly, students wanted exposure to more than one EHR over the course of a 4-year medical curriculum to familiarize themselves with EHRs used provincially [9].

5. Loose versus Tight Coupling of EHRs in a Health Professional Curriculum

In the above two pilots, the authors discovered that introducing EHRs into a health professional curriculum, can be done on a continuum from "loose coupling" to "tight



Figure 1. From loose to tight coupling.

coupling" (see Figure 1 below). In loose coupling curricular approaches, the EHR is introduced as a stand-alone artifact at differing points in time in a typical four year medical or nursing curriculum. The technology is used as an example of how the EHR can be used to support patient care. In a tight coupling curricular approach, the EHR is used to present materials in the context of a curriculum and becomes the dominant technology (much as the EHR is the primary tool used to support critical aspects of patient care). All patient teaching cases and links to educational materials and resources can be found in the EHR. The EHR becomes part of teaching in the classroom [10].

Both approaches have their advantages and disadvantages. The loosely coupled approach allows for student and faculty exploration of a technology or the integration of several differing technologies. Work must be done by instructors to determine how the technology can be used to illustrate concepts and content taught in the classroom. In a tight coupling approach the technology is a tool that the instructor and student use to educate and to acquire knowledge respectively; for example, the EHR becomes an educational tool and a tool that is used to support work [10].

6. Beyond the Electronic Health Record: Design, Development and Implementation

To date we have integrated EHRs into medical and nursing curricula using a tight and a loose coupling approach. Initially, our work focused on exposing students to the technology [10]. Then we focused on the technology as an educational tool that supports acquisition of medical and nursing knowledge as well as knowledge of the EHR [1]. We then turned our focus to the designers, implementers and innovators of health information technology tools.

Extending beyond this work, health informatics and health information technology students need to learn how to design, develop, implement and maintain health care technologies that are used by health professionals and by patients. Research was conducted at the School of Health Information Science that focused on training health information technology and health informatics professionals. Study results suggested that teaching students how to use an EHR in the classroom improved health informatics competency development and lead to the acquisition of competencies necessary for professional certification. Here, our work involving the portal went on to include the design, development and implementation of EHRs and those technologies that interface with EHRs. To illustrate, health informatics students may need to learn how to use an EHR in the first year of their studies, with their knowledge extending to an in-depth conceptual and technical understanding of the technology and how it can be designed, developed, implemented and integrated with other technologies to provide context sensitive patient care. Here, a student will learn about creating the databases that collect patient data, develop strategies for new innovations to interface with the EHR, learn how to extract data from EHRs, design new interfaces for new types of devices, and innovate

new technologies that go beyond the EHR (e.g. sensors) to support individuals in the community. The authors have also developed a model and approach based on this work at a curriculum level that can be used to inform decision-making regarding training of health informatics and health information technology professionals [11, 12].

7. Challenges, Recommendations and Lessons Learned for Educators

There are a number of challenges and needs for future work in this area. One of the key challenges is the development of a plan for sustaining the upkeep of the portal over time, as we have found this requires a fair amount of technical expertise. From our experience this requires educating decision makers in the educational and governmental hierarchies about the need to provide resources to support educational EHR initiatives over time, so they can continue into the future. From a technical perspective, modification of open source software to adapt to educational needs can be a challenge and the ease of doing this depends on the specific software. From a pedagogical perspective, unlike single vendor educational EHR products, which provide access to one type of system, portals provide access to varying types of EHRs so that students become familiar with varying systems and their use in clinical settings (which is important to address). As well, we had initially hoped that EHR vendors would donate their software to be hosted on our portal, but we have only recently begun to get commercial systems running for students.

There are challenges in the area of curriculum integration and how and when it is best to bring EHR education into medical, nursing and health informatics professional education. We have found a "training wheels" approach, where more advanced EHR features are hidden from students, may be useful during early parts of health professional education (as students' progress through their training on more advanced features can be made available). A further need is the development of authoring tools and interfaces to help educators both create cases for simulations (e.g. allowing simulated patient data to be easily input into the EHR by instructors) and to allow for adding comments, tips and quizzes embedded within key points in the educational EHR that support the development of discipline specific competencies. One approach we have experimented with is the inclusion of "info-buttons" that can be easily added to the user interface and that students can click on to receive context-sensitive advice and educational information as they work through cases using different EHRs. This may take the form of access to search tools such as PubMed [see 14] and there would be a need to extend this work to include lecture notes, videos and/or context specific information.

There is need to conduct further work regarding the level of access and integration of EHRs in medical, nursing and health informatics professional educational curricula that is necessary for health professionals to acquire EHR competencies. For example, physicians and nurses may only need to learn how to effectively use an EHR, reviewing only discipline specific information as individuals with differing disciplinary backgrounds attend to varying types of information to support their decision making [15]. In contrast health informatics and health information technology students will need to learn how to use an EHR, have exposures to differing types of EHRs, understand the underlying programming, develop EHR architectures, design user interfaces, develop interoperability structures, design databases and innovate new analytic methods for effectively extending and managing this technology (see [11]).

8. Discussion and Conclusions

Our work represents 10 years of research in the area of educational EHRs and their integration into medical, nursing and health informatics curricula. Technological and educational advancements have made it possible to provide hundreds of medical, nursing and health informatics students with access to an EHR portal that acts as a gateway to multiple differing open source electronic health records (including records developed to support the care of specific patient populations (e.g. children) and groups (patients who use personal health records) [1-4]. Yet, even as access to varying EHRs for health professionals is needed in a classroom setting, few health professional educational programs provide such access to EHRs and even fewer integrate the technology effectively into teaching using a tight coupling approach. Our work has shown that a portal approach where students can remotely access EHRs is ideal.

References

- E.M. Borycki, A.W. Kushniruk, R. Joe, B. Armstrong, T. Otto, K. Ho, et al., The University of Victoria Interdisciplinary Electronic Health Record Educational Portal, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 143 (2009), 49-54.
- [2] B. Armstrong, A.W. Kushniruk, R. Joe, and E.M. Borycki Technical and architectural issues in deploying electronic health records (EHRs) over the WWW, *Stud Health Technol Inform* **143** (2009), 193-8.
- [3] E.M. Borycki, R. Joe, B. Armstrong, P. Bellwood, and R. Campbell, Educating health professionals about the electronic health record (EHR): Removing the barriers to adoption through improved understanding. *Knowledge Management and E-Learning: An International Journal* 3 (2011), 51-62.
- [4] E.M. Borycki N. Frisch, J. Moreau, and A.W. Kushniruk, Integration of electronic health records into nursing education: Issues, challenges and limitations, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 208 (2015), 88-92.
- [5] S.H. Brown, M.J. Lincoln, P.J. Groen, and R.M. Kolodner, VistA—US department of veterans affairs national-scale HIS, *Int. J. Med. Inform* 69 (2003), 135-156.
- [6] R. Collier, National physician survey: EMR use at 75%, CMAJ 187 (2015), E17-18.
- [7] PrescribeIT Canada's electronic prescription service, (n.d.). https://prescribeit.ca/ (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [8] R.S. Joe, A. Otto, and E.M. Borycki, Designing an electronic medical case simulator for health professional education, *Knowledge Management and E-Learning: An International Journal* 3 (2011), 63-71.
- [9] A.W. Kushniruk, E.M. Borycki, R. Joe, T. Otto, B. Armstrong, and K. Ho. Integrating electronic health records into medical education: Considerations, challenges and future directions, in: K. Ho, S. Jarvis-Selinger, H. Novak Lauscher, J. Cordeiro, and R. Scott (Eds), *Technology Enabled Knowledge Translation for eHealth*, Springer, New York, 2012, 21-32.
- [10] E.M. Borycki, A.W. Kushniruk, B. Armstrong, R. Joe, and T. Otto. Integrating electronic health records into health professional and health informatics education: A continuum of approaches, *Acta Informatica Medica* 18 (2010), 20-24.
- [11] E.M. Borycki, J. Griffith, P. Reid, M. H. Kuo, and A.W. Kushniruk, Do electronic health records help undergraduate students develop health informatics competencies? *Stud Health Technol Inform* 205 (2014), 838-842.
- [12] E.M. Borycki, J. Griffith, and A.W. Kushniruk, Integrating electronic health record competencies into undergraduate health informatics education, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 228 (2016), 634-7.
- [13] A. Shachak, S. Elamrousy, E.M. Borycki, S. Domb, and A.W. Kushniruk, Towards educational electronic health records (EHRs): A design process for integrating EHRs, simulation and video tutorials, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 228 (2016), 624-8.
- [14] J.J. Cimino, G. Elhanan, and Q. Zeng, Supporting infobuttons with terminological knowledge, in: Proceedings of the AMIA annual fall symposium, 528-532, 1997.
- [15] E.M. Borycki, L. Lemieux-Charles, L. Nagle, and G. Eysenbach, Evaluating the impact of hybrid electronic-paper environments upon novice nurse information seeking, *Methods of Information in Medicine* 48 (2009), 137-143.

of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHT1190142

Development of a Video Coding Scheme for Understanding Human-Computer Interaction and Clinical Decision Making

Andre W. KUSHNIRUK¹, Helen MONKMAN, Nicole KITSON and Elizabeth M. BORYCKI

School of Health Information Science, University of Victoria, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

Abstract. The usability of healthcare information technology has become a major issue in health informatics. There have been many reports of systems that have been deemed unusable by end users such as clinicians and a growing body of usability studies have been reported in the literature. The issue of how to fruitfully analyze and code usability study data in a meaningful way that can lead to optimized and more efficient systems has remained to be fully detailed. In this paper we describe our work in developing and organizing a principled video coding scheme that builds from our previous work in a couple of areas. We include video coding categories we have developed for understanding problems and issues with human-computer interaction. In addition, we integrate this coding scheme thus incorporates coding categories that can used to evaluate both usability issues (applying categories from human-computer interaction) and human cognition, in order to assess the impact of technology on clinical reasoning and decision making.

Keywords. Usability, human factors, cognition, reasoning, decision making, health information technology

1. Introduction

The usability of healthcare information systems has become a focus of considerable attention in the field of health informatics. There have been and continue to be numerous reports of systems that have been deemed to be unusable and even unsafe, and in some cases having a potential detrimental impact on clinical reasoning and decision making. In response to this, the authors have been involved in developing and applying a range of methods for evaluating the usability of healthcare information technology (IT) and pinpointing specific usability problems and issues. An important part of this work has been the development and use of video-coding schemes that are applied by analysts and researchers to glean essential information about usability problems and potential remedies from analysis of collected usability data [1]. This data is typically in the form of digital video recordings of user interactions (e.g. video of screen recordings) along with audio recordings of user verbalizations that can be analyzed using protocol analysis

¹ Corresponding Author: Andre W. Kushniruk, Email: andrek@uvic.ca

[2]. Although there have been many articles published describing the collection of usability data in healthcare, along with the results of studies, there have been far fewer publications about principled approaches to actually coding and analyzing video-based usability data. In this paper we report on our efforts to create a continually evolving and extensible video coding scheme that builds on previous work in the area of developing models for characterizing cognitive processes [3-5] and characterizing human-computer interaction in healthcare [1, 6]. The issue of how to characterize the impact of healthcare IT on clinical reasoning and decision making has emerged and continues to remain to be more fully explored. As a result, in the work described in this paper our objective was to create a framework that can be used to better understand the relationship between usability issues and their impact on clinical reasoning and decision making. The authors have been developing and applying classification schemes that can be used to guide the analysis of video and audio data from a wide range of usability studies. In this paper, we describe our new work in bridging our current work on coding and classifying usability problems with our previous work in characterizing and analyzing clinical decision making and reasoning. The objective of the combined coding approach described in this paper is develop an open ended, flexible and extensible classification scheme that can be used to better understand and characterize the impact of usability on key aspects of clinical reasoning and decision making in healthcare.

2. Methodological Approach

The authors have previously described a framework for describing human-computer interaction and identifying usability problems in healthcare that is based on three levels of complexity: Level 1 – the level of the individual user interacting with healthcare IT in isolation (the level of basic usability); Level 2 – the level of using a system or technology to carry out a basic work task (the level of workflow); Level 3 – the level of interaction involving multiple players and goals in interacting with a system in the larger organizational or societal context [6]. Since developing this approach to characterizing usability problems, the authors have been involved in creating and applying a range of video-based coding schemes for analyzing data from usability studies.

In a parallel line of work in cognitive research, the authors have also developed principled coding schemes for characterizing key aspects of clinical decision making and reasoning [4-5]. This work emerged from qualitative research in medical cognition. In previous work analyzing complex decision making in surgical intensive care, a coding scheme was initially developed that incorporated key aspects of decision processes with clinical reasoning. Although the scheme was successfully used for characterizing medical expertise at different levels in solving cases of varying difficulty in surgical intensive care [5], it had yet to be applied in the context of medical reasoning and decision making involving the use of health information technologies (e.g. electronic health record systems and clinical decision support systems). The process of video coding has been described by the authors in detail elsewhere and involves several phases including an initial transcription, an annotation phase (where the user actions are annotated) and a coding phase [1].

The process of developing the scheme described in this paper involved initially combining coding categories from a number of sources. The initial scheme was then reviewed by three human factors experts and iteratively refined. The scheme contains:

- Categories that include usability heuristics, such as Nielsen's heuristics [7] (which were initially designed to be used to guide usability inspection)
- Categories derived from published design and evaluation guidelines, typically focused on providing guidance to designers of new IT solutions
- Categories that have emerged inductively from numerous studies conducted by the authors and other researchers from a wide range of usability studies.
- Categories from medical cognition, focused on characterizing reasoning and decision-making processes from verbal and observational data

To develop and refine the coding scheme described in this paper, initial categories from the above sources were first merged, presented to the expert panel and then codes were classified as belonging to either Cognitive codes or Usability codes. Figure 1 illustrates the combined coding scheme that was arrived at through an iterative process of review by the panel of three human factors experts.

3. Results and Example of Application

As can be seen from Figure 1, at the top level the scheme includes **Cognitive Codes** and **Usability Codes**. Cognitive codes refer either to codes identifying key aspects of *Decision Making* and with codes dealing with *Reasoning*. The Usability Codes can be sub-classified as belonging to Level 1 (level of an individual user interacting with a system in isolation), Level 2 (the level of work activities), or Level 3 (the level of socio-cognitive interactions). The actual codes are given on the right-hand side of Figure 1 and are defined in a coding dictionary (that provides instructions to analysts for when to use that code when analyzing video and audio transcripts).

3.1. Cognitive Codes

Cognitive Codes consist of *Decision Making* and *Reasoning* codes, as illustrated in Figure 1. For example, under the *Decision Making* portion of the coding scheme, the code "Information Required" is coded if information is requested or required in making a decision (e.g. a doctor requesting information from a patient during a doctor-patient interaction). Other Decision Making codes include "Comparison of Alternatives" (coded if options are compared during decision making), "Investigation Choice" (coded if a medical investigation is chosen), "Other Action Chosen" or "Choice Reconsidered". Likewise, a set of codes for analyzing *Reasoning* (from the medical cognition literature [3-5]) are also shown in Figure 1.

3.2. Usability Codes

Usability Codes, as noted above these are organized in Figure 1 according to the three levels of human-computer interaction described by Borycki and Kushniruk [6]. For example, at the level of basic human computer interaction (Level 1) the coding categories include: "Speed" (coded if speed of user interaction is an issue), "Font Issues" (coded if there are problems regarding fonts, e.g. font is too small), "Layout and Organization" (e.g. coded if there problems with the screen's layout), "Content Issues/Usefulness Issues"



Figure 1. An integrated coding scheme for investigating the relation between cognition and usability in healthcare informatics.

(coded if the user indicates issues regarding content or usefulness of information provided by a system) and "Understanding Instructions" (coded when the user has problems understanding how to carry out tasks. Other categories include "Visibility Problem", "Meaning of Labels Problem", "Consistency Problem", and "Navigation Problem".

3.3. Example Application of the Scheme

To illustrate use of the scheme presented in this paper, the following is an excerpt from a study investigating the impact of the electronic health record (EHR) on clinical decision making and reasoning. In this study eight physicians participated in usability testing of a new EHR. The physician participants were instructed to "think aloud and verbalize their thoughts" while interacting with the system to arrive at a clinical diagnosis. They were

encouraged to think aloud about whatever came to mind, including verbalizing their thoughts about the user interface, the medical problem they were solving or any other thoughts as they worked through the clinical case using the EHR. In the excerpt below annotations are given in italics and the codes are shown in capitals in square brackets (directly beneath the relevant section of the transcript which they characterize).

00:01:25 Subject open up the category "family history" in the electronic health record "I am opening up the information about the past medical history for this patient and I am looking to see if there is a family history of cancer"

[COGNITIVE - DATA REVIEW (EHR) - family history of cancer]

"I see that the patient's mother and uncle died of pancreatic cancer so I am wondering if the patient might have cancer or some genetic predisposition"

[COGNITIVE - **DIAGNOSTIC HYPOTHESIS CONSIDERED** – cancer, cause genetic] "I would like to know if the patient has symptoms consistent with this particular type of cancer"

[COGNITIVE - INFORMATION REQUIRED – symptoms of patient]

00:02:25 Subject scrolls up and down current screen "But I don't know how to get to the screen with the lab results" [USABILITY - NAVIGATION PROBLEM – can't find lab results tab]

00:02:45 Subject notices an alert at top of the screen but does not know what it means "I just noticed a yellow pop up at the top of the screen with BPA written on it, but I don't know what BPA means"

[USABILITY – **MEANING OF LABELS PROBLEM** – does not know what the label "BPA" on the alert means]

"I find this distracting as it has interfered with my train of thought about what I was looking up"

[USABILITY - INTERFERENCE WITH WORK PROCESS - alert distracting]

"I just clicked on the button with BPA written on it and it is telling me there is a risk the patient has high blood pressure. I would now like to know if this has anything to do with the patient's current chief complaint"

[COGNITIVE – **GOAL FORMED** – determine if information in the alert is related to the chief complaint for the current visit]

"Now I'll now go to look up those values"

[COGNITIVE - INFORMATION REQUIRED – lookup blood pressure]

The example excerpt above illustrates how codes for both cognitive aspects as well as usability issues are used in data analysis. The coding of the excerpt illustrates codes related to usability can be interleaved and coded throughout the transcript (as they arise in the transcript), as the subject moves back and forth between dealing with usability issues (e.g. navigation problems) and consideration of diagnostic hypotheses (e.g. consideration of cancer). From such coding we can elucidate the impact of system design (in terms of screen layout, organization and even details such as labelling of alerts) on clinical reasoning, decision making and workflow activities. For example, the above coded transcript indicated that the user had trouble finding key information in the EHR to support basic reasoning, and that the alert distracted their decision and work activities. Furthermore, from such analysis we are also able to quantify and statistically relate key aspects of reasoning and decision making to specific usability features (e.g. such as screen design and specific interface features such as labelling on alerts).

4. Discussion

The approach to coding described in this paper is unique in that it blends or incorporates within one integrated coding scheme categories that come from two separate literatures and domains, namely medical cognition and human factors. The need for this work arose from carrying out studies aimed at elucidating the relationship between human factors (and in particular usability problems) and impact on medical reasoning and decision making. To date, applying the type of approach to coding described in this paper has led to several key findings about the impact of technologies such as EHRs on medical cognition. For example, some of our work has indicated that some interfaces to systems such as EHRs may lead a physician user to become "screen driven" or limited to following the order imposed by the system during their diagnostic process. When this happens the clinicians may end up following the categories on the screen during the decision making process about a patient case thus profoundly impacting the physician's cognitive processes (by inadvertently guiding their information requests which form the basis for decision making processes) [8]. The overall approach for analysis of usability issues can also be extended to also explore areas related to usability and training, as well as for examining the relationship between cognition and human factors in general [9]. In addition, the approach can also be used to evaluate the impact of health information technology on clinician's interactions with patients while using technology such as the EHR. We are currently carrying out validation studies of the resultant classification employing a panel of experts who are reviewing the results of our work (i.e. the coding scheme presented in this paper).

References

- [1] A.W. Kushniruk and E.M. Borycki, Development of a video coding scheme for analyzing the usability and usefulness of health information systems, *Stud Health Technol Inform* **218** (2015), 68-73.
- [2] K.A. Ericsson and H.A. Simon, *Protocol analysis*, MIT press, Cambridge, MA, 1993.
- [3] F. Hasselbrock, M. Prietula, A protocol-based coding scheme for the analysis of medical reasoning, *International Journal of Man-Machine Studies* 37 (1992), 613-652.
- [4] A.W. Kushniruk, Analysis of complex decision-making processes in health care: Cognitive approaches to health informatics, *Journal of Biomedical Informatics* 34 (2001), 365-376.
- [5] A. Kushniruk, V. Patel and D. Fleiszer, Complex decision making in providing surgical intensive care, in: J. Moore and J. Lehman (Eds), *Proceedings of the 17th Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society*, Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum, 1995, 287-292.
- [6] E.M. Borycki and A.W. Kushniruk, Towards an integrative cognitive-socio-technical approach in health informatics, *Open Medical Informatics Journal* 4 (2010), 181-187.
- [7] J. Nielsen, Usability Engineering, Elsevier, New York, 1994.
- [8] V.L. Patel, A. Kushniruk and S. Yang, Yale, Impact of a computer-based patient record system on data collection, knowledge organization and reasoning, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 7 (2000), 569-585.
- [9] M. Beuscart-Zephir, S. Pelayo, E.M. Borycki and A.W. Kushniruk, Human factors considerations in health IT design and development, in: P. Carayon (Ed.), *Handbook of Human Factors and Ergonomics in Health Care and Patient Safety*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, 2012.

From Free-Text to Structure in Electronic Patient Records

Gro-Hilde SEVERINSEN^{a, 1}, Line SILSAND^a, Gunnar ELLINGSEN^{a, b} and Rune PEDERSEN^{a, b}

^aNorwegian Center for E-health Research – University Hospital North Norway ^bTelemedicine and E-health Research group, The Arctic university of Norway, Tromsø

> Abstract. We report from the initial steps of a collaboration project between two post-doctoral projects, both using a qualitative action research approach to address challenges related to shifting from a free text to a structured EPR system constituting important preconditions for establishing advanced decision support and reuse of healthcare data. We have started to explore three areas that may influence this process related to: 1) Legislative challenges of getting access to all relevant healthcare data. 2) Challenges of exchanging data between silo systems and open platform systems. 3) Replacing a free text silo EPR with an open platform system and the practical challenges of defining the content of the context sensitive structured EPR. Hence, we ask the following research questions: How to address challenges related to the shift from free text to structured EPR systems? How will the need for semantic interoperability between different EPRs influence the goal of advanced clinical decision support? Empirically, we draw on the regional FRESK program (2017-2022), in the North Norwegian Health Region, which includes implementing both a new regional open platform based EPR system, and a proprietary medical chart system.

> **Keywords.** Interoperability, open platform, silo systems, reuse, Electronic patient record, Clinical decision support

1. Introduction

The expectations for advanced ICT solutions in healthcare increases rapidly. Electronic Patient Records (EPRs) are considered to be crucial tools for supporting clinical processes across institutional boundaries, foundations for clinical research, as well as tools for informing managers and policy makers [1-3]. Particularly, advanced clinical decision support (CDS)² capabilities are in high demand, but yet not widely accessible. There has been a great effort to understand the reasons for limited availability due to this being an important demand for structuring the clinical information within the EPR is one of the absolute prerequisites to enable advanced CDS. Another reason is the lack of integrations between EPRs since healthcare organizations tend to use a plethora of specialized, non-standard electronic patient records (EPRs), defined as silo-systems [4], often developed to support specialized departments' internal processes. The silo system

¹ Corresponding author Gro-Hilde Severinsen, E-mail: Gro-Hilde.Severinsen@ehealthresearch.no

² Clinical decision support is an ICT tool that combines evidence-based knowledge, guidelines, procedures and treatment protocols with individual patient information to support decisions of the treatment and care to a specific patient.

approach gives access to only a single unified database for instance related to radiology, medical charts or EPR, which complicates exchanging clinical information between these systems. Information exchange between systems is of high importance for healthcare personnel to access all relevant clinical information and support patient pathways across organizational boarders. Consequently, the expected improvements of quality, as well as cost-effectiveness of treatment and care promoted through the use of advanced EPRs is at risk when clinical information during a patient pathway resides in more than one EPR. Based on the complexities described in previous research, there is a need to explore these intricacies related to the transition from today's silo systems to the

deployment of structured EPRs enabling clinical process- and decision support [5-6]. This is a research in progress, were we have started to explore three environmental topics that may influence the process of shifting from free text to structured EPR system constituting important preconditions for establishing advanced decision support and reuse of healthcare data. Making such shift has not been done to the same extend as in Norwegian healthcare before, and structuring an EPR system is usually only done by system vendors today. Empirically, we will draw on the regional FRESK (Future systems in the clinic) program (2017-2022), in the North Norwegian Health Region, which includes implementing both a new regional open platform based EPR system, and a proprietary electronic medical chart system. Important aims of the program include structuring the clinical information within the new EPR system through the openEHR approach using archetypes as clinical standards 3 [9, 10], and defining how to integrate and share clinical information between the EPR and other healthcare systems, particularly the medical chart system. The empirical project is now facing the complex challenges related to the transition from silo systems to structured EPRs as an important precondition to enable advanced CDS. Hence, we ask the following overall research questions: How to address challenges related to the shift from free text to structured EPR systems? How will the need for semantic interoperability between different EPRs influence the goal of advanced clinical decision support? Responding to this, we have identified three important topics that need to be further explored: 1) Legislative challenges of getting access to all relevant healthcare data. 2) Challenges of exchanging data between silo systems and open platform systems. 3) Replacing a free text silo EPR with an open platform system - and the practical challenges of defining the content of the structured EPR. The research will be carried out as a collaboration between two postdoctoral projects both addressing the work with structuring the EPR, and establishing advanced clinical decision support.

2. Method

This study adheres to a qualitative action research approach. The purpose of an action research approach is to contribute to a co-constructive learning process based on feedback from healthcare personnel, developers, and stakeholders participating in the empirical field. The research will be carried out in the regional program FRESK. The

³ The openEHR architecture based on archetypes designed to manage, store and retrieve structured health data in an EPR system [11], through an open platform where the data are completely shareable and independent of programming language, human language and database technology. Archetypes are the information models set to standardize clinical concepts in openEHR systems. This includes facilitating reuse of information, evidence-based practice and semantic interoperability. Archetypes are clinical standards including the context they are used for, established in a socio technical consensus process [12].

researchers' will through action research bring back scientific knowledge and relevant findings to FRESK and successively evaluate the ongoing processes [9].

The data will be collected through interviews (we have already conducted four), knowledge summaries, participatory observations, discussions and document studies. The interviews will be audio recorded, transcribed, and analyzed in relation to the context. The objective of analyzing collected data is to organize and structure the gathered material to generate an understanding of how the socio-technical interdependencies influence the evolving empirical process [10].

3. Case

In the North Norwegian Health Region, the goal is to shift from a free text EPR system combined with a paper based medical chart, to an open platform EPR system based on the openEHR architecture and a proprietary medical chart system. In relation to the work with structuring the EPR system, to reach the goal of CDS, we have started to explore three important areas of the existing socio-technical context influencing the implementation of the new EPR, with a particular focus on legislation, integration and practical design

3.1. Legislative challenges of getting access to all relevant healthcare data

The National eHealth Strategy (2017-2022) [13], addresses that EPR systems must be able to provide CDS functionalities where evidence-based knowledge is used directly to support patient treatment and care. However, important preconditions to enable CDS are structured clinical information, and access to all relevant patient specific clinical information, independent of where or in which system the information is stored [14]. In addition, exchange and reuse of clinical information still implies that confidentiality, legal regulations and restrictions of sharing personal information ("*GDPR Personal Information Act*") need to be taken care of. Today's situation in the North Norwegian Health Region does not comply with these preconditions.

First, even if clinical patient specific information is stored in one common database, this database is separated into four units belonging to each of the regional health trusts. Second, the present EPR system is built in such way that clinical information is written in free-text, and stored in document-files belonging to different journal groups within the EPR. Healthcare personnel get access to the documents through a very strict and complex hierarchy of access control aimed to ensure the confidentiality legislation. However, patient pathways often cross organizational borders and healthcare trusts, which means that patient data is recorded and stored in more than one health trust's database. According to the patient record legislation the health trusts are responsible for the healthcare information within their trust, and they decide if they want to partially or fully share the healthcare information. "There are no legal restrictions against reuse of data or extracting data for decision support. However, in which format (sharing document, read-only document, sharing specific clinical information) this information is presented may be an issue to discuss (Legal professional)."

Using a structured EPR seemingly provides more possibilities than limitations, and makes it easier for healthcare personnel to access significant and necessary information like blood pressure or weight without accessing an entire free text document. Still, it is important to explore how to enable CDS meanwhile ensuring confidentiality, legal regulations and restrictions of sharing personal information according to GDPR. Hence, it may be necessary to reevaluate the existing hierarchical access control system to facilitate the goal of CDS with the need for exchanging and reusing clinical information in new ways. "The laws regarding healthcare information is designed first of all to ensure that healthcare personnel get access to necessary information related to a patient. (legal professional)." It is important to discuss:

- (1) The balance between confidentiality, and protection of privacy in relation to the overview of relevant healthcare data within and across EPR system and potentially reuse in relation to accessing all relevant healthcare data.
- (2) The need to change today's journal structure and access control system.

3.2. Challenges of exchanging data between silo systems and open platform systems

Implementing a structured EPR system demands for reevaluating the silo system structure in Norwegian healthcare, since one of the main prerequisite for advanced CDS is the possibility to extract and reuse relevant information about a patient regardless of in which healthcare system the information is stored. This is not possible with today's silo systems and potentially generates a risk of missing relevant information when treating a patient. The ideal data exchange includes converting all data into the same standards, preferably an open standard, to seamlessly exchanging healthcare data. However, the present systems in the North Norwegian Health Region are built on differing standards, demanding complex integrations to enable data exchange. Systems like the EPR, and the medical chart, which both includes numerous overlapping patient data, and demand for close integrations to provide a seamless information flow in between. Integrations between similar systems were conducted in the Southern and Eastern Norway Regional Health Region some years ago, including patient administrative terms, allergy import and FEST (medication). There was also provided a CCOW - real time synchronization of information as a HL7 standard, to provide seamless integration for users of both systems. These integrations have been adopted to the North Norwegian Health Region, due to close collaboration between the two programs. In FRESK, they now work with integrations of vital parameters, where to store master data, and what secondary systems/software to integrate towards to avoid double registration.

One way of integrating systems using different standards are profiling, using a common language for messaging between systems, e.g. HL7's FHIR (Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources). FHIR is designed to exchange healthcare information through resources, reflecting clinical and administrative information [15]. It is necessary to include a great deal of clinical work in forming consensus around how detailed clinical information should be captured and shared in FHIR resources since they have no defined structure [15]. Another challenge is that there is no established repository of FHIR resources available in Norway even if some FHIR resources, like observation, are already defined. Observation is useable for exchanging information on all vital parameters "the observation FHIR Resource is generic to integrate any vital parameter, or all observation archetypes (integration specialist)."

Accordingly, it is crucial to discuss how to establish high quality integrations and messaging language to provides seamless integrations and semantic interoperability between healthcare systems. Three important challenges need to be explored:

- (1) The importance of agreeing on a format for message exchange and code to use, to enable CDS system to extract and understand information from all systems involved.
- (2) If FHIR is to be used, there is a need for designing regional resources as soon as possible, and preferably within the next six months according to the implementation plan for the new EPR and medication systems.
- (3) How to include metadata for information to be reusable from one system to another, to enable clinicians to know for instance when a blood pressure has been registered and how to evaluate the value before reusing it. Archetypes are information models that includes the context the data was registered in.

3.3. Replacing a free text silo EPR with an open platform system - and the practical challenges of defining the content of the structured EPR

Shifting from a free text based EPR system to a structured EPR demands for changing the way healthcare data are registered and presented. Based on previous experiences with converting clinical forms/schemas from unstructured to structured forms [16]. These processes often turn out to be more complex than initially expected. Hence, important challenges have been recognized for instance in the work with designing a structured registration form based on the free text schema in the existing EPR system described by Ulriksen and Pedersen [16]. The work resulted in a very long and complex schema including 58 standards, resulting in endless variables and boxes to check. The conclusion was that it is very important to define the reusable data necessary to structure, the rest should remain as free text. Other important lessons learned from this work, correlates well with the challenges recognized in the work with structuring forms in the FRESK program, these issues need to be further explored:

- (1) The importance of include clinicians in designing forms used in the structured EPR to define values to reuse to end up with forms useful for clinical practice [16].
- (2) The possibility for reuse of data depend on the granulation level of the standards. If one scheme is designed as one standard, the whole form has to be reused. If each variable is connected to a specific standard, all the elements are separately reusable.
- (3) How to establish a socio technical network of different actors, in addition to clinicians including regional and national archetype specialist to identify the right structured elements to use and design new archetypes if needed, IT personnel with programming competence to design, queries, dependencies and so on to for instance make calculations like BMI is also needed. This includes the need for close collaboration with the system vendor since they are the only ones that are familiar with the form building tools and archetype design for the structured EPR system today.

4. Preliminary discussion

Shifting from free text to a structured based EPR is a socio-technical process, were it is not sufficient to focus only on the technical part of the process, hence including organizational issues, legal considerations, clinical practice and system users are just as important to succeed. As a consequence, we have selected three important focus areas for our project related to accessibility, integration and registration of patient data in a EPR 1) Legislative challenges of getting access to all relevant healthcare data, 2) Challenges of exchanging data between different healthcare systems, 3) Transferring healthcare data when shifting from a free text-based EPR to an a structured-based EPR and registering data in a structured EPR.

Altogether, the focus areas enable receiving all relevant healthcare data necessary for treating a patient regardless of where the data is registered and stored. Advanced CDS demands for establishing close collaboration between necessary actors including a network of clinicians to gain high quality standards. Further to decide what information to structure, and how to reuse information during patient pathways. In addition, it is necessary to collaborate about how standards used for structuring information must be designed and governed. Accordingly, how these focus areas best are to be solved, will be given attention during the FRESK program. It is however important to consider also what information that has to be structured since registering structured data makes clinicians spend more time in front of the computer, which again makes for less time face to face with the patient.

References

- [1] M. Aanestad, M. Grisot, O. Hanseth, and P. Vassilakopoulou, *Information Infrastructures within European Health Care: Working with the Installed Base*; Springer, Switzerland, 2017.
- [2] Expert Panel on effective ways of investing in Health (EXPH), *Disruptive innovation: considerations for health and health care in Europe*, European Commission, 2016.
- [3] Ministry of Health and Care Services, Overall summary of ICT in Norwegian Healthcare, Review of "one citizen one journal. ICT, Challenges in the health and care sector, 2014.
- [4] K. Kawamoto, J. Jacobs, B.M. Welch, V. Huser, M.D. Paterno, G. Del Fiol, et al., Clinical Information System Services and Capabilities Desired for Scalable, Standards-Based, Service-oriented Decision Support: Consensus Assessment of the Health Level 7 Clinical Decision Support Work Group, in: AMIA Annual Symp Proc, USA, 446–455, 2012.
- [5] M. Das, and J. Eichner, Challenges and Barriers to Clinical Decision Support (CDS) Design and Implementation Experienced in the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality CDS Demonstrations, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD, 2010.
- [6] E.S. Berner, Clinical decision support systems: State of the Art, AHRQ Publication No. 09-0069-EF, Rockville, Maryland: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2009.
- [7] G.H. Ulriksen, R. Pedersen, and G. Ellingsen, Infrastructuring in healthcare through the openEHR architecture, *Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW)* 26 (2017), 33-69.
- [8] L. Silsand and G. Ellingsen, Generification by translation: designing generic systems in context of the local, *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* 15 (2014), 177-196.
- [9] R. Baskerville and M. Myers, Special Issue on Action Research In Informaton Systems: Making IS Research relevant to practice foreword, *Manag Inf Syst Q* 28 (2004),329-335.
- [10] H.K. Klein and M. Myers, A Set of Principles for Conducting and Evaluating Interpretive Field Studies in Information Systems, *MIS Quarterly* 23 (1999), 67-94.
- B. Christensen and G. Ellingsen, Evaluating Model-Driven Development for large-scale EHRs through the openEHR approach, Int. J. Med. Inform 89 (2016), 43-54.
- [11] K. Atalag, T. Beale, R. Chen, T. Cornik, S. Heard, and I. McNicoll, openEHR a semantically-enabled, vendor-independent health computing platform, University College London, 2016.
- [12] Norwegian directorate of e-health National e-health strategy and goals 2017-2022, 2017.
- [13] Ministry of Health and Care Services, Whitepaper 9 "One citizen one journal, (2012).
- [14] 2.15 FHIR Overview Clinicians, HL7-FHIR, (2019). https://www.hl7.org/fhir/overview-clinical.html (accessed Jan 25, 2019).
- [15] G.H. Ulriksen and R. Pedersen, Structuring the EPRs; The National development of Archetypes for Core Functionallity. International journal on advances in life sciences 8 (2016), 243-256.
This page intentionally left blank

Different Contexts for Medication Errors and Patient Safety

This page intentionally left blank

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190145

Mandatory Medication Indications in Electronic Systems – The Prescriber Perspective

Melissa BAYSARI^{a, 1}, Jessica DEL GIGANTE^b, Maria MORAN^c, Elin LEHNBOM^d and Richard DAY^c

^aFaculty of Health Sciences, The University of Sydney, Australia ^bDepartment of Pharmacy, St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney, Australia ^cDepartment of Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology, St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney, Australia

^d Department of Pharmacy, UiT – The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway

Abstract. As hospitals transition from paper to electronic medication charts, an opportunity exists to 'nudge' prescribers to document medication indications by making this data-entry field mandatory. The aim of this study was to explore hospital doctors' perceptions of mandatory documentation of indications in an electronic medication management (EMM) system. Ten junior doctors took part in brief semi-structured interviews. Participants identified improved communication among staff as a key benefit of indication documentation. Recording indications was also seen to act as a prompt for medication review. Despite these benefits, indication documentation for all medications would be challenging to implement in practice. Users of the EMM system (i.e. junior doctors) explained that they are time poor and are often tasked with transcribing medications are being prescribed. Determining the indication for use would require additional time and effort, and prescribers reported a high risk of working around the system if indication documentation was made mandatory.

Keywords. Electronic medication management, medication indication, mandatory documentation

1. Introduction

Documenting the indication or purpose for a medication is considered best practice when prescribing [1]. It has been suggested that in addition to the five rights of safe medication use (the right patient, right drug, right dose, right route and right time), a sixth right be added – *the right indication* [2]. Australia's paper-based National Inpatient Medication Chart (NIMC), used in all Australian hospitals yet to implement electronic medication management, includes a field for medical staff to document each medication's indication [3]. Its purpose is to allow the medication order to be reviewed in the context of why the medication was prescribed, reducing the risk of an order being misinterpreted or misread

¹ Corresponding Author: Melissa Baysari, Email: melissa.baysari@sydney.edu.au

[3]. Despite its inclusion, the field is not often used, with audits revealing that indications are typically documented less than 10% of the time [4].

As hospitals transition from paper to electronic medication charts, an opportunity now exists to 'nudge' prescribers to document medication indications by making this data-entry field mandatory. Anecdotally, some Australian hospitals have configured systems so that indication documentation is mandatory, while others have made this field optional. But what are the opportunity costs associated with making this data-entry field mandatory? And what are the benefits and risks of mandatory indication documentation? The aim of this study was to explore hospital doctors' perceptions of mandatory documentation of medication indications in an electronic medication management (EMM) system.

2. Method

2.1. Study site, medication management system and participants

The study was conducted at a 320-bed teaching hospital in Sydney, Australia. All hospital wards, expect for the emergency department, used the EMM system, MedChart®, for electronic prescribing, pharmacy review and medication administration. During prescribing, no specific data-entry fields were available for recording indications.

Prescribers at the hospital were opportunistically recruited via direct approach (i.e. directly approached while working on wards) and invited to participate in a brief semistructured interview. Junior doctors were targeted for recruitment, as previous research indicated that junior doctors were more likely to use the system [5]. Ten prescribers were invited and all agreed to take part. These included two interns, six residents and two registrars.

2.2. Procedure

This study formed part of a larger project investigating antimicrobial prescribing at the study hospital. Interview questions focused on the current process for documenting indications and gaining approval for use of antimicrobials. At the end of the interview, prescribers were asked two questions about documenting indications for medications more broadly:

- What do you think about documenting indications more generally? That is, having to document an indication for every order?
- What impact do you think documenting the indication will have?

All interviews were audiotaped and transcribed verbatim. Responses to these two questions were de-identified and independently analyzed by two researchers. A general inductive approach [6] was used, where no a-priori framework was used to guide analysis. The two researchers came together to reach a consensus on positive and negative perceptions of recording medication indications in the electronic system.

3. Results

Table 1 summarizes the main themes that emerged from interviews with respect to recording medication indications in the EMM system. Most doctors held the view that recording indications was good practice, and theoretically should be done for all medications. For example, a doctor said: "*I think that's very rational.*" (D2) However many doctors were not sure whether the benefits of having an indication available outweighed the added burden this would create for doctors.

Table 1. Prescriber perceptions of recording indications for all medications in the electronic medication management system.

Main benefits	Practical difficulties	Risks		
Improved communication between hospital staff	Not all indications are known	Workarounds		
Prompts prescriber to review medications	Extra time and effort for prescribers	Poor information quality		

3.1. Main benefits of recording medication indications

The primary benefit of recording indications in the EMM system was reported to be improved communication among hospital staff. For example, participants said: "*I'm in cardiology at the moment and it's really helpful to know why people are on certain types of medications over other ones. And it makes it very clear for everyone subsequently.*" (D2)

And: "I think it is great, it's what you need, especially from the dispensing point of view, to know why you are dispensing this. And it is good, you know the other medical teams to come in say hey they are on this for this reason". (D5)

Another benefit was viewed to be the medication review that typically accompanies determining an indication for a medication. A doctor explained: "I think there's a couple of times when patients would come in on things and you would have no bloody idea why it's been prescribed...That can be difficult but I often think it's a good time to review that medication...So I think it's quite good when you have to think about the indications because if you've got someone on 6 tablets for one thing and you realize that they could be on 3 tablets for one thing, it's a good time that you can actually make changes". (D10)

3.2. Practical difficulties associated with recording medication indications

Almost all participants reported the main difficulty associated with recording indications to be the extra work this would create for prescribers. A doctor said: "*It seems like it could be a lot of work, especially, for patients on say the transplant team who are on 30 or 40 medicines. To scroll through every single one and pick out an indication...*" (D5) Doctors also described situations where it would be particularly difficult to find the time to document indications (e.g. after-hours, when a patient has just been admitted).

Another key barrier to documenting medication indications was reported to be the fact that not all medication indications are known. "Some of the indications are difficult to ascertain, especially if some of the patients have been on these medications for quite a long time from the GP. And as a JMO (junior medical officer), if you don't know the indication, you can't write down anything, so then what's going to stop people from not writing down anything in the first place?" (D7) This was particularly a problem for

junior doctors, who were often charged with 'transcribing' medication orders into the EMM system, rather than making prescribing decisions:

"I think that [recording indications] would be really beneficial only if the person doing it knew what they were doing. I can just remember as an intern, you know, you just copy whatever they are usually on, and sometimes you don't know why they are on this rather than something else." (D1)

3.3. Risks associated with recording medication indications in the EMM system

As a consequence of the practical difficulties associated with recording indications, doctors expected that users would find ways to workaround the EMM system and either document non-indications (e.g. full stops and commas) or document inaccurate indications. A doctor explained: *"If you force people to write down the indication, they might write down garbage."* (D7)

And another: "Time poor people having to do extra steps often cause people to cut corners where they don't see it of use. If there isn't good compliance or if it isn't used well that it might actually confuse people more...because if you have people using the system haphazardly and sort of putting in the standard indication without thinking about it and then someone comes along and says "look they're on frusemide for heart failure" when they're really on frusemide for some other indication." (D9)

4. Discussion

This interview study revealed that although viewed to be best practice by prescribers, recording of indications for all medications would be challenging to implement in practice. Users of the EMM system (i.e. junior doctors) are time poor and are often tasked with transcribing medication orders into the electronic system with limited knowledge of why medications are being prescribed. Determining the indication for use would require additional time and effort, and prescribers reported a high risk of working around the system if data entry was made mandatory.

Participants identified a core benefit of recording indications to be improved communication among hospital staff. It is interesting to note that when asked to reflect on the impacts of documenting indications, prescribers focused on the immediate consequences of this practice on their work and on the work of others. No participants discussed impact more broadly, that is, to patients and to health professionals post-discharge (e.g. general practitioners, pharmacists). This likely reflects the *observability* [7] of these consequences. That is, increased workload is highly visible to prescribers, while the flow-on effects to external healthcare providers and to patients are less so.

Evidence of the positive impact of indication information on patients' medication management and on other healthcare providers is growing. For example, in a recent qualitative study, Australian consumers reported that having the indication on medication labels would make managing medications less confusing, especially when starting a new medication or when an alternative brand was dispensed [8]. Most consumers reported that they would be more likely to take their medication if they knew what it was for.[8] Research has also shown that pharmacists are more likely to identify prescribing errors when a prescription is accompanied by an indication, as this information facilitates a more comprehensive assessment of the medication order [9].

Another key benefit identified by prescribers in our study was that mandatory indication documentation could prompt prescribers to review a patient's medications. Potentially inappropriate polypharmacy occurs in approximately half of older hospitalized patients and is rarely addressed during routine hospital care [10, 11]. Thus, mandatory indication documentation should be implemented if this practice encourages medication review and subsequent deprescribing (i.e. the cessation of inappropriate medications). However, given that the prescribers entering medication orders into the EMM system are typically not the ones making the prescribing decisions, [5] further research is needed to determine how and in what contexts adding indications is beneficial, for example, in prompting medication review.

Workarounds are common when information technology does not align well with user workflow or when systems create additional work for users [12]. Data recorded into a system should be complete, but also accurate. In a previous study that assessed accuracy of indications documented for antimicrobials in an EMM system, doctors frequently entered inaccurate indications into the data-entry field in order to bypass the antimicrobial approval process and save time [13]. The data-entry field was mandatory, but in many cases, doctors entered nonsensical text (e.g. gduhb) to move past the perceived 'block' in prescribing [13]. As mentioned by a participant in our study, workarounds may also create additional risks, as inaccurate indications could be relied upon for subsequent decision making. Thus, minimizing, and if possible, streamlining any additional work for prescribers is recommended.

5. Conclusion

There are multiple benefits associated with having indication information available for all medication orders, however prescribers identified a number of practical difficulties and risks associated with mandatory indication documentation in EMM. Indicationbased prescribing (i.e. selecting an indication, then medication) is gaining momentum internationally [9, 2]. The practical difficulties outlined here add to the raft of challenges already identified with indication-based prescribing, an ambitious attempt to shift prescribing work practices and thinking in order to improve patient safety.

References

- Recommendations to enhance accuracy of prescription/medication order writing, National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention, NCCMERP (2014). https://www.nccmerp.org/recommendations-enhance-accuracy-prescription-writing (accessed June 5, 2019)
- [2] G.D. Schiff, E. Seoane-Vazquez, and A. Wright, Incorporating Indications into Medication Ordering--Time to Enter the Age of Reason, *New England Journal of Medicine* 375 (2016), 306-309.
- [3] Guidelines for use of the National Inpatient Medication Chart including the paediatric version, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, (2009). https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/wpcontent/uploads/2012/01/24380-GuidelinesForNIMC2009.pdf (accessed June 5, 2019).
- [4] J.A. Millar, R.C. Silla, G.E. Lee, and A. Berwick, The national inpatient medication chart: critical audit of design and performance at a tertiary hospital, *Medical Journal of Australia* 188 (2008), 95-99.
- [5] M.T. Baysari, J.I. Westbrook, K.L. Richardson, and R.O. Day, The influence of computerized decision support on prescribing during ward-rounds: are the decision-makers targeted? *JAMIA* 18 (2011), 754-759.
- [6] D.R. Thomas, A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data, *American Journal of Evaluation* 27 (2006), 237-246.

- [7] R.R. Mackie and C.D. Wylie, Factors influencing acceptance of computer-based innovations, in M. Helander (Ed.), *Handbook of Human-Computer Interaction*, Elsevier Science Publishers, North-Holland, 1988, 1081-1106.
- [8] M. Garada, A.J. McLachlan, G.D. Schiff, and E.C. Lehnbom, What do Australian consumers, pharmacists and prescribers think about documenting indications on prescriptions and dispensed medicines labels?: A qualitative study, *BMC Health Services Research* 17 (2017), 734.
- [9] K. Kron, S. Myers, L. Volk, A. Nathan, P. Neri, A. Salazar, et al., Incorporating medication indications into the prescribing process, *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy* 75 (2018), 774-783.
- [10] P. Gallagher, P.O. Lang, A. Cherubini, E. Topinkova, A. Cruz-Jentoft, B. Montero Errasquin, et al., Prevalence of potentially inappropriate prescribing in an acutely ill population of older patients admitted to six European hospitals, *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 67 (2011), 1175-1188.
- [11] E.R. Hajjar, J.T. Hanlon, R.J. Sloane, C.I. Lindblad, C.F. Pieper, C.M. Ruby, et al., Unnecessary drug use in frail older people at hospital discharge, *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 53 (2005), 1518-1523.
- [12] K.M. Cresswell, H. Mozaffar, L. Lee, R. Williams, and A. Sheikh, Workarounds to hospital electronic prescribing systems: a qualitative study in English hospitals, *BMJ Quality & Safety* (2016).
- [13] M.T. Baysari, J. Del Gigante, M. Moran, I. Sandaradura, L. Li, K.L. Richardson, et al., Redesign of computerized decision support to improve antimicrobial prescribing. A controlled before-and-after study, *Applied Clinical Informatics* 8 (2017), 949-963.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190146

Data Quality Assessment of Narrative Medication Error Reports

Bin YAO, Hong KANG and Yang GONG¹ School of Biomedical Informatics, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston

Abstract. Medication errors are preventable adverse events or unsafe conditions caused by inappropriate uses of medication. To collect data of patient safety events (PSE) and to analyze the root causes of PSE, reporting systems have been implemented in healthcare settings and patient safety organizations (PSO). However, the poor data quality of reports impedes the reporting and root cause analysis (RCA) of PSE. Incomplete or missing data is the most prevalent problem in event reports. To assess the data quality of PSE reports, we used an adapted taxonomy as the data evaluation model to evaluate the quality of narrative reports collected by a PSO. Sample reports were extracted based on eight error types and scored by experts. Most structured fields in the reports were ignored by reporters. In contrast, the narrative parts of the reports contain rich and valuable information. The evaluation results show that the adapted taxonomy is a promising tool for report quality assessment and improvement.

Keywords. Patient safety, Data quality, Medication error, Reporting system

1. Introduction

Patient safety events (PSE), such as adverse drug events, medication errors, patient falls, pressure injuries, health information technology (HIT) events, and surgical events, threaten the health of patients and lead to economic losses. Medication errors are preventable adverse events or unsafe conditions caused by inappropriate use of medication. To collect PSE data and to analyze root causes of PSE, reporting systems have been implemented in healthcare settings and patient safety organizations (PSO). However, the low data quality of reports impedes the reporting and root cause analysis (RCA) of PSE. Incompleteness or missing of data, is the most prevalent problem in PSE reports. Compared with data quality of PSE reports, dimensions and standards in data quality of electronic health record (EHR) are well discussed, which include completeness, correctness, concordance, plausibility, currency, etc. [1, 2]

Taxonomies and ontologies have been developed to standardize PSE reports, which hold promise to improving data quality and facilitating data sharing among healthcare facilities and PSOs. The National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention (NCC MERP) developed the Taxonomy of Medication Errors which defined standardized concepts, terms and relationships to improve medication error reporting, communicating and shared learning. In 2008, the World Health Organization (WHO) initiated a program for development and implementation of a generalizable

¹ Corresponding Author: Yang Gong, Email: yang.gong@uth.tmc.edu

framework, the Conceptual Framework for the International Classification for Patient Safety (ICPS), and furthermore released a Minimal Information Model for Patient Safety (MIM PS) based on the framework [3].

The purpose of this study is to understand the prevailing PSE taxonomies and ontologies to establish a strategy of data quality assessment for medication error reports. We examined the data quality, especially the completeness of the narrative part of medication error reports and discussed ontology-based solutions for the data quality issues.

2. Methods

2.1. Taxonomy for Narrative Medication Error Reports

We developed a taxonomy that was adapted from the MIM PS and other taxonomies in our previous work [4]. The taxonomy depicted the key elements involved in medication errors, including "Medication", "Indication", "Error Type", "Stage – Error Originating", "Personnel – Error Made By", "Stage – Error Caught", "Personnel – Error Caught", "Outcome", "Intervention", "Causes", and "Contributing Factors".

2.2. Dataset and Sampling

The dataset containing one-year, 3143 medication events was provided by our collaborator PSO. The reports were classified into 20 categories, based on a classification of error type adapted from the NCC MERP [5]. To reduce the human labor, we randomly extracted 63 reports (2%) from each category for further review and annotation.

2.3. Expert Review and Annotation

To assess the data completeness, three domain experts who are familiar with patient safety data and reporting process reviewed and annotated the medication error reports using the previously developed taxonomy [5]. The frequencies of presence (represented by "1") and absence (represented by "0") of the data elements were calculated and illustrated by error types. We summed the numbers to present the scores that reflect the data completeness. Discrepancies were fixed through group discussion.

3. Results

Two groups of taxonomies and classifications for patient safety are identified (Figure 1). In the International Classifications of Diseases (ICD), including ICD-9, ICD-10 and ICD-11, though not specifically developed for patient safety terms, the ICD terms focus on outcomes, for example, the adverse drug reactions (ADR). MedDRA, a taxonomy for adverse events of drugs and other medical productions, was developed based on ICD-9, ICD-9-CM, WHO-ART and FDA COSTART. Another group of the taxonomies focus on the attributes rather than the outcomes. For example, the NCC MERP Taxonomy of Medication Error is the first taxonomy exclusively designed for medication errors, which defines the terms and concepts in medication errors. Based on the JACHO patient safety



Figure 1. Evolution of taxonomies for patient safety. Solid lines: updates of the same taxonomy; Dotted lines: new taxonomies developed based on existing taxonomies.

event taxonomy, Medeon was developed for both human-understandable use and computer-compatible applications to present patient safety data including medication errors.

The data elements in the taxonomies were extracted and compared in Table 1. The elements shared by most taxonomies are drug information, type of event/error, outcome, cause and intervention. Causes and interventions are categorized in patient level and system level, according to the Instrument to characterize unintentional medication discrepancy (ICUMD) [6].



Figure 2. Absence and presence of data element in medication error reports (63 sample reports in the year 2016).

We reviewed and annotated the absence and presence of data elements on 63 (2%) sample reports. As shown in Figure 2, 56 reports contain the information of error types, while only 5 contain the information of indication and 6 contain the information of contributing factors. Meanwhile, information such as error originating stages and personnel is usually implicit, which makes it difficult to perform RCA.

Table 1. Categories and count of items of taxonomies for medication errors.

Notes: APS-Doc: A classification system for drug-related problems in the hospital setting; ICUMD: Instrument to characterize unintentional medication discrepancy; MDT: Medication Discrepancy Tool; NCC MERP: The National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention; PCNE: Pharmaceutical Care Network Europe; PI-Doc: Coding system for drug-related problems-interventions document.

Taxonomy, Author and Year	Categories/Domains and Count of Subcategories/Items (number of items in the brackets)				
APS-Doc, Hohmann C, et al., 2012	Drug (13), Dosage form/drug strength (4), Dosage (7), Indication (3), Contraindication (1), Drug-drug interaction (3), Adverse drug reaction (2), Administration/Compliance (6), Application (7), Other (2)				
ICUMD, Claeys C, et al., 2012	Type (11), Cause – Patient level (7)/System level (11), Interventions – Healthcare professional level (4)/Patient level (4)/Medication level (10)/Other				
MDT, Smith JD, Coleman EA, & Min SJ, 2004	Medication discrepancy event description (Unstructured), Causes and contributing factors (19), Resolution (7)				
NCC MERP Taxonomy of Medication Errors	The event (5), Patient outcome (4), Product information (5), Type (14), Causes (5), Contributing factors (14)				
The PCNE Classification V7.0, PCNE, 2016	Problems (3), Causes (8), Planed interventions (5), Interventions acceptance (2), Status of the DRP (Outcome) (4)				
PI-Doc, Schaefer M, 2000	Drug-related problems, Drug related interventions				

4. Discussion

Despite the over-average presence rate of "Causes", the information is limited to direct triggers of errors such as choosing wrong medication name or dose in the system when prescribing or drawing incorrect dose of fluids, which are merely root causes. Compared to other data elements, the presence rate of contributing factors in the narrative reports seems quite low, because contributing factors are often not clear to the reporters upon the time of reporting. In many cases of medication errors, contributing factors are not immediately discovered and reported, which leads to the absence of invaluable information in the reports. Another challenge in medication error reporting is the balance between reporting efficiency and data completeness. Despite the information such as medications, indications and patient information that already exists in the EHR, reporters still have to manually fill the information in the reporting systems are stand-alone and do not have access to collect data from EHR.

Medication event reporting is a promising and important way of reducing the medication error occurrence and developing the error prevention strategies, especially for the high-alert medications. The Joint Commission in the USA has been collecting and analyzing error reports from accredited hospitals, and issuing alerts and recommendations based on the results of integrated data analysis. Reporting medication events remains a challenging task in clinical settings. medication events have one of the highest rates among all patient safety events. However, reporting medication errors can be time-consuming and labor-intensive. Medication errors may happen at any stage of the medication distribution process in hospitals, starting when a clinician prescribes a medication and ending when the patient takes the medication. Among all the medication error reports, those describing medication errors and near misses, are of high learning value for healthcare facilities to identify error causes and create processes to reduce the risk of errors.

Moreover, multiple personnel are likely to be involved in medication events, such as physicians, pharmacists, nurses, which could make event reporting complicated. The various types of medication event also increase the difficulty of reporting. Since a patient need to receive the right drug, in the right dose, at the right time and in a right way, any compromise during the procedure will lead to different types of errors. The cause of errors varies as well, for example, if a patient receives a wrong dose of drug, it may be due to a wrong prescription by physician, or a wrong administration by nurse. Thus, during medication error reporting, the events may need more elaborated narratives to restore the key information in the events.

To systematically study medication errors, guide the medication error reporting and promote the safe use of medications, it is important to build a taxonomy of medication error reporting. The effectiveness of medication error reporting and analysis of the error reports are highly dependent on quantity and quality of the data collected by medication error reports. NCC MERP Taxonomy of Medication Errors aims to record, track, categorize and analyze the medication errors is regarded as the most adequate medication error taxonomy. To reflect the complexity of medication error and the information need for its reporting, NCC MERP taxonomy has great potential in improving the efficiency and efficacy of medication error reporting if it is integrated in the error reporting system. The annotations on the taxonomy could help establish a knowledge base of medication errors. The knowledge base could make connection among various reports, unveil the healthcare professionals' blindfolds by providing them an integrated view of the events and showing similar cases and potential solutions to the cases under investigation. Taxonomies such as NCC MERP taxonomy contain terms in high granularity that are useful for collecting rich information. However, clinicians, due to competing priorities, may be reluctant to complete a report with too many details, especially in narrative reports. It remains challenging for researchers to balance the efficiency and quality of reporting when considering the trade-off between richness of information and limited time and labor. Using our minimal information model for data quality assessment of the reports is a promising study for meeting the challenge and finding a solution.

5. Limitations

The sample size was limited. We explored the data quality of medication error reports, which may not necessarily reflect the facts of other PSE subtypes such as patient falls, surgical events, etc.

6. Conclusion

Despite the low data quality, narrative reports contain rich and valuable information. The taxonomy proposed in this study is a promising tool for report quality assessment and improvement, which facilitates the reporting and RCA of PSE.

Acknowledgements

The study is supported by grants from AHRQ (1R01HS022895), UTHealth Innovation for Cancer Prevention Research Training Program Post-Doctoral Fellowship (RP160015), and the University of Texas System Grants Program (156374). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

References

- [1] N.G. Weiskopf and C. Weng, Methods and dimensions of electronic health record data quality assessment: enabling reuse for clinical research, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* **20** (2013), 144-151.
- [2] N.G. Weiskopf, S. Bakken, G. Hripcsak, and C. Weng, A Data Quality Assessment Guideline for Electronic Health Record Data Reuse, *EGEMS (Wash DC)* 5 (2017), 14.
- [3] World Alliance For Patient Safety Drafting group, H. Sherman, G. Castro, M. Fletcher, S. on the behalf of the World Alliance for Patient, M. Hatlie, P. Hibbert, R. Jakob, R. Koss, P. Lewalle, J. Loeb, et al., Towards an International Classification for Patient Safety: the conceptual framework, *Int J Qual Health Care* 21 (2009), 2-8.
- [4] B. Yao, H. Kang, J. Wang, S. Zhou, and Y. Gong, Toward reporting support and quality assessment for learning from reporting: a necessary data element model for narrative medication error reports, AMIA Annu Symp Proc (2018), 1581-1590.
- [5] S. Zhou, H. Kang, B. Yao, and Y. Gong, An automated pipeline for analyzing medication event reports in clinical settings, *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 18 (2018), 113.
- [6] C. Claeys, J. Neve, P.M. Tulkens, and A. Spinewine, Content validity and inter-rater reliability of an instrument to characterize unintentional medication discrepancies, *Drugs Aging* 29 (2012), 577-591.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190147

Medication Errors and Safety Culture in a Norwegian Hospital

Marit WAASETH ^{a, 1}, Adelina ADEMI ^a, Mette FREDHEIM ^b, Margaret A. ANTONSEN ^c, Nina M.B. BROX ^c and Elin C. LEHNBOM ^a ^aDepartment of Pharmacy, UiT the Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway ^bQuality Department, University Hospital of North Norway, Tromsø Norway ^cHospital Pharmacy of North Norway Trust, Tromsø Norway

Abstract. Medication errors are associated with adverse health outcomes and may prolong hospital stays and increase societal costs. Safety initiatives to reduce adverse health outcomes should be based on reliable information of current shortcomings. The aim of this study was to identify barriers to medication error reporting in a hospital and to describe heath personnel's views of the safety culture. Seven interviews with health personnel (two doctors, four nurses and one pharmacist) were conducted November 2016 - January 2017 at the University Hospital of North Norway. Nurses, more frequently than doctors, reported medication errors and discussed reported errors at staff meetings. Doctors preferred to solve the problem directly, for example writing a new medication order, rather than writing a report when a medication error had been identified. There was variation between the wards regarding the perception of support, confidence in and focus on error reporting, which indicates different safety cultures within the hospital. Identified barriers to medication error reporting included lack of time, and the impression that the reporting system is complicated and not user-friendly. Staff also reported inadequate training using the system, which could contribute to the perception that the system is inaccessible. Hospital management should take actions to improve the safety culture throughtout the hospital based on the barriers identified in this study. This could include stronger focus on the importance of reporting medication errors, a transparent review process and clearly communicated actions.

Keywords. Medication error reporting, hospital, error reporting system, electronic error reporting, safety culture

1. Introduction

Medication errors are associated with prolonged hospitalizations at higher health costs and represent increased burdens for patients and public healthcare services [1, 2]. The cost of unwanted medication incidents in the US has been estimated to \$3.5 billion annually [3]. Norwegian health institutions are obliged to report unwanted incidents where such incident has resulted, or might have resulted, in considerable personal injury [4]. During 2017, 10 126 incidents were reported in Norway. Among these were 1 676 incidents concerning medication management, of which 14 resulted in death [2]. Health institutions are also obliged by law to continuously work on quality improvement and patient safety [4]. This includes establishing and maintaining systems for reporting errors

¹ Corresponding Author: Marit Waaseth, Email: marit.waaseth@uit.no

and incidents, and to incorporate a safety culture characterized by openness, which is a prerequisite to uncover and prevent errors [5]. Systematic evaluation of error reports is needed to further develop health services and increase patient safety. Error reports can be used to identify areas where there is potential to improve, and can indicate what actions should be taken to avoid repeated incidents and errors [6]. The University Hospital of North Norway (UNN) uses a web-based system for management and quality assurance procedures and appurtenant documentation.

The aim of our study was to identify barriers to medication error reporting and to describe health personnel's views of the hospital's safety culture.

2. Method

2.1. Recruitment and Setting

Semi-structured interviews were performed from November 2016 to January 2017 at UNN. The strategic selection of informants was based on purposeful sampling and included two doctors and four nurses from one psychiatric and five somatic wards, and one pharmacist from the hospital pharmacy. The number of informants from each occupational group was determined in advance to cover multiple occupational groups with distinct authorities and duties. There was no relation between the interviewer and informants. There were no inclusion or exclusion criteria for the selection of informants based on gender, work experience or employment status, since health personnel in general should know and have experience with medication error reporting.

2.2. Interviews

Two relatively similar structured interview guides were made, one for the pharmacist and one for the other health professions. The questions for the pharmacist was directed towards experiences from hospital departments and not the pharmacy. Examples of prompts from the interview guide: "*Please tell me how medication errors are reported*", "*What would you say are some of the positive/negative aspects of error reporting?*", "*What happened the last time you identified a medication error?*", "*What happens after a medication error has been reported?*" What stops you from reporting errors?".

The participants were interviewed once by AA. Interview transcripts were not returned to participants for further comments or corrections. The interviews, which lasted on average 30 minutes, were recorded and transcribed. Field notes were taken during the interviews.

2.3. Data Process and Analysis

The audio recordings were transcribed and edited using a slightly modified verbatim mode. The data material was de-identified during transcription. All data obtained from the interviews were analyzed by AA and later discussed with MW and ECL to compare personal interpretations. We performed systematic text condensation (STC) inspired by Giorgi's phenomenological analysis, modified by Malterud [7, 8].

2.4. Ethical Considerations

This study was conducted according to the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the data protection officer at the University Hospital of North Norway. Written informed consent was obtained from all informants.

3. Results

A total of five themes, Table 1, were derived from the text condensation.

Table	1.	Simplified	version	of the	analysis	matrix	describing	the	themes	and	selected	informant	quotes	on
which	the	themes are	based.											

Themes	Quotes
Defining a medication	"I think it may be unclear what is conceived as an error"
error	"[]we are supposed to report errors even if it didn't reach the patient and caused no patient harm"
	"It happens several times that the wrong dose is prepared but is discovered during double check. This is never reported as an error."
Leadership/management	"[]] we prioritize the clinical work"
Leadership/management	"There need to be a decree from the management that this is something we are supposed to do, or prioritize to do"
	"[] show that reporting errors makes a difference. There also need to be
	emphasized that reporting errors are ok, and that we actually need to take the time to do it because it is part of the doily improvement work "
	"The report is sent to the department manager and then you might not hear
	anymore, you just hope that someone takes care of it. [] in my experience.
	the only way to have something done about an error, is to do it yourself."
Safety culture/under-	"Yes, errors are reported, but I think far too few are reported, and I do not
reporting	think there is a good environment for error reporting"
	"I think employees in the departments know that they should report errors,
	but I think there is under-reporting of errors"
	"I feel it [the culture] is good among the nurses, but not so good among the doctors"
	"We have a good culture for talking about the reported errors []"
	"It is the nurses who report errors, at least in our department"
	"I have never received an error report from a doctor"
Barriers* to error	"Lack of time, and that you don't understand Docmap"
reporting	"[] I think there is a lot of potential for improvement when it comes to
	training and focus on errors, at least among the doctors"
	"[reporting] errors sounds like you are starting to report and denounce, it
	sounds like something which implies punishment, more than focus on quality improvement"
Electronic error report	"I actually started to report an error, but it was so cumbersome and I
system	understood so little of the report form that I discontinued"
-	"I do not think it is intuitive and it is too difficult to use"
	"I think Docmap has a poor reputation when it comes to finding procedures"

* Specifically mentioned as barriers by the informants

3.1. Barriers to Medication Error Reporting

The informants described several factors that represent plausible barriers to medication error reporting. They can be summed up in four main points: 1) the electronic reporting system (access, training and interface), 2) time, 3) culture, particularly among doctors (whistle-blowing, no doctors' discussions), and 4) management (communication, support, transparent review process after reporting).

- (1) The electronic reporting system was mentioned by all informants as a barrier to reporting errors. Several nurses and students do not have access to the electronic report system because their employment is not linked to a specific ward. Accessing the form and other specific files/procedures regarding medication errors was described as cumbersome, with little "expert knowledge" even among word management. Nurses expressed a need for more systematic training in using the electronic report system. Although training sessions for interns are held a few times each year, the system is used so infrequently that staff forget how to use it. informants report error rarely, and when the training is rare too, they forget how to use the system. The system was described as non-intuitive and difficult to use. Several believed that a more user-friendly reporting system could make it easier to report errors, be less time-consuming, and thus increase reporting.
- (2) The informants talked about hectic times during the shifts where there is no time for reporting errors. Some had been told by their management to report the error in quiet periods during the day and, if necessary, report the error during their next shift. The error was therefore often forgotten and not reported.
- (3) The opinions varied regarding how informants experienced the safety culture on different wards. However, there was a clear agreement that the safety culture among nurses is better than among doctors. Doctors do not see the learning potential in reporting errors. The few errors reported by doctors are rarely discussed and the potential to learn from, and prevent future errors, is therefore lost. For example, should the wrong drug be given to a patient, the doctors will solve this situation by prescribing treatment to reduce potential discomfort/side effects, and not report this as an error. Doctors feel in control of such situations, and they do not view this as something they should share and learn from. Doctors, and a few nurses, stated that reporting errors sounded like whistle-blowing and something that could result in punishment. They were anxious about reporting and thereby upsetting colleagues.
- (4) The informants expressed uncertainty about what should be reported as an error in medication management. Medication errors that, for some reason, do not reach or affect patients are generally not reported. Neither are medication errors that are resolved within a short period of time. The doctors, and some of the nurses, thought there was a lack of commitment to error reporting at the management level. Some of the informants experienced a lack of incentive to report errors and lack of support from management when incidents occurred. Some of those who had reported an error, claimed they rarely received feedback, thus did not bother to file new reports. Others voiced concern about the quality and the tone of feedback when provided by management.

4. Discussion

"To err is human" [9] and the aim of medication error reporting is to learn from our mistakes, thereby continuously improving treatment and ultimately treatment outcome. To establish a good reporting culture it is necessary to develop and achieve a good patient

safety culture [10]. Previous research have shown that reporting medication errors improves the safety of future patients [11]. There is positive correlation between high error report rates and positive patient safety culture [12]. Still, not all errors and incidents are reported [13]. The reporting culture should be characterized by openness and reassurance. It should aim for safety, learning and improvement [4, 5], and it needs to be underpinned by management policies, and work environment [5]. The organization need to build collective trust, system perspective and aim to learn from mistakes rather than blame those who make mistakes [10].

Our study suggests poor reporting culture and under-reporting of medication errors throughout the hospital, with variation between wards. From the interviews, we identified several barriers that can be grouped into four main challenges; the un-intuitive reporting system, lack of time, poor safety culture and unsupportive management. Of these, the reporting system might be the easiest challenge to address. To find time to report medication errors might be difficult within staff budgets and changing the safety culture will need constant work over time. Management and leadership is important in itself, but also heavily underpins the other three areas [5]. A study at UNN in 2010 about error reporting in general found that the most important barrier to error reporting was lack of time, followed by the poorly designed electronic reporting system [14]. Measures were taken to improve the situation, but apparently not sufficiently to avoid the same findings in our study.

To correct the situation, a number of measures need to be addressed. *Firstly*, staff need to know what incidents and errors are, and what should be reported. Clear guidelines effectively communicated by management could resolve this. *Secondly*, reporting errors should be considered worthwhile or staff will not prioritize this task. Discussions about what has been reported, and what measures have been taken to prevent similar errors in the future, should be discussed with, and communicated to, all staff. This seems to be in place for nurses, but not for doctors. Doctors carry the main responsibility for the treatment, and are supposed to be "in control". A doctor making a mistake probably feel a heavier burden than a nurse, increasing the threshold for reporting the error and for discussing it with colleagues [15]. An appropriate action to improve the safety culture among doctors, therefore, might be to facilitate regular meeting points for such discussions, as suggested by one of our doctor informants. *Thirdly*, the system used for reporting errors should be simple, accessible and intuitive. This could be achieved by intensified training in using the system, or substituting the software.

5. Methodological Limitations

The seven informants were all women. Health professions, particularly nurses, are predominately female, and the topics discussed are fairly gender neutral. Still, the results must be interpreted in light of the lack of male voices.

Due to the time frame for data collection (Master's thesis), the number of informants were set in advance while the recommended procedure is to continuing until data saturation [16]. As the last interview provided little new information, it seems that seven informants were sufficient.

6. Conclusion

Hospital management should take actions to improve the safety culture based on the barriers identified in this study. This could include a stronger focus on the importance of reporting medication errors, a transparent review process and clearly communicated actions. Of specific actions we would recommend improved communication, to establish a discussion forum for doctors and to manage the practical challenges represented by the electronic reporting system.

References

- P.F. Hjort, [Incidents in health services--prevention and management], *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 120 (2000), 3184-3189.
- [2] [The report system for incidents in specialist health care, annual report 2017], The Norwegian Directorate of Health, 2018.
- [3] Institute of medicine, *Preventing Medication Errors*, P. Aspden, J. Wolcott, J.L. Bootman, and L. R. Cronenwett (Eds), Institute of Medicine, The National Academies Press, Washington, DC., 2007.
- [4] [Guidelines for regulation on management and quality improvement in health and care services], The Norwegian Directorate of Health, (n.d.) https://helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/ledelse-ogkvalitetsforbedring (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [5] J. Kalra, N. Kalra, and N. Baniak, Medical error, disclosure and patient safety: A global view of quality care. *Clinical Biochemistry* 46 (2013), 1161-1169.
- [6] [Regulation on management and quality improvement in the health and care service]. The Norwegian Directorate of Health, 2016.
- [7] K. Malterud, Shared understanding of the qualitative research process. Guidelines for the medical researcher, *Fam Pract* **10** (1993), 201-206.
- [8] K. Malterud, Systematic text condensation: A strategy for qualitative analysis, *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health* 40 (2012), 795-805.
- [9] L.T Kohn, J.M. Corrigan, and M.S. Donaldson, *To Err Is Human*, National Academies Press, Washington, DC., 2000.
- [10] J. Reason, Achieving a safe culture: Theory and practice, Work & Stress 12 (1998), 293-306.
- [11] L.C. Kaldjian, E.W. Jones, B.J. Wu, V.L. Forman-Hoffman, B.H. Levi, G.E. Rosenthal, Reporting medical errors to improve patient safety: A survey of physicians in teaching hospitals, *Archives of Internal Medicine* 168 (2008), 40-46.
- [12] A. Hutchinson, T.A. Young, K.L. Coope, A. McIntoch, J.D. Karnon, S. Scobie, et al., Trends in healthcare incident reporting and relationship to safety and quality data in acute hospitals: results from the National Reporting and Learning System, *Quality and Safety in Health Care* 18 (2009), 5-10.
- [13] C. Haw, J. Stubbs, G.L. Dickens, Barriers to the reporting of medication administration errors and near misses: an interview study of nurses at a psychiatric hospital, *J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs* 21 (2014), 797-805.
- [14] M. Fredheim, [Patient safety culture and reporting culture. How do pasient safety vary within a clinic? Is there an association between patient safety culture and reporting culture?]. (2011). Master's thesis. The University of Bergen.
- [15] M.J. Kingston, S.L. Evans, B.J. Smith, and J.G. Berry, Attitudes of doctors and nurses towards incident reporting: a qualitative analysis, *Medical Journal of Australia* 181 (2004), 36-39.
- [16] A.B. Almarsdóttir, and P.B. Rahmner, Qualitative research methods in drug utilization research, in: M. Elseviers, B. Wettermark, A. B. Almarsdóttir, M. Andersen, R. Benko, M. Bennie et al., (Eds), Drug Utilization Research Methods and Applications, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, UK, 2016, 139-149.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190148

Classification Scheme for Incident Reports of Medication Errors

Yuko SHIIMA and Zoie Shui-Yee WONG¹ Graduate School of Public Health, St. Luke's International University

Abstract. This study aimed to develop a classification scheme for retrieving information from incident reports of medication errors. This 15-category classification scheme captures minimal medication-incident related information from incident reports and thus serves as an information model for automatic information retrieval solution. The automatic solution uses recent advances in artificial intelligence methods to learn from incident report resources and is promising to the prevention of adverse drug events and promotion of safety in medical care.

Keywords. Incident report, patient safety, annotation guideline, International Classification for Patient Safety (ICPS)

1. Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO), Institute of Healthcare Improvement (IHI), European Medicines Agency and National Institute of Health (NIH) have all developed reference guidelines for hospital incident reporting systems intended to promote an understanding of the causes and contributing factors of near misses and adverse events. Given the need for incident learning, many national and hospital-level incident reporting systems, such as the England and Wales National Reporting and Learning System in the UK, the Advanced Incident Management System (AIMS) in Australia [1], the Advanced Incident Reporting System (AIRS) in Hong Kong [2] and the Project to Collect Medical Near-Miss/Adverse Event Information in Japan [3], have long been used to collect incident reports.

Medication errors are among the most frequently occurring medical incidents and can potentially cause life-threatening harm to patients [4]. In this article, we report a newly developed medication error classification scheme. We aimed to evaluate the explicit properties of medication errors associated with incident reporting and to organise complex concepts into meaningful entities. The resulting classification scheme comprises both the essential concepts of medication errors and the corresponding methods of annotation used to extract practical information from incident reports. Our study provides a framework for information retrieval from medication incident reports that is suitable for the automatic extraction of essential medication errors based on recent advances in natural language processing (NLP) and artificial intelligence (AI) methods [5]. We envision that this type of incident reporting classification scheme could revolutionise the collection, usage, and retrieval of information from incident reports.

¹ Corresponding Author. Zoie Shui-Yee Wong, Email: zoiesywong@gmail.com



Figure 1. Proposed 15-category classification scheme.

2. Materials and Methods

This proposed classification scheme was developed to extract the minimal necessary information from incident reports of medication errors. We conducted a narrative review using the state-of-science incident reporting guidelines and existing literature on medication errors and classifications schemes and annotation. Literature from the WHO International Classification of Patient Safety [6], WHO Minimal Information Model for Patient Safety (MIMPS) [7], National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention (NCC MERP) [8], Agency for Health Research and Quality (AHRQ) Common Formats Version 2.0 [9] and European Medicines Agency Good Practice Guide [10], as well as other relevant studies [8, 9, 11-14], were carefully reviewed, referenced, and synthesised. We also referred to guidelines for the development of a classification scheme suitable for information extraction in general [15, 16] and clinical contexts [17, 18].

The occurrence and prevention of medication errors can be understood by considering their classification as contextual, modal, or psychological [11, 19]. In this research, we focused on a contextual approach to register the specifics of medication-related incidents. A contextual classification explains the event and why it occurred. The organisation and definitions of this classification scheme are presented in the Results section. Sample incident reports are used to illustrate the in-text annotation method for concepts that are likely to be found in the narrative text of an incident report.

3. Results

The classification scheme for medication errors is shown in Figure 1, and the synthesised categories are presented below. We proposed a scheme with 15 different categories based on the contexts of medication incidents.

(1) Incident identification. The MIMPS [7] defines patient information as data related to a patient who has been subject to a safety incident [7]. We therefore created an incident identification category that included both patient and incident information, including age, sex, time, location, people involved and reason for taking the drug. Age is defined as the length of the patient's life at the time of the incident [7]. Sex is defined according to the patient's biological and physiological characteristics [7]. Time includes the date and time of day when the incident occurred. The time attribute also indicates seasonal/monthly changes, weekday and work shift, which may be essential hidden contributing factors [6, 7, 19]. Location refers to the physical environment in which a patient safety incident occurs. Environment includes inpatient (e.g., hospital, nursing home and care home) and outpatient settings (e.g., pharmacy, drug store and private home) [6, 7, 19]. People involved refers to those involved directly or indirectly in the patient safety incident [6]. Reason for taking the drug is defined as the medical cause for the prescription of the involved drug. This cause may be related to a disease, trauma, condition, procedure or any other issue. For example, a paediatric patient may require sedation for an examination. Here, we provide a sample incident report that addresses this section and its annotation method. (Incident report example: ...the patient had hypoglycaemia due to viral enteritis. Doctor ordered 50% glucose without mentioning infusion or mixing in a bottle...).

- (2) Severity level and patient outcome. Most mainstream literature on incident reporting identified a severity level component, such as the ICPS, NCC MERP and AHRQ [6, 7, 10]. In this category, we adapted the classification level developed by the National University Hospital Medical Safety Management Council in Japan [20] and mapped this with other state-of-the-art definitions.
- (3) Phase-error originating. This category describes the phase of medication delivery wherein the error originated [9], including prescription, dispensation, preparation for administration and administration. A medication error may trigger a series of events, and multiple phases throughout the drug treatment process may be affected by an error.
- (4) Phase-error caught by. This category describes the phase wherein the error was discovered or caught [9]. Errors may be detected during prescription, dispensation, preparation for administration and administration. As with phaseerror originating, it is important to capture this category because an incident must be discovered before it can be stopped from reaching the patient. This information would provide an indication of any error-detection mechanisms in the medication process.
- (5) Adverse drug effect and symptom. This category refers to any actual symptoms and reactions experienced by the patient. It is important to identify any irregularities in a patient's condition and to consider whether these might be related to an inappropriate medication [21]. (Incident report example: ...acyclovir was extravasated on the patient's left forearm. The patient experienced pain and a hot sensation. The line used was old and caused difficulties during infusion...).
- (6) Wrong patient. This category includes both an unordered-drug error affecting the patient who received the dose and an omission error affecting the patient for whom the dose was intended. The incident report should indicate both the event and progression of the affected patient [22]. (Incident report example: protonpump inhibitor (PPI) was mistakenly administrated to patient A instead of patient B...)
- (7) Drug. This refers to either the agent intended for delivery to the patient [6, 10] or the actual drug delivered to the patient. Blood products, illicit drugs and

alcohol should not be included. (Incident report example: ...doctor prescribed diltiazem instead of diazepam...).

- (8) Form. Form includes the prescription of a different form of the drug or different mode of action. (Incident report examples: ...doctor ordered a stop of oral furosemide but the nurse mistakenly stopped intravenous furosemide...) (...sodium valproate was prescribed, but sodium valproate ER [extended release] was dispensed by the pharmacist...).
- (9) Strength. Strength includes the amount, concentration or rate of medication. (Incident report examples: ...pharmacist dispensed a 5-mg prednisone tablet instead of a 1-mg prednisone tablet...) (...doctor ordered vancomycin 500 mg diluted in 100 ml normal saline but the nurse used vancomycin 500 mg diluted in 10 ml normal saline) (...doctor ordered a change in the rate of fentanyl to 0.5 ml/hr but the nurse missed the order...).
- (10) Timing. Timing-related errors include too-early or too-late administration relative to the designated time. (Incident report example: ...nurse forgot to give oxycodone to patient at <u>8am</u>. After discovery, the nurse administrated oxycodone at 11am...).
- (11) Duration. Duration is defined as period during which a drug is administered to the patient [23]. A duration-related error may refer to a longer or shorter period than intended. (Incident report example: ...doctor ordered the administration of 100 units/kg intravenous heparin sodium injection for the treatment of deep vein thrombosis for 7 days...).
- (12) Frequency. Frequency is defined as how many times a drug is given per unit of time [23]. Frequency-related error may refer to a larger or smaller number than the planned number. (Incident report example: ...doctor ordered heparin calcium 3 times/day for the prevention of deep thrombosis after myoma operation. Nurse administered it 1 time/day....).
- (13) Dosage. Dosage is defined as the number of units (e.g., tables, bottles and ampules) given to the patient as a single dose [23]. Patients may use excessive or insufficient amounts of drugs. (Incident report example: ...doctor ordered 3*100 mg aspirin tablets 1 time/day, but the nurse gave 1*100 mg aspirin tablet...).
- (14) Route. Route is defined as the route of drug administration to the patient, which may include the infusion sites, routes and pumps. (Incident report example: ...acyclovir was extravasated on the patient's left forearm...).
- (15) Process. Process includes violations of the standard operating procedures (e.g., expiration, storage method and technique), violations of indication (e.g., off-label use), drug-drug interactions and monitoring errors. The latter refers to drug-food/nutrient interactions, documented allergies, drug-disease interactions and clinical factors [8]. Information technology-related errors are also included in this category [13, 24]. (Incident report ex.: ...nurse did not check the expiration date, and an expired medication was given to the patient...).

4. Discussion

Figure 2 demonstrates the annotation of incident reports using multiple concepts from the classification scheme. The combined use of multiple concepts could provide

Exampl	e 1:							
2*	5 mg	prednisone tabl	et,	2 times per day,	for 3 days	s.		
Dosage	Strength	Drug For	m	Frequency	Duration			
Exampl	e2:							
100 mg a	cetaminophe	n suppository, eve	ery 6–8	hours as needed	for pain	for 5	days.	
Strength	Drug	Form F	requen	су	Reason to take	drug	Duration	
Exampl	e 3:							
Dobutan	nine was i	ncorrectly labelle	il as	noradrenaline. He	ence, dobutamin	e was	administered	
Drug		Process		Drug	cause L	orug		
instead of noradrenaline. Subsequently, the patient suffered from hypotension and required extra medication.								
	Drug			Adverse a	drug effect and s	vmptom		

Figure 2. Example of annotations.

important insights regarding the nature and progression of incidents. For example, the drug category can be used to identify look-alike and sound-alike drug errors. The combination of age, drug and strength would allow us to identify hidden age-specific problems related to drug-taking errors. Furthermore, this schematic can also flexibly capture the relationships between concepts (Figure 2, example 3, arrow). This flexible framework thus provides possibilities for the exploration of new mechanisms involving medication errors and adverse drug events. We further plan to develop and verify this classification scheme using other entity attributes (e.g., introducing the dimensions of hospital medication incident reports. The definitions of some categories, such as process, may require further investigation to enable the accurate extraction of information. We plan to validate this scheme internally and externally together with experts in patient safety and annotation guideline development. An externally validated classification scheme will allow patient safety researchers to compare incident reports among different institutions and countries.

We note that the interpretation of an incident may be subject to the reporters' explanation and the annotators' knowledge, as demonstrated by a case regarding the extravasation of vancomycin. This drug has a strong ability to cause tissue damage and is thus prone to inducing extravasation. One may record or interpret such an event as a strength-related error because of the high concentration of diluted vancomycin. However, this incident could also be classified as a process-related error because the clinical manual for vancomycin usage recommends dilution of this drug before usage. Any healthcare workers required to handle vancomycin should know this standard procedure. However, other workers may not be familiar with this procedure.

5. Conclusion

We developed a classification scheme for the extraction of information from medical incident reports. This scheme allows us to understand the systematic causes of medication errors, to compare information between institutions and countries, and possibly to detect hidden incidents by combining entities. Next, we plan to validate this scheme using hospital incident reports, perform internal/external validation and develop an effective information retrieval solution for incident reports based on AI-assisted clinical decision support.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science KAKENHI (grant number: 18H03336).

References

- [1] About Us, The Australian Patient Safety Foundation Inc. (APSF) in the beginning, (n.d.), (2017). https://apsf.net.au/about_us/ (accessed Jun 6, 2019).
- [2] Hospital Authority Quality and Risk Management Annual Report 2013 -2014, Hospital Authority, Hong Kong, (2014). http://www.ha.org.hk/haho/ho/psrm/QRMReport1011.pdf (accessed Jun 6, 2019).
- [3] Common Formats for Event Reporting-Hospital 2.0a Medication or Other Substance, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, (2018). https://www.psoppc.org/psoppc_web/DLMS/downloadDocu ment?groupId=1389&pageName=common%20formats%20Hospital%20V2.0a (accessed Jun 6, 2019).
- [4] M. Grissinger, The five rights: A destination without a map, *Pharm Ther* 35 (2010), 542-542.
- [5] Z. Liu, M. Yang, X. Wang, Q. Chen, B. Tang, Z. Wang, et al., Entity recognition from clinical texts via recurrent neural network, *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 17 (2017), 67.
- [6] World Health Organization, The Conceptual Framework for the International Classification for Patient Safety (ICPS), World Health Organization, Geneva, 2009.
- [7] World Health Organization, *Minimal information model for patient safety incident reporting and learning systems: user guide*, World Health Organization, Geneva, 2016.
- [8] National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention (NCC MERP) Taxonomy of Medication Errors, (1998). https://www.nccmerp.org/sites/default/files/taxonomy2001-07-31.pdf (accessed Jun 6, 2019).
- [9] B. Yao, H. Kang, J. Wang, S. Zhou, and Y. Gong, Toward reporting support and quality assessment for learning from reporting: A necessary data elements model for narrative medication error reports, AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2018 (2018), 1581-1590.
- [10] Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment Committee, Good practice guide on recording, coding, reporting and assessment of medication errors, European Medicines Agency, UK, 2015.
- [11] J.K. Aronson, Medication errors: Definitions and classification, Br J Clin Pharmacol 67 (2009), 599-604.
- [12] S. Zhou, H. Kang, B. Yao, and Y. Gong, An automated pipeline for analyzing medication event reports in clinical settings, *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making* 18 (2018), 113.
- [13] J. Wang, H. Liang, H. Kang, and Y. Gong, Understanding health information technology induced medication safety events by two conceptual frameworks, *Appl Clin Inform* 10 (2019), 158-167.
- [14] J.I. Westbrook, M. Reckmann, L. Li, W.B. Runciman, R. Burke, C. Lo, et al., Effects of two commercial electronic prescribing systems on prescribing error rates in hospital in-patients: a before and after study, *PLoS Med* 9 (2012), e1001164.
- [15] B. Denise, Evaluating classification schema and classification decisions, Bull Am Soc Inf Sci 39 (2013), 13-21.
- [16] D. Nadeau and S. Sekine, A survey of named entity recognition and classification, *Lingvisticae Investigationes* 30 (2007), 3-26.
- [17] Ö. Uzuner, B.R. South, S. Shen, and S.L. DuVall, 2010 i2b2/VA challenge on concepts, assertions, and relations in clinical text, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 18 (2011), 552-556.
- [18] A. Carson-Stevens, P. Hibbert, H. Williams, H.P. Evans, A. Cooper, P. Rees, et al., Characterising the nature of primary care patient safety incident reports in the England and Wales National Reporting and Learning System: a mixed-methods agenda-setting study for general practice, *Health services and delivery research* 4 (2016).
- [19] World Health Organization, Preliminary version of minimal information model for patient safety, World Health Organization, Geneva, 2014.
- [20] Anonymous, Guidelines for the Publication of Medical Accidents at National University Hospitals (revised edition), National University Hospital Japan, 2012.
- [21] T. Morimoto, T.K. Gandhi, A.C. Seger, T.C. Hsieh, and D.W. Bates, Adverse drug events and medication errors: detection and classification methods, *Qual Saf Health Care* 13 (2004), 306-314.
- [22] A. Yang and M. Grissinger, Wrong-patient aedication errors: An analysis of event reports in Pennsylvania and strategies for prevention, *Pennsylvania Patient Safety Advisory* 10 (2013), 41-50.
- [23] K. Buchan, Annotation guidelines for the adverse drug event (ADE) and medication extraction challenge, in: M. Di Bari and A. Stubbs (Eds), n2c2, US, 2018.
- [24] K.C. Cheung, W. van der Veen, M.L. Bouvy, M. Wensing, P.M. van den Bemt, and P.A. de Smet, Classification of medication incidents associated with information technology, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 21 (2014), e63-70.

Methods and Models to Study Contexts for Health Information Systems

This page intentionally left blank

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190150

Supporting Safety in Health Care Transformations

Helle Sofie WENTZER¹ VIVE, The Danish Center of Social Research

Abstract. Health care is in dramatic transformation due to the rapid development and massive implementation of (high- and low-tech) technologies. But not all transformations are as intended. Research in health transformation has disclosed new sources of risk and unpredictability, which require more research and organizational adjustment, i.e. learning. However, unintended consequences and effects occur at different levels of interaction and collaboration, requiring corresponding adjustment and learning strategies. - On the background of an ethnographic study of support-work in surgery in different Danish hospitals, this paper analyses cognitive-socio-technical health care practices as learning ecologies, giving special attention to the intentional and unintentional roles of technologies herein and their context dependency. The paper argues for an increased awareness of support at different contextual levels of use, presenting three examples from the study as learning cases. The three cases exemplify instances of disruption of the workflow and the collaboration among clinicians. They display how these instances are taken as challenges requiring learning at different levels in order to live up to the overall purpose, which is to reestablish safety - in the team and for the patient.

Keywords. Transformation, HIT, patient safety, unintended consequences, infrastructure, learning, support, ecology

1. Introduction

Technologies play a decisive role in health care transformation, but not always as intended by developers and implementers, or wished for by users. This has led to a new research agenda for patient safety, as hospital information technologies (HIT) have induced new kinds of errors, and unintended consequences [1-4]. These hazards to clinical work have subsequently been studied as human factors in system design, with an emphasis on cognitive user aspects of interacting directly with the system, or as sociotechnical challenges from a poor 'fit' between system and the work process of the organization. A more holistic view is advocated within a three-level framework, integrating both cognitive usability tests with social-technical analysis of communication and interaction in simulation studies in order to improve the design of the system prior to implementation [5]. Trends in HIT show, though, that the literature focusing on technology-induced errors continues to grow. More research is recommended to better understand and mitigate these types of errors [6]. There is a wide acceptance among researcher and policy makers that errors have many sources, and that research in software engineering, human factors, sociotechnical and organizational perspectives all are important to ensure safety in HIT [6]. One important approach is to see "errors as opportunities to learn from with the focus of improving HIT across the system

¹ Corresponding Author. Helle Sofie Wentzer, Email: HeWe@VIVE.dk

development life cycle" [6:72]. One might also see errors as a source for organizational learning in order to improve workflow and to develop educational competencies that ultimately prevent errors and ensure quality in the long-term. Educating health and HIT professionals thus becomes important to fully disclosure and understand technology-induced errors [6]. Future directions of research are to "create organizations where there is a culture of HIT safety" [4]. This paper takes an organizational learning perspective, seeking to support HIT and health professionals' understanding of the contextual and cognitive, socio-technical nature of safety, and health care infrastructure [1,5]. An ethnographic study of support-work in surgery is chosen [6,12,13] to demonstrate the challenges of safety and learning in technology-dense health environments were predictability and team-collaboration is mandatory to patient safety.

2. Learning ecology

The three level framework of studying technology-induced errors in health care can be explained within the cultural-historical tradition of Activity theory, which discerns between three contextual levels of interacting with technology as an activity system, and the learning ecology of Gregory Bateson [7-11].

Human activity is object- and goal-oriented, conditioned by operational skills, embedded into existing practices, mediated by tools, and motivated by collective rules, values and division of labour. Interruptions or breakdown of activities fx from technology implementation can be identified as different levels of learning in the ecology. The 1-level of learning relates to the subject's operating skill and direct interaction with the tool, i.e. cognition and usability. The 2-level learning relates to contextual awareness and utility, when collaboration is mediated by artifacts, then adjusting and integrating different contextual understandings in the system and between users becomes essential. The 3-level learning is provoked from the experiences of double bind between divergent contextual understandings. If they contradict, and mutually exclude each other, then radical learning and creativity are demanded in order to establish a new organizational order. Accordingly, 0-level learning denotes the true ideal state, which is sought, not because of organizational laziness, but as an expression of harmony, the concordance between tasks, competences, motives and resources; the seamless fit between users, systems and activities. 0-level learning expresses the equilibrium of the ecology, and thus the safety and stability of the activity system as such.

3. Case-study of Support Work in Surgery

The case is developed from ethnographic field work with document analysis, 90 hours of observation, and twenty-six interviews [14,15]. It was conducted in three different hospitals located in the Capital Region of Denmark, two of which are university hospitals, with research as part of their practices. All of the hospitals have 24-hour emergency surgery and elective day surgery from 7:30 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. The study was undertaken at four surgery centers, covering the specialties of obstetrics, gynecology, gynecological oncology, orthopedic surgery, urology, abdominal surgery, pediatric surgery, pediatric oncology, and vascular surgery. The elective day programs in nine operation rooms (ORs) were observed, with a special focus on programs of action [16] in operational support work. The support work of nurses, social health care workers, and technical

assistance was observed in the ORs, documented through photographs and detailed notes on type of operation, action sequences, relations to humans and nonhumans, and modes of communication. Field notes and interviews were analyzed according to the theoretical frameworks of human–computer interaction and expansive learning in activity theory [11,17,18].

4. Intentional activities in surgery

The many sequences of action, interactions, and communication in the ethnographic study can be summed up as two programs of action (16) that explain the meaning and motives of operation support work in the activity system of surgery: first, and foremost, ensuring safety and second, efficiency. The following presents the first program of action.

4.1. The Program of Action: Ensuring Safety

The first program of action is concerned with ensuring safety in the care pathway for individual patients entering and leaving the OR. Ensuring safety is paramount to surgical support work, as it is not only concerned with the patient, but also with the surgeon's need to feel safe to concentrate on the operation itself and the general safety in the team as a group, with its interdependencies and shared responsibilities. There is a wide range of techniques, guidelines and rituals to ensure smooth and safe collaboration in the OR.

The room is divided into two zones; a sterile zone and a non-sterile zone to manage the continuous risk of infection. The sterile zone in the OR is constantly encroached by various kinds of disturbances that challenge safety in different ways: for example, by increasing the risk of the patient's wound being infected or breaking the surgeon's concentration. A chief surgeon sums up:

There is always a risk. We are in a sterile environment. Everything takes place in a sterile environment. This means that I can't just go to a cupboard and get what I need. Everything has to be in place from the beginning. We can plan 90 per cent, but something will always happen that wasn't planned for [...]. It's a balance that means that you have to send people (non-sterile) in and out of the OR/room to fetch the things you need. Or you find out that it's really another type of operation the patient needs, and you have to re-saddle. Doing emergency surgery also amplifies this. These are the terms.

Operation support work is thus concerned with ensuring maximum safety, knowing that absolute predictability is impossible to attain. There will always be a small amount of risk to learn from, chance to be aware of, and adjustments to make [19].

The "90 percent" predictability of an operation is achieved by the team in a process with three phases: the preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative phases. These are elaborated in [12], and point to team collaboration in the OR as non-verbal "ping pong" in coordinated movements in and out of sterile and non-sterile, zones to be an ideal.

5. Unintentional transformations from disruptions of interaction, flow and safety

The unanticipated "10 percent" that is impossible to predict and plan for in advance, is always a threat to safety in the OR. Below are examples of disturbances at different levels

of interaction, leading to different kinds of breakdowns that challenge the role of the surgery support in the team, its resilience, and the safety of the patient.

5.1. Disruption Caused by a "Burner with No More Lives"

This example comes from gastrointestinal surgery. In many cases, open "low-tech" surgery using a scalpel and suture is replaced by endoscopic, high-tech surgery (i.e., laparoscopy, also called keyhole surgery), where operations are performed through small incisions in the body. A burner is used instead of a scalpel inside the abdominal working space to burn, instead of cutting out, affected tissue. The burning prevents the tissue from bleeding. In this example, the burner stopped working during the operation and, thus, interrupted the flow. The nonsterile supporter had to send for a new burner from the storage room. The surgeon became annoyed with the support workers because the "knife time" of the operation was prolonged by the wait for the new burner.

5.1.1. New task and guideline to keep count of use of burner

In the future, support staff members are expected to keep count of the burners' limited lifetime of twenty operations. This is a new task for the support workers, and they would have to agree on the development of a new "tool," a guideline to control it. Keeping systematic track of burners' lives through a guideline becomes an attempt to handle the high-vulnerability context in which surgery takes place, in a way that attempts to prevent any disruption to safety and efficiency. The technology must work according to plan.

5.2. Change of Direction in Mid Operation

The second example is also from abdominal surgery, on a patient with a gastrointestinal stromal tumor. Lack of access to the digital information system (with the patient's radiology scans) forces the surgeon to switch from the planned endoscopic operation to open surgery. In endoscopic surgery, the working and viewing space is provided by a laparoscope, a long, fiber-optic cable system, and carbon dioxide gas, which inflates the abdomen and thus makes it possible for the surgeon to see inside the patient's body. The image from the laparoscope is displayed on monitors placed above the surgery bed for the surgeons to look at and navigate by. However, they need additional information from the radiology scans to get a better overview to predict the location of the tumor and to navigate between the organs of the abdomen. However, as the information system remains inaccessible on this occasion, the surgeon was forced to change plans, and, thus, the whole operation was converted to traditional, open surgery, where the team members rely on their senses to observe and navigate directly inside the patient's body using their eyes and hands. This conversion of operational procedure increased safety because the nonworking HIT had made the planned procedure unsafe, but it also increased the operation time, the time the patient spent in anesthesia, and the size of the patient's operation scar.

5.2.1. Destabilization of Teamwork Because of an Inaccessible Information System

After the shift to open surgery, the team's spirits were low. There was no "ping-pong" between the team members, just a hostile atmosphere in the OR that was made worse by the knowledge that the patient would have a large operation scar, which in light of the events, became unavoidable—sixteen stitches for an incision of 14 cm. In the end, the

surgeon, clearly dissatisfied with the support workers, stated that they were "not a team." The support workers, on the other hand, had neither the skills nor the administrative user rights to solve HIT barriers. Therefore, the resilience of the teamwork, as well as the sustainability and efficiency of the operation program of the OR, depends on HIT infrastructures, and the organizational support of these.

5.3. Risk in Technology-Driven Research

Image technologies have also opened up new research possibilities between radiology and vascular surgery. Interventional radiology in vascular surgery makes minimally invasive image-guided diagnosis and treatment of disease possible. In this example, a young woman with leg pain from poor blood circulation is diagnosed with narrow veins, using image-guided diagnosis, and is offered treatment via the insertion of a stent to increase the diameter of the troublesome vein. She received only a local anesthetic and expected to participate in the image-guided surgery, holding her breath to improve the quality of the X-ray images, and so on. The stent was inserted after 2 hours of surgery, but after that, a blood clot (vein thrombosis) developed in the leg being operated on. The surgeon monitored developments continuously, viewing new images, and, in consultation with a radiologist, decided to continue with the operation, to prevent paralysis in the patient's foot. The stent was to be removed, after which, the blood clot would be sucked out to allow the blood to flow through the vein again. This prolonged the interoperational phase by several hours.

5.3.1. Ethical Patient Dilemma: "Hold Your Breath"

The patient is awake, holding her breath every time the accelerator takes an image. The X-ray radiation alarm—which monitors the amount of radiation the patient is being exposed to—goes off several times and is repeatedly turned off manually by the supporting nurse. At the same time, a team of four works intensely on finding and removing the clot by drawing out blood with a tube, called a venous access catheter. The surgeon needs total silence to concentrate. The work of the team requires fine motor skills and many coordinated movements, which are repeated in successive steps: patient holds her breath, X-ray, adjusting tube, drawing blood out, examining it for clots, cleaning instruments, and then again, holding of breath, tube adjustment, and so on, for more than 2 hours. The patient gradually becomes uncomfortable, cries quietly, starts shaking and sweating, and asks when this will be over. In the meantime, the personal assistant of the surgeon is called in, and two extra nurses come in to calm the patient. The patient complains that this was not what she was informed of and consented to. She wants to go home! A senior surgeon tells her that she has to spend the night in hospital.

6. Conclusion: Unintended Transformations in Surgery

Technologies are transforming health care and patient safety, also unintentionally. Technology-induces errors continues to rise [6]. The errors have many multiple sources and demand research into a range of knowledge areas from improvement of technology design to organizational learning [6]. This research draws on ethnographic methods and meta-theory to explicate and draw attention to different levels of interaction [4-6] and learning in health care organization in order identify risk and secure safety [4,9]. The

three examples point to interruptions of use that effects the safety in the OR. They transform the activity system at *different levels of interaction*: i.The broken burner at *the direct level of interaction*, *ii*. The inaccessible Information System at *the mediated level*, as the operation plan gets subverted to knife surgery, disturbing team collaboration, and iii. The role of the patient at *the infrastructural level*, as patient safety which is the core value and motive of surgery is jeopardized, and transformed, when the patient becomes co-responsible for her own safety during the operation. An awareness of these different, contextual levels of interaction is essential to a safer HIT culture. Support of usability and utility problems in cognitive-socio-technical practices are thus sources towards learning ecologies [10] that secure intentional transformation of health care.

7. Discussion: Intentional Transformation in a Socio-technical Learning Ecology

Following the learning ecology [1,2,7-11], errors and interruptions can be addressed as different levels of learning, that the organization can attend to in order to adjust and prevent unintended transformations of its health care practices.

7.1. Supporting Safety from different levels of learning

The overall purpose of the surgery as an activity system is patient safety and efficiency, which is achieved by planning, "ping-pong" and flow in teamwork. This corresponds to the 0.level of the learning ecology; it is a system in equilibrium with optimal use of its resources. This is experienced in the OR as harmony, because everybody knows his or her place and how to fulfill his or her role. It is the team as a predictable and stable "clock-work" with adequate competences and mutual trust, and thus safety.

When the broken burner occurs, the harmony and flow is disturbed, and a 1.level learning situation arises. The obstacle is solved by the non-sterile support worker, who leaves the OR for the storage to replace the burner. Future problems are prevented by creating a guideline for keeping account of the number of times the burner has been used.

The inaccessible information system is a more complex, 2.level learning situation, as the collaboration of the team is not mediated, neither the endoscopic operation, nor the collaboration of the team, as the support workers fail to solve the it-problem. This learning situation is not only an information problem, like in case of the broken burner in the 1.level learning. It is a contextual knowledge problem of understanding how the information system works, and for the support workers to be given administrative userrights to the system, so that they can support the surgeons in getting access to the radiology scans. This kind of user support in relation to information technologies, that the safety and efficiency of operations depends on, is absent to the team, and outside the competences and jurisdiction of the support workers (all nurses by training). Lack of it-competences and/or it-support becomes a risk to efficiency (from prolonged operation time and anesthesia) and to safety. It also puts the support workers in a double bind, and thus 3.level learning position as the angry surgeon, who leads the team, see it as their task to solve the it-problem.

The third examples points to an ethical dilemma in technology-driven research as the understanding of patient safety in surgery transforms when the patient becomes part of the team, its efficiency and safety. The patient is in a double bind situation of becoming a risk to herself. She wants to leave the operation table while she is undergoing a prolonged operation (from the unexpected blood clot) she has not consented too. The awake patient herself becomes part of the unpredictability, and puts the safety of the team and herself at risk. She has to stay on the table and keep her breath when signaled in order for the operation to be carried though successfully. Her leg is saved, but her patient right is violated, as well as the relationship of trust between patient and health care system, which leave both, patient and the team, in a borderline position.

This 3.level learning situation is not solved by information, like the 1.level, nor by new contextual understanding, the 2.level, but transcends established understandings. It is therefore an unpleasant, stressful position, only to be solved creatively, by thinking out-of-the-box, so to speak. In this case, there is no right answer, but seems to be the backside of research: unpredictability and thereby risk, rises for the patient and for the team, when developing new forms of surgery from new technological possibilities. The 3.level learning opens up to the ethical, and thus the bio-political nature of socialtechnical ecologies, including research agendas and motives hereof.

References

- S.L. Star and K. Ruhleder, Steps to an Ecology of Infrastructure: design and access to large information spaces, *Information System Research* 7 (1996), 111-134.
- [2] J.S. Ash, M. Berg and E. Coiera, Some unintended consequences of information technology in health care: The nature of patient care information system-related errors, J Am Med Inform Assoc 11 (2004), 104–112.
- [3] E.M. Campbell, D.F. Sittig, J.S. Ash, K.P. Guappone, and R.H. Dykstra, Types of unintended consequences related to computerized provider order entry, J Am Med Inform Assoc 13 (2006), 547–556.
- [4] E. Borycki, J.W. Dexheimer, C. Hullin Lucay Cossio, Y. Gong, S. Jensen, J. Kaipio, et al., Methods for Addressing Technology-induced Errors: The Current State, *Yearbook of Medical Informatics* 25 (2016), 30-40.
- [5] E.M. Borycki and A.W. Kushniruk, Towards an Integrative Cognitive-Socio-Technical Approach in Health Informatics: Analyzing Technology-Induced Error Involving Health Information Systems to Improve Patient Safety, *The Open Medical Informatics Journal* 4 (2010), 181-187.
- [6] E. Borycki, Trends in Health Information Technology Safety: From Technology-Induced Errors to Current Approaches for Ensuring Technology Safety, *Health Informatics Research* 19 (2013), 69-78.
- [7] Y. Engeström, The zone of proximal development as the basic category of educational psychology, Quarterly Newsletter of the Laboratory of Comparative Human Cognition 8 (1986), 23–42.
- [8] H.S. Wentzer and A. Bygholm, Attending unintended transformations of health care infrastructure, International Journal of Integrated Care 7 (2007), 1–13.
- [9] M. Cole and E. Engeström, A cultural-historical approach to distributed cognition, In: G. Salomon (Ed.), Distributed cognitions: Psychological and educational considerations, CUP, Cambridge, 1993, 1–46.
- [10] G. Bateson, Steps to an Ecology of Mind, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, London, 2000.
- [11] K. Kuutti, Activity theory as a potential framework for human computer interaction Research, in: B. Nardi (Ed.), Context and consciousness, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 1996, 17–44.
- [12] H.S. Wentzer, Technology in Context Vulnerability in Surgery, in: N. Meier and S. Dopson (Eds), Action in Context, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2019.
- [13] H.S. Wentzer and N. Meier, At skabe sikkerhed, effektivitet og tryghed, KORA, Copenhagen, 2014.
- [14] S.L. Star and K. Ruhleder, Layers of silence, arenas of voice: The ecology of visible and invisible work Computer Supported Collaborative Work 8 (1999), 9–30.
- [15] A. Mol, The body multiple: Ontology in medical practice, Duke University Press, Durham, London, 2002.
- [16] B. Latour, Technical Mediation: Philosophy, Sociology, Genealogy, Common Knowledge 3 (1994), 29-64.
- [17] Y. Engeström, Learning by expanding, Orienta-Konsultit, Helsinki, 1987.
- [18] J.E. Bardram, The trouble with login: On usability and computer security in ubiquitous computing, *Personal Ubiquity Computing* 9 (2005), 357–67.
- [19] J. Dunne, Back to the rough ground: Practical judgement and the lure of technique, University of Notre Dame Press, Notre Dame:, 1993.
This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHT1190151

Shared Decision-Making in Emergency Departments: Context Sensitivity Through Divergent Discourses

Melissa MIAO, Andrew GEORGIOU¹, Maria R. DAHM, Julie LI and Judith THOMAS

Centre for Health Systems and Safety Research, Australian Institute of Health Innovation, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia

Abstract. Patient-centred care and the empowerment of patients through shared clinical decision-making is a key goal of healthcare systems internationally. The Emergency Department is one of the first opportunities for shared decision-making to occur, with information exchanged between patient and clinician, between clinical disciplines, across the continuum of care, and between clinicians and ancillary departments including radiology and pathology laboratories. The successful development and implementation of sustainable health information technology (HIT) to support shared decision-making in Emergency care requires an understanding of the factors affecting this context. From a purposive, maximum variation sample of clinicians and a convenience sample of patients across three metropolitan and regional Emergency Departments in Australia, we identified three divergent discourses from an in-depth qualitative exploration of issues around shared decision-making. This allowed us to identify unanticipated factors affecting patient-centred care to inform context-sensitive implementation of HIT in the Emergency Department.

Keywords. Patient-Centred Care, Emergency Care, Health Information Technology, Shared decision-making, Pathology, Medical Imaging

1. Introduction

In the Australian healthcare setting, patient-centred care is enshrined in the ethical principles of informed patient consent, the professional standards outlined in the Australian National Safety and Quality Health Service Standard 2: Partnering with Consumers (Second edition) [1], and The Australian Charter of Healthcare Rights [2]. Patient-centred care improves patient outcomes and satisfaction by enabling patients to become partners in their own healthcare through shared clinical decision-making that respects and responds to their preferences, needs and values [3]. On the continuum of care, the Emergency Department (ED) is one of the first opportunities for this shared decision-making to take place, where health information technology (HIT) systems, particularly concerning tests and test results, are used to exchange health information between patients and clinicians, between clinical disciplines, across the continuum of

¹ Corresponding Author: Andrew Georgiou, Email: andrew.georgiou@mq.edu.au

care, and between clinicians and ancillary departments including radiology and pathology laboratories.

The Institute of Medicine describes patient-centredness as a core healthcare service deliverable, and identifies empowering patients to manage and execute healthcare decisions as a key competency in 21st century healthcare [4]. Healthcare is a complex, adaptive sociotechnical environment in which even well-designed technology can fail due to contextual issues [5]. Developing HIT that supports patient-centred practices in healthcare requires a sociotechnical approach that considers both people and technology [6]. The failure to be context-sensitive when implementing HIT can lead to adverse effects on workflow, communication and safety [7]. Therefore successful and sustainable HIT development and implementation requires in-depth research that expands our understanding of the broader range of contextual factors [8] within particular healthcare settings. This enables us to anticipate rather than remediate issues post-implementation, and thus ensure the sustainability of HIT that supports patient-centred care [8].

A sociotechnical approach to HIT places an emphasis on the inclusion of qualitative [9] and sociotechnical methods such as participatory design [8], seeking the perspectives of clinicians and patients to identify these contextual factors. Additionally, seeking deviant cases [10, 11] and divergent discourses in qualitative data [12] enables researchers to discover potentially unanticipated factors. Therefore, by identifying divergent cases from an in-depth, qualitative study of the perspectives of a diverse sample of clinicians and patients in ED, this study aimed to identify factors potentially affecting the implementation of HIT supporting patient-centred care.

2. Methods

2.1. Study Design, Setting and Participants

This study included one regional (Site 2) and two metropolitan (Site 1 and 3) hospital EDs in New South Wales (NSW), Australia (see Table 1). MD and JL conducted 58 semi-structured face-to-face interviews between December 2016 and May 2018. A purposive, maximum variation sample of clinicians across the three sites (n=26) spanned Nursing, Medical and Management/Executive positions, various levels of experience from interns to senior specialists, and both male and female participants (Table 1). A convenience sample of patients (n=32) were eligible to participate if they presented to the ED of one of the three sites and received pathology or medical imaging testing. The sample featured a wide variety of clinical presentations and both male and female participants who ranged from 25-34 to 75-84 year age brackets (Table 1).

Table	1. Hospital	and patient	demographi	c in	formation	across	sites
-------	-------------	-------------	------------	------	-----------	--------	-------

Site	Hospital Demographic	Average quarterly ED presentations in 2018*	ED Clinicians, n (% Female)	ED Patients, n (% Female)	Site Total
1	Major Metropolitan	17,245	14 (28.6%)	13 (61.5%)	27
2	Large Regional	10,022	7 (57.1%)	10 (60.0%)	17
3	Medium Metropolitan	7,691	5 (20.0%)	9 (55.6%)	14
	-	TOTAL	26 (34.6%)	32 (59.4%)	58

* Calculated using Bureau of Health Information ED presentation data for 2018 [13]

Ethical approval was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee of the relevant Local Health District and ratified by Macquarie University. All participants provided written consent to participate.

2.2. Data Collection

Clinicians were asked to describe current test management and communication processes, including: i) whether patients/family were informed about the types and purposes of tests; ii) how it is ensured that information is conveyed to patients/family in a way that is easy to understand and iii) if there had been any staff communication training.

Patients were asked about: i) their awareness of the types and purposes of tests ordered; ii) the results of tests and their understanding of the meaning of their test results; iii) their ability to access their results; iv) who communicated the results to them; v) how they felt about the result reporting process and vi) their opinion of potential electronic access to test results.

All interview data was audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim. All transcripts and recordings were de-identified and demographic information reported only as an aggregate (Table 1) to preserve participant anonymity.

2.3. Qualitative Analyses

In addition to being a highly important strategy for testing the internal validity of qualitative findings [10], seeking deviant cases [11] and divergent discourses [12] is valuable for studies which aim to discover unknown factors and capture the breadth and complexity of an issue. As we sought to inform the sustainable implementation of HIT in the ED context by identifying potentially unanticipated aspects of shared decision-making in ED, we analysed the whole dataset from all 58 participants to identify and examine discourses that were divergent from the remainder of the dataset [12].

Firstly, as data collection was part of a broader study of test result management, communication and follow-up [14], for the purposes of this study, MD and JT systematically excluded data describing test management processes to obtain data across all 58 participants which pertained specifically to the communication of diagnostic test information between patients and clinicians in ED. MM and MD then completed an iterative analytical process involving (1) immersion, (2) description, (3) coding and categorisation, and (4) interpretation of the dataset from 58 participants using both thematic [15] and qualitative content analysis [16] methods, after which MM and MD reached consensus on discourses that were defined as meeting all three of the following criteria: (1) represented a diverse or divergent view not seen elsewhere in the dataset from the 58 participants, (2) explored an aspect of shared decision-making in ED and (3) described the issue directly and in sufficient detail.

3. Results

As a result of our iterative analyses, three discourses met all inclusion criteria. These related to 1) the value of case and family history in preventing diagnostic error; 2) providing health information to facilitate self-management of chronic conditions and 3) clinician barriers to supporting patient health literacy of tests and results. We supply

below verbatim excerpts from each identified discourse, with indication of how each diverged from the whole dataset of 58 participants.

3.1. The value of case and family history in preventing diagnostic error

One patient reflected on an incident in their own life in which "I always felt that if that doctor had been able to – or given me advice to seek a second doctor's opinion, I would have been saved from a stroke which would have rescued my life and changed my life quite dramatically". This patient was the only interviewee across the whole dataset who described case and family history as a factor leading to an adverse outcome. The patient's conclusion from this experience was that:

"...you should be given your medical records in any form that you can take from GP [General Practitioner] to GP and it should be available to every GP. I had a long family history of stroke; both my mother and her sisters and my grandmother, all died from stroke, and yet nowhere was that information requested of me or did we know. It was only after I'd had a stroke we began to ask in my family and found out that my whole family had virtually died of stroke, whereas it would have been really handy to have had that information and been able to pass it to any doctor that I was seeing, and they have at least a starting point."

3.2. Providing health information to facilitate self-management of chronic conditions

While most clinicians noted that providing health information enables a patient to take ownership of follow-up from ED with their own GP, one doctor described this information as "part of the reassurance" and the empowerment of patients to self-manage chronic conditions through adequate information and support;

"...if a patient comes in with, for example, headache, chronic headache and the first two presentation[s] of headache for each and every person - it will be like, you know, [a] nightmare because you will think about all the wrong, you know, very unusual things. But if - for example, migraine headache; most of the patients can manage at home and they have [a] weekly or bi-weekly or once a month attack, but they manage at home. They stop managing at home when they be[come] aware about the red flags, if we can call it [that], and what they need to- when exactly they need to come in [to ED]."

This case was also distinct because an emphasis on efficiency in ED was a commonly cited reason among clinicians elsewhere in the dataset for not prioritising communication with patients, yet this exemplar advocated for greater triage efficiency in ED through increased communication and shared decision-making.

3.3. Clinician barriers to supporting patient health literacy of tests and results

While most clinicians across the dataset voiced the aspiration to inform patients despite describing shortfalls in doing so, one participant in the clinician sample provided a distinctly different tone from the remainder of the clinician sample and maintained this divergent discourse in the presence of a peer in the interview. This clinician countered the patient communication efforts described by their colleague by reasoning:

"...given that most junior doctors don't understand what the tests are anyway, it's a bit silly to try and explain to the patient. And the words that we use are a bit funny".

This participant was unique in identifying this knowledge gap as a barrier for clinicians: "But sometimes I don't actually know what test I'm doing when I'm talking to them. And that's the problem with the juniors: they don't know what test they need done".

4. Discussion and Conclusion

The aim of this study was to identify and examine divergent discourses from a diverse sample of 58 patients and clinicians in ED. Our findings support the value of this methodology to discover factors that may not otherwise be investigated and so capture the breadth and complexity [11, 12] of shared decision-making processes in ED.

The first exemplar depicting a diagnostic error is consistent with recent estimates that most people will likely experience a diagnostic error in their lifetime [17], and represents the individual experience of such an incident. The adverse outcome points to the potential impact of diagnostic error upon an individual's life, and the patient right and need [2] to be engaged in the diagnostic process [18]. It captured the importance of integrating a person's case and family history with their clinical presentation and test results, the value of partnering with patients as the only party in the shared decision who can "ask in my family" for this crucial data [18] and the frequent absence of this practice in primary care [19]. This finding supports current research exploring the potential to link electronic health records with a patient-reported health history tool [20] or to develop computerised family history systems and decision support tools [19].

The second exemplar depicted shared decision-making around a management plan and agreed "red flags", in which the patient had a more active role than merely representing in ED or to their GP. This example was consistent with the literature in highlighting the potential for person-centred approaches to reduce the burden of care in ED by empowering patients to understand and self-manage chronic conditions for improved outcomes, greater reassurance, and reduced repeat presentations [3]. To this end, it supports the potential value of HIT to enable patients to monitor and manage their health beyond ED. For instance, the electronic health record in Australia, MyHealthRecord, includes a private personal notes section [21], and the Danish National eHealth Portal allows patients to monitor their own drug compliance [21].

The third divergent discourse uniquely explored the potential to facilitate the health literacy of patients by increasing support for the clinical decision-making of clinicians, highlighting the two-way nature of a shared decision. Usable HIT may therefore include electronic decision support tools to optimise the appropriateness and timeliness of diagnostic tests ordered for patients presenting to ED [22], or provide clinicians and patients with a shared taxonomy to bridge the gap between jargon and plain language. This diverse exemplar identifies potential issues and solutions that may need to be further investigated and addressed in ED.

Collectively, the three exemplars above contributed unique insights not captured elsewhere in the dataset, consistent with literature yet also giving voice to the real experiences of patients and clinicians in ED that may not otherwise be investigated. Further research into such factors is warranted to broaden our current knowledge of how to implement sustainable HIT that supports patient-centred practices in ED. Increasing partnerships with patients and clinicians through such research is key to implementing translational, sustainable and impactful HIT solutions in the ED context.

References

- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards 2^d edition, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Australia, 2017.
- [2] Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Australian Charter of Healthcare Rights, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, Australia, 2012. Available from: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/Charter-PDf.pdf (accessed Jan 7, 2019)
- [3] L.J. Delaney, Patient-centred care as an approach to improving health care in Australia Collegian 25 (2018), 119-123.
- [4] Institute of Medicine Committee on Quality of Health Care in America, Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century, National Academies Press (US): Washington (DC), 2001.
- [5] D.F. Sittig and H. Singh, A new sociotechnical model for studying health information technology in complex adaptive healthcare systems, *Quality & Safety in Health Care* 19 (2010), i68-i74.
- [6] Z.S. Wong, C. Nøhr, C.E. Kuziemsky, E. Leung, and F. Chen, Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Delivering 21st Century Healthcare - Building a Quality-and-Efficiency Driven System, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 241 (2017), 1-5.
- [7] M. Bloomrosen, J. Starren, N.M. Lorenzi, J.S. Ash, V.L. Patel, and E.H. Shortliffe. Anticipating and addressing the unintended consequences of health IT and policy: a report from the AMIA 2009 Health Policy Meeting, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 18 (2011), 82-90.
- [8] C. Kuziemsky, C. Nøhr, J. Aarts, M. Jaspers, and M.C. Beuscart-Zephir, Context sensitive health informatics: concepts, methods and tools, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 194 (2013), 1-7.
- [9] M. Berg, Patient care information systems and health care work: a sociotechnical approach, Int. J. Med. Inform. 55 (1999), 87-101.
- [10] J.M. Morse, Critical Analysis of Strategies for Determining Rigor in Qualitative Inquiry, *Qualitative Health Research* 25 (2015), 1212-1222.
- [11] J. Seawright, The Case for Selecting Cases That Are Deviant or Extreme on the Independent Variable, Sociological Methods & Research 45 (2016), 493-525.
- [12] T.M.J. Antin, N.A. Constantine, and G. Hunt, Conflicting Discourses in Qualitative Research: The Search for Divergent Data within Cases, *Field Methods* 27 (2015), 211-222.
- [13] Bureau of Health Information, *Healthcare Observer* (2019). Available from: http://www.bhi.nsw.gov.au/Healthcare_Observer (accessed Jan 21, 2019).
- [14] M.R. Dahm, A. Georgiou, J.I. Westbrook, D. Greenfield, A.R. Horvath, D. Wakefield, et al., Delivering safe and effective test-result communication, management and follow-up: a mixed-methods study protocol, *BMJ Open* 8 (2018), e020235.
- [15] V. Clarke and V. Braun, Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual. Res. Psychol. 3 (2006), 77-101.
- [16] H.F. Hsieh and S.E. Shannon, Three approaches to qualitative content analysis, *Qualitative Health Research* 15 (2005), 1277-88.
- [17] Committee on Diagnostic Error in Health Care, *Improving Diagnosis in Health Care*, Institute of Medicine; The National Academies of Sciences and Engineering and Medicine, National Academies Press (US), Washington (DC), 2015.
- [18] H. Singh, G.D. Schiff, M.L. Graber, I. Onakpoya, and M.J. Thompson, The global burden of diagnostic errors in primary care, *BMJ Qual. Saf.* 26 (2017), 484-494.
- [19] L.A. Orlando, E.R. Hauser, C. Christianson, K.P. Powell, A.H. Buchanan, B. Chesnut, et al., Protocol for implementation of family health history collection and decision support into primary care using a computerized family health history system, *BMC Health Services Research* 11 (2011), 264.
- [20] M.F. Murray, M.A. Giovanni, E. Klinger, E. George, L. Marinacci, G. Getty, et al., Comparing electronic health record portals to obtain patient-entered family health history in primary care, *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 28 (2013), 1558-1564.
- [21] C. Nøhr, L. Parv, P. Kink, E. Cummings, H. Almond, J.R. Nørgaard, et al., Nationwide citizen access to their health data: analysing and comparing experiences in Denmark, Estonia and Australia, *BMC Health Services Research* 17 (2017), 534.
- [22] R.A. Jenders, Advances in Clinical Decision Support: Highlights of Practice and the Literature 2015-2016, Yearb Med Inform 26 (2017), 125-132.

The Design of PE Dx, a CDS to Support Pulmonary Embolism Diagnosis in the ED

Peter L.T. HOONAKKER^{a, 1}, Pascale CARAYON^a, Megan E. SALWEI^a, Ann S. HUNDT^a, Douglas WIEGMANN^a, Peter KLEINSCHMIDT^{a, b}, Michael S. PULIA^{a, b}, Yudi WANG^a, Clair NOVAK^b and Brian W. PATTERSON^{a, b} ^aUniversity of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison WI, 53726, USA ^bUW Health, Madison WI, 53726, USA

Abstract. Designing and implementing clinical decision support (CDS) in health care has been challenging. Attempts have been made to design and implement CDS to support clinical procedures, but many of these CDSs have met user resistance. One possible explanation for the lack of acceptability can be the poor design of the CDS. In this study, we describe the design of PE Dx, a CDS built to support the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism (PE) in the emergency department (ED) using human factors methods.

Keywords. User-centered design, clinical decision support, pulmonary embolism, emergency department

1. Introduction

Estimates show that between 650,000 and 900,000 individuals are diagnosed with a pulmonary embolism (PE) each year in the US, 200,000 of which will be fatal [1]. A PE is the sudden blockage of an artery in the lung, usually by a blood clot. If the clot is large and stops blood flow to a substantial portion of the lung, it can result in sudden death [2]. It is difficult to correctly diagnose a PE. Individual signs and symptoms are often not accurate enough to rule in or rule out a PE [2]. No single test is enough to diagnose a PE. The literature shows that less than 50% of patients who die from a PE were correctly diagnosed [3]. Several tests are needed to either rule out a PE or make the PE diagnosis. To support the diagnostic pathway for PE, risk-scoring algorithms have been developed.

1.1. PE diagnosis and PE Risk scoring algorithms

The most reliable method to diagnose a PE is the computerized tomography pulmonary angiography (CTA) scan. However, CTA scans are expensive and expose the patient to potentially hazardous radiation and renal injury because of the administration of IV contrast [4, 5]. Therefore, CTA scans should be avoided when possible [5]. The D-dimer test is a diagnostic test that has significantly less risk and a high negative predictive value in low to moderate risk patients [6]. However, D-dimer is limited by a relatively poor positive predictive value [7]. As CTA scans have excellent positive and negative predictive value, many physicians order them when they suspect a PE, resulting in over-

¹ Corresponding Author: Peter L. Hoonakker, Email: peter.hoonakker@wisc.edu



Figure 1. Best practices for the PE rule in/rule out process, American College of Physicians [8].

testing. The number of CTA scans for PEs has dramatically increased in the past decade without a decrease in mortality [8]. There are several clinical decision aids that help physicians choose the appropriate clinical pathway to rule out PE or confirm it with tests. The most often used aids are the Wells' criteria and the Pulmonary Embolism Rule-out Criteria (PERC) rule. Often these two decision aids are used together to rule out a PE diagnosis. The Wells' criteria consist of seven questions. On two of the questions, you can get 3 points: "clinical signs and symptoms of PE" and "PE is #1 diagnosis or equally likely". Three questions can result in 1.5 points (heart rate >100, immobilizations during last 3 days or surgery in previous 4 weeks, and previously, objectively diagnosed with PE or deep vein thrombosis (DVT)). Finally, two questions result in 1 point each: having been diagnosed with hemoptysis or malignancy with treatment in last 6 months. The answers to these seven questions result in a score that reflects the risk of a PE (see Figure 1). Depending on the risk, the clinician needs to either apply the PERC (low risk), proceed with D-dimer testing (moderate risk) or go directly to CTA (high risk). If a clinician responds affirmative on one of the 8 PERC questions, PERC is positive.

1.2. CDS for PE in the emergency department

The emergency department (ED) environment uses many clinical decision rules and is therefore an ideal environment to design and implement CDS. As a result, EDs have seen explosive growth in CDS implementation. However, although most studies (84%) in a recent review by Patterson et al. [9] showed an impact of CDS on processes and process measures, few studies have shown an impact on clinical outcomes, such as length of stay (LOS) or readmissions. Several studies that have examined CDS to provide support for PE in the ED showed an impact of the CDS on the PE diagnostic process [5, 8, 10-12]. For example, studies by Raja [5, 8], Prevedello [12] and Jiminez [11] resulted in a significant reduction of CTA use. However, few ED clinicians use the CDS that were designed to improve the PE diagnostic process [10, 13]. In other words, results of studies on CDS for PE do show effectiveness but lack acceptance. Several authors suggest that poor CDS usability is the cause of low acceptance: "The computerized decision support system, however, was poorly accepted by emergency physicians (partly because of increased computer time), leading to possibly selective use, reducing the effect on overall yield, and leading to removal of the computerized decision support system from the computer order entry."[10] Our study uses a sociotechnical systems approach to the design of CDS to support diagnosis of PE. This way, we can address the range of sociotechnical system issues that have limited the acceptance of prior CDS designed for PE. Based on a user-centered design process (an iterative process in which designers focus on the end users and their needs in each phase of the design process) with the participation of both human factors engineers and clinicians, CDS design requirements were developed. Those design requirements were embedded in CDS mock-ups; and the CDS mock-ups have been evaluated through scenario-based usability evaluation and group debriefings.

2. Methods (CDS tool development)

To better understand the PE diagnostic processes in the ED, in the early stages of this research project, we interviewed several ED clinicians. We also conducted detailed workflow studies to better understand the Wells' and PE workflows. For the actual design of the CDS (so called PE Dx), we used design sessions, focus groups and usability evaluation. The study and associated data collection procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of our university.

2.1. Design sessions

We conducted 9 design sessions in which the design team consisting of 6 human factors experts and 2 clinicians discussed advantages and disadvantages of several design solutions for PE Dx. Each design session lasted between 1 and 2 hours. In total, the 9 design sessions lasted 13.5 hours. During most of the design sessions, we used mock-ups of PE Dx created in MS PowerPoint. Based on the feedback received during a design session, we would make changes to the mock-up and discuss the redesign in the following design session.

2.2. Focus groups and interviews

We organized two focus groups and two interviews with clinicians to gather feedback on early designs of PE Dx and asked specific questions about particular parts of the design, such as which vital sign data to pull from the EHR, hover over/information buttons, error messages, and calculate buttons. Each focus group lasted about one hour. The interviews lasted about 30 minutes.

2.3. Survey

We conducted a survey for the design team to help make design decisions. The survey consisted of 20 questions. The first set of 4 questions was about possible triggers for the tool. The second set of 5 questions asked about the Wells' criteria and the third set of 7 questions asked about the PERC rule. The next question was about placing orders and the final set of 3 questions asked about documentation.

2.4. From designing to building the CDS

This iterative process, using different methods, resulted in a design of PE Dx that was agreed upon by the whole design team. We then asked an electronic health record (EHR) programmer to program PE Dx in an existing EHR. After the CDS had been programmed, we conducted a heuristic usability session with the programmer to make PE Dx more user-friendly.

3. Results

User-centered design is an iterative process, and the design of PE Dx went through different stages. During those stages, decisions needed to be made to be able to move forward. In this paper, we focus on three major design decisions because we believe they not only had a major impact on the design of PE Dx, but will affect the design of other CDS as well: (1) considering the whole process: designing from start to finish, (2) autopopulating vs. supporting clinical autonomy, and (3) (auto) calculating.

3.1. Designing for the whole process, not only for a specific task

If an ED physician suspects a PE based on observed physical symptoms, they have several tools to rule in or rule out a PE. The tools provide support for the next steps of the process, such as ordering a D-dimer or a CTA scan, and documenting these steps. We believe that a CDS should also support these next steps, and for example, depending on the test results, provide the physician with an easily accessible option to order a D-dimer or CTA scan. Further, test results should be "automatically" documented in the doctor's notes. We strongly believe that, if you add a task for a clinician, you should design your health information technology (IT) in such a way that other task(s) in the same process are eliminated.

3.2. Auto-populating vs. supporting clinical autonomy

To make the CDS as efficient as possible and prevent physicians entering data that are already available in the EHR, we tried to auto-populate as much as possible the CDS. The CDS is auto-populated with items that have numeric values, such as heart rate, blood pressure and oxygenation (SpO₂). However, although physicians like auto-population, they also like their autonomy. Especially in the ED, there is sometimes confusion about the reliability of some these values. For example, heart rate (HR) is measured by the triage nurse at intake, and then periodically rechecked during the ED stay. The number that is auto-populated in PE Dx from the EHR is the highest recorded HR, but this does

not always best reflect the observed medical condition of the patient. Therefore, physicians would like to be able to edit that (auto-populated) value, sometimes to see how that would impact the final risk score. Evidently, there is an interesting trade-off between automation and autonomy. In our CDS, both options are available: the PE Dx is auto-populated, but clinicians can edit the data and the edited value is used in (auto) calculating the score.

3.3. (Auto-) Calculating

ED physicians work with many clinical diagnostic decision rules to evaluate the probability of a medical condition (e.g. Ottawa rule for ankle fracture). Most rules require some combination of symptoms, physical exam findings, and laboratory results. The values assigned to each element produce a score that helps guide the next step in the diagnostic process. Often a diagnosis can be ruled out if none of the elements is present. For example, results of the Wells' criteria can vary from 0-1 (PERC Rule needed to rule out PE), 2-6 (Order D-dimer) and >6 (Order CT scan). One of the questions presented during design of PE Dx was whether to "simplify" execution of the different rules. For example, as soon as a certain score has been achieved (for example >6 points in the Wells' criteria), it is often not necessary for the diagnostic process to continue: there is no difference between 7, 8, 9 or 10 points, all are above the cut-off score. One way to speed up the work process is to provide the physician immediately with a score as s/he goes through the different items and as soon as she has reached a certain cut-off point, to provide her with decision support (e.g. recommendation to order CT scan). However, from a clinical perspective, there are advantages to obtain the responses to all questions, and to have all responses documented. Local hospital policy supports physicians responding to all questions before calculating the score. Further, data collected in this way can be used to further improve clinical decision rules.

4. Discussion

In this study, we designed a computer decision support tool (PE Dx) to support PE diagnosis in the ED, following user-centered design methods and principles. Preliminary results of a simulation study show that the CDS is well accepted by clinicians, more efficient and effective and results in higher end-user satisfaction compared to an online CDS [14]. PE Dx has been implemented and will be evaluated.

4.1. Lessons learned

The procedure to rule in/out a PE is challenging from a human factors design perspective. A two-step process is needed to rule out a PE. There is considerable overlap between the two tests (PERC, Wells'): 3 of the 12 questions are the same. Further, administration of PERC is dependent on the results of the other test (Wells'). In the early stages of PE Dx design, we focused on integrating the two tests as much as possible to avoid duplicate data entry, which can be frustrating and does not encourage clinicians to use the tool. However, apart from trying to deal with the similarities between the two tests, we should also have focused on the *differences* between them. The Wells' criteria need the responses to several questions to calculate a score, while the PERC only needs one single item to be positive. That makes integration of the two tests challenging; it took us a while

to realize that and to let go of our initial design approach. Further, only in certain situations (a Wells' score lower than 2) is the PERC needed. Therefore, we decided to gray out the PERC, and only make it active when the Wells' criteria indicated use of PERC (see Figure 1). The lesson is not to be narrowly focused on certain design features before the whole process is completely understood.

During the design of PE Dx, we were confronted with difficult decisions. A design decision from a human factors point of view would have been different from that from a clinical perspective. Evidently, a CDS is created for and used by clinicians and therefore, they make the ultimate decision. However, in some instances, the human factors experts could explain why certain (design) solutions would be better. The combined input of clinicians and human factors experts contributed to the design process. The human factors experts developed basic knowledge of the PE diagnostic process, and input from clinicians helped to understand why physicians made specific choices, and also to explain specific tasks and processes, such as the actual D-dimer test and its advantages and disadvantages.

Defining design requirements for a CDS for PE was the original goal of the study. However, we were able to actually design and program PE Dx, and to conduct a usability evaluation in a simulation experiment. In this experimental study, we evaluated the usability (effectiveness, efficiency and end-user satisfaction) by comparing PE Dx with an existing web-based CDS. Results of the experiment are promising, which underlines the central message of this paper, i.e. that it is possible to use human factors principles to design health IT that will be accepted by end-users. However, the ultimate test is whether clinicians actually use the tool.

4.2. Study limitations

In this study, we describe the design of a specific CDS (PE Dx) for a specific environment (ED). We realize that designing CDS is context dependent; designing a CDS for the ED is not the same as designing a CDS for the inpatient wards or for ambulatory care clinics, because the work system characteristics and workflow are very different in those clinical settings. Nevertheless, we think that the issues we described here can also inform the design of CDS in these other settings.

Acknowledgments

This research was made possible by funding from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), Grant Number: R01HS022086, Principal Investigator: Pascale Carayon, and was supported by the Clinical and Translational Science Award (CTSA) program, through the NIH National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (NCATS), Grant UL1TR000427. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

References

 K.E. Wood, Major pulmonary embolism: review of a pathophysiologic approach to the golden hour of hemodynamically significant pulmonary embolism, *Chest* 121 (2002), 877-905.

- [2] K.M. Moser, Fatal Pulmonary Embolism: Old Pitfalls, New Challenges, Mayo Clin Proc 70 (1995), 501-502.
- [3] L.A. Pineda, V.S. Hathwar, and B.J. Grant, Clinical suspicion of fatal pulmonary embolism, *Chest* 120 (2001), 791-795.
- [4] A.M. Mitchell, A.E. Jones, J.A. Tumlin, and J.A. Kline, Prospective study of the incidence of contrastinduced nephropathy among patients evaluated for pulmonary embolism by contrast-enhanced computed tomography, *Acad Emerg Med* 19 (2012), 618-625.
- [5] A.S. Raja, I.K. Ip, L.M. Prevedello, A.D. Sodickson, C. Farkas, R.D. Zane, et al., Effect of computerized clinical decision support on the use and yield of CT pulmonary angiography in the emergency department, *Radiology* 262 (2012), 468-474.
- [6] J.B. Segal, J. Eng, L.J. Tamariz, and E.B. Bass, Review of the evidence on diagnosis of deep venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism, *Ann Fam Med* 5 (2007), 63-73.
- [7] Z. Yan, I.K. Ip, A.S. Raja, A. Gupta, J.M. Kosowsky, and R. Khorasani, Yield of CT Pulmonary angiography in the emergency department when providers override evidence-based clinical decision support, *Radiology* 282 (2017), 717-725.
- [8] A.S. Raja, J.O. Greenberg, A. Qaseem, T.D. Denberg, N. Fitterman, J.D. Schuur, et al., Evaluation of patients with suspected acute pulmonary embolism: Best practice advice from the clinical guidelines committee of the american college of physicians, *Annals of Internal Medicine* 163 (2015), 701-711.
- [9] B.W. Patterson, M.S. Pulia, R. Shashank, P.L.T. Hoonakker, A.S. Hundt, D. Wiegmann, et al., Scope and Impact of EHR integrated Clinical Decision Support in the Emergency Department: A Systematic Review, *Ann Emerg Med* (2019), published online.
- [10] F.S. Drescher, S. Chandrika, I.D. Weir, J.T. Weintraub, L. Berman, R. Lee, et al., Effectiveness and acceptability of a computerized decision support system using modified Wells criteria for evaluation of suspected pulmonary embolism, *Ann Emerg Med* 57 (2011), 613-621.
- [11] D. Jimenez, S. Resano, R. Otero, C. Jurkojc, A.K. Portillo, P. Ruiz-Artacho, et al., Computerised clinical decision support for suspected PE, *Thorax* 70 (2015), 909-911.
- [12] L.M. Prevedello, A.S. Raja, I.K. Ip, A. Sodickson, and R. Khorasani, Does Clinical Decision Support Reduce Unwarranted Variation in Yield of CT Pulmonary Angiogram?, *The American journal of medicine* 126 (2013), 975-981.
- [13] A.M. Mills, I.K. Ip, C.P. Langlotz, A.S. Raja, H.M. Zafar, and R. Khorasani, Clinical decision support increases diagnostic yield of computed tomography for suspected pulmonary embolism, *Am J Emerg Med* 36 (2018), 540-544.
- [14] P. Carayon, P.L.T. Hoonakker, A.S. Hundt, M.E. Salwei, D. Wiegmann, R. Brown, et al., Human factorsbased design improves usability of CDS for PE diagnosis in the ED, J Am Med Inform Assoc (submitted).

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190153

Model for Evaluating the Implementation of a Third Generation EHR System

Morten Balle HANSEN ^{a, 1} Kristian KIDHOLM ^b, Christian NØHR ^c, Thomas SCHMIDT ^c and Kasper Trolle ELMHOLDT ^a ^aCOMA, Department of Political Science, Aalborg University

^bCIMT, Odense University Hospital, University of Southern Denmark ^cMaersk Mc-Kinney Moller Institute, University of Southern Denmark

Abstract. Most theoretical approaches to evaluate implementation of EHR systems origins from the time when EHR systems replaced paper records. When staff and management have many years' experience in use of EHR, the approaches to implementation is different. In this protocol paper we review the main implementation theories and discuss the adequacy for planning and evaluation of implementation of third generation EHR. Finally, we present a model to understand relations between leadership, the implementation of the EHR system in the individual clinical departments, the perception of the staff and the quality of care. The model is used to outline five hypothesis that can be tested in a specific evaluation project.

Keywords. Evaluation, Electronic Health Record, Implementation, Management

1. Introduction

The Region of Southern Denmark has decided to introduce a new Electronic Health Record (EHR) system at the hospitals in the Region in 2020 [1]. The hospitals in the region were among the very first hospitals to implement EHR systems to replace the paper record in the late 1980's. Different systems have been used, and the new system may be described as the third generation EHR system in the Region of Southern Denmark. The new system is intended to be characterized by a stronger collaborative model between vendors and users, improved semantic interoperability, and an increased emphasis on the problems, work tasks and needs of the users in a specific context [2]. It will be the primary IT tool for about 22,000 doctors, nurses, secretaries and other staff at the region's hospitals, consisting of the core elements:

- Clinical notes and record management
- Medication
- Requisition and answers from laboratory and imaging systems,
- Patient administration
- Booking.

Reviews about the impact of EHR systems have shown that good leadership and management, infrastructure support, staff training and focus on workflows and usability is important for the outcomes of implementing EHR [3].

¹ Corresponding Author. Morten Balle Hansen, E-mail: mbh@dps.aau.dk

Hospitals consists of a large number of clinical departments each with its own management team. Often a department includes more than 200 employees and is an organizational unit with its own local management, even though all departments have a superior management in the directors of the hospital. Studies of the implementation of quality management systems and IT systems in Denmark and other countries have shown that the management of the individual departments are quite diverse and can make a huge difference to the implementation process in terms of variations in management skills, management goals, organizational tasks and responsibilities [3, 4]. A Danish case study of an EHR development process in the North Denmark Region also found differences between wards in the implementation and use of EHR systems [5].

Thus, the implementation of the EHR system in each of the clinical departments can be expected to vary with regard to the focus and importance that the management puts on the implementation and the amount of resources that is allocated during the process to make it a success. These differences between leadership styles in clinical departments in the same hospitals can be used to study the impact of management on the outcomes of implementation of a new EHR system.

In the hospital sector as well as in many other sectors, there have been massive challenges associated with the implementation of major information and communication technologies, ICT systems. It applies internationally in both the private and the public sectors and examples are abundant. Significant difficulties were encountered when large scale ICT systems were implemented in Massachusetts General Hospital in USA, Cambridge University Hospital in England, Copenhagen University Hospital in Denmark, and numerous other hospitals [4, 6].

There are many reasons why such implementation processes often go wrong, and the aim of this project is to develop scientifically sound knowledge of the different reasons for failures and to enable planning and actions that will increase chances of success.

2. Status of knowledge and theoretical approaches

The theoretical approaches to study implementation processes fall in three main research traditions:

- Change management literature
- Literature on diffusion and implementation of innovations
- Literature on the implementation of EHR systems

The first and oldest tradition has elaborated and tested general theories concerning how to lead change processes and took off with the work of Kurt Lewin in the late 1940s [7-9]. The second tradition is really a merger of the diffusion of innovations literature [10] and the implementation literature [11] which began in the 1960s and 1970s. This tradition has elaborated and tested theories concerning factors that generally tend to enhance or inhibit the adoption and implementation of innovations.

While the two first traditions have uncovered more or less general theories, the third and newest tradition took off in the 2000s and has focused on the implementation of EHR systems [3]. Thus, in the latter tradition the ambition is to uncover the drivers, enhancers and inhibiters of this specific type of change processes.

We have chosen to deliberately triangulate between the very specific research in EHR implementation and the more general theories of change management and the

diffusion and implementation of innovations. Combining and synthesizing these traditions, the research project can embrace the complex context of a hospital organization and thus develop important new insights. The three traditions represent decades of research and thousands of research projects and here we can only present the most conspicuous characteristics of the three traditions.

2.1. The change management literature

The change management literature is the oldest of the three research traditions. It has been characterized by a number of stage models more or less resembling and elaborating on Lewin's early unfreeze-transition-refreeze model [12]. The most influential has been Kotter's eight-stage model [13], which claims that successful change management follows eight steps: 1) Establish a sense of urgency; 2) Form a powerful guiding coalition; 3) Create a vision; 4) Communicate the vision; 5) Empower others to act on the vision; 6) Plan for and create short term wins; 7) Consolidate improvements and produce more change; 8) Institutionalize the new approaches. Very few studies have applied the change management perspective to EHR implementation processes. There is a review chapter relating this literature to health information systems [14] and two recent PhD dissertations based on qualitative interviews and using Kotter's and Lewin's framework [15, 16].

2.2. The innovation diffusion and implementation literature

While the change management literature focuses on leadership and management factors influencing processes of organizational change, the innovation diffusion and implementation literature has a broader focus on the factors that tend to influence the adoption and implementation of innovations across contexts [10, 17]. Thus, change management is seen as only one among many factors that influence successful implementation. In that respect, it resembles the EHR implementation literature presented below. Since this tradition is older than the EHR implementation literature and tries to generalize across the implementation of many different types of innovations, it has produced general theoretical frameworks, theories and concepts that are useful for the interpretation of the EHR implementation processes [17]: 1) Historical background of the intervention; 2) Design of the intervention; 3) Implementation actors; 4) Addressee response; 5) Other simultaneous interventions; 6) Issue networks and other environments.

2.3. The EHR implementation literature

The newest tradition is a specific EHR implementation research. Numerous studies have since the late 1990s examined factors related to success, failure and implications of EHR system implementations. This EHR implementation literature has been reviewed recently [3] and they organize their findings from 117 studies conducted between 1999 and 2017 in three categories: 1) Barriers to successful implementation; 2) Factors associated with successful implementation; and 3) Studies reporting on efficiency and productivity preand post-EHR implementation. The review reports empirical findings under these headings, but there are no or very little theoretical considerations and there are no attempts to relate the findings to the literatures on change management and adoption and

implementation of innovation presented above. However, among the studies in the three categories we have identified a number of areas that will be relevant to study.

2.3.1. Impact of EHR on productivity

Productivity is defined as the ratio between the output produced (e.g. number of admissions or surgical procedures) to the resources (e.g. number of medical doctors) used in production of health care [18]. Thus, productivity is equal to the number of outputs produced per input unit. EHR may have impact on the productivity of hospitals because EHR, on the one hand, may result in more accurate documentation, reduction in medical errors, improved quality of care and improved reimbursements [19]. On the other hand, there may be unintended consequences of implementation of new EHR systems that can have impact on the productivity, e.g. increased documentation time, interruption in clinical workflow and system errors in patient care [20].

2.3.2. Impact of EHR on clinical outcomes and safety

EHR may have impact on the clinical outcomes of the patients treated at the hospital and the safety of the patients. The review by Priestman et al. [3] describes a number of studies of the impact of EHR systems on clinical outcomes and point out that clinical impact depends on the setting. Whereas some studies have found positive improvements in clinical outcomes and safety others have found negative results. Similar to the effects on hospital productivity, studies have also found that impact on safety and clinical outcomes may return to baseline over 6-18 months.

2.3.3. Impact of EHR on patient satisfaction and perception

The introduction of the new EHR system in the Region of South Denmark will include a patient portal, where patients have online access to their own record. In addition, the patients will get the possibility to change their bookings for e.g. outpatient visits. Many of these features already exist in the national health portal "sundhed.dk" and if they replicate what already exist, it is relevant to evaluate the impact of the new system on the patients' perception of and satisfaction with the hospital services. A review by de Lusignan et al. [21] shows that the online access EHR services most utilised by patients are prescriptions, viewing the test results, messaging with their clinician, arranging referrals and rescheduling appointments. The review also describes that 16 studies have reported how patient experience and satisfaction with having online access to their EHR was high. The patients' perception of this service is mostly studied by use of interview or questionnaire to patients.

2.3.4. Impact of EHR usability on satisfaction and use

The Region of South Denmark envisions that clinical workflows are to be adapted to the solution to the largest extent possible in order to ensure most effective utilization of the new EHR, and to enable a fast implementation. This also emphasizes a streamlining of speciality specific workflows across hospital units. Such standardization offers long term benefits, but potentially amplifies the risk of alienating users by imposing changes to work and acceptance of a new information system simultaneously.



Figure 1. Relations between leadership, the implementation of the EHR system in the individual clinical departments, the perception of the staff and the quality of care examined in the study.

Several models for evaluation of the relationship between intention to use, and actual use are used in research today. DeLone and McLean's "Information Systems Success Model" [22] includes elements of systems quality, information quality, intention to use, satisfaction, actual use, individual and organizational impacts, and has been deployed to evaluate EHR implementations in multiple studies [23]. The Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) by Davis [24] has been widely used to evaluate acceptance and use of new technology with an analysis of how the users believe the new system would enhance job performance, and the degree to which it would be easy to use. However, like any other widely used explanatory model, TAM has received its share of critique. Consequently, several modified models have been proposed, most noteworthy are TAM2 by Venkatesh and Davis [25] and the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) [26], both of these seek to improve social influences and facilitation conditions in the model. Holden and Karsh reviewed the use of TAM in a number of studies and reported that although the model predicts a substantial part of use and acceptance of health IT, several aspects relating to the healthcare challenge the use of acceptance models [27]: e.g., essentially information system usability permeates all models as an abstract level construct, rather than focusing on tasks and challenges specific to clinicians. Consequently, a more implementation-oriented approach may yield better insight into specific issues of the EHR system in question.

3. Conceptual model for studying implementation of third generation EHR

Based on the three research traditions and the four identified impact areas, we have elaborated a conceptual model to guide research in implementation of third generation EHR systems (Figure 1). The implementation and change management activities at the level of the clinical departments (B) and its impact on the staff's perception of the EHR system (E) and, in the end, the impact on the quality of care, safety and productivity (G) is the central relation in our model. But the model also considers the impact of the state or point of departure within the clinical department with regard to the economic situation, quality of care and the state of the staff (A), the functionalities of the EHR system (C), the perception of the implementation of the EHR (D), the use of the EHR among the members of the staff in the department (F), and the overall context of the health care system (H).

Based on the Hansen and Nørup approach [4], we will test five hypotheses:

- (1) **Hypothesis 1**: There is a positive association between initial support for an ICT innovation before the implementation and the perceived performance of the ICT innovation after the implementation.
- (2) **Hypothesis 2**: There is a positive association between higher levels of directive leadership of the employees during the implementation process and the perceived performance of the ICT innovation after the implementation.
- (3) **Hypothesis 3**: There is a positive association between levels of participation in the implementation process and the perceived performance of the ICT innovation after the implementation.
- (4) **Hypothesis 4**: There is a positive association between an implementation strategy that has been adapted to the specific department and the perceived performance of the ICT innovation after the implementation.
- (5) **Hypothesis 5**: There is a positive association between clinicians' use and satisfaction with the current EHR system, and the perceived usefulness and usability of the replacement EHR system.

Based on the literature we know however that the process will be influenced by a number of other factors than the leadership styles of managers at the clinical departments. A number of structural factors at the departmental level such as their resources and their staff (B) will determine the point of departure. It is also evident that the overall context (F) is important, and rises questions such as: How is multilevel governance practiced? How much support is given and how? What are the temporal characteristics of the implementation (e.g. who implements first and who last?)? And, of course, all theoretical approaches emphasize basic characteristics of the intervention (the EHR system to be implemented (G)) as an important factor to be considered. We are not only interested in the perceived outcome according to the users of the new EHR system (C and D), but also in the quality of care and in the patient's satisfaction with the system (E).

References

- Systematic vinder udbud om syddansk patientjournal, Region of Southern Denmark, (2018). https://www.regionsyddanmark.dk/wm508750 (accessed Feb 10, 2019).
- [2] T. Schmidt, C. Nøhr, S. Vingtoft, and P. Turner, Next generation EHRs What Problems are these Systems aiming to solve?, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 257 (2019), 370-374.
- [3] W. Priestman, S. Sridharan, H. Vigne, R. Collins, L. Seamer, and N.J. Sebire, What to expect from electronic patient record system implementation; lessons learned from published evidence, *J Innov Heal Informatics* 25 (2018), 92-104.
- [4] M.B. Hansen, and I. Nørup, Leading the Implementation of ICT Innovations, *Public Adm Rev* 77 (2017), 851-860.
- [5] A.M.B. Høstgaard, P. Bertelsen, and C. Nøhr, Constructive eHealth evaluation: Lessons from evaluation of EHR development in 4 Danish hospitals, *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 17 (2017), 45.
- [6] K.M. Pedersen, Commentary: Electronic Patient Records: Confronting the Implementation Challenge, Public Adm Rev 77 (2017), 861-862.
- [7] K. Lewin, Resolving Social Conflicts. Selected papers on group dynamics, Harper and Row, New-York, 1948.
- [8] B. Burnes, Kurt Lewin and the planned approach to change: A re-appraisal, J Manag Stud 41 (2004), 977-1002.

- [9] J. Stouten, D.M. Rousseau, and D. De Cremer, Successful Organizational Change: Integrating the Management Practice and Scholarly Literatures, *Acad Manag Ann* 12 (2018), 752-788.
- [10] E.M. Rogers, Diffusion of Innovations, 4th edition, Free Press of Glencoe, New-York, 1995.
- [11] A.B. Wildavsky, and J. Pressman, *Implementation: how great expectations in Washington are dashed in Oakland*, University of California Press, 1973.
- [12] K. Lewin, Frontiers in Group Dynamics: Concept, Method and Reality in Social Science; Social Equilibria and Social Change, Bobbs-Merrill, Indianapolis, 1947.
- [13] J.P. Kotter, Why Transformation Efforts Fail, Harv Bus Rev (1995), 59-67.
- [14] C.U. Lehmann, K.M. Unertl, M.J. Rioth, and N.M. Lorenzi, Change management for the successful adoption of clinical information systems, in: J.T. Finnell, and B.E. Dixon (Eds.), *Clinical Informatics Study Guide*, Springer, Switzerland, 2016, 435–456.
- [15] M. Nicholas, Successful Strategies for Implementing EMR Systems in Hospitals, PhD dissertation, Walden University, 2018.
- [16] P. Riddley, Strategies for Developing and Implementing Information Technology Systems for Electronic Health Records, PhD dissertation, Walden University, 2018.
- [17] E. Vedung, Public Policy and Program Evaluation, Transaction Publishers, New Brunswick, 1997.
- [18] A. Castelli, A. Street, R. Verzulli, and P. Ward, Examining variations in hospital productivity in the English NHS, *Eur J Heal Econ* 16 (2015), 243-254.
- [19] D.A. Handel, and J.L. Hackman, Implementing Electronic Health Records in the Emergency Department, J Emerg Med 38 (2010), 257-263.
- [20] J.M. Tall, M. Hurd, and T. Gifford, Minimal impact of an electronic medical records system, Am J Emerg Med 33 (2015), 663-666.
- [21] S. De Lusignan, F. Mold, A. Sheikh, A. Majeed, J.C. Wyatt, T. Quinn, et al., Patients' online access to their electronic health records and linked online services: A systematic interpretative review, *BMJ Open* 4 (2014) e006021.
- [22] W.H. DeLone, and E.R. McLean, Information systems success measurement, Foundations and Trends® in Information Systems 2 (2016), 1-116.
- [23] L. Nguyen, E. Bellucci, and L.T. Nguyen, Electronic health records implementation: An evaluation of information system impact and contingency factors, *Int J Med Inform* 83 (2014), 779-796.
- [24] F.D. Davis, Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use, and User Acceptance of Information Technology, MIS Q 13 (1989), 319–340.
- [25] V. Venkatesh, and F.D. Davis, A Theoretical Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four Longitudinal Field Studies, *Manage Sci* 46 (2000), 186-204.
- [26] Venkatesh, Morris, Davis, and Davis, User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View, MIS Q 27 (2003), 425-478.
- [27] R.J. Holden, and B.T. Karsh, The Technology Acceptance Model: Its past and its future in health care, J Biomed Inform 43 (2010), 159-172.

of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHT1190154

Lessons Learned from Implementing a Patient Prioritization Tool Designed with End-Users in a Pediatric Emergency Ward

Clément WAWRZYNIAK ^{a, 1}, Jessica SCHIRO^a, François DUBOS^b, Sylvia PELAYO^a and Romaric MARCILLY^a

^aUniv. Lille, INSERM, CHU Lille, CIC-IT/Evalab 1403 - Centre d'Investigation Clinique, EA 2694, F-59000 Lille, France

^bCHU Lille - Pediatric Emergency Unit & Infectious diseases, Univ Lille, EA 2694, F-59000 Lille, France

> Abstract. Introduction. Overcrowding is a common problem in emergency departments. This is true for adult and pediatric emergency department (PED) and issues are potentially important (e.g. quality of care, financial, social, ethical). Optimum is one among several solutions implemented to fight this phenomenon. It is an electronic patient prioritization tool for PED devoted to non-vital emergencies. First usage assessments reported the tool was not used by the PED staffs despite their strong involvement during the development. Aim. This paper aims at understanding why the PED staff did not use the Optimum system that has been designed with them and for them, through a user-centered design process. Method. PED staffs answered answer a short survey about their usage of Optimum. Depending on their answer (user vs. non-user), they either underwent an individual semi-structured interview or an unstructured one. Interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed and, from each interview, meaningful semantic units representing the reasons for using/non-using Optimum were extracted and organized iteratively following a grounded approach by three ergonomics experts till a consensus was reached. Results. 12 interviews have been performed with 6 physicians, 5 nurses and 1 auxiliary nurse. Overall, the prioritization tool Optimum have received a mixed response from the PED staff: Optimum display is neither understood nor trusted by users. Moreover, it is mainly used to estimate the PED attendance rate and not to prioritize patients. Discussion. This study shows how much it is difficult to implement new tool in wards despite a user-centered development and without being included in the daily used patient management tool.

> Keywords. Pediatric emergency, patient prioritization tool, usage assessment, human centered design process, overcrowding

1. Introduction

Overcrowding is a common problem worldwide in emergency departments (EDs) [1-2]. Although there is no consensual definition [1,2], crowding can be defined as a mismatch between the ED's human and material resources and the large, often unpredictable number of patients. In extreme cases, it may lead to overcrowding when the number of patients compels the EDs to operate beyond its capacity [3–5]. Usually, EDs are

¹ Corresponding author: Clément Wawrzyniak, E-mail: clement.wawrzyniak@univ-lille.fr

considered overcrowded when all of their rooms, chairs, stretchers and waiting rooms are full [1]; A more simple form of overcrowding "exists when there is no space left to meet the timely needs of the next patient requiring emergency care" [1].

Several solutions have been tested to prevent EDs from being overcrowded. Educational initiatives have been proposed to reduce the rate of low-acuity visits and flyer-patients, and more generally to reduce the pediatric ED (PED) use [6]. Organizational adjustments have also been studied: for instance by employing someone dedicated to managing beds' occupation [7], or by scheduling staff according to the busy and light times for patient arrivals [8], or by increasing the number of beds. Finally, other initiatives implemented electronic patient triage systems to help optimize patients' triage and prioritization [9]. However, data used by electronic patient triage systems must often be entered manually by the clinicians; this is not possible when the ED is overcrowded, and therefore limits the system's usage and potential impact [10]. To be fully efficient, those systems must display reliable information without requiring supplementary data entry: the Optimum tool has been developed with this goal in mind [11, 12].

2. Context of the study

Optimum is a homegrown electronic patient prioritization tool developed to help clinicians prioritize patients (except vital emergencies) and manage patient flow in real time by automatically retrieving and analyzing data available in the ED's electronic health record (EHR). Optimum is not incorporated into the EHR. It was developed in Lille academic hospital following a human-centered design (HCD) process involving the PED staffs at each step of the process to maximize its usability and acceptance [11, 12]. A work analysis through interviews and shadowing allowed identifying the prioritization rules and patient flow strategies applied by the healthcare professionals during busy periods. Results were turned into functional specifications in collaboration with the PED's head physician. Early mock-ups based on these specifications were presented to a focus group comprising three physicians, two nursing nurses, two human factors specialists and 2 software engineers. Based on healthcare professionals' feedback, a revised mock-up was designed and evaluated through user testing. Results highlighted that the Optimum triage is 98% identical for physicians and 86% for nurses and that users understand the icons and the arrangement of the graphical user interface (GUI) [11].

The GUI displays the distribution of patients in the various steps of the care process using columns and blocks arrangements and, for each patient, the level of delay in his/her care process along with a proposed prioritization to help the PED staff to manage patient flow. A preliminary study confirmed that the indicators mirrors the actual patient progress in the care process and its usefulness [12, 13].

Optimum was implemented in December 2016. Two meetings were organized respectively with medical and nursing staffs to present Optimum's aims, features and indicators. The implementation was fully supported by the PED head physician who incited the staffs to use the tool. In the PED, four monitors display Optimum: 2 in physicians' rooms (main office and residents' office) and 2 in the nursing rooms.

One month after the implementation, shadowing and interviews showed that Optimum was very seldom used. Clinicians expressed they lacked knowledge on the tool. Therefore, another meeting was organized to present Optimum again to the medical and nursing staffs, and explanatory posters were put up beside each Optimum screen. At month 6, a second round of observations showed no change in the usage. The present study was performed 12 months after Optimum implementation on demand of the HF project owner and carried out by two independent HF experts. It aims at understanding why the PED staff does not use the Optimum system that has been designed with them and for them, through a HCD process.

3. Method

PED's physicians, nurses and nursing auxiliaries were contacted by email 12 months after the Optimum implementation to answer a short electronic survey about their usage of the tool. Depending on their answer, they were categorized as users or non-users. Then, all were interviewed individually: semi-structured interviews for users, unstructured ones for non-users.

Semi-structured interviews were inspired by the critical incident technique [14, 15]. Appointments with the users were made one month before the interviews; for the interview, clinicians were asked to note at least three examples of critical incidents they faced with Optimum, i.e. significant situations during which Optimum proved to be helpful, useless, or disturbing. An email reminded this instruction one week before the appointment. During the interview, the participants had first to relate the situations they identified. Then, 8 questions were asked dealing with: the type of situation, the information sought on Optimum, the impact of having the information and the outcome on the work process and the patient. Besides, participants were asked to explain how they were introduced to Optimum, whether they had been trained, by whom and when, and how they would qualify their usage of Optimum. For the non-user group, unstructured interviews aimed to explore the reasons for their non-usage.

All interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed. Meaningful semantic units representing reasons for using/non-using Optimum were extracted and organized following a grounded approach [16] by two HF experts till consensus arose.

4. Results

Nine persons out of 21 declined the interview invitation. Twelve interviews were performed including 6 physicians (including the head of the service), 5 nurses and 1 nursing auxiliary. Among them, 7 were users (6 physicians, 1 nurse) and 5 non-users (4 nurses, 1 nursing auxiliary). On the day of the interview, none of the interviewees had identified "incidents". They all reported generic situations. During the analysis of the themes tackles during the interviews, we reached saturation with physician users but not with other users and non-users.

4.1. Optimum usage

Overall, the PED staff expressed mixed attitudes towards Optimum. Three main profiles of users emerged: *i*) advanced user, *ii*) sporadic user and *iii*) non-user.

(1) **Advanced user** (n=1; physician head of the PED). He was a driven force for the development of Optimum; he took part to the design phase of the HCD process and to each evaluation session performed after the Optimum

implementation. He has a sound knowledge of the Optimum features and of the underlying prioritization algorithm. He reported using Optimum almost daily because it allows him having an overview of the PED crowding and estimating physicians' and nurses' workload. The delay indicator allows him identifying patients who have been waiting for too long and investigating the causes of those "extra-delays". He uses Optimum to detect the beginning of an overcrowding period in order to quickly and efficiently reorganize the PED staff, and, if need be, to ask other units for more human resources.

- (2) Sporadic users (n = 6; 5 physicians, 1 nurse). One physician reported using sometimes Optimum to know which patient to call next and to manage residents during overcrowding situations. The others (5/6) do not use Optimum as a prioritization tool neither during overcrowding situations nor during quiet periods: they do not know the underlying prioritization algorithm and are therefore not confident in the system and in the information it provides. At best, they use Optimum to get a global picture of the department's crowding and to identify patients whose wait time is abnormally long. Interviewees explained they initially looked at Optimum's screens because they were placed beside the EHR they constantly used. They gradually noticed that Optimum provided a better overview of the PED situation than the EHR and supplied a very useful delay indicator whose color evolves: "*It is the only information not provided by [the EHR]*". Interviewees insisted on the "red" delay indicator: "*I watch Optimum only when I see the delay indicator is red. For me, this means we are late to care this patient*".
- (3) Non-users (n = 5, 4 nurses, 1 nursing auxiliary). These healthcare professionals said they did not use Optimum. They considered Optimum as a useful tool for physicians' but not for nurses' work: "There are no relevant information for us. We spend much more time with patients than physicians, we are always communicating with other nurses and nursing auxiliaries. We know which patient must be cared first". Furthermore, all nurses criticized the stress issuing from the indicator displaying the patients who are waiting for hospitalization discharge: they related this information is completely unnecessary because they know they have to care these patients and discharge them to empty the PED.

In sum, Optimum is neither used as a prioritization tool nor understood by most of the users. Only two physicians (including the head of the department) perfectly knew Optimum's features. For example, whereas the delay indicator was the mainly used information, only two physicians and one nurse knew its actual meaning: 2 interviewees thought its color varied depending on whether an action or a visit to the patient was needed, 1 thought that it was related to the patient's emergency level; 5 ignored the calculation of the indicator.

4.2. Weaknesses and strengths of Optimum and its implementation

Several weaknesses were reported. Despite their involvement in the design process, nurses and auxiliaries pointed out their lack of training and consequently their lack of knowledge and misuse of Optimum. Besides, the staff highlighted that Optimum's logic and look-and-feel are too different from the EHR's (e.g. icons are different, patient data are more detailed in the EHR, information arranged in columns vs. in rows), which

requires an extra effort to understand and use Optimum. Even if they acknowledged how interesting Optimum may be for physicians, nurses and nursing auxiliaries pointed out Optimum is not designed for their work: to make it more useful, they suggested to add an alert to inform nurses when they have to take patients' vital signs.

Two main strengths were reported. The first one concerns the delay indicator: it allows them identifying and discharging patients who have been waiting for too long and so, avoiding patient's frustration and clear the PED by releasing beds. The second one concerns the patient's prioritization feature. Eight interviewees related an automatic triage feature could be very helpful for their patient management activity: they acknowledged Optimum's added value and agreed it provides a more relevantly patients' prioritization than the EHR.

5. Discussion

This study aimed to understand why, 12 months after its implementation, the PED staff do not use the electronic patient prioritization system that has been designed with them and for them. Only the PED's head and a physician use Optimum as a prioritization tool; others do not use Optimum at all or not as a prioritization tool. Interviews highlighted two main causes depending on the users' profile. From the medical staff's point of view, the lack of understanding of the prioritization rules led not to trust the provided information. From a nursing's point of view, two main issues were expressed: a lack of relevance of Optimum for their tasks probably due to a lack of involvement in the design process from what they said, and a lack training.

These results are surprising given the PED staffs' involvement during the tool design and evaluation process, and the several meetings and supports provided. Different lessons can be drawn based on these results. As regards the medical staff, we should have ensured the correct understanding of the underlying rules implemented in the system along with the data on which the system is based, i.e. their own prioritization rules, validated by themselves during a validation session, based on reliable data of their current EHR. It should be noted here, that, due to turn-over, part of the medical staff left the PED during the period of the study, but some of them were involved from the beginning. As regards the nursing staff, the feeling of not being involved in the process is more difficult to understand. Indeed, they attended less the meetings, but 2 to 3 representatives were there at each meeting and were involved in the design and evaluation sessions as the physicians were. Our hypotheses are that Optimum may be helpful for them only in some conditions that have not been correctly highlighted during the definition of the usage context, or the nurses' needs have evolved.

Results led us to suppose also that Optimum would be more used if it were integrated into the ED's EHR. Indeed, the differences in the display (e.g. icons and arrangement) between the EHR and Optimum bothered the interviewees. Integrating the patient prioritization tool (incl. the delay indicator) into the EHR would help improve its visibility, its understanding, and its perceived reliability and, consequently its usage.

From a methodological perspective, one may be surprised that, despite several reminders, interviewees did not note any incidents to prepare the interviews. This may question the reliability of the results, and the suitability of the critical incident technique to the emergency care context. Yet, all interviewees reported the same kinds of generic situations indicating that the latter were built on similar experiences with Optimum. It ensures a quite good reliability of the results. Nonetheless, the critical incident technique

may not be the method that suits the best the PED's constraints. Indeed, ED staffs' priority is to provide care to patients in a very fast dynamic context. Asking them to take notes of the context of their interaction with a tool increases their workload and may be detrimental to the care process: this may be the reason why interviewees were not able to note instance of their critical interaction with Optimum. Other methods should be tested to explore the interactions of the ED staffs with health informatic technology. An interesting and promising research area to train the clinicians would consist to use virtual reality technology to immerse PED staff in a virtual overcrowding PED environment in which they have to regulate the patient flow by using the Optimum tool.

Conflict of interest

Authors do not have conflict of interest to declare.

References

- R. Salway, R. Valenzuela, J. Shoenberger, W. Mallon, and A. Viccellio, Emergency Department (ED) Overcrowding: Evidence-Based Answers to Frequently Asked Questions, Revista Médica Clínica Las Condes 28 (2017), 213–219.
- [2] U. Hwang, Care in the Emergency Department: How Crowded Is Overcrowded?, Academic Emergency Medicine 11 (2004), 1097–1101.
- [3] A.K. Erenler, S. Akbulut, M. Guzel, H. Cetinkaya, A. Karaca, B. Turkoz, and A. Baydin, Reasons for Overcrowding in the Emergency Department: Experiences and Suggestions of an Education and Research Hospital, *Turkish Journal of Emergency Medicine* 14 (2014), 59–63.
- [4] J.A. Gordon, J. Billings, B.R. Asplin, and K.V. Rhodes, Safety net research in emergency medicine: proceedings of the Academic Emergency Medicine Consensus Conference on "The Unraveling Safety Net," *Acad Emerg Med* 8 (2001), 1024–1029.
- [5] S.M. Schneider, M.E. Gallery, R. Schafermeyer, and F.L. Zwemer, Emergency department crowding: a point in time, *Ann Emerg Med* 42 (2003), 167–172.
- [6] G. Huyer, S. Chreim, W. Michalowski, and K.J. Farion, Barriers and enablers to a physician-delivered educational initiative to reduce low-acuity visits to the pediatric emergency department, *PLos One* 13 (2018), e0198181.
- [7] E. Howell, E. Bessman, S. Kravet, K. Kolodner, R. Marshall, and S. Wright, Active bed management by hospitalists and emergency department throughput, *Ann. Intern. Med* 149 (2008), 804–811.
- [8] S. Mandavia, and L. Samaniego, Improving ED efficiency to capture additional revenue, *Healthc Financ Manage* 70 (2016), 66–69.
- [9] G. Lachenal, C. Lefève, and V. Nguyen, Résumés d'ouvrages, *Revue d'Épidémiologie et de Santé Publique* 62 (2014), 324.
- [10] M. Twomey, L.A. Wallis, and J.E. Myers, Limitations in validating emergency department triage scales, *Emergency Medicine Journal* 24 (2007), 477–479.
- [11] J. Schiro, Conception Centrée Utilisateur d'un outil d'aide à la gestion des tensions Le cas des Urgences Pédiatriques du CHRU de Lille, 2014.
- [12] J. Schiro, R. Marcilly, N. Leroy, C. Wawrzyniak, A. Martinot, and S. Pelayo, Design and evaluation of a patient website to reduce crowding in emergency departments: a preliminary study, *Stud Health Technol Inform* **210** (2015), 663–665.
- [13] J. Schiro, P.-F. Gauthier, F. Dubos, S. Pelayo, and R. Marcilly, Preliminary Evaluation of an Electronic Patient Prioritization Tool for Pediatric Emergency Department, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 247 (2018), 461–465.
- [14] J.C. Flanagan, The critical incident technique, Psychological Bulletin 51 (1954), 327-360.
- [15] J.I. Westbrook, E.W. Coiera, A. Sophie Gosling, and J. Braithwaite, Critical incidents and journey mapping as techniques to evaluate the impact of online evidence retrieval systems on health care delivery and patient outcomes, *International Journal of Medical Informatics* 76 (2007) 234–245.
- [16] B.G. Glaser, Basics of grounded theory analysis: emergence vs forcing, 2. Sociology Press, Mill Valley, Calif, 1992.

This page intentionally left blank

Citizens in Health Contexts

This page intentionally left blank

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190156

Managing Privacy and Data Sharing Through the Use of Health Care Information Fiduciaries

Paul R. DEMURO^{a, 1} and Carolyn PETERSEN^b ^aNelson Mullins Broad and Cassel, Ft. Lauderdale, FL, USA ^bMayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

Abstract. Policy and regulation seldom keep up with advances in technology. Although data de-identification is seen as a key to protecting one's data, reidentification is often possible. Whether one's data is to be used for care, research, or commercial purposes, individuals are concerned about the use of their information. The authors propose the concept of an information fiduciary for holders of data, describe how it might be applied in a health care context, and outline considerations to determine whether a holder of health care-related information should be regarded as an information fiduciary.

Keywords. Privacy, data sharing, health policy, de-identification, fiduciary

1. Introduction

An electronic health record (EHR) is the systemized collection of patient electronicallystored health information in digital format. Before EHRs came into wide use, when a patient visited a clinician, notes of that visit were generally kept in a paper record of some kind. The patient and the clinician were the key stakeholders in the encounter, the patient had an expectation of privacy and confidentiality in the relationship, and both patient and clinician expected the clinician to retain that privacy and confidentiality. Deidentification of patient information was largely nonexistent because the information was not accessible without access to the paper record or the claim, and the form in which health information existed was not conducive to large-scale research. When a patient participated in a clinical trial, that person's data was used in the context of the trial, and recorded in some form, but generally the only information available was that which was accessed in the context of the clinical trial.

Today, protected health information (PHI) exists in multiple sources, including EHRs, and patient-generated health data (PGHD) that may be transmitted electronically to one's care team through fitness or other devices that can track additional information about an individual. Thus, the company hosting the EHR, the vendor of the data-creating devices, and third-party trackers are also stakeholders that have access to these data. In addition, individuals post information on social media, create health-related information (e.g., the number of steps taken per day, searching the Internet for flu remedies), and complete transactions that are not healthcare-related in nature (e.g., purchasing items at

¹ Corresponding Author: Paul R. DeMuro, Email: paul.demuro@nelsonmullins.com

a supermarket). Entities playing a role in these transactions are additional stakeholders that hold information about an individual that can be accessed in some form.

Policymakers and regulators seek to preserve the integrity of the patient-clinician relationship by enacting laws and regulations that protect the confidentiality associated with clinical encounters. However, such groups also desire to facilitate research that might benefit the common or public good and public health. Such researchers and research organizations and their funders, whether nonprofit or for-profit, are stakeholders, and policymakers and regulators may prioritize their interests in data to avoid stymieing or impeding technological developments, even if data commercialization could occur.

2. Protection of PGHD through De-Identification

De-identification of PGHD is one aspect of health policy in which regulators have attempted to direct commercial activity. The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) [1], which replaced the Data Protection Directive [2], applies to European Economic Area (EEA) member states and to companies that offer goods or services to European Union (EU) data subjects or monitor behavior of EU data subjects. The GDPR defines personal data broadly compared to the Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) [3] in that it includes identifying information of EEA health care providers, including institutional staff and individuals who are not study participants or patients. It also includes personal data of a data subject, noting what those identifiers might be, and special categories of personal data. The GDPR covers the processing and/or operations performed on personal data, and applies to controllers who are persons or entities that determine the purposes and means of processing personal data on behalf of the controllers. Even US entities can be subject to the GDPR when they interact with data that is subject to the GDPR [4].

Similarly, American policymakers enacted HIPAA and the Health Information Technology and Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH) [5] to manage use of health data. HIPAA contains privacy and security rules that provide protection for PHI that may be used or disclosed by providers, health plans, or data clearinghouses (also known as covered entities). These covered entities and their business associates are regulated, but not the data itself. Of particular importance is the fact that data which can be de-identified consistent with HIPAA's parameters are not protected by HIPAA; it is in this context that data can be used or sold for research and/or commercial purposes. HITECH was created to promote meaningful use of health IT and reinforce HIPAA privacy and security measures related to transmission of health information [6]. In addition, some US states also seek to regulate data use. In 2018 California passed its own form of GDPR-type legislation, the California Consumer Privacy Act, which includes portions of the GDPR and the ballot initiative from which it emanated [7].

However, policy and regulation seldom keep up with the advances in technology, among them data de-identification [8]. In addition, different jurisdictions have different laws and regulations, which often overlap or are inconsistent. In the global economy, innovations rarely are put into use in just one jurisdiction. Thus, when policymakers and regulators promulgate law and regulations on how to de-identify data, as with HIPAA, such laws and regulations can become outdated. Though some stakeholders seek to deidentify data in accordance with applicable law and regulations or validate that they have done so correctly, others actively attempt to re-identify what was thought to be deidentified data, and review of re-identification attacks indicates that approximately 25% were successful as of 2015 [9].

Clearly, a balance of the interests of patients, clinicians, hospitals, and payers with those of researchers and commercial entities must be achieved. It may be argued that if the de-identification of data might lead to advances for the public good, for example through improved public health measures that benefit society as a whole, there should be greater tolerance for data re-identification than if it would lead to the development of a commercial product. However, that commercial product might result in something that is more readily available to all (e.g., through investment in the company). In this regard, at the risk of adding another layer of regulation on the already numerous layers of regulations, one can expand the notion of "information fiduciary" from the setting of search engines and social media platforms to the above stakeholders, thereby holding them to a higher standard that currently exists.

3. Data Holder as Fiduciary

A fiduciary is an individual or an entity that holds another's information in trust. For example, financial advisors are fiduciaries. An information fiduciary, thus, is an entity that holds personal information in some protected way [10]. Given that the law does not seem to keep up with technological advances and following existing law (including deidentification requirements) and company privacy policies may be insufficient to protect personal data, the concept of "information fiduciaries" may offer a useful framework for analysis. Even if there is an opportunity to "consent" to what a company might do with one's data, one must consider whether the consent was truly volitional and whether the person really knew what he or she might be consenting to. One could argue that in the context of health care, one's consent to use one's data is even less volitional than with social media or search engines because one may be unable to live without medical care.

In determining whether one or an entity might be considered an information fiduciary, a number of questions should be considered. Initially, the kind of information should be identified (e.g., from an EHR, personal device that creates PGHD). It may be important to ascertain how the information was generated. Other considerations include who is/are the intended recipient(s) of such information, to whom the information was actually transmitted, and the purpose of the data transmittal. A more thorny issue might be who owns the data, given that there might be more than one owner, and one might own it as the initial data (e.g., a patient), but another in a different form (e.g., a patient record). The nature and extent of any consent processes and disclosure agreements completed for the use of the data also should be taken into account.

Whether one should be treated as an information fiduciary depends upon what benefits might be derived from the use of the data, and whether those benefits inure to the public good or if they are commercial in nature, where only the holder of the data benefits financially and otherwise. That could include a company developing an algorithm which uses artificial intelligence and machine learning for which the company obtains intellectual property protection, and makes millions of dollars. If a financial advisor makes more money by selling a client financial products rather than by managing the individual's overall financial situation, questions would be raised about whether the financial advisor is really a fiduciary. Similarly, if an individual or entity is to be considered as a potential information fiduciary, consideration must be given to whether they would benefit financially from an individual's information without the individual's full knowledge and consent and without some benefit inuring to the individual, whether directly or indirectly.

Another important consideration should be to whom is the data transmitted. Individuals may have less of an expectation of privacy and confidentiality when information is placed on social media for others to see than when one conducts a search on Google. An individual would have even a greater expectation of privacy and confidentiality when their data are communicated to their medical care team.

At a broader level, also meriting consideration is the value of the data and whether the original patients whose data is used will receive some benefit. In this context, it will be important to analyze any legal considerations and whether the data is truly deidentified or has been subject to pseudomynization. Who made these determinations and the potential means of re-identifying the data and the possibility of doing so are other relevant concerns.

4. Ethical Considerations

It is important that those individuals and entities who would be within the ambit of an information fiduciary comply not only with all applicable laws and regulation, but also ethical considerations. In fact, given the special relationship that they are in, they should go beyond legal and ethical considerations. Given the special nature of an information fiduciary, this individual or organization should not merely determine whether data has been de-identified or subject to pseudomynization in accordance with applicable law and regulation, but should also try to anticipate whether the data might later be re-identified. Data sets are dynamic in nature and additional information might be added later that would increase the likelihood of re-identification. Advances in technology too might make reverse engineering the data de-identification process possible later.

Some guidelines to consider in determining whether a holder of health care-related data, including PGHD, should be regarded as a health care information fiduciary include the following:

- Does the individual whose data is generated have an expectation of privacy and confidentiality with respect to that data?
- How sensitive might the individual believe his or her data is?
- Was the form in which the data was transmitted such that an individual would reasonably expect that it would only be received and used by the party intended?
- Will the data be used to provide better care for the individual whose data it is, or be for the common or public good, or will it be commercialized for the good of the holder of the data?
- Would the individual whose data it is have consented to the eventual use, if it knew what that use was?
- What is the value of the data?
- Can the data truly be de-identified and not re-identified?

The answer to most of these questions typically will indicate whether an individual or entity holding health care-related data should be treated as a health care information fiduciary. As such, additional research is necessary to try to better define the parameters of healthcare information fiduciaries and provide guidance in this evolving area. Having the holder of one's personal data be a fiduciary or at least have the relationship governed by some sense of responsibility and protection for the individual's data offers obvious advantages. Of course, defining what that sense of responsibility and protection might be can be quite difficult and depend upon the answers to the questions posed previously. One might look to traditional notions of privacy and confidentiality to explore what an individual's expectation might be for his or her data. Most likely, some data (e.g., whether a person has a communicable disease) will be much more sensitive than other data (e.g., one's height). An individual's expectations about privacy and confidentiality might also depend upon how the information is generated and transmitted. For example, one might have less of an expectation of privacy and confidentiality about the number of steps on one's fitness tracker than their genetic information.

5. Conclusion

Protected health information exists in multiple sources, including as data generated by patients for their own health-related uses, and it can be transmitted and shared in numerous ways. Patients, citizens, clinicians, researchers, payers, health care administrators, policymakers, and others have variable expectations of privacy with respect to such data, though most can agree on the importance of protecting patients' privacy and managing access to PHI appropriately. Although de-identification of data prior to non-care-related uses is seen as important, the limitations of data de-identification have become apparent and other approaches to the maintenance of privacy are needed. The health care information fiduciary offers one such option.

Given the possibilities for data re-identification, for uses of it for purposes not intended by the original holder of the data, and for its commercialization without benefit to such individuals, there is potential for ultimate holders of protected health information to be considered as health care information fiduciaries with the responsibility of holding such information in trust. This article provides guidelines for determining whether a holder of health-related data should be regarded as a health care information fiduciary.

Initial steps to explore the potential use(s) of health care information fiduciaries should focus on what might be done to minimize health care information fiduciaries from using personal data in ways not intended by the individuals to whom data pertain. Structures that prevent health care information fiduciaries from benefiting from such data use unless it is for the common good or the public or unless there are other extenuating circumstances are needed. In addition, standards should be developed for information fiduciaries, including a code of conduct that would be dynamic in nature.

Beyond these efforts, further work should emphasize determination of practice standards and policy changes needed to establish and regulate fiduciaries, and to create mechanisms for enforcement, recognizing that standards and policies may need to change from time to time. Perhaps policymakers and legislatures should focus on what might happen to such individual data in the future, rather than considering only what has happened in the past as they create a regulatory infrastructure.

References

 Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation), (2016). https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1532348683434&uri=CELEX:02016R0679-20160504 (accessed Feb 8, 2019).

- [2] Directive 95/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 October 1995 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, (1995). https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31995L0046 (accessed Feb 8, 2019).
- [3] Summary of the HIPAA privacy rule, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, (2013). https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/laws-regulations/index.html (accessed Feb 8, 2019).
- [4] J. Raines, A. Laughton, S. Shaw, and A. Thomas, The broad reach of the GDPR: Europe's new data protections and their impact on U.S. health care entities, *AHLA Connections* 23 (2019), 10-14.
- [5] 45 CFR Part 160: HIPAA Administrative Simplification: Enforcement, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, (2009). https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/ocr/privacy/hipaa/administrative/ enforcementrule/enfifr.pdf (accessed Feb 8, 2019).
- [6] HITECH Act Enforcement Interim Final Rule, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, (2017). https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/special-topics/hitech-act-enforcement-interim-finalrule/index.html (accessed Feb 8, 2019).
- [7] Assembly Bill No. 375: California Consumer Privacy Act, State of California, (2018). https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB375 (accessed Feb 8, 2019).
- [8] W.N. Price II, M.E. Kaminski, T. Minssen, K. Spector-Bagdady, Shadow health records meet new data privacy laws, *Science* 363 (2019), 448-450.
- [9] K. El Emam, E. Jonker, L. Arbuckle, B. Malin, A systematic review of re-identification attacks on health data, *PLoS One* 6 (2011), e28071.
- [10] J. Zittrain, Facebook could decide an election without anyone ever finding out, The New Republic (2014).

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190157

The Evaluation of Decision Support Tools Needs to Be Preference Context-Sensitive

Jack DOWIE^{a, b, 1} and Mette Kjer KALTOFT^b ^a London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine ^b University of Southern Denmark

Abstract. Individuals have different preferences in how they wish to relate to healthcare professionals such as doctors. Given choice, they also have preferences in relation to the type and location of support they want for their health and healthcare decisions. We argue that preference-based clusters within this heterogeneity constitute different contexts and that evaluations of decision aids should be context-sensitive in this respect. We draw attention to two distinct preference-based clusters: individuals with a preference for 'intermediative' decision support as a patient, implemented in a largely qualitative deliberative model, on the one hand, and for 'apomediative' decision support as a person, implemented in a largely quantitative multi-criteria decision analytic model, on the other. For convenience, we refer to the latter as Person Decision Support Tools (PDSTs), leaving Patient Decision Aids (PDAs) for its former, conventional use. Seeking to establish proof of method, we present an online PDST that can help individuals establish which of these two types of decision support they would find optimal. It is based on nine key attributes on which PDAs and PDSTs can be contrasted. Within population heterogeneity, preference clusters should be identified, and acknowledged and respected as contexts relevant to the evaluation of decision support tools.

Keywords. Patient decision aid, person decision support tool, decision quality, apomediation, intermediation, shared decision making, preferences

1. Introduction

In a much-needed reminder that shared decision making is a means to an end, not an end in itself, Barry and co-authors argue that the ultimate product of a shared decision making process - indeed of any decision making process - is the *decision* [1]. The primary outcome in the evaluation of any decision-making process, perhaps especially a decisionaided one, should therefore be the *quality* of that decision. It is somewhat surprising, then, that the latest systematic review concluded that, while patient decision aids used in clinical encounters significantly increased patients' knowledge, lowered decisional conflict, increased observation-based assessment of shared decision making, and satisfaction with the decision-making process, decision quality was not mentioned as an outcome anywhere in the research covered [2]. Among the possible explanations, we suggest here that it is because *decision quality*, as a formative construct, requires measurement which is both context- and preference-sensitive. It follows that both types of sensitivity are needed in evaluating any decision making process (including shared

¹ Corresponding author: Jack Dowie, Email: jack.dowie@lshtm.ac.uk
decision making), in evaluating any decision aids designed to support decision making (whether 'shared' or not), and in evaluating any instrument proposed to evaluate either.

The vast majority of health decisions taken by individuals are *preference-sensitive*. Multiple considerations – various benefits and harms - are relevant and decisions require the relative importance of each to be established, indicating the trade-offs they are willing to make among them. Any decision aid needs to recognise and reflect the multi-criterial and preference-sensitive nature of health decisions. In the context of person-centred health decisions the relevant preferences are those of the individual person (patient-asperson, not as patient) elicited at the point of care [3]. The individual's preferences cannot be treated as just further epidemiological characteristics, to be added to their age, sex, location, or literacy level [4]. This ontological transgression is committed in any clinical or clinical guideline context when the person's preferences are regarded as adequately captured by the dependent variable in a group-based regression equation which employs their epidemiological characteristics as the independent variables.

This offence can, however, only occur in the clinical setting. Elicitation and use of average group preferences is valid and necessary in policy development and decision making. Here the key issue becomes the appropriate level of aggregation and hence the appropriate context for analysis and evaluation. It is clear from clustering studies that preference-based sub-groups exist in most populations in relation to many, if not most, health-related conditions. As just one example, in the case of PSA screening for Prostate Cancer, preference-based sub-groups are constituted by the different relative importance attached to avoiding prostate cancer on the one hand and experiencing the impotence and incontinence side effects of treatment on the other [5]. In this paper we argue that a preference cluster constitutes a context and that evaluations of decision aids and decision quality should be sensitive to preference-defined contexts.

Preferences may relate to states, as in the PSA screening case, or to processes. Here we pursue the notion of preference-based contextualisation in the provision of decision support processes that can potentially enhance decision quality. If there is surprise that *cognition*-based *contexts* are being proposed, it is worth pointing out that contextualisation on the basis of cognitive *pathology* is well accepted in mental health. And, beyond health, segmentation on the basis of the preferences of consumers – in most cases assumed to be in 'normal' health – is the accepted basis of marketing success.

2. Preference-Based Contexts for Decision Support

As stated at the outset, a vital contribution made by the Barry piece is in pointing to the context-sensitivity of the definition and measurement of shared decision making. They note that the National Quality Forum definition does not specify how or where it might take place and that patients and clinicians interact in many ways - phone conversations, virtual visits, email, and web portals are all ways of communicating about a decision.

Furthermore, they acknowledge that personal preferences will affect not only the type and location of shared decision making, but whether it occurs. Crucially for this paper they draw attention to their earlier study [6] in which it was found that 38% of men given a decision aid on PSA screening for prostate cancer outside a visit wanted to make the decision themselves *before* viewing it. This figure rose to 43% *after* viewing the aid. 'In the face of such strong data, should we still require these men to come in for an additional face-to-face visit to say that shared decision-making happened?' ask the authors. Finally, they note that the Cochrane review showed that the use of patient

decision aids is linked to improvements in 'decision quality' in the domains we have discussed, including knowledge, involvement, and match between values and choices, without apparent harms [7]. 'These benefits were seen regardless of whether the patient decision aids were used within or outside of clinician visits.'

It is clear from this, and many other studies (including on internet searching), that individuals have heterogeneous preferences in relation to the way they wish to relate to health professionals (especially doctors); also, that given choice, they have preferences in relation to the type and location of support they prefer for their health decisions. At the moment they have limited choice, especially where only licenced practitioners can perform some actions (diagnose conditions, prescribe many medications). But the scope for autonomous choice is expanding rapidly as the digital paradigm envisaged by futurists such as Eric Topol [8], Robin Farmfarmanian [9], and Bertalan Mesko and Dave deBronkart [10], encroaches on the status quo. In the not too distant future *self-production* of health is supplemented by its *co-creation* undertaken in collaboration with a healthcare professional; a process akin to 'shared decision making' but only when the empowered person is the driver [11].

The mainstream orthodoxy in relation to decision support for individual's health decisions focuses on just one context, that of Shared Decision Making (SDM) between clinician (or clinical team) and patient. This SDM can be facilitated by Patient Decision Aids such as Option Grids [12], assessed normatively by IPDASi standards [13]. The extent to which the SDM occurs in deliberative consultations is to be measured by instruments such as OPTION [14]. Empirical implementations of the PDAs are to be evaluated by DQIs [15]. (We cite only Dartmouth-Boston examples; others exist.)

To make clear the existence of at least one other major context, we draw attention to two distinct preference-based clusters in the population: individuals with a preference for *intermediative* decision support as a patient, implemented in a largely qualitative *deliberative* model on the one hand, and for *apomediative* decision support as a person, implemented in a largely quantitative *multi-criteria decision analytic* model on the other. For convenience we will refer to the latter as *Person* Decision Support Tools (PDSTs), leaving *Patient* Decision Aids (PDAs) for its former, conventional, use.

Following Eysenbach [16] decision support is 'apomediative,' when the resources involved are produced independently of the provider of the good or service in question (apo = away from) and are delivered publicly accessible 'direct to *person*' in the community. Familiar examples of apomediative decision support resources, based on largely quantitative multi-criteria decision analytic models, are the proliferating product and service comparison websites, such as 'Which' in the UK, 'Consumer Reports' in the US, and 'Taenk' in Denmark. Apomediation is distinguished from 'intermediation,' where the provider develops a decision support resource on the basis of their perceptions and decisions as to what the *patient* can benefit from, as well as their in/ability to deliver options that could potentially be covered in the resource. Intermediation is not provider-independent and options present in an apomediative aid may be censored or filtered on the basis of the beliefs, values, and interests of providers – and any other stakeholders involved in intermediative aid development. Public access PDSTs which constitute the main type of apomediative resource, eschew such option censoring or filtering, seeking to supply high quality independent guidance without conflicts of interest of any sort.

Apomediation is to be distinguished from 'dis-intermediation,' where the individual (sometimes a dissatisfied patient) attempts to find what they want without help from healthcare providers, for example by doing anonymous internet searches. Apomediation can therefore be seen as acknowledging some of the motivations underlying disintermediation but seeking to supply a better alternative to Dr Google - one which will be superior, or inferior, to intermediation *depending on the preferences of the person*.

If engagement with an apomediative aid results in a decision to contact a healthcare professional, we have the possibility of blended 'apo-intermediation'. However, in this case the clinician will engage with the person in a way that is different from that which characterises the pure intermediative mode. For example, they will need to be prepared to discuss options in the apomediative PDST that may not have appeared in an intermediative PDA for the same decision.

Even if an intermediative aid is made available online at home as preparation for an encounter - as in the Barry PSA study - it remains an intermediative PDA. It will be recalled that 43% of their participants decided to treat it as apomediative support, so the issue is whether those who prefer to decide for themselves would not be better served by a genuine apomediative aid, one which will have different characteristics and require different standards and evaluation.

3. Establishing Preference-Based Contexts

Information support is only a component of decision support. Decision support requires showing how any information can be incorporated into a decision framework that also introduces the preference component and makes the impact of each component observable and explorable. It is characteristic of intermediative decision aids that they are not based on any analytic model and aim to help the patient 'make up their mind' during shared encounter deliberation, without producing a preliminary opinion to be discussed. In contrast, to be effective in their community setting, apomediative resources must include decision support, not just information support.

Seeking to establish proof of method, we present an online PDST that can help individuals establish which of the two types of decision support they would find optimal, based on their preferences over the key distinguishing attributes. Nine attributes which distinguish PDAs from PDSTs (as defined) were derived from surveying a large number of the PDAs in the Ottawa Directory (https://decisionaid.ohri.ca/AZlist.html), as well as the IPDASi checklist for PDAs [13] and a tabular comparison of the latter with the contents of an MCDA-based PDST. [17] (Table 2, p.6). These attributes exclude those associated with development processes, or supplementary information presentation concerning condition or options, where both types are assumed to meet equally well. Full definitions are in the online tool at https://ale.rsvd.dk (enter 1498 as survey ID).

Shorthand versions of the nine criteria are:

- Home vs clinic engagement.
- No option filtering vs option filtering.
- Do nothing option included vs only action options.
- Numerical vs verbal chances.
- Absolute vs relative risks.
- Overall vs only condition-specific mortality/morbidity.
- Functional vs clinical outcomes.
- Numerical vs verbal preference weights.
- Calculated option scores vs no opinion.



Figure 1. Screen capture from online tool with purely illustrative responses.

Slight stereotyping of PDAs is involved as a few will not match all these characteristics.

Results from this survey will establish the number and strength of the emergent preference clusters, but their existence is not in serious doubt. Even a small number preferring PDSTs will justify their production and delivery, subject to cost-effectiveness considerations. In this respect, any relevant cost-effectiveness analysis must cover the production and delivery processes for both types, as well as their service consequences. In many cases, especially screening, PDSTs are likely to be cost-effective, possibly even cost saving, as a result of reducing preference-based over-diagnosis and over-treatment.

4. Conclusion

The preferences of individuals in relation to health and healthcare decision making processes are heterogeneous. Within this heterogeneity preference clusters should be identified and acknowledged and respected as contexts relevant to the evaluation of decision support tools. The task of developing normative and empirical evaluation tools for the full range of preference-based contexts, including apomediation, remains.

Funding

The software used was installed at https://ale.rsyd.dk as part of a nationally funded project to develop decision support tools. SATS J.nr. 1-1010/116/27

Conflict of Interest

Jack Dowie has a financial interest in the Annalisa software when used commercially.

References

- M.J. Barry, S. Edgman-Levitan, and K. Sepucha, Shared Decision-Making: staying focused on the ultimate goal, *NEJM Catalyst* (2018).
- [2] P. Scalia, M-A. Durand, J.L. Berkowitz, N.P.Ramesh, M.J. Faber, J.A.M. Kremer, et al., The impact and utility of encounter patient decision aids: systematic review, meta-analysis and narrative synthesis, *Patient Education and Counseling* **102** (2018), 817-841.
- [3] J. H. Eklund, I.K. Holmström, T. Kumlin, E. Kaminsky, K. Skoglund, J. Höglander, et al. "Same same or different?" A review of reviews of person-centered and patient-centered care, *Patient Education and Counseling* **102** (2019), 3–11.
- [4] M.K. Kaltoft, J.B. Nielsen, G. Salkeld, and J. Dowie, Preferences cannot be treated as epidemiological characteristics in person-centred care: a riposte, *European Journal for Person Centered Healthcare* 4 (2016), 6–9.
- [5] M.K. Kaltoft, R. Turner, M. Cunich, G. Salkeld, J.B. Nielsen, and J. Dowie, Addressing preference heterogeneity in public health policy by combining Cluster Analysis and Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis: Proof of Method, *Health Economics Review* 5 (2015), 1-11.
- [6] M.J. Barry, R.M. Wexler, C.D. Brackett, K.R. Sepucha, L.H. Simmons, B.S. Gerstein, et al., Responses to a Decision Aid on Prostate Cancer Screening in Primary Care Practices, *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 49 (2015), 520–525.
- [7] D. Stacey, F. Légaré, K. Lewis, M.J. Barry, C.L Bennett, K.B. Eden, et al., Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions, *Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews* (2017).
- [8] E. Topol, The Patient will See You Now: the future of medicine is in your hands, Basic Books, New York, 2015.
- [9] R. Farmanfarmaian. The Patient as CEO: How technology empowers the healthcare consumer, Lioncrest Publishing, United States, 2015.
- [10] D. deBronkart and B. Meskó. The Digital Health Manifesto, *The Medical Futurist* (2018). Available from: http://medicalfuturist.com/digital-health-manifesto/ (accessed Jun 3, 2019).
- [11] J. Dowie and M.K. Kaltoft, The future of health is self-production and co-creation based on apomediative decision support, *Medical Sciences* 6 (2018), 66.
- [12] P. Scalia, M-A. Durand, J. Kremer, M. Faber, and G. Elwyn, Online, Interactive Option Grid Patient Decision Aids and their Effect on User Preferences, *Medical Decision Making* 38 (2017), 56-68.
- [13] G. Elwyn, A.M. O'Connor, C. Bennett, R.G. Newcombe, M. Politi, M-A. Durand, et al., Assessing the quality of decision support technologies using the International Patient Decision Aid Standards instrument (IPDASi), *PLoS One* 4 (2009), e4705.
- [14] G. Elwyn, A. Edwards, M. Wensing, K. Hood, C. Atwell, and R. Grol, Shared decision making: developing the OPTION scale for measuring patient involvement, *Quality & Safety in Health Care* 12 (2003), 93-99.
- [15] K.R. Sepucha, J.K. Belkora, Y. Chang, C. Cosenza, C.A. Levin, B. Moy, et al., Measuring decision quality: psychometric evaluation of a new instrument for breast cancer surgery, *BMC Medical Informatics* and Decision Making 12 (2012), 51.
- [16] G. Eysenbach, From intermediation to disintermediation and apomediation: new models for consumers to access and assess the credibility of health information in the age of Web2.0, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 129 (2007), 162–166.
- [17] Ø. Eiring, K. Nytrøen, S. Kienlin, S. Khodambashi, M. Nylenna, The development and feasibility of a personal health-optimization system for people with bipolar disorder, *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making* 17 (2017), 1–11.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190158

Avoiding Sedentary Work: Exploring Motivational Issues

Ann BYGHOLM^{a, b, 1} and Lisbeth KAPPELSGAARD^a ^aDepartment of Communication and Psychology, Aalborg University, Denmark, ^bDanish Centre of Health Informatics, Aalborg University, Denmark

Abstract. In this paper we present a qualitative study on motivations for avoiding sedentary work. Sedentary work has been recognized as a significant public health problem and many workplaces now invest in initiatives to support employees in avoiding it. The initiative in focus here include bikes, treadmills, step machines and adjustable workstations combined with a digital platform to keep track of activities and to make relevant information available. Experiences indicates that while employees are excited at the beginning, the use of exercise tools drop relatively fast. In order to understand motivation for use, clarify challenges and identify opportunities to support use of exercise tools through the digital platform we did interviews with employees and decision makers from four different companies. The overall challenge identified was pressure of busyness and reasons for use was due to individual objectives. Thus, in order to support employees in avoiding sedentary work the digital platform should provide facilities which allow for formulating and pursuing individual objective.

Keywords. Sedentary work, interventions, ecological approach

1. Introduction

Sedentary behavior (from Latin sedere – "to sit") is the term used to characterize behaviors that involves sitting and low energy expenditure (1.0-1.5 metabolic equivalents), such as computer use, driving, and television viewing. [1] Contemporary changes in work, transport, domestic activities, and leisure time in general have led to more time spent in sedentary behavior, and this behavior has been recognized to play a significant role in the development of chronic diseases such as type 2 diabetes, musculoskeletal symptoms, cardiovascular diseases, obesity and premature mortality. [2, 3] Furthermore, research also indicates that negative effects associated with sedentary behavior are independent of efforts to meet general recommendation of daily physical activity [4] which is typically 30 minutes a day, e.g. [5]. Reducing sedentary behavior at work is especially important as work take up a large part of the day's hours, and a study from US shows that over the last decades the proportion of sedentary occupations has increased [6].

Interventions strategies to avoid sedentary work have been categorized in slightly different ways. According to a review, based on 26 intervention studies, presented by Chu et.al. strategies can be divided in educational/behavioral strategies, environmental strategies and multi-component strategies [7]. Educational/behavioral strategies involve

¹ Corresponding Author: Ann Bygholm, Email: ann@hum.aau.dk

educational initiatives for adoption and maintenance of behavior change, and providing motivational signs like so called decisions points placed on or near stairwells, elevators, and escalators to encourage individuals to use stairs. The educational/behavioral strategies have been explicated in the CALO-RE taxonomy covering 40 items of behavioral change techniques [8]. Environmental strategies involve changes in environment like providing access to adjustable work stations, bikes, treadmills, step-machines and the like. Multi-component strategies are combining educational/behavioral and environmental strategies. All the mentioned strategies are found to have some effect, with the multi-component strategies evaluated as the most effective.

Other studies operate with the same categories but add an organizational or policy level to the strategies and designate this as an ecological approach [9, 10, 11, 12] to address the problem of sedentary behavior. Hutcheson et al in their review, based on 15 intervention studies, describe four core principles (based on [11]) that characterize an ecological framework [12, p. 42] (1) health behaviors are affected by more than just intrapersonal (knowledge or skill)-levels factors, (2) factors affecting health behavior interact across different levels (3) potential factors influencing health behavior should be identified at multiple levels, and (4) interventions focusing on multi levels of influence should be most effective in producing the desired change.

There seems to be an agreement that interventions of the mentioned types in general shows some effect and that multi-component strategies involving the organizational/political level are the most effective. However, a majority of intervention studies are short-term intervention, and the rather few longer- term interventions shows a decline in activity. This make the authors of [9, 12] to point to the need for long-term evaluations on the one hand, and to suggest, on the other hand, that some of the effects of the interventions might be due to novelty or excitement, whereas in the long run employees return to their ordinary (sedentary) habits.

In our study we address the question of employees' motivation for use, and thus add to the understanding of long-term effects of interventions directed at avoiding sedentary behavior at work. We focus on actual use-practice and the challenges experienced with the aim of identifying ideas and opportunities to support use of exercise tools mainly through the digital platform.

2. Case

The company that we cooperate with offer a multi-component strategy to combat sedentary behavior at work. The strategy consists of bikes, treadmills, step machines, adjustable desks and other exercise artefacts. This is combined with a digital platform where the users can register activities (biking, walking, stepping, standing or other exercises), participate in event and challenges, watching video instructions targeting specific problems e.g. back pain, getting general information, and participate in various forms of competitions. Furthermore, apart from the possibility of monitoring own performance the digital platform also provide access to data from own company, departments, section as well as data from other companies and institutions. Thus, you can set up an event, like reaching La Rambla in Barcelona, and compete with another section e.g. in your own company, on who is arriving first, deciding that the losers serve tapas and sangria for the winning team. Or participating in a four-week squat challenge starting with 10 squats the first Monday and ending with 105 squats the last Friday. The digital platform is web-based, but also available as an app.

Apart from exercise artefacts and the digital platform the implementation of this concept involves a kick-off meeting and the nomination of one or more health ambassadors. At the kick-off meeting all the employees at the specific site is informed on the importance of avoiding sedentary behavior and instructed in how to use the exercise artefacts and the digital platform. The overall message is that a small effort, like standing up 30 minutes a day, make a huge difference in the overall health status. The health ambassadors are nominated by their own company and their role is among other things to act as mediators between the costumer and the company selling the multi-component strategy.

The company is around 4-year-old and already have many costumers from private companies and public institutions, mainly in Denmark but also in Scandinavia and Germany. The concept is still under development and especially the design and use of the digital platform is in focus. The company receives continuous suggestions for improvement to the digital platform from the costumers. These suggestions concern both small improvements to the current functionality, such as a possibility to add more participants to an ongoing challenge or easier registration, and more general comments, such as improvement of the visual experience, the request of the app/web to work faster, or the need of functionality to motivate colleagues. The company's own idea on how to improve the digital platform concern adding more possibilities for various kinds of competition, and also the inclusion of nudging elements.

The overall experiences are as mentioned that while the employees are enthusiastic at the beginning, the use of exercise tools drop relatively fast at least for a god deal of the employees. In order to understand use practice, the challenges involved, and eventually point to functionalities and procedures that might support a more constant use of the concept we did an exploratory pilot study.

3. Methods

The study is based on qualitative interview. Staff from four different companies/institutions where interviewed, 9 persons in all. One interviewee came from a company who decided not to buy the concept after a 3-month testing period. The remaining came from companies that have had the concept installed for a period between 5 months and 2 years. The interviewees where all users or potentially users of the concept, but also had different roles. Thus, we did interviews with one decision maker, one health ambassador and one ordinary user at two of the companies, and one decisionmaker and one health ambassador from one company. We were both present at the interviews, which took place at the company site, also given us the opportunity to see how the exercise artefacts was placed in the environment.

In order to understand the use-practice and the challenges experienced by the employees we asked two types of questions. On the one hand we posed very specific questions on what, when, how, why and why not. E.g. we asked if and when they have used the exercise artefacts lately, if they have used them today, for how long, what triggered the activity, what where they working with while they were using it? What was the reason for not using the exercise artefacts. We posed similar specific questions concerning the use of the digital platform. This approach was inspired by contextual inquiry [13]. The other type of questions, inspired by the narrative interview form, addressed the meaning, significance, and value of the concept. E.g. we asked questions on if and how and with whom the interviewees talked about the concept, how would they

characterize the value of having access to the facilities, did they participate in competitions, did they feel any pressure from colleagues etc. These questions were asked to all participants.

Decision makers was further asked why they have chosen to implement the concept, if they did any kind of monitoring of the use, if sickness absence had gone down, and how they evaluated the success or failure of the concept. Additional questions to health ambassadors included, how they got the role (voluntary or appointed), task and responsibilities, contact with other health ambassadors, and so on.

Interviews had a duration of approximately 30 minutes, were audio recorded and data was manually coded by both authers seperately, in order to clarify the themes of reasons for use, role of health ambassadors, general use practice, challenges for use, and ideas and wishes for the digital platform.

4. Results

According to the decision makers, the choice of introducing the exercise concept was due to concerns for the overall working environment, and not just for health reasons. In one of the organizations there was a history of problems in the work setting with massive notifications of illness as a result and the exercise concept was one of several initiatives made to change this situation. Thus, the intention focused more on creating a sense of community among members of staff, than on the actual exercise. Other decision makers state the reason for adopting the exercise concept as an additional benefit for the staff in line with e.g. high-quality lunch and access to a physiotherapist. There was no specific monitoring of use in any of the organizations/companies.

The role of health ambassadors was to act as mediators between the company selling the exercise concept and the costumers. In general, the ambassadors were voluntary appointed, meaning that decisions makers appointed people they knew were interested. Some understood their role as those who had to set a good example for the others, e.g. raising the table or using the bike on a regular basis. Others conceived themselves more as facilitators, e.g. taking responsibility for providing a reservation system for the exercise artefacts and making sure they are repaired if broken. Some had a regular contact with one or more health ambassadors from the same organization/company and some had not. Overall there were some confusion on the role of the health ambassadors and the respondents said that this was something they had to discuss further.

It was mentioned in all three companies/institutions that after the first couple of months excitement the use of the exercise tools declined for a part of the employees. Several reasons for this were mentioned, some said that they never really got started after the summer holiday, others that it had been too hot, or it was difficult when wearing high heels or flip-flop shoes, but the main explanation was bustle. When very busy at work they tended to stop using the exercise tools. One explained that for example in order to bike when working, you must have everything you need within reach, and even getting something from the desk drawer is difficult while sitting at the bike. Once you have stopped it can be difficult to get started again.

As for the employees who continued to use the exercise tools regularly, the main explanation was found in individual circumstances. That is, exercise help you keep depression at a distance, or keeping your cholesterol down, or give less back pain and so on. It seemed as if the competition element (competing with other groups in the same company or with other companies) that played an important role in the beginning became less important over time. This might also have something to do with the fact that registration of how far or for how long time you have biked, walked or stood had to be manually done. Generally, people were quite happy with the digital platform, but we learned that it was rather diverse what was recorded which also made it difficult to compare activity between departments and companies. The digital platform also provided different challenges, like wall sitting or squat challenges, but what was especially appreciated and motivating was specific information like "If you stand up at your desk every day for 2 hours in a year then it corresponds to running 6 marathons". Also, some of the decisions makers and health ambassadors asked for strategies that could help people to get started again.

This pilot study reveals that the main motivation for employees to continuously use the exercise tool are due to individual circumstances such as keeping e.g. depression or back pain at a distance. The more competitive element seems to be less important. However, this can also be due to the fact that registration of activities is experienced as difficult. In general, these indications from our pilot study, need to be explored on the basis of more data on user practice and challenges experienced by the users.

5. Conclusion

Based on this pilot study we can conclude that the exercise strategy is implemented to afford a sense of community and at the same time provide the employees with a possibility of doing exercise while working. The role of the health ambassadors could be clearer. Motivation for regular use is primarily due to individual reasons. The digital platform should allow for formulating individual objectives, provide functionalities for easier registration, and deliver timely and specific information on health issues.

References

- N. Owen, A. Bauman, and W. Brown, Too much sitting: a novel and important predictor of chronic disease risk? *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 43 (2008), 81–83.
- [2] M.T. Hamilton, D.G. Hamilton, and T.W Zderic, The Role of Low Energy Expenditure and Sitting on Obesity, Metabolic Syndrome, Type 2 Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Disease. *Diabetes* 56 (2007), 2655-2667
- [3] World Health Organization, *Global recommendations on physical activity for health*, World Health Organization, Geneva, 2010
- [4] S.A. Prince, T.J. Saunders, K. Gresty, and R.D. Reid, A comparison of the effectiveness of physical activity and sedentary behaviour interventions in reducing sedentary time in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials: Interventions and sedentary behaviours, *Obesity Reviews* 15 (2014), 905–919.
- [5] Danish Health Authority, https://www.sst.dk/en/health-and-lifestyle/physicalactivity/recommendations/recommendations-for-adults (accessed Nov 24, 2018).
- [6] T.S. Church, D.M. Thomas, C. Tudor-Locke, P.T. Katzmarzyk, C.P. Earnest, R.Q. Rodarte, et al., Trends over 5 Decades in U.S. Occupation-Related Physical Activity and Their Associations with Obesity, *PLoS ONE* 6 (2011), e19657.
- [7] A.H.Y. Chu, S.H.X. Ng, C.S. Tan, A.M. Win, D. Koh, and F. Müller-Riemenschneider, A systematic review and meta-analysis of workplace intervention strategies to reduce sedentary time in white-collar workers: Workplace interventions and sedentary behaviours, *Obesity Reviews* 17 (2016), 467–481.
- [8] S. Michie, S. Ashford, F.F. Sniehotta, S.U. Dombrowski, A. Bishop, and D.P. French, A refined taxonomy of behaviour change techniques to help people change their physical activity and healthy eating behaviours: The CALO-RE taxonomy, *Psychology & Health* 26 (2011), 1479–1498.

- [9] Q.G. To, T.T.L. Chen, C.G. Magnussen, and K.G. To, Workplace Physical Activity Interventions: A Systematic Review, *American Journal of Health Promotion* 27 (2013), e113–e123.
- [10] M. Neuhaus, G.N. Healy, D.W. Dunstan, N. Owen, and E.G. Eakin, Workplace Sitting and Height-Adjustable Workstations, *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 46 (2014), 30–40.
- [11] F. Sallis, R.B. Cervero, W. Ascher, K.A. Henderson, M.K. Kraft, and J. Kerr, AN ECOLOGICAL APPROACH TO CREATING ACTIVE LIVING COMMUNITIES, *Annual Review of Public Health* 27 (2006), 297–322
- [12] A.K. Hutcheson, A.J. Piazza, and A.P. Knowlden, Work Site–Based Environmental Interventions to Reduce Sedentary Behavior: A Systematic Review, *American Journal of Health Promotion* 32 (2018) 32-47.
- [13] K. Holtzblatt and H. Beyer, Contextual Design: Design for life, 2nd edition. Morgan Kaufmann, 2017.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190159

Narratives and Stories: Novel Approaches to Improving Patient-Facing Information Resources and Patient Engagement

Blake LESSELROTH a, b, 1 and Helen MONKMAN b

 ^a Department of Medical Informatics, University of Oklahoma, University of Tulsa School of Community Medicine, Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA
 ^b School of Health Information Sciences, University of Victoria, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

Abstract. Patient-centered healthcare requires development of materials for health consumers that increase health literacy, enrich the provider-patient dialog, empower shared decision-making, and improve downstream outcomes. Unfortunately, evidence suggests current methods of communication, including print and electronic media, are inadequate. The Narrative Theory of Learning is grounded in the premise that humans define their experiences and form cognitive structures (e.g., new learning, novel concepts) within the context of narratives. Simply put, humans remember stories better than fragmented bits of information. Therefore, we propose leveraging the power of narratives and stories to improve the efficacy and impact of consumer health applications. We describe several examples of future technologies that could incorporate narrative techniques and present a call to action for future research and development.

Keywords. Usability engineering, implementation science, consumer informatics, health information technology, quality improvement, health literacy

1. Background

High quality healthcare is contingent upon meaningful engagement of patients in all aspects of their care including information-seeking, clarification of goals, and shared decision-making [1]. Moving to patient-centered models of care frequently requires the implementation of evidence-based "bundles" – processes and tools that foster dialog, improve patient self-management, and downstream clinical outcomes [2]. Bundle elements may include (1) re-imagined workflows; (2) educational artifacts (e.g., drug handouts, illness management brochures, clinic visit summaries); and (3) consumerfacing health information technologies (HIT) [3].

2. Problem Statement

Traditional methods of communication intended to educate and engage patients are often inadequate [4]. Studies suggest that up to 80% of information provided to patients is

¹ Corresponding Author: Blake Lesselroth, Email: Blake-Lesselroth@ouhsc.edu

immediately forgotten [5]. Further, in over 50% of encounters, patients or representatives do not understand the diagnosis or treatment plan, and only 12% of patients proficiently act upon health information [6, 7]. For example, materials accompanying prescription medications and intended to improve medication safety (e.g., paper package inserts, medication guides, consumer medication information) are often confusing to health consumers (e.g., patients, families, caregivers) [8]. Moreover, even when printed materials (e.g., tests, results, management recommendations, or side effects) are furnished in consumer-friendly language, patients may need additional context, such as prior experiences or examples, to make values-based decisions [9, 10].

Technologies intended to close these communication gaps and improve patient selfefficacy (e.g., patient portals, self-service kiosks, and mobile applications) can paradoxically increase cognitive overhead, particularly in patients with low health or information technology literacy [11, 12]. Hence, while there is a role for user experience (UX) research to inform the human factors of responsive designs, we also believe developers need to consider approaches that borrow from other industries such as education, business, and the social and psychological sciences [13]. In this monograph, we propose leveraging the power of narratives and storytelling to improve the impact of consumer health information systems.

3. Purpose and Audience

In the following sections, we (1) discuss key references supporting the value of multichannel learning; (2) review an established model of learning that uses narrative techniques; (3) offer hypothetical examples of tools using stories and narratives; and (4) present suggestions for future research and development. This paper should be of interest to researchers in health informatics and the social sciences as well as health services researchers engaged in "boots-on-the-ground" implementation and dissemination work.

4. Key Literature

Mayer's Cognitive Theory of Multimedia Learning argues that presenting information using multiple channels (e.g., auditory and visual) can improve cognitive performance [14]. The theory describes several evidence-based principles to guide development of instructional content such as using photographs, graphs, timelines, and infographics to communicate information [14-17]. Unfortunately, clinical resources using these strategies have an unreliable effect upon patient recall, accuracy, and self-efficacy [5, 7, 18]. Rather than simply combining channels (e.g., audio and visual), instructional materials should mirror the way the human mind works by organizing information logically and sequentially. Studies suggest using interactive content can improve patient understanding of clinical material and clear narratives can foster insights to inform patient-centered and values-based decision making [10, 19-21].

UX researchers have also begun testing consumer health information systems that attempt to empower patients and enrich the clinical dialog [22, 23]. However, design strategies are still be lacking [12, 24]. For example, the inclusion of pharmaceutical images in an application for medication reconciliation neither improved patient accuracy, nor the ability to detect adherence discrepancies [25].

To summarize, currently there is no single most effective method to communicate

health information to consumers. Moreover, learning theories proven in other domains do not reliably translate to successful consumer informatics software. While these theories hold promise for the development of new applications, additional research is needed to understand how context mediates learning (e.g., mode of communication, types of information conveyed, and patient-specific characteristics). Moreover, we believe that the use of narratives and stories warrants exploration. It is possible that narratives can organize health information for patients to improve comprehension, recall, and application in values-based decision-making.

5. Theoretical Model for Narrative Learning

Cognitive scientists, psychologists, and anthropologists have long acknowledged the human tendency to draw associations of causation between observations [21, 26, 27]. Presumably, these heuristics conferred an evolutionary advantage, enabling individuals to adapt to unfamiliar environments and respond quickly in critical situations [28]. With regards to andragogy, constructivist theory and the related contextual model of learning argue that humans pragmatically encode information through lenses of personal history, socio-cultural environment, and physical space [29, 30]. Learning is deeply embedded in context and enriched through reflection that occurs over time [31].

Bruner's discovery learning theory, though constructivist by nature, goes further by arguing that narrative thinking is the "default mode" for constructing meaning [29, 32, 33]. Clark and others have built on this foundation and advanced the narrative theory of learning as an epistemological tool for engaging learners on a deeply emotional and personal level (Table 1) [30]. Stories are not only cognitive scaffolds to consolidate learning, but also recognizable paths to personal agency within a larger fabric of cultural norms and sociotechnical systems [30, 32, 34]. Learners that can link a concept to their own experiences can also construct a counter narrative to increase self-efficacy and influence social systems. For this reason, Avraamidou and colleagues describe the use of stories to teach sophisticated scientific concepts [29, 35].

Component	Description	Example
Purpose	To help understand the natural	Why a patient with early stage breast cancer opted for
	and human world.	bilateral mastectomy and reconstruction.
Events	A sequence of connected events.	An exchange with a breast cancer survivor influenced her decision.
Structure	An identifiable beginning, middle, and end.	She learned about treatments, listened to another patient's perspective, and saw an opportunity.
Time	Narratives concern the past.	A prior exchange created new insights beyond the recommendations from a surgeon.
Agency	Actors cause and experience events.	The story aligned with the patient's feelings about identity, sexuality, and empowerment.
Narrator	The teller can be a character or an observer.	A breast cancer survivor provided the account.
Reader	The listener must be able to recognize and interpret.	A patient weighing options used the narrative to consider alternative decisions and outcomes.

Table 1. The essential components of a narrative, adapted from Avraamidou [35] with an example adapted from Dohan [10].

6. Practical Strategies Using Narratives and Emerging Technologies

We propose several approaches in which the narrative theory of learning may inform HIT development, health systems delivery, and patient-centered care. We categorize these approaches into:

- (a) Interpersonal communication. Practitioners should deliver important messages and educational content through established case stories (e.g., description of drug interactions, symptom manifestations) with an identifiable narrator and sequence of events [36]. Practical ways to scale stories for clinical settings include using standardized interview scripts during interviews and patient learning journals to track understanding over time [30]. Also, conducting group medical appointments where peers can recount personal experiences and insights has been shown to be an effective way to provide hope, support, and disease management strategies [37].
- (b) Distributed networks. Peer-networks, on-line rating platforms, and social media are powerful channels for exchanging information, identifying solutions, and fostering supportive communities [12, 38]. For example, Henao and colleagues describe Alicanto (http://alicantocloud.com), a multi-function social community website dedicated to maternal and fetal health that includes educational materials, a discussion forum, and toolkits to improve self-management [39]. We envision virtual hubs providing a repository of searchable healthcare-related stories from patient narrators and aggregated patient-centered experiences [38].
- (c) Educational artifacts. Content providers should organize educational materials using stories that describe an inpatient care-day or clinic encounter, as well as the purpose, key events, clinical reasoning, and potential health outcomes patients may anticipate. In the future, providers may forgo traditional print media such as after-clinic summaries, drug monographs, and disease brochures in favor of narrative media such as internet web logs (i.e., "blogs"), podcasts, and videos [19].
- (d) Human-computer interfaces. Current consumer health interfaces are still in their relative infancy and often suffer from usability issues [12]. Future interfaces may draw heavily from the gaming industry-particularly role-playing and immersive formats – by using devices and affordances that place the user at the center of interactive or enhanced experiences. For example, augmented reality may help patients experience real-world scenarios such as advanced directives discussions, hospital navigation, and specialty consultation [40].

7. Implications for Future Research and Call to Action

In summary, we believe that the narrative theory of learning offers a new direction for health services research, informatics development, and implementation campaigns. Rather than being orthogonal to current development efforts, it offers a theoretical scaffolding to inform new concepts and a roadmap for interdisciplinary research. We propose three practical strategies to foster the inclusion of narrative theory into research protocols, user-centered design, and care delivery:

(a) **Intersectional research.** We believe the wellspring of innovation and research breakthroughs are dependent upon collaboration between disparate disciplines such as healthcare, information technology, business, and the social sciences.

Future initiatives should strive to include stakeholders that bring fresh perspectives to the design of human-centered products and contextuallysensitive research protocols. Specialists in UX, design, education, philosophy, anthropology, cognitive psychology, public health, business, and marketing have important roles to play in these initiatives.

- (b) UX methods. The software and technology design lifecycle must include UX methods at every stage. We envision including UX techniques at the requirements definition, design prototyping, and implementation phases. At each step, researchers should seek to clarify user values, environmental constraints, and informational needs through ethnography, workflow mapping, journey mapping, and empathy mapping [41]. Design activities should include high-fidelity simulations to validate use-cases and surface practical user needs [42]. Data collected through these activities will help to inform more robust use-cases, educational environments, and responsive interface designs.
- (c) Implementation bundles. We envision future implementation and dissemination campaigns that include story-driven patient artifacts and HITsupported communities of practice. To properly design, deploy, and evaluate tool effectiveness, it is critical that protocols include theoretical frameworks informed by narrative learning theory. Also, measurement instruments should seek to quantify the relationship and impact of narratives upon consumer learning, health literacy demands, and disease self-management [7].

8. Conclusions

Consumer health information systems are becoming increasingly prevalent. However, at present these systems are failing to capitalize on what we know to be true about human cognition: we are better at remembering stories and narratives than discrete bits of disconnected information. Developers need research to understand and capitalize upon the potential benefits of integrating narratives into consumer health information.

References

- Improving Outcomes Important to Patients, Patient Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI), (2019). https://www.pcori.org/ (accessed May 16, 2019).
- [2] What is patient-centered care?, NEJM Catal. (2017). https://catalyst.nejm.org/what-is-patient-centeredcare/ (accessed May 16, 2019).
- [3] S.S. Ono, B.F. Crabtree, J.R. Hemler, B.A. Balasubramanian, S.T. Edwards, L.A. Green? et al., Taking innovation to scale in primary care practices: the functions of health care extension, *Health Affairs* 37 (2018), 222-230.
- [4] D.M. McCarthy, K.R. Waite, L.M. Curtis, K.G. Engel, D.W. Baker, and M.S. Wolf, What did the doctor say? Health literacy and recall of medical instructions, *Med Care* 50 (2012), 277.
- [5] R.P. Kessels, Patient's memory of medical information. J of Royal Society of Med 96 (2003), 219-222.
- [6] E. Azoulay, S. Chevret, G. Leleu, F. Pochard, L. Barboteu, et al., Half the families of intensive care unit patients experience inadequate communication with physicians, *Crit Care Med* 28 (2000), 3044-3049.
- [7] H. Koh, C. Brach, L. Harris, and M. Parchman, A proposed 'Health Literate Care Model' would constitute a systems approach to improving patients' engagement in care, *Health Affairs* 32 (2013), 357-367.
- [8] S. Shiffman, K.K. Gerlach, M.A. Sembower, J.M. Rohay, Consumer understanding of prescription drug information: an illustration using an antidepressant medication, *Ann Pharmacother* 45 (2011), 452-458.
- [9] P.C. Tang and C. Newcomb, Informing patients: a guide for providing patient health information. J Am Med Inform Assoc 5 (1998), 563-70.

- [10] D. Dohan, S.B. Garrett, K.A. Rendle, M. Halley, and C. Abramson, The importance of integrating narrative into health care decision making, *Health Affairs* 4 (2016), 720-725.
- [11] H. Monkman and A. Kushniruk, The Consumer Health Information System Adoption Model, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 218 (1995), 218-231.
- [12] G. Demiris, Consumer health informatics: Past, present, and future of a rapidly evolving domain, Yearbook of Medical Informatics 25 (2016), S42-S7.
- [13] S. Mullangi, A.M. Ibrahim, and V. Chopra, Toward Patient-Centered Hospital Design: What Can Airports Teach Us?, Ann Intern Med 167 (2017), 48-49.
- [14] R.E. Mayer, Cognitive Theory of Multimedia Learning, in: R. Mayer (Ed.), Camb. Handb. Multimed. Learn., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2014, 43–71.
- [15] P. Knapp, D.K. Raynor, A.H. Jebar, and S.J. Price. Interpretation of medication pictograms by adults in the UK, *Ann Pharmacother* 39 (2005), 1227-1233.
- [16] R. Moreno and R. Mayer, Interactive multimodal learning environments, *Educ Psychol Rev* 19 (2007), 309-326.
- [17] Q. Zeng-Treitler, S. Perri, C. Nakamura, J. Kuang, B. Hill, D.A.A. Bui, et al., Evaluation of a pictograph enhancement system for patient instruction: a recall study, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 21 (2014), 1026-1031.
- [18] M.G. Katz, S. Kripalani, and B.D. Weiss, Use of pictorial aids in medication instructions: a review of the literature, Am J Health Syst Pharm. 63 (2006), 2391-2397.
- [19] L. Ricciardi, F. Mostashari, J. Murphy, J. Daniel, and E. Siminerio, A national action plan to support consumer engagement via e-health, *Health Affairs* 32 (2013), 376-384.
- [20] J. McDonough, Using and misusing anecdote in policy making, Health Affairs 20 (2001), 207-212.
- [21] J. Gottschall, The Storytelling Animal: How Stories Make Us Human, Houghton Mifflin Harcourt, Boston, Massachusetts, 2012.
- [22] L. Heyworth, A.M. Paquin J. Clark, V. Kamenker, M. Stewart, T. Martin, et al., Engaging patients in medication reconciliation via a patient portal following hospital discharge, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 21 (2013), e157-e62.
- [23] A.N. Cohen, M.J. Chinman, A.B. Hamilton, F. Whelan, and A.S. Young, Using patient-facing kiosks to support quality improvement at mental health clinics, *Med Care* 51 (2013), S13-20.
- [24] D.A. Haggstrom, J.J. Saleem, A.L. Russ, J. Jones, S.A. Russell, and N.R. Chumbler, Lessons learned from usability testing of the VA's personal health record, *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 18 (2011), i13-7.
- [25] B.J. Lesselroth, K. Adams, V.L. Church, S. Tallett, Y. Russ, J. Wiedrick, et al., Evaluation of Multimedia Medication Reconciliation Software: A Randomized Controlled, Single-Blind Trial to Measure Diagnostic Accuracy for Discrepancy Detection, *Appl Clin Inform* 9 (2018), 285-301.
- [26] G.A. Klein, Sources of power: How people make decisions, MIT press, Cambridge, Massachussets, 2017.
- [27] D. Kahneman and P. Egan, Thinking, fast and slow, Farrar, Straus and Giroux, New York, 2011.
- [28] G. Gigerenzer, Gut feelings: The intelligence of the unconscious, Penguin, 2007.
- [29] M. Murmann and L. Avraamidou, Narrative as a learning tool in science centers: potentials, possibilities and merits. *Sci Commun* 13 (2014), A02.
- [30] M.C. Clark and M. Rossiter, Narrative learning in adulthood, New Directions for Adult Continuing Education 119 (2008), 61-70.
- [31] J. Falk and L. Dierking, The 95 percent solution, American Scientist 98 (2010), 486-493.
- [32] J. Bruner, The narrative construction of reality, Journal of Critical Inquiry 1991;18(1):1-21.
- [33] J. Foer, Moonwalking with Einstein: The art and science of remembering everything, Penguin, 2012.
- [34] I.F. Goodson, G. Biesta, M. Tedder, and N. Adair, Narrative learning, Routledge, 2010.
- [35] L. Avraamidou, J. Osborne, The role of narrative in communicating science, Int J Sci Educ 31 (2009), 1683-1707.
- [36] A.M. Tomey, Learning with cases, J Contin Educ Nurs 34 (2003), 34-38.
- [37] K. Ramdas, A. Darzi, Adopting innovations in care delivery the case of shared medical appointments, N Engl J Med 376 (2017), 1105-1107.
- [38] B. Ranard, R. Werner, T. Antanavicius, A. Schwartz, R.J. Smith, Z. Meisel, et al., Yelp reviews of hospital care can supplement and inform traditional surveys of the patient experience of care, *Health Affairs* 35 (2016), 697-705.
- [39] J. Henao, Y. Quintana, and C. Safran, An informatics framework for maternal and child health (MCH) monitoring, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 257 (2019), 157-162.
- [40] The 10 Most Exciting Digital Health Stories of 2017 The Medical Futurist, (n.d.). https://medicalfuturist.com/10-exciting-digital-health-stories-2017 (accessed May 16, 2019).
- [41] H. Loranger, P. Laubheimer, and J. Nielsen, *Effective Agile UX Product Development*, Nielsen Norman Group, Fremont, California, 2012.
- [42] E. Borycki and A. Kushniruk, Towards an integrative cognitive-socio-technical approach in health informatics: analyzing technology-induced error involving health information systems to improve patient safety, Open Med Inform J 4 (2010), 181.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190160

Patient Experiences and Digital Involvement in Patient-Centred Care Models

Berglind F. SMARADOTTIR ^{a, 1} and Rune W. FENSLI^b

^aClinical Research Department, Sørlandet Hospital, Norway ^bDepartment of Information and Communication Technology, University of Agder, Norway

Abstract. The provision of individualised treatment and care from health care services to patients with chronic conditions and multi-morbidities is under pressure because of an increasing elderly population. There is a need for services that are: 1) person-centred, 2) integrated and 3) proactive, and supported by digital technology. The research project 3P- Patients and Professionals in Productive Teams aims to study different patient-centred teamwork models in Norway and Denmark. This paper presents a study on patients' experiences and digital involvement in patient-centred care teams. Qualitative research methods were applied with interviews and demonstrations of technology use made at patient's homes. The results showed that the patients were satisfied with the patient-centred service models and had an increased feeling of safety. A constraint was information sharing between the patient-centred health care team and the patients. Most of them did not have access to read own medical information and mainly verbal information was shared between the patients and the health providers.

Keywords. Health technology, patient-centred care, telemedicine, patient safety

1. Introduction

There are demographic changes in society with an ageing population that is increasing, and prone to long-term conditions and multi-morbidities [1], [2] and this is threatening the sustainability of the health care systems [3]. Patients, health care professionals and authorities claim the need for re-organising the service model for people with long-term conditions and multi-morbidities. The patient's needs have to be in focus with development of service models that are patient-centred, integrated and proactive [4]. A patient-centred health care builds on a proactive stepped care plan with goals and supports self-management. Digital solutions for communication and collaboration between patients and health providers are a central element in integrated and patient-centred care models. This paper presents a qualitative study about patients' experiences and digital involvement in four health organisations in Norway and Denmark, that apply patient-centred service models. A special focus was made on the use of health technology in home settings. The research questions (RQs) stated were:

¹ Corresponding author: Berglind Smaradottir, E-mail: berglind.smaradottir@sshf.no

- (1) RQ1: What are the patient experiences with health technology for communication and information sharing with patient-centred health care teams?
- (2) RQ2: What are the benefits and constraints of using health technology seen from a patient perspective?

2. Methodology

This paper was made within the research project *3P* - *Patients and Professionals in Productive Teams* that aims to study health care services models that are run with patientcentred teamwork approaches, but also focusing on digital support for communication and care of patients [5]. The 3P-project is 4-year long (2015-2019) and funded through Helseforsk, a cross-regional health research fund owned by the four Norwegian Regional Hospital Trusts [6]. The project consists of ten work packages that target different aspects of patient-centred teamwork, including patient experiences, patient safety and digital support. Four health care organisations that utilise patient-centred care models and located in different health regions of Norway and Denmark participate in the project. Three of the health organisations provided telemedicine services for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) [7][9] and the fourth organisation provided services in the transition period from hospital to home for elderly patients with multimorbidity and chronic conditions [10].

A qualitative research approach was used in this study of patient experiences, with semi-structured interviews and observations of technology use made in the period from June 2017 and until October 2018 [11]. Visits were made to all the four health organisations and the selection and recruitment of informants was made in collaboration with key contact persons. A total of ten informants contributed in the study, whereof two patients from each health region, expect for one region where three patients participated. One separate interview was made with a close family member to gather experiences from a family perspective. The informants had the age from 56 to 83, with a mean of 74 years old. The aim of the interviews was to study patients' involvement and experiences from different patient-centred care models and how technology was used for communication and information sharing purposes. The goal was to map the experienced obstacles in the communication and outlining optimal digital support for the patient-centred care models of the future.

Seven of the patients had experience from using health technology at home and made a demonstration of the functions and shared their user experiences. The data collection consisted of audio- and/or video recordings and annotations that were thematically analysed and categorised into three main groups. A total of 7 hours was recorded, and the interviews had a mean duration of 42 minutes. The Norwegian Centre for Research Data approved the study, with project number 53771 [12]. All the informants participated voluntary and signed a consent form, also the family member.

3. Results

The results are presented in three sub-categories: 1) patient involvement, 2) information sharing and 3) patient safety.

3.1. Patient involvement

All patients had been or were included to services from patient-centred health care teams that were run with different service models. In two of the health organisations, the patients were enrolled for team services for a limited time. In the other two organisations there was no time limit for the services. In the interviews, patients enrolled in services from all the organisations expressed that they had experienced "increased safety" regarding their contact and medical follow-up from the patient-centred care teams.

Seven of the patients had used a tablet for remote monitoring of COPD and made measurements and questionnaire answers that were sent to telemedicine centres. They all had received a visit at home to be included to telemedicine service and connect the technology. The patients expressed that the service models for telemedicine were well-organised and with pre-defined topics to individually go through, such as inhalation- and breathing techniques. The patients expressed that the telemedicine sessions provided a good opportunity to ask questions and that they learned how to observe own symptoms and self-management. It was experienced as more personal to be able to see the face of the health provider compared to a telephone consultation. The patients used technology from three different vendors, and for all of them it was stated that it was easy to use the equipment and not additional workload in the daily life. It was expressed that the telemedicine nurses were specialised in COPD and could provide more targeted advices compared to the patients' GPs and the informants would recommend inclusion to such services to other patients.

Two of the patients had received services from a patient-centred team in the transition from hospital to home. They particularly received advices and support related to physical activity and targeted training and had no remote follow up except from telephone calls. They did also receive home nursing services, so they had more than one service provider. One of the patients expressed "*the team cares about me and they try to help me*".

3.2. Information sharing

In both Norway and Denmark there are national health portals for the citizens to access own medical information. In Denmark all the patients had used the national health portal to read own information, but in Norway the patients had neither heard about or used the portal. In two of the Norwegian health organisations, the patients could access their electronic health record at the hospital but not the municipal record. In the two other organisations, the patients had access to own measured telemedicine information in a tablet solution, but no access to information in electronic health records.

In all health organisations, the patients-centred teams had made an individual plan for each of the patients, but only two of the patients had a clear printed plan at home for daily management and how to handle treatment during deterioration.

In one of the health regions, the information about the patients was not shared with other health providers such as the GP or hospital specialist. The patients considered that as a limitation in the information sharing and one expressed: "*it is important that also the home nursing services know about the telemedicine information*".

3.3. Patient safety

The health information about the informants in this study was stored in at least three different information systems: 1) the hospital electronic health record, 2) the municipal electronic health record and 3) the General Practitioner's system. In addition, there were private specialists involved using their own digital system. The use of so many different systems have the constraint of limited interoperability and lack of information sharing, such as the updated medication list of the patient.

Three of the health organisations could not provide written feedback on verbal information given through telemedicine consultations or by use of telephone. One patient expressed "*I write down the instructions immediately*" and another stated that "*this is a limitation because for instance during high fever also elderly people can get confused and forget instructions*". The patients in one health organisation did have solution that facilitated a message function between the provider and the patient.

The patients in Denmark could use their telemedicine technology also abroad and highlighted the benefit of having a short response time for exacerbations or other acute medical conditions. They expressed that the telemedicine service was most important during exacerbations and did only send measurements in such situations. They also had a "medication kit" always available to reduce the start-up time for treatment.

Regarding information security, none of the patients sending telemedicine measurements were worried about privacy or confidentiality. But most of them had thought that all systems can be hacked, or information sent to wrong receiver. One of them expressed "*it is impossible to avoid sharing of personal information and I trust the system because I can see how useful it is*". However, one informant stated "*I do not like that companies abroad host and can access our patient data*".

4. Discussion and Conclusion

This paper has presented a study of the experiences and digital involvement of patients enrolled in services from patient-centred health care teams. The research questions (RQs) are answered based on the results.

Regarding RQ1, that asked about the patient experiences with health technology for communication and information sharing purposes. The study showed that the patients expressed an increased feeling of safety and self-management during telemedicine intervention, also seen in [13], [14]. In general, they found the telemedicine equipment easy to use. However, In Denmark, the telemedicine technology shortened the response time and it was possible to use it abroad. Also, in Denmark, the patients were more familiar with using national health portals compared to Norway where none of the patients had logged in to read own information. Regarding the individual plan with goals and "What matters to you?", there should be digital access for patients and where registration of own activities or health-related goals might be a solution.

RQ2 addressed constraints and benefits. There was a lack of written confirmation on verbal information made in telemedicine consultations, a limitation that impacts on the patient safety for instance regarding changes in medication. The patients had limited access to their own information and it was stored in several different systems. When the patient is a "part of the team" s(he) owns the information and should be able to access it in a user-friendly way. Information systems and electronic health records are usually designed for health care professionals and to some degree collaborative work across organisations, but patients have become a user group of the same systems and their needs must be taken into consideration. Patients that are equipped with tablets for monitoring purposes, should be able to use the same device to access and read all needed information such an individual treatment plan and medical information in electronic health records.

This study had some limitations such as including a limited number of informants. However, the informants meaningfully represented the patient group with diversity in age, gender and digital literacy, and they contributed with sharing their experiences regarding technology and interactions with patient-centred teams applying different care models. Future work would target a larger comparative study across countries on how to improve the digital involvement of elderly patients.

Acknowledgement

The authors thank the informants for their participation in the study. This research was funded by the Norwegian Regional Hospital Trusts with Grant number 243857. The authors declare that there are no conflicting interests with any of the participants, organisations or vendors.

References

- S. Roderick, P.J. Kowal, B.D. Dimitrov, A.G. Hill, Global Patterns of Multimorbidity: A comparison of 28 countries using the world health surveys, In: M.N. Narzul, B. Pecotte, M.A. McGehee (Eds), *Applied Demography and Public Health in the 21st Century*, Springer International Publishing, 2017, 381-402.
- [2] S.H. van Oostrom, R. Gijsen, I. Stirbu, J.C. Korevaar, F.G. Schellevis, H. Picavet, et al., Time trends in prevalence of chronic diseases and multimorbidity not only due to aging: data from general practices and health surveys, *PLos One* **11** (2016), 8:e0160264.
- [3] L. Wang, L. Si, F. Cocker, A.J. Palmer, K.A. Sanderson, A systematic review of cost-of-illness studies of multimorbidity, *Appl Health Econ Health Pol* 16 (2018), 1-15.
- [4] G. Berntsen, F. Strisland, K. Malm-Nicolaisen, B. Smaradottir, R. Fensli, M. Røhne, The evidence base for an ideal care pathway for frail multi-morbid elderly: A combined scoping and systematic intervention review, *J Med Internet Res* 21 (2019), e12517.
- [5] Patients and Professionals in Productive Teams (3P), Norwegian Centre for E-health Research, (2015). https://ehealthresearch.no/prosjekter/3p (accessed Mar 1, 2019).
- [6] Helseforsk, (2019). http://www.forskningsradet.no/no/Utlysning/HELSEFORSK/1253996563868 (accessed Mar 1, 2019).
- [7] B. Smaradottir, R. Fensli, Evaluation of a telemedicine service run with a patient-centred care model, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 251 (2018), 297-300.
- [8] B. Smaradottir, R. Fensli, A case study of the technology use and information flow at a hospital-driven telemedicine service, *Stud Health Technol Inform* **244** (2017), 58-62.
- [9] B. Smaradottir, R. Fensli, The technology use and information flow at a municipal telemedicine service, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 251 (2018). 293-296.
- [10] B.F. Smaradottir, R.W. Fensli, Evaluation of the technology use in an inter-disciplinary patient-centered health care team, *Stud Health Technol Inform* 257 (2019), 388-392.
- [11] J. Green, N. Thorogood, *Qualitative methods for health research*, 4th edition, SAGE Publications Ltd, 2018.
- [12] The Norwegian Centre for Research Data, n.d. (2019). http://www.nsd.uib.no/nsd/english/index.html (accessed Mar 1, 2019).
- [13] T.K. Vatnøy, E. Thygesen, B. Dale, Telemedicine to support coping resources in home-living patients diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Patients' experiences. *J Telemed Telecare* 23 (2017), 126-132.
- [14] T.L. Barken, E. Thygesen, U. Söderhamn, Unlocking the limitations: Living with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and receiving care through telemedicine—A phenomenological study. *J Clin Nurs* 27 (2018), 132-142.

This page intentionally left blank

Designing and Evaluating in Contexts

This page intentionally left blank

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190162

We Built It, But They Are Not Coming: Exploring Deterrents to Consumer Medication Information Use

Helen MONKMAN ^{a, 1}, Andre W. KUSHNIRUK ^a, Jeff BARNETT ^a, Elizabeth M. BORYCKI ^a and Debra SHEETS ^b

^a School of Health Information Science, University of Victoria, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

^bSchool of Nursing, University of Victoria, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

Abstract. Given the prevalence of prescription medication use, it is important that consumers are aware of the benefits and risks of taking their prescribed medications. One approach to informing consumers in North America is to provide them with Consumer Medication Information (CMI), the paper leaflets given to consumers when they fill a prescription for the first time. Unfortunately, reported use rates of written medication information are quite low. As part of a broader study investigating memory, perceptions, preferences and information needs around CMI, this study specifically examined reported deterrents to CMI use. Findings from this study revealed three areas that appear to influence CMI use: 1) Documentation, how CMI is designed and what it contains; 2) Provision, how and when CMI is given to consumers; and 3) Context, what the individual's characteristics and experiences are. These three factors warrant further investigation to reveal more of their unique facets and their relative influences on CMI use. That is, some aspects may be more influential than others.

Keywords. Consumer Medication Information, Patient Medication Information, Prescription Drug Information Leaflets, Written Medication Information

1. Introduction

Many people take prescription medications. In Canada for example, approximately 4 in 10 Canadians aged 6-79 are using prescription medications, with the likelihood of use increasing with age [1]. Some medications are taken regularly for a prolonged period of time (e.g. blood pressure medication once a day), others only as needed (e.g., creams for skin conditions, nasal sprays for seasonal allergies), and some medications are for a limited duration (e.g., antibiotics multiple times a day for a week). Regardless of the regimen, it is important for consumers to be informed about the risks and benefits of medications to ensure the safest practice possible. There are several resources consumers can turn to for prescription medication such as prescribers (e.g., physicians, nurse practitioners), pharmacists, written material (e.g., paper package inserts, consumer medication information), and the internet.

¹ Corresponding Author: Helen Monkman, Email: monkman@uvic.ca

Consumer Medication Information (CMI) is the paper information provided to consumers when they receive a prescription for the first time. Providing CMI to consumers is common practice in Canada, but not necessarily in other countries (e.g., Denmark [2]). However, unlike paper package information (i.e., the paper information included within the prescription package) CMI is unregulated and, as a result, often varies between pharmacies. However, it is unclear whether consumers are even aware of this variability. Given this variability due to source, consumers may receive CMI that differs in length, design, and content, depending on the pharmacy source. Alarmingly, in one study, investigators observed discrepancies between reported side effects in CMI for the same medication sourced from two different pharmacies [3].

Consumers are given verbal and written medication information to inform them about the associated benefits and potential risks of taking a particular medication to increase the likelihood that consumers maximize its benefits and minimize its risks. Verbal information is readily forgotten [4]. Therefore, arguably the goal of written medication information (e.g., CMI, patient medication information, prescription drug information leaflets, medication guides, paper package inserts) is to reiterate and complement the verbal information that prescribers and pharmacists share with consumers.

The 1989 movie *Field of Dreams* popularized the quote "*if you build it, they will come*", but this has not been the case for CMI. Recently reported reading rates of written prescription information show that a significant portion of consumers are not using it. For example, in the United States, many participants rarely (21%) or never (9%) read prescription drug information leaflets [5]. Thus, a significant portion of people taking medications may not be properly informed about the benefits and risks of the medications they are taking.

This qualitative study revealed some reasons consumers are deterred from reading CMI. This study was part of a broader exploration of CMI investigating consumers' memory, perceptions, preferences, and information needs.

2. Methods

The Human Research Ethics Board at the University of Victoria approved this study. Thirty-six adults participated in this study (M = 23.6 years old, SD = 3.8, range = 18 -35) and each was compensated with a \$20 gift card. Participants were recruited using oncampus advertisements and student listsery. Data for two participants were excluded, because they were older than three standard deviations above the mean. Thus, although there were 36 participants, numeric identifiers go up to 38. The investigator used semistructured interviews to query participants about their previous experiences with CMI. Interviews were approximately 30-45 minutes long, during which participants were asked to discuss whether or not they read CMI when they received it and what they liked and disliked about CMI. Interviews were recorded. Interview recordings were subsequently transcribed and coded using directed and conventional content analysis. Directed content analysis is a deductive approach using an existing coding framework, whereas conventional content analysis is an inductive approach to identify emergent themes [6]. Specifically, this study used previously identified possible factors affecting CMI use [7,8] as a coding scheme for the directed content analysis. Additionally, the conventional content analysis facilitated the identification of emergent themes that were not captured by the coding framework.

3. Results

Although the investigator did not ask about factors influencing participants' use (i.e., read) of CMI, several participants discussed reasons guiding their behaviour. Reported deterrents in this study were captured in three themes:

- (1) Documentation, how CMI is designed and what it contains
- (2) Provision, how and when CMI is given to consumers
- (3) Context, the individual's characteristics experiences while taking a prescription medication

Analysis of the interviews in this study revealed a variety of reasons consumers are dissuaded from using CMI (see Table 1 for explicit examples). Examples of reported deterrents to CMI use included: excessive length (documentation theme), lack of aesthetic appeal (documentation theme), and not being available when needed (provision theme). Interestingly, one participant described how a specific situation (context theme) impacted whether or not she used CMI. That is, participant 27 described that she used CMI only if she experienced symptoms that might be potential side effect (see Table 1).

Participant #	Theme	Subtheme	Quote
38	Provision	Ease of keeping CMI	"It's just a bother to have to carry it around, especially if it's medication that you're taking for an extended period of time. You kind of feel like you need to have the paper with you in order to reference it if any future questions come up but, yeah, they just get lost and crumpled."
32	Documentation	Utility	"I feel like they're too lengthy. That's maybe part of the reason why I never read them [laughter]."
37	Documentation	Design quality	"That I didn't even look at. That it was so easy to not look at. That there was nothing that kind of, piqued my interest. If it had some kind of visual aid, or color, or something like that, it maybe would've been more likely that I would've looked at it."
27	Context	Experience of possible side effect	"The only time I'm actually ever really only thing I ever really read through is side effects. And normally, the only time I read side effects is if I'm having something weird going on, and I'm like, 'Oh, okay. Maybe this is coming from this sort of thing.' But even from my doctor, I don't think I've ever been told, 'These are the possible side effects,' or even from the pharmacist. I don't think."

Table 1. Participant quotes illustrating deterrents of CMI use.

4. Discussion

Consistent with other studies of written medication information use, participants in this sample generally underutilized CMI. This preliminary exploration of deterrents to CMI use yielded results that warrant further investigation. Participants generated several explanations as to why they did not use CMI, only used it in a limited sense (e.g., skimming it, only reading the side effects), or would not use CMI.

Two important issues were revealed with respect to the current *design* of CMI. First, the excessive length of CMI deters consumers from using CMI. This supports other

research findings [e.g., 9] and the recommendation that CMI should have a concise summary [10]. Moreover, concisely written CMI has shown to bolster memory for the information [11]. Therefore, improving the utility by reducing the amount of information, might have at least two benefits: consumers might be more likely to read it and remember it better. Second, CMI is currently not visually appealing and often fails attract consumers' attention. This may also contribute to suboptimal use rates of CMI. In an era of constant competition for our attention and time, the design of health information is increasingly important. Thus, future studies should examine how making CMI more concise and visually appealing may bolster its usage.

In addition to design elements, CMI *provision* appeared to influence consumers' reported use rated. That is, CMI given to consumers as paper leaflets precludes its use in many instances. If CMI is lost, it cannot be used. Moreover, if a consumer experiences a possible side effect while away from home and the CMI is at home in the medicine cabinet, it cannot be used. Thus, alternate methods of providing consumers CMI should be investigated.

Many countries are moving towards digital and away from hardcopy CMI. Likely more Canadian pharmacies will follow this trend and begin offering digital CMI as well. However, we should be prudent during this transition about how digital CMI is *designed and provided* to consumers. Some of the findings from this study can be leveraged to improve the design of digital CMI. For example, a concise summary of content could be displayed initially, but allow users gradually reveal more details if necessary. Additionally, digital CMI could be aesthetically appealing and include some multimedia (e.g., images depicting directions for taking medications). However, many more opportunities exist for improving digital CMI above those recommendations that can be made for the paper medium. For example, digital CMI would allow the use of a search function to locate specific information quickly and have the content read aloud for consumers who have difficulty reading. Thus, digital CMI warrants its own investigation to ensure it is optimized for the medium. In addition to digital CMI design, there are several important considerations with respect to digital CMI provision.

There are obvious advantages to making CMI available online (e.g., it cannot be lost, it is environmentally friendly), yet the potential impact on usage rates of different distribution methods are unknown. In some cases, CMI is merely published online, not given directly to consumers. For example, Denmark uses a website (min.medicin.dk) for Danish citizens to access CMI. Relying on consumers to seek out CMI rather than giving it directly to them should be studied to determine if there is an impact on usage rates. That is, consumers may be less likely to use CMI if they need to seek it out of their own volition. Additionally, consumers may use alternate sources of information instead of credible CMI. Therefore, it may not be prudent to simply make CMI available online in lieu of current practice, yet a combination approach is feasible and would overcome this limitation. Specifically, in conjunction with having CMI available online, digital CMI could also be pushed (e.g., emailed, texted, printed upon request) directly to consumers with new prescriptions. The strengths and weaknesses with these different approaches should be carefully investigated to determine the best ways to bolster use rates.

How CMI is designed and provided to consumers appears to influence whether or not CMI is used. Additionally, there are contextual factors that also deserve investigation. Each consumer has a unique set of experiences that may influence whether they use CMI or not. For example, one participant in this study noted that she typically only consulted CMI to determine whether she was experiencing a side effect of the medication. This supports the findings of an exploratory study in Australia [7]. The authors proposed several other contextual factors which could increase the likelihood that consumers used CMI (e.g., severe illness, previous negative experience with medication, acting in a caregiver role) [7]. Additionally, if a particular medication has serious possible side effects, it may motivate consumers to make themselves more informed and therefore more likely to use CMI. Indeed, one showed that intentions to use prescription drug information leaflets were higher when participants imagined they had a life-threatening illness and the medication had significant side effects [5]. Thus, aspects of CMI itself (e.g., length, appearance), how it is delivered, and the specifics of the scenario all appear to influence whether or not CMI is used.

One participant's quote illustrated why CMI is an important practice. Specifically, she described that she consulted her CMI to determine if a symptom she was having was attributable to taking a prescription medication (i.e., a side effect). However, she did not recall verbally receiving information from either her prescriber or pharmacists outlining possible side effects. This participant may have forgotten the discussion of this information or indeed it may not have occurred. Regardless, this account emphasizes the need for providing medication information as a supplemental source of information about prescription medications. However, as previously described, not all countries use this approach to providing consumers CMI with new prescriptions. Moreover, there are various sources of digital and hardcopy (e.g., paper package inserts, medication guides) medication information available to consumers, so the advantages of CMI over these other options are unclear. In an effort to combat the redundancy and ensure materials are more user-centred, the United States is to moving towards offering a single standardized document available digitally to health care providers, pharmacies, and consumers directly [12]. This streamlined approach is logical and may also benefit usage rates (whether digital, analog or a combination of both) by increasing consistency and accessibility.

This study was exploratory and deterrents to CMI use, to some extent, were inadvertent findings and thus limitations are important to note. First, this investigation was not conducted in the context of recently receiving CMI (e.g., recruiting participants right after receiving a new prescription). Therefore, participants were asked to reflect on their previous experiences which may have been subject to memory decay or self-report bias (e.g., participants reporting they had read CMI when in fact they had not). Second, the investigator in this study only asked participants to describe what they liked and disliked about CMI. However, this led to some participants discussing what deterred them from using CMI. Yet, because participants were not asked to describe the motivations behind using and not using CMI explicitly, there are likely more factors that contribute to use behaviours than were captured here. Moreover, it is not possible to tell how prevalent these opinions were amongst the sample as a whole. Thus, further investigation is warranted specifically examining this question and querying participants about reasons why they may or may not be using CMI.

5. Conclusion

This study provides some insight as to why consumers may underutilize CMI. Although this was not the intent a priori, some important deterrents to CMI use were identified that should be investigated in more detail. CMI is an important resource to support safe and beneficial medication practices and efforts. However, reasons why consumers are deterred from using CMI should be investigated so that they can be mitigated and bolster CMI usage. Although some argue that contextual factors have the most influence over CMI use [8], by ignoring identified deterrents that we are capable of changing (e.g., document, provision), we are doing a disservice to consumers and CMI will continue being underutilized negatively impacting safe and effective medication use.

References

- M. Rotermann, C. Sanmartin, D. Hennessy, and M. Arthur, Prescription medication use by Canadians aged 6 to 79, *Health Reports* 25 (2014), 9.
- [2] H. Monkman, C. Nøhr, and A.W. Kushniruk, A Comparison of Danish and Canadian Consumer Medication Information, *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 241 (2017), 147–152.
- [3] H. Monkman and A.W. Kushniruk, Consumer Medication Information: Similarities and Differences Between Three Canadian Pharmacies, *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 234 (2017), 238–242.
- [4] P. Ley, Doctor-patient communication: some quantitative estimates of the role of cognitive factors in noncompliance, J Hypertens Suppl. 3 (1985), S51-55.
- [5] H.K. Patel, S.S. Bapat, A.H. Bhansali, and S.S. Sansgiry, Development of Prescription Drug Information Leaflets: Impact of Cognitive Effort and Patient Involvement on Prescription Medication Information Processing, *Therapeutic Innovation & Regulatory Science* **52** (2018), 118–129.
- [6] H.-F. Hsieh, and S.E. Shannon, Three approaches to qualitative content analysis, *Qual Health Res.* 15 (2005), 1277–1288.
- [7] M. Koo, I. Krass, and P. Aslani, Consumer opinions on medicines information and factors affecting its use - an Australian experience, *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice* 10 (2002), 107–114.
- [8] M.M. Koo, I. Krass, and P. Aslani, Factors Influencing Consumer Use of Written Drug Information, *The Annals of Pharmacotherapy*. 37 (2003), 259–267.
- [9] H. Pander Maat, and L. Lentz, Improving the usability of patient information leaflets, *Patient Education and Counseling* 80 (2010), 113–119.
- [10] J.P. Nathan, T. Zerilli, L.A. Cicero, and J.M. Rosenberg, Patients' Use and Perception of Medication Information Leaflets, *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* 41 (2007), 777–782.
- [11] V. Boudewyns, A.C. O'Donoghue, B. Kelly, S.L. West, O. Oguntimein, C.M. Bann, et al., Influence of patient medication information format on comprehension and application of medication information: A randomized, controlled experiment, *Patient Education and Counseling* 98 (2015), 1592–1599.
- [12] B.M. Pearsall, R. Araojo, and D. Hinton, Essential Medication Information for Patients: Ensuring Access, *Therapeutic Innovation & Regulatory Science* 48 (2014), 162–164.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190163

"I feel like a nurse and my clients learn more": mHealth, Capacity Building and Empowerment in Community Based Care

Mokholelana Margaret RAMUKUMBA a, 1 and Maria HÄGGLUND^b

^aDepartment of Health Studies: University of South Africa ^bDepartment of Women's and Children's Health, Uppsala University and Uppsala University Hospital

> Abstract. Community health workers, led by trained nurses who are linked to a health facility are well positioned to play an important role in improving health of the communities in low and middle-income countries. The South African Department of Health has implemented various mobile health programmes to improve community-based services. This paper presents a component of a study that evaluates mHealth interventions in South Africa. The study was conducted in Pretoria urban and semi-urban areas, with the aim of understanding how community health workers experience mHealth technologies. Three focus group interviews were conducted and data analysis followed Thorne Interpretive Description framework. An overarching theme was that the mHealth application provided clinical content that empowered community health workers to develop confidence, higher efficacy, independent decisions making and experience higher social standing with their clients. This in turn, translated into informed clients. There is evidence of strengthened capacity in the use of mHealth technology and application of knowledge to provide an engaged client care. Functionalities in the application allowed timely exchange of information and decision support.

> Keywords. Capacity building, mHealth application, self-efficacy, user satisfaction, psycho-social aspects

1. Introduction

South Africa introduced re-engineering of primary health care (PHC) in 2012, to improve communities' access to health services and the quality of health care provided [1]. One of the key features of this model is the establishment of ward based PHC outreach teams for each electoral ward (WBPHCOT). The team is made up of a trained nurse (team leader), responsible for supporting, supervising and leading the outreach teams and six to ten Community Health Workers (CHWs) [2]. In many situations, community members are serving as community health workers, who perform diverse functions related to health care delivery and social care. They receive basic healthcare training developed by the national department of health in collaboration with Non-Governmental Organisations (NGO) [3].

¹ Corresponding Author: Mokholelana Margaret Ramukumba, Email: maggierams@hotmail.com

CHWs are well positioned to play an important role in improving health of the communities in low and middle-income countries [4], improve access to basic health care services and act as interface between the health care system and the community [5].

2. Utilization of mHealth

Mobile technologies for health (mHealth) represent a growing range of tools being applied in diverse health care settings [4]. Like many other low and middle-income countries, the South African Department of Health has implemented various mobile health programmes to improve primary health care services [6]. This mHealth strategy focuses on using the existing mobile platforms amongst others, improve access of patients to healthcare, improve access to health services and real time data management to assist addressing the current inefficiencies in the Health System service delivery" [7].

WBPHCOTs in this district, utilise AitaHealth application to keep record, manage caseloads, profile households and enroll clients. Modules in the Aita Health are used to collect patient information; support treatment plans and schedule visits. Data are transmitted and aggregated into the cloud based data management system, where healthcare professionals and managers can access it. The development of this application was a joint collaboration between the government, local academic institution and private sector [8]. This paper reports a component of the main study on evaluation of mHealth in South Africa and Sweden.

3. Methodology

The study used the Sittig & Singh 8 dimensions socio-technical model [9], with emphasis on the people and clinical content dimensions, to understand the perceptions of CHWs regarding the use of mobile health technology in community based-care. A single exploratory, holistic case study using three focus group interviews was used. 46 participants were purposefully selected from three sub-districts, with diverse contexts. Written, informed consent was obtained. Interviews were semi-structured and focused on personal experiences with mHealth. All interviews were recorded with a digital audio recorder.

The audios were translated and transcribed by local research assistants to ensure accuracy, as respondents often used indigenous language. The audio recordings were coded and analysed using Thorne interpretive description [10]. The Interpretive description is an analytical, inductive approach used to understand the subjective experiences of mHealth [10]. During the analysis, there was rigorous engagement with data and constant questioning and reflecting upon data to ensure trustworthiness. Team leaders' input was used to confirm or validate data, especially, the clinical content. Throughout the analytic process, findings were shared with CHWs, for verification [10].

Thematic patterns and commonalities and individual variations that characterised empowerment benefits of mHealth were noted. Concepts were linked to arrive at interpretive explanations. The need to use approaches that elaborate understanding of situations that occur in natural settings, influenced the choice of methods.

4. Findings

An overarching theme was that the mHealth application provided clinical content that empowered CHWs to develop confidence, higher efficacy, independent decisions making and experience higher social standing with their clients. This in turn, translated into informed clients. There is evidence of strengthened capacity in the use of mHealth technology and application of knowledge to provide an engaged client care. Functionalities in the application allowed timely exchange of information and decision support. This was made possible through the interconnectedness of the application that involves CHWs and outreach team leaders.

Themes	Subthemes	Categories
Sense of	Knowledge acquisition	Access and quality of health education content
empowerment		Improved care experience
		Remote monitoring
		Enhanced compliance with national guidelines
	Educational benefits to clients and	Self-management and enhanced compliance
	communities	Learning about condition
Psycho-social	Self-efficacy	Enhanced self confidence in data management
aspects		Psychological gratification
		Mobile devices and social recognition
		(electronic consent)

Table 1. Themes, sub-themes and categories.

4.1. Theme 1: Sense of empowerment

The clinical content dimension includes aspects of the data-information-knowledge continuum that is stored in the system [9]. In the South Africa context, this refers to content that allows CHWs to register households and vulnerable populations, pregnant women, postnatal visits within 48 hours of birth, immunization, as well as demographic data of registered households.

CHWs perceived the application useful for their performance; they were very satisfied with the clinical content and its presentation in the device. Through interacting with the content, they were able to learn new terminology, new ways of managing health data of clients presenting with different conditions. According to them, the information in the device was accessible and coherent. This is illustrated by the following: "When I go to the field, I educate my clients about different diseases such as TB, HIV, diabetes, hypertension and importance of knowing their HIV status. This is possible because, in the device, there is health education module for every condition that we encounter, so we know what to say in each situation".

The clinical content was perceived as superior, and it appeared that the training they received supported their understanding of what needed to be done. They were content with the standard of training for the mHealth system. In particular, they appreciated the questions and content on risk factors that are embedded in the device. They could navigate and manipulate demographic data of their clients with ease, such as closing the case of a deceased or a family that relocated. They gained adequate experience from interacting with clients to a point where they could identify gaps in the content. That gave them a sense of knowing. Some said: "When I register a client, I ask questions in a particular sequence, I already know the questions by heart, there is questions on danger

signs, such as bleeding, vomiting, for pregnant women and questions on adherence. I also add follow up questions".

The majority of participants believed that the content in the device has enabled them to form new knowledge pathways, where they could make associations between a specific condition and client responses to construct their responses appropriately. *"Before the visit, I get reminders regarding priority cases, I know my follow up cases and activities related to that household or a particular client".*

They also felt that household registration, which is the core of community-based care, is completed smoothly on the mHealth tool. However, they lamented prolonged registration of a vulnerable individual. They explained that this was due to the type of additional questions that follow when the client answers in affirmative for a particular symptom and the time the device takes to synchronise. Despite the time the system took to complete the registration of a vulnerable individual, they acknowledged that the series of questioning increased their knowledge about health conditions. "Some clients refer to us as their nurses, because we give them the right information, they can see that we know. They trust what we tell them because they can see that the information or questions are from the tablets".

Participants demonstrated greater understanding of National Indicators, policies and guidelines. This reflects an alignment between the clinical content and national guidelines. The two-way communication between CHWs and their team leaders, in addition to group chat on the device, enabled them to make decisions at the point of care. They indicated that their increased knowledge translated to greater clients' self-management. They knew more about their conditions and complied better with medical regimen. Their clients were happy with their service. *"I feel like a nurse, clients tell us we have helped them a lot"*. The other one added: *"The team leader is a text-message away, when I have an emergency, I tick on the device that there is an emergency and send a text"*. They all pointed out that when there were updates, they got notifications and the weekly meetings with team leaders provided further training.

4.2. Theme 2: Psychosocial aspects

The people dimension according to Sittig & Singh, represents the humans involved in all aspects of the implementation and use of the mHealth application [9]. CHWs expressed increased level of confidence with data management processes, triage, scheduling, and performance management. "It is time for technology, the gadget helps us produce quality data. We feel good that we can monitor our performance on the gadget". They believed that the tool enabled them to capture all the information and provide client-specific care. They were also satisfied with the security features of the tool. "There is a field for electronic signature, we learned about confidentiality and data security. Clients sign and give consent for us to collect information."

One said: "I did not know what triage was until I used the device, now I can triage my clients and categorise them accordingly. Category 3 means bedridden client. These are clients that we collect and administer medication for. Honestly, we are doing nurses' tasks".

There was a sense that they have become agents of transformation in the delivery of healthcare. They could interpret and apply clinical care, document care in the application and write free text in the open field. This gratified them: *"The tool keeps important information, we can manipulate it easily"*. Another one said: *"We make a difference in the lives of people, all because of technology"*. A few expressed the need to include local

languages in the application, as they left the open field blank sometimes due to '*perceived lack of proficiency*' in English language. However, others indicated that the spellcheck functionality in the tool was helpful.

A few were not aware of the automated scheduling functionality because they were doing it manually. However, one of them explained to them that it was shifted to a different location. She illustrated: "*I love the gadget, it makes my work easier. Hence, I am always searching for new things on it*". This functionality makes scheduling easier, but they still need to meet once a week as a team to discuss plans for the week.

One aspect that came up strongly was the social recognition and acceptance they experienced from their clients because of the devices they were carrying. They believed people took them seriously and that gave them a sense of pride in their work. One said: *"The gadget gives you some status."*

5. Discussion

This study highlighted the impact of mHealth technology on performance and perceived capabilities of CHWs in community-based care. The focus of the study is based on the premise that technology is operated by people who have own perceptions of how the system should operate and its usefulness in supporting their activities. Baxter and Sommerville [11] support this stance and argue that socio-technical approaches are especially appropriate in health and social care "because the problems of developing technology for healthcare lie not with the complexity or novelty of the technology itself, but in the complex ways healthcare is practiced and organized".

CHWs appeared to have developed enhanced self-efficacy in performing their tasks supported by mHealth, including the decision support via real-time consultations with their team leaders. Braun et al agree that technologies need to be a better fit for CHWs tasks to optimize performance [12]. The increased exposure to core intervention messages in the tool, the use of information appears to have provided them the authority and job enrichment. Kane, Kok, Ormel et al, posit that access and exposure to medical knowledge is empowering for CHWs [13]. They reported efficiency in executing their tasks, such as decreased time in household registrations, the questions embedded in the tool that enhanced their understanding of the health conditions, the improved quality of data and lastly, the number of tasks they were able to execute. This study highlights evidence that AitaHealth was useful, and that it improved the activities of CHWs and health care delivery. Views regarding the need to pay attention to some areas in the programme, to maximize investment in mobile health technologies were articulated.

In addition, the educational benefits seemed to have translated to increased selfmanagement on the part of their clients. Timely exchange of information through text messaging ensured they stayed up-to-date with relevant information. Thus, enabling them to disseminate appropriate health education messages, conduct counseling and accomplish targets set up by the national department of health. The personalised engagement with clients and households allowed CHWs to provide holistic care and respond to national indicators [14].

This study offered CHWs the opportunity to evaluate the WBPHCOT program and the related mobile technology tools. Their ability to identify the gaps in the clinical content and develop accurate follow up questions demonstrates the link between selfefficacy and generation of knowledge. South Africa recognises the contributions of CHWs and mHealth tool to primary health care. Hence, there are established policies,
protocols and formal training program in place. Currently, in this province, CHWs are acknowledged as a formal part of national health systems and work *in close cooperation* with facility-based health practitioners, other government departments, non-governmental organisations, community structures and the private sector [15]. The insights that emerged from this study are for a different context. However, there is a possibility of transferability in similar contexts.

Acknowledgement

The study was funded through the MobEVAL project (2016-00623) supported by FORTE – the Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare and SAMRC – the South Africa Medical Research Council. This research was also supported by Uppsala MedTech Science & Innovation (www.medtech.uu.se), a joint strategic initiative between Uppsala University and Uppsala University Hospital.

References

- N. Naidoo, J. Railton, G. Jobson, N. Matlakala, G. Marincowitz, J.A. McIntyre, et al., Making ward-based outreach teams an effective component of human immunodeficiency virus programmes, *South Africa. Southern African Journal of HIV Medicine* 19 (2018), 1-6.
- [2] T. Assegaai, G. Reagon, R. Schneider, Evaluating the effect of ward-based outreach teams on primary healthcare performance in North West Province, South Africa: A plausibility design using routine data, *South African Medical Journal* 108 (2018), 329-335.
- [3] W.A. Odendaal, S. Lewin, The provision of TB and HIV/AIDS treatment support by lay health workers in South Africa: a time-and-motion study, *Human resources for health* 12 (2014), 1-7.
- [4] L.W Chang, V. Njie-Carr, S. Kalenge, J.F. Kelly, R.C. Bollinger, S. Alamo-Talisuna, Perceptions and acceptability of mHealth interventions for improving patient care at a community-based HIV / AIDS clinic in Uganda: A mixed methods study, *AIDS Care* 25 (2013), 874–880.
- [5] M. Ingram, K.M. Reinschmidt, K.A. Schachter, C.L. Davidson, S.J. Sabo, J.G. De Zapien, et al., Establishing a professional profile of community health workers: results from a national study of roles, activities and training, *Journal of Community Health* **37** (2012), 529-537.
- [6] C. Seebregts, P. Barron, G. Tanna, P. Benjamin, T. Fogwill, MomConnect: an exemplar implementation of the Health Normative Standards Framework in South Africa, *South African Health Research* 2016 (2016), 125-135.
- [7] National Department of Health. *eHealth Strategy South Africa 2015-2019*. Department of Health, Pretoria, 2015.
- [8] On Empowering CHWs with eHealth eHealthALIVE, J. Hugo, (2016). https://ehealthnews.co.za/profjannie-hugo (accessed May 29, 2019).
- [9] D.F. Sittig and H. Singh, A new sociotechnical model for studying Health Information Technology in complex adaptive healthcare systems, *BMJ Quality & Safety* 19 (2010), i68-i74.
- [10] S. Thorne, Interpretive description, Left Coast Press, Walnut Creek, 2008.
- [11] G. Baxter and I. Sommerville. Socio-technical systems: From design methods to systems engineering, Interacting with Computers 23 (2011), 4-17.
- [12] R. Braun, C. Catalani, J. Wimbush, and D. Israelski, Community Health Workers and Mobile Technology: A Systematic Review of the Literature, *Community Health Workers and Mobile Techn* 8 (2013), 1-9.
- [13] S. Kane, M. Kok, H. Ormel, L. Otiso, M. Sidat, I. Namakhom, et al. Limits and opportunities to community health workers empowerment: A multi country comparative study, *Social Science & Medicine* 164 (2016), 27-34.
- [14] N. Nxumalo, J. Goudge, and L. Manderson, Community health workers, recipients' experiences and constraints to care in South Africa – a pathway to trust, *AIDS Care* 28 (2016), 61-71.
- [15] National Department of Health. Policy Framework and Strategy for Ward based Primary Healthcare Outreach Teams 2018/19 – 2023/24, Department of Health, Pretoria, 2018.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190164

Application Programming Interfaces (APIs) in Health Care: Findings from a Current-State Assessment

Prashila DULLABH ^{a, 1}, Lauren HOVEY ^a, Krysta HEANEY-HULS ^a, Nithya RAJENDRAN ^a, Adam WRIGHT ^b and Dean F. SITTIG ^c ^aNORC at the University of Chicago, Bethesda, MD USA ^b Departments of Medicine and Biomedical Informatics, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA USA ^c School of Biomedical Informatics, University of Texas Health Science Center at

Houston, TX USA

Abstract. Interest in application programming interfaces (APIs) as a means to increase health data access and exchange among patients, health care providers, and payers has become an important area for development. In an effort to better understand the various contexts in which APIs can be applied, we explored different use cases. While APIs and our collective understanding of the best ways to implement and use them continue to develop, in the coming years the use of proprietary and standards-based APIs could be key to the sustainability of applied clinical informatics research, as well as associated improvements in patient engagement, clinical decision making, efficiency, quality and safety of the healthcare delivery system.

Keywords. APIs, interoperability, standards, FHIR®, EHRs

1. Introduction

Application programming interfaces (APIs) serve as a go-between among data systems—using interoperable processes to exchange data and specific standards to ensure the data can be understood by receiving systems. APIs are well known in the smartphone realm for allowing multiple applications to interact (for example, when a customer review platform seamlessly integrates a map utility to show the location of a restaurant) [1]. APIs are frequently used to facilitate bank transactions and are integral to the way many companies conduct web-based business [2]. In health care, APIs can enable different health information technology (health IT) systems (regardless of vendor, region, health system, etc.) to share data of mutual interest. Moreover, they can allow virtually instant access to data (e.g., right place, right time for health care providers) [3]; and they create an opportunity for third-party developers to build interoperable solutions that supplement or complement the traditional vendor-led health IT offerings [4]. Given the public-sector and industry interest in APIs as a key feature of an interoperable health

¹ Corresponding Author: Prashila Dullabh, Email: Dullabh-Prashila@norc.org

system, this paper elucidates the current state of the field with regard to technical and non-technical considerations associated with *API use for data access and exchange*.

2. Methods

We used an eight-dimension socio-technical model developed by Sittig and Singh to assess key dimensions of health IT [5]. The model gives consideration of technical aspects (e.g., hardware, software, and standards) and non-technical aspects (e.g., clinical workflows, internal policies, procedures, and work environment) involved in the design, development, implementation, use, and evaluation of safe and effective health IT [6]. We employed the following methods to conduct the current-state assessment and mapped key findings to the socio-technical mode dimensions.

Literature Review. Searches of the published literature were conducted in PubMed. Given that much of the innovative work in this area is emergent and has not necessarily been published in scientific journals, the peer-reviewed literature review was complemented by reviews of the grey and white literature. We identified 390 peer-reviewed articles and over 100 resources from the grey literature, the majority of which were then excluded based on a title and abstract review. We conducted full text reviews of 39 peer-reviewed articles and 90 articles and reports identified through a Google search. In total, we included 20 peer-reviewed articles and 41 articles from the grey literature (n=61).

Key Informant Interviews. We recruited 13 key informants who provided additional perspective and helped fill gaps we found in the literature. The informant group consisted of representatives from academic institutions and health care delivery organizations (n=5); EHR vendors with predominant U.S. market share (n=2); and app developers and third-party data sharing platform providers (n=6). We developed an outline of core themes to discuss, and then developed discussion guides that were tailored to the expertise of each type of informant. Key discussion themes included an exploration of current API use cases, the use of read and write capabilities, challenges related to advancing write capabilities, and the characteristics of "open" APIs. We reviewed the notes by theme, synthesizing the responses across interviews, and within informant types.

EHR Vendor App Gallery Review. To determine the types of apps available in the marketplace, we performed an environmental scan of three EHR vendor app galleries [7,8,9] and the SMART® app gallery [10] and identified 271 available applications. As a first step, we categorized the applications based on whether they were primarily provider-facing, patient-facing, or both. We then assigned each application to a category based on 'intended purpose,' which included patient education and engagement, population health analytics, clinical decision support and patient safety, care coordination, administration, and finance.

Technical Expert Panel. The TEP convened in December 2018 to discuss the present and future applications of APIs in health care. The meeting consisted of a review of findings from the literature review and key informant interviews, followed by in-depth discussion of four thematic areas in the field: 1) use cases and standards for APIs; 2) challenges, technical concerns, and facilitators for read and write capabilities; 3) outlook for future development of write capabilities; and 4) current costs associated with API development, implementation, and use.

3. Findings

While the use of APIs in health care delivery and research is increasing at an astonishing pace, broad use of APIs is still in the pilot stage. The promise of APIs liberating data and contributing to value-based care principles is much discussed in the popular press, with more limited representation in the peer-reviewed and grey literature.

3.1. API Use Cases

To explore the use of APIs to facilitate more efficient access to clinical documents and clinical data elements, we focused on the use of APIs in five distinct use cases: 1) to facilitate bidirectional exchange data between an EHR and external sources such as data repositories; 2) to allow external apps/devices to contribute data to an EHR system; 3) to aggregate clinical data from multiple EHRs into a single app; 4) to facilitate clinical decision-making (i.e., write or read/write); and 5) APIs for Bulk Data Access (i.e., read).

Use Case 1: APIs for Bi-Directional Exchange of Data (i.e., Write/Write). Data exchange among health care providers supports care coordination and downstream improvements in patient care and health outcomes. The focus of this use case is data exchange between two entities using an API to write data from an EHR or into an EHR. This exchange can occur between health care providers and/or between data repositories and EHRs, such as public health registries (e.g., state prescription drug monitoring program registry) and other external data warehouses (e.g., for research purposes).

Use Case 2: APIs to Contribute Data to EHRs (i.e., Write or Read/Write). APIs can enable outside entities (e.g., patients, external health care providers, or clinical laboratories) to push data into an EHR, either via an unstructured document that can be stored and viewed (e.g., a PDF) or as structured data that can be written into an EHR's structured database (e.g., via a Fast Healthcare Information Resource [FHIR®] interface or via a Clinical Document Architecture document). Examples of the types of data that a patient may want to write or store in an EHR include patient-generated health data (PGHD) from a wearable device or patient-reported outcomes from a health survey.

Use Case 3: APIs to Aggregate Patient Data (i.e., Read). This use case involves pulling or querying patient data from multiple EHRs to a single point, such as a smart phone application under control of the patient, where the data can be aggregated across the multiple sources, displayed to and used by the data requester. While personal health record (PHR) solutions and EHR "view, download, and transmit" (VDT) capabilities allow patients to access their health information, there are currently limited solutions available that support a consolidated view of a patient's health information across providers and across visits. Specifically, we were interested in market-based solutions using APIs to read data from multiple EHRs to create longitudinal patient records.

Use Case 4: APIs to Facilitate Clinical Decision-Making (i.e., Write or Read/Write). There are three instantiations of this use case. The first represents the emergence of specialty APIs, such as CDS Hooks, that enable an HCO to access information from outside data sources (e.g., servers, data warehouses/repositories) to initiate an app or decision support function within the EHR. TEP participants also described two new provider-facing use cases: business-to-business exchanges between HCOs, and surveillance and predictive modeling apps designed to assist providers with care delivery optimization, population health management and risk calculation. The former represents an example of an app with no user interface and/or apps that either do not use clinical data or do not have direct applications for patient care.

Use Case 5: APIs for Bulk Data Access (i.e., Read). Currently, most APIs are designed to access data for a single patient. However, to be useful for population health and other kinds of research, APIs must also facilitate bulk queries for data from multiple patients. The Da Vinci Project, an effort under way at HL7 with private industry partners, is attempting to use FHIR®-based APIs to address value-based purchasing needs such as population health management, which will necessarily involve bulk queries of multiple patient records [11].

3.2. Use of Read and Write APIs

Currently, read-only APIs predominate, particularly for patient-facing apps. There are comparatively limited examples of write APIs beginning to emerge for low risk, tightly constrained functions like scheduling. Some of these read and/or write APIs leverage the HL7 US Core Implementation Guide profiles and resources developed for the 2015 Edition Common Clinical Data Set. When a FHIR® API is being used to read or write data, mapping is needed between the native EHR database and FHIR®.

3.3. API Standards

Discussions with EHR vendors and TEP members indicate that many of them have made investments in proprietary APIs over many years, supporting both read and write capabilities. FHIR® R1 achieved DSTU status only 5 years ago and is now recognized as an important standard for representing and exchanging EHI. Given the EHR vendors' prior investments in proprietary APIs, and that the standard has multiple versions and is still maturing, FHIR® adoption is not widespread. Only an estimated 32 percent of EHR vendors are supporting the FHIR® version 2 Draft Standard for Trial Use (DSTU2) released in 2015 [12].

3.4. Current Challenges and Technical Concerns

Both the literature and interviews demonstrated the reluctance of health care providers, HCOs, and EHR vendors to allow external data, including PGHD, to be fully integrated (i.e., written) into an EHR. Concerns raised included the volume of data providers would need to review; liability issues if providers overlooked EHI that in retrospect had an arguable potential to improve clinical outcomes; potential for cyber-attacks; potential for information overload from the myriad false positives; and issues around maintenance and display of data provenance. In spite of the associated concerns, some leading HCOs report exploring use cases for write capabilities, in highly constrained environments.

In spite of the technical challenges and associated concerns, HCOs are venturing into API write capabilities and reported during interviews that they see tremendous value in doing so. Some leading HCOs are exploring a range of use cases for write capabilities, but are doing so within secure, highly controlled environments. Specifically, the HCOs are developing apps themselves and making them available to their providers on HCOissued and -controlled devices, which can be quickly deactivated in case of loss or theft. These HCO apps use proprietary APIs by and large.

4. Discussion of Findings

The use of standards-based APIs to support exchange is still very much in its infancy. A multitude of app marketplaces are becoming available, offering numerous apps. The

majority of apps are targeted at providers, with far fewer supporting patient access to data. Where consensus technical standards are being used, they are largely FHIR®-based, which is a positive indication of the market's support for interoperable solutions. The current focus is on read APIs, with very limited use of write APIs. The following sections discuss lessons learned from our work.

4.1. Enhanced Support for Write Implementation

To advance write capabilities, FHIR® implementation guides need to be updated to include write access (currently, it is focused on read access). Some informants argued that, in developing write implementation guides through community stakeholder consensus process, a practical path would involve taking a use case driven approach—starting with less complicated write functions (e.g., scheduling) and gradually moving to more complicated functions (e.g., medication ordering). Informants suggested a number of potential simple use cases that would improve provider clinical decision making and patient contributions to the medical record:

- Posting Documents: Writing simple documents to the EHR from third-party apps that serve as an information filter
- Questionnaires: Writing questionnaire responses back into the HER.
- Defining FHIR® Resources: This would assist in using PGHD and PROs in the calculation of clinical risk scores.
- Innovating the User Interface with Machine Learning and Predictive Analytics: Presenting actionable information at point of care.
- Patient Data Corrections: Developing an app that allows patients to contact their providers and request edits to their record (e.g., medication lists).
- Leveraging specialized APIs: This includes CDS Hooks and other APIs that process data and provide clinical decision support.

When considering the future of write APIs, discussion of the utility of pursuing APIs within a given use case will help establish industry standards for write implementation incrementally and in high value areas.

4.2. Patient-Generated Health Data and Patient-Reported Outcomes

Interest in the incorporation of PGHD and PRO information to inform, enable, and recognize better care has grown, but questions remain as to how these data can be best captured and used. Concerns related to these data encompass not only their accuracy and reliability, but their clinical utility. TEP participants expressed concern about the preparedness of providers and HCOs to manage an influx of raw PGHD/PRO data, and a lack of mechanisms to incorporate these data into their clinical workflows in an efficient and meaningful way. One possibility noted was that apps be developed to filter and summarize raw PGHD/PRO data, before they are transmitted to the provider. For purposes of this assessment, it is important to note that these questions include whether such data should written into the EHR, especially in raw form, or if its potential would be more effectively realized by using alternative approaches to derive clinically meaningful, actionable information from these data and deliver that information in usable

forms at helpful points in care delivery processes.

4.3. Development of a Robust Normative Standard for FHIR®

While significant progress has been made in the evolution of the FHIR® standard, multiple FHIR® versions are being pursued by vendors and developers. The lack of a stable normative standard has been highly problematic for interoperability among those currently using different versions of the FHIR® standard. HL7's recent release of a new version of FHIR® as a normative standard will help ameliorate the challenges posed by variability in versioning across the market as new versions are implemented over time.

5. Conclusion

The literature review, key informant interviews, app gallery review, and TEP input provide a significant window into the current API landscape—including a market focus on provider-centric use cases; insight into the rationale behind the emphasis on read instead of write technology; the players involved; and complexities related to standards and security. There are numerous unmet needs with regard to patient-facing apps, including facilitating data access, aggregating data into a patient-controlled health record, and strategies for effective capture and use of PGHD and PROs. Many of the available apps use consensus technical standards, but many others remain proprietary. Where consensus technical standards are being used, they are largely FHIR®-based, which is a positive indication of the market's shift towards developing interoperable solutions. Most of the activity is focused on read APIs, however, with very limited use of write APIs. Thus, while APIs are being touted as a solution to the interoperability challenges within the health system, they remain an emerging technology that is likely to be one piece of a multi-pronged approach to data exchange, integration, and use.

References

- What APIs Are and Why They're Important, B. Proffitt, (2013). https://readwrite.com/2013/09/19/apidefined/ (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [2] J. Wulf and I. Blohm, Service Innovation through Application Programming Interfaces-Towards a Typology of Service Designs, in Proceedings of Intern. Conference on Information Systems, 1-12, 2017.
- [3] Apps Showcase the Benefits of FHIR on the Frontlines of Care, R. Leftwich, (2017). https://www.intersystems.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Apps_Showcase_the_Benefits_of_FHIR_on_the_Front_ Lines_of_Care_HIMSS17.pdf (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [4] Can APIs Inspire Better EHR? Health IT Analytics, (2017). https://healthitanalytics.com/features/canapplication-programming-interfaces-inspire-a-better-ehr (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [5] D. Sittig, and H. Singh, A New Socio-technical Model for Studying Health Information Technology in Complex Adaptive Healthcare Systems, *Qual Saf Health Care* 19 (2010), i68-i74.
- [6] H. Singh and D. Sittig, Measuring and Improving Patient Safety through Health Information Technology, BMJ Qual Saf 25 (2015), 226-232.
- [7] Allscripts® Application, (2018). https://store.allscripts.com/search-by-all-apps (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [8] Epic App Orchard. Explore Apps, (2018). https://apporchard.epic.com/ (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [9] Cerner Code. App gallery, (2018). https://code.cerner.com/apps (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [10] SMART[®] App gallery, (2018). https://apps.smarthealthit.org/. (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [11] HL7[®], Da Vinci Project (2018). http://www.hl7.org/about/davinci/index.cfm (accessed May 31, 2019).
- [12] Heat wave: the U.S. is Poised to Catch FHIR in 2019, S. Posnack and W. Barker, (2018) https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/interoperability/heat-wave-the-u-s-is-poised-to-catch-fhir-in-2019 (accessed May 31, 2019).

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190165

Open or Closed: A Project Proposal for Investigating Two Different EHR Platform Approaches

Kristian MALM-NICOLAISEN ^{a, b, 1}, Rune PEDERSEN ^{a, b} and Asbjørn J. FAGERLUND ^a

^aNorwegian Centre for E-health Research ^bTelemedicine and E-health Research Group, The Arctic University of Norway

Abstract. Technical platforms form the fundament on which IT systems and Electronic Health Records (EHRs) are implemented. The use of either open or proprietary standards and technologies for information modelling and interoperability have implications for how clinical and health data is handled and made available for the system users. In Norway, two different EHRs are procured in different health regions of the Specialist healthcare service. The two platforms are characterized as one being open platform-based and the other being closed platform-based. The study aims to identify and describe consequences and implications related to two different platform approaches for EHRs from an enduser perspective. The study will employ three methods of data capturing; scoping study, interviews, and questionnaires. Data will be systematically analyzed through proven methods. Interviews and questionnaire data will be gathered from European hospitals having implemented EHRs in recent years. Results will be compared to the Norwegian context. The technical platform used for health IT systems in general, and the EHR specifically, can have substantial consequences for clinicians and organization of work. Closed platform-based EHRs still constitutes the majority of the market, but open platform approaches are rapidly gaining popularity. An assessment of the consequences related to different platform designs can shed light on the implications the chosen technical approach will have on clinical and organizational practice.

Keywords. Electronic Health Record, Open Platform, Closed Platform, User Satisfaction, Adoption Rate, Implementation, System Evaluation, openEHR

1. Introduction

From the early developments and implementations of Electronic Health Records (EHRs) in clinical practice in the late 70s and 80s, healthcare has undergone an extensive process of digitalization and innovation. Initiatives to improve treatment, care, patient safety and effectiveness with Information Technology (IT) and digital tools are ever-increasing. Concurrently, both the number and complexity of healthcare IT systems that clinicians have to rely on in their day-to-day work increases. Clinicians are dependent on effective, intuitive and adapted IT systems to treat and care for patients; documenting, accessing and evaluating patient information is to a large degree done through digital formats. The

¹ Corresponding Author: Kristian Malm-Nicolaisen, Email: Kristian.Nicolaisen@ehealthresearch.no

technical platform used for health IT systems in general, and the EHR specifically, can have substantial consequences for clinicians and organization of work. The architecture of the platform, and in turn also the clinical applications that run on top of the platform, are built using either open standards, proprietary standards or a combination. In this study we will investigate two conceptually different architectural platform approaches.

2. Open platform-based EHRs vs Closed platform-based EHRs

For most healthcare provider organizations, the EHR contains the core functionality for documenting and accessing patient information and health data. The bedrock of any system application ecology is the platform, which provides a set of technical specifications and definitions for the interface and integration of separate applications implemented on the platform [1]. For the sake of argument, we will draw a conceptual line between the two different approaches for EHR platforms; on one side, are platforms based on open standard specifications for architecture and information modelling – from now on termed 'Open Platform EHRs'. For an EHR platform to be truly *open*, it arguably needs to conform to a set of principles. In 2016, Ewan Davis proposed that such principles should include the following; i) the use of freely available open standards; ii) the use of common information models; iii) that applications implemented to run on one instance of the platform easily can be implemented and ran on a different instance of the open platform; iv) the standards used in the platform should be technology and vendor neutral; v) the support for open data in a sharable and computable format; vi) the platform should provide open APIs [2].

On the other side are closed platforms, where the technical standards and information models used in the architecture are developed, maintained and controlled by the vendor using primarily proprietary technologies [1]. Traditionally, EHRs have to a large degree been based on closed platform architectures, often labeled 'megasuits' and 'monolithic systems' – termed 'Closed Platform EHRs'. From a business perspective, the idea behind megasuits have been to offer if not all, then most, needed software functionality in a single solution [3]. While this approach can yield great stability, it inevitably leads to 'vendor lock-in' and a situation where the vendor controls the data, and information interoperability and agility is impeded [4, 5]. On an open platform, it will be substantially easier to either replace applications or add new applications when new needs arise [6]. This dichotomous distinction between the two conceptual approaches is, however, a simplification; on a continuum ranging from open to closed, EHRs can be found on either side of a centre line, rather than on either periphery, depending on its characteristics.

3. Norwegian context

The Norwegian specialist healthcare system is organized in four separate geographic regions. Each Health region operates a number of hospitals and outpatient clinics, and governs their region with a large degree of autonomy in terms of IT decisions and procurements. Today, three of the health regions runs different implementations of the same EHR system from the Norwegian vendor DIPS AS, while the fourth is in the process of procuring a solution from the US vendor EPIC Systems.

The next version of the DIPS EHR (DIPS Arena) is based on the openEHR platform

specifications, and will be implemented in all three health regions currently running DIPS. With the new EHR, DIPS is moving from the proprietary, closed platform-based approach of their current EHR, to an open platform approach with DIPS Arena [7]. There are also cross-regional efforts to consolidate the databases between the three health regions [8]. In addition, through the public organization Nasjonal IKT, the Norwegian healthcare sector has a significant involvement in the development of the openEHR archetypes (ISO 13606) information standard [9]. Although EPIC Systems are, to some degree, starting to use open sourced standards and APIs through the Fast Interoperability Resources (FHIR) specification [10], the EHR is still considered a monolithic and proprietary, closed platform-based systems [4]. This places the fourth health region's EHR in stark contrast to the upcoming EHR in the three other regions, at least in terms of the chosen platform approach. Common for all of the health regions, are the fact that they are procuring EHR systems that architecturally are fundamentally different from what they currently are using.

Nationally, the Norwegian healthcare system operates toward a strategical aim of 'One citizen – one journal' [11]. This implies that a patient's health data should be available regardless of which hospital or health region s/he is admitted to. In practice extending the scope of the EHR from the institution level to a national integrated health and care community. A prerequisite for this, is that data needs to be fully interoperable between IT systems and organizational lines. The platform and information modelling used by their new EHRs will have implications also for how legacy data and systems are migrated and made available for clinicians post-implementation [12]. The consequences of using differing technical platform approaches to achieve this not fully understood. We wish to explore this in the present project.

4. Objective and research questions

In order to fully understand the consequences of EHR and platform choices, more knowledge is needed. The Norwegian context is unique; the specialist healthcare's IT systems are based on two arguably conceptually different approaches. We propose a study protocol to investigate and examine consequences of implementing either an open platform-based EHR or a closed platform-based EHR in general, and examine consequences for a future Norwegian system landscape.

The proposed subject is one that can be investigated from a number of perspectives; implementation process evaluation, technical implications, clinical outcome, workflow and organizational effects, financial consequences and patient care delivery and safety are all relevant variables when studying health IT innovation. The focus in the present study is on clinicians and their perceptions of usability in their EHR.

The main research question in this study is:

• Does the underlying technical EHR platform affect system adoption rate among clinicians?

Secondary research questions are:

- How does the underlying technical platform affect clinicians perceived system usability?
- How does clinician satisfaction with the EHR compare between the open platform approach and the closed platform approach?

5. Methods

The scope of the present project has to be sufficiently narrow to provide practical analysis for the Norwegian national context, yet wide enough to not miss important evidence from sources outside of traditional academia. For instance, a part of the evidence that are relevant for the subject at hand exists in non-peer reviewed literature, and the study will have to look into this so-called grey literature as well as the traditional research literature. Furthermore, because we aim to include sites that are similar to one of the two EHR systems that are in acquisition or implementation in Norway, a categorization is required in order to select hospital locations of interest. Therefore, the categorisations of different EHR systems in this study is a pragmatic attempt to relate to one of the two systems that are being implemented in Norway, and by no means a proposed global taxonomy. In order to achieve its goal, the project is designed to contain three phases: scoping review, interview with mid-level manager staff in hospitals and finally, a survey from clinical hospital staff.

5.1. Scoping study

The scoping study methodology is in most applications well suited for rapidly mapping key concepts, and flexible enough to include both research literature as well as other evidence that are relevant for a research question [13]. In the present project, the first step is to formulate the research question, then identify relevant studies and other evidence and make a selection. Finally, the evidence will be charted and summarized. The scoping procedure will resemble the stages proposed by Arksey and colleagues [14]. The review is designed to identify recurring themes and trends in the literature.

5.2. Interview with mid-level manager staff in hospitals

Interviews are conducted at minimum two, preferably four, hospitals in Europe. We aim to visit hospitals that adhere to different concepts of EHR-solutions- with respondents at the head of department level. The interview will be conducted in a semi-structured fashion. The questions will be open-ended and similar between hospitals, and the interviewees will be invited to elaborate on themes that they deem important. Qualitative data collected from the interviews will be analysed using the Framework Method [15]. Interviews will be recorded in audio and transcribed verbatim, and the transcripts independently read by each member of the research team. Interesting segments of text are then underlined and assigned to a label, to categorize which part of the research teams meet and present their suggested labels- and the following discussion results in a set of consensus-based codes. The resulting analytic framework is applied to all interviews, by assigning appropriate codes to each meaningful passage of text. Thirdly, the resulting data is summarized in a framework matrix using spreadsheets. Finally, the qualitative data in the framework matrix is reviewed to identify common themes [16].

5.3. Survey

A short questionnaire will be created to survey the clinical staff's perceptions of the EHR. It will be distributed in a digital format. In order for the questionnaire to have minimal interference with the schedules of the clinicians, the questionnaire will be designed to take a maximum of five minutes to complete. The questionnaire will be based on the System Usability Scale [17], in addition to approximately three items based on recurring themes that were identified in the interviews, and a free text section. The quantitative data from the survey will be summarized and presented descriptively, while the qualitative data from the free-text sections is analysed with a framework theory-based procedure, similar to the interview data.

6. Discussion

6.1. Limitations of the chosen methodological approach.

The methodology of the present project does not control for the effects of differences in implementation timelines of the EHR systems in the studied hospitals. The length of time from implementation is likely to affect the variables of interest in the present study, such as user satisfaction and adoption. Any attempt to make comparisons between hospitals should consider this limitation.

6.2. Risk of bias in respondents and study population

The interview respondents in the present study are not randomly selected, but are volunteers suggested by hospital administration or EHR vendors. There is a risk that the respondents have attitudes that are more positive towards their EHR systems than the hospital staff population in general.

7. Preliminary suppositions and implications

One of the most fundamental tools available for healthcare professionals and clinicians are the functionality provided through the IT systems in the hospital. A prerequisite for high quality and efficient treatment and care delivery are IT systems that are context sensitive, scalable, and with a high degree of usability and data interoperability [18, 19].

This study could contribute with new insight and understanding of the implications of fundamental concepts of the health IT portfolio from the end-user perspective. The growing market trends indicate substantial movement from the traditional megasuite scenario, towards an open platform-based ecology consisting of a multi-vendor system portfolio [20, 21]. This implies that the subject of the study has a high degree of topicality, and can be an important contribution for decision makers and hospital CIOs considering IT procurements.

An assessment of the consequences related to different platform designs can shed light on the implications the chosen technical approach will have on clinical and organizational practice. In addition, this study can constitute a basis for further research, possibly by conducting a more focused investigation on one of the themes that emerges in the present study, expand the number of respondents, or study a different aspect of EHR implementation.

Contributors

KMN and AJF conceived and designed the study and performed the initial investigation on the subject. KMN and AJF have been the main contributors to the manuscript. RP have critically revised the manuscript and contributed insight on the method and discussion. All authors approved the final manuscript before submission.

Funding

The research study is fully funded by the Norwegian Centre for E-health Research.

References

- What is an 'open platform?, T. Beale, (2014). https://wolandscat.net/2014/05/07/what-is-an-openplatform/ (accessed Sept 01,2019).
- Defining An Open Platform for Health IT, E. Davis, (2016). http://www.openhealthnews.com/story/2016-03-12/defining-open-platform-health-it (accessed Sept 01,2019).
- [3] Best of Breed vs. Monolithic Systems: Finding the Best Software Solutions Philosophy, A. Williams, (2018). https://www.mapcom.com/blog/best-of-breed-vs-monolithic-systems-finding-the-best-softwaresolutions-philosophy/ (accessed Jun 6, 2019).
- [4] S. Garber, S.M. Gates, E.B. Keeler, M.E. Vaiana, A.W. Mulcahy, C. Lau et al., Redirecting innovation in US health care: options to decrease spending and increase value, *Rand health quarterly* 4 (2014), 3.
- [5] The Postmodern EHR: What are the enablers?, T. Gornik, (2016). https://blog.better.care/2016/01/29/thepostmodern-ehr-what-are-the-enablers (accessed Jun 3, 2019).
- [6] The Postmodern EHR: The Data Layer, T. Gornik, (2016) http://www.openhealthnews.com/story/2016-05-04/postmodern-ehr-data-layer (accessed Sept 1, 2018).
- [7] L. Silsand, Growing an information infrastructure for healthcare based on the development of large-scale Electronic Patient Records. (2018). PhD. The Arctic University of Norway.
- [8] Finnes det en optimal metode for innføring av DIPS Arena Erfaringer fra innføring av Arena i Helse Sør-Øst og Helse Vest, A. Mellgren and J. Eikhaug, (2016), Deloitte. https://www.dips.com/sites/default/files/df16_dag_1_-eh3_-7_-anne_mellgren_jon_eikhaug_erfaringer_fra_innforinger_av_dips_arena.pdf (accessed Jun 3, 2019).
- [9] Klinisk informasjonsmodellering, E.H. Kindingstad and S.L. Bakke, (2018). https://kilden.sykehusene.no/display/KLIM/Klinisk+informasjonsmodellering (accessed Jan 28, 2019).
- [10] Epic Launches FHIR-Based App Platform, A. Ziegler, (2017). https://www.healthcareittoday.com/2017/03/02/epic-launches-fhir-based-app-platform/ (accessed Jan 10, 2019).
- [11] Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet, Meld. St. 9 (2012-2013), Én innbygger én journal (2012).
- [12] Can the road to open platform run alongside closed systems?, (n.d.) (2017). https://www.digitalhealth.net/2017/11/can-the-road-to-open-platform-run-alongside-proprietarysystems/ (accessed Jun 3, 2019).
- [13] N. Mays, E. Roberts, and J. Popay, Synthesising research evidence, in N. Fulop, P. Allen, A. Clarke and N. Black (Eds), *Methods for studying the delivery and organisation of health services*, Routledge, 2001.
- [14] H. Arksey, and L. O'Malley, Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework, *International journal of social research methodology* 8 (2005), 19-32.
- [15] N.K. Gale, G. Heath, E. Cameron, S. Rashid, and S. Redwood, Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 13 (2013), 117.
- [16] V. Braun and V. Clarke, Using thematic analysis in psychology, Qual. Res. Psychol. 3 (2006), 77-101.
- [17] J. Brooke, SUS-A quick and dirty usability scale, Usability evaluation in industry 189 (1996) 4-7.
- [18] R.A. Meehan, D.T. Mon, K.M. Kelly, M. Rocca, G. Dickinson, J. Ritter, et al. Increasing EHR system usability through standards: Conformance criteria in the HL7 EHR-system functional model, *Journal of biomedical informatics* 63 (2016), 169-173.
- [19] Electronic Health Record Association. EHR Code of Conduct, (n.d.). https://www.ehra.org/resourcelibrary/ehr-code-conduct.2017 (accessed Jan 11, 2019).
- [20] J. Lynn, The Bases of Competition in Healthcare Open vs Closed, Healthcare IT Today (2011).
- [21] Getting An Epic Opinion Off My Chest, V. Kuraitis, (2011). http://e-caremanagement.com/getting-anepic-opinion-off-my-chest/ (accessed Jun 3, 2019).

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0). doi:10.3233/SHTI190166

Evaluating the Contextual Integrity of Australia's My Health Record

Timothy KARIOTIS^{a, 1}, Megan PRICTOR^b, Shanton CHANG^a and Kathleen GRAY^c ^aSchool of Computing and Information Systems, University of Melbourne, Australia ^bMelbourne Law School, University of Melbourne, Australia ^cHealth and Biomedical Informatics Centre, University of Melbourne, Australia

Abstract. My Health Record (MyHR) is Australia's national personally-controlled electronic health record. Initially established in 2012, it moved from an opt-in to an opt-out system in 2018. This paper considers the privacy aspects of MyHR shared health summary. Drawing on Nissenbaum's theory of privacy as contextual integrity, we argue that the shift in the event-specific nature of information sharing leads to MyHR breaching contextual integrity. As per Nissenbaum's decision heuristic for contextual integrity, we evaluate this breach through a reflection on the changing nature of health care, including patient empowerment, and the greater complexity of care. It is evident that more needs to be known about the benefits of shared health summaries, as well as the actual use of MyHR by clinicians and patients. Though we focus on MyHR, this evaluation has broader applicability to other national electronic health records and electronic shared health summaries.

Keywords. Medical Records, Online Systems, Privacy, Ethics

1. Introduction

In Australia, My Health Record (MyHR) is a nationally established electronic health record that contains, among other things, a shareable summary of an individual's health information (www.myhealthrecord.gov.au). The transition of the MyHR system from opt-in to opt-out has fueled public concerns about privacy. To understand some of the privacy concerns we draw on the theory of Contextual Integrity. Contextual Integrity views privacy as the appropriate flow of information, which stems from the information norms in a specific context [1]. This contrasts with many definitions of privacy that are concerned with the control of information about oneself [1]. Nissenbaum [2] has proposed a decision heuristic to evaluate whether a new technology breaches contextual integrity, and further evaluation to see if this breach is warranted through a consideration of the moral and political implications of the new technology, as well as the values, goals and ends of the context. MyHR shared health summary which shifts the traditional 'push' method of information sharing to a 'pull' method of information sharing [3] may breach contextual integrity. One may question whether this breach of contextual integrity is justified by the changing nature of health care, as it evolves from a sole clinician model to a shared care participatory model.

¹ Corresponding Author: Timothy Kariotis, Email: timothy.kariotis@unimelb.edu.au

2. My Health Record

At the core of MyHR is a shared health summary (SHS); a summary of a person's health information, including critical information such as medical conditions, allergies and medications [4]. A patient's SHS is created by their regular provider; this may be a doctor, nurse or Aboriginal health worker [4]. Clinicians who are not the patient's regular provider (e.g. a doctor at an after-hours clinic) can upload an event summary detailing information that may be relevant for their regular clinician to know [4]. By 2022 the Australian Digital Health Agency plans for all health professionals to be able to contribute to and use MyHR [5]. Although clinicians are recommended to consult with patient's about what information is uploaded to MyHR, they are not legally bound to do this [6]. MyHR is the first Australia-wide example of a shared record that is set-up to allow a health care provider to view information about a patient that was created by other primary or tertiary care providers. Currently, the main users of MyHR are general practitioners (GPs) who access it through their practice based proprietary electronic patient record systems [7]. Unlike many international examples, MyHR is a way to exchange a summary record rather a way to exchange a full health record. The only comparable example would be the UK's National Health Service summary care record. Patients can access and view any documents uploaded to their own MyHR - and can upload some information themselves - through a national government portal (https://my.gov.au). Patients can also apply a number of privacy controls; however, these are not activated by default [8]. We are specifically interested in the privacy aspects of the SHS component of MyHR, as this is new in the context of primary health care [9].

3. Contextual Integrity

Contextual Integrity is a theory of privacy that views privacy as the appropriate flow of information, where what is appropriate stems from context specific information norms [2]. Privacy as contextual integrity shifts the focus of privacy from control over information to control over the flow of information that is appropriate to the context specific information norms [1]. Information norms that guide appropriate information flow can be mapped out using five parameters [2]. These parameters are the sender, receiver, and subject of the information, the type of information being shared and the constraints on information sharing, known as transmission principles. Transmission principles include constraints such as the need for consent before information is shared [1]. If any parameter is changed with the introduction of new technology, it is considered a breach of contextual information norms, and thus contextual integrity [2].

4. Method

The method for evaluating a potential breach of contextual integrity is outlined by Nissenbaum [2] as a nine-step decision heuristic. This heuristic first describes the new practice and the current context using the Contextual Integrity parameters. Information norms are determined, and any departures from these as a result of the new technology are identified. An initial assessment as to whether the technology breaches contextual integrity is made. It is acknowledged that contextual integrity can be conservative and that norms can change [1, 2]. Thus, if the new technology breaches contextual integrity,

it is recommended that the moral and political implications of new technology be considered, as well as whether it aligns with the goals, values and ends of the context [2]. The decision heuristic and its application to MyHR SHS is outlined below.

5. Results

5.1. Describe the Practice in Terms of Information Flow

The MyHR SHS envisages clinicians, mainly GPs, uploading a summary of their patient's information to a national electronic health record that other treating clinicians and the patient themselves can access. When a person attends a GP consultation, at the end of that consultation, their GP will upload a SHS - unless the patient specifically says that they do not want information uploaded. GPs are encouraged to discuss with each patient the information they are uploading to that person's MyHR.

5.2. Identify Prevailing Context

Hitherto, outside of referral and discharge letters written for particular purposes and exchanged by hand, mail or fax, clinicians have not provided a summary of information about a patient that other clinicians can access without notice, that is, without specific contact between the clinicians about the care of that patient [9]. Information exchange is usually done on an 'as required' basis, such as someone visiting their GP in need of a referral to a specialist. In such a case, only the most pertinent health information would be summarised in this exchange, but not a summary of the patient's full record.

5.3. Identify Information Actors

GPs act as gatekeepers in the Australian health care system, with access to specialist care requiring a referral from a GP [10]. Thus, in this context GPs in many cases act as the senders of information. Patients who visit a GP with a health problem, or for routine health care, are the main subjects in this context. Where the complexity begins is in considering the recipient, as there are a number of potential recipients of information from the GP. This could include a range of allied health professionals, medical specialists, or diagnostic services that provide tests such as x-rays or blood tests [10]. The type of recipient (i.e. where the patient needs to go next) will determine the type of information the GP needs to send.

5.4. Identify Transmission Principles

Currently, clinicians are guided both by confidentiality and acting in the patient's best interests [11, 12]. Under Australian privacy law, clinicians can share relevant information regarding a person's health with another treating clinician without that person's consent [13]. Patients tend to have limited knowledge of what information is shared between clinicians and how it is shared, though they appear to trust that clinicians will do what is in their best interest [14, 15].

5.5. Locate Applicable Entrenched Information Norms and Identify Significant Points of Difference

Current information norms are steeped in the trust placed in the clinician-patient relationship, and the values of patient benefit and confidentiality that clinicians balance when sharing information [11, 12]. Because of this, clinicians make decisions based on what they perceive as the patient's best interest when deciding to share information. Clinicians also record information differently depending on the recipient [16]. For example, clinician A pushes information to clinician B based on an event, such as the patient seeing clinician A for a health issue that requires further clinical involvement to address. Clinician A decides two things: what information is clinically relevant to clinician B, and what information should be shared with clinician B in the best interest of the patient. Thus, it could be said that the information is curated for the needs of the event (e.g. the patient's visit to clinician A), and the needs of the receiver (clinician B).

MyHR SHS is a new information practice. This type of record has been described as a shift from a 'push' method (a referral or discharge letter) to a 'pull' method, where a clinician can download information about a patient from that person's MyHR [3]. This information may not be curated, and thus may not be pertinent to the clinician 'pulling' it from MyHR; it may not even be up-to-date regarding the current health of the patient. One anonymous submission to a parliamentary enquiry described MyHR as [17, p. 1] "a glorified dropbox." This is in contrast to something like a management and care plan, which is designed to be used in team-based care of a particular type (e.g. aged care, chronic disease, mental health) and to include information relevant to those providing care.

5.6. Initial Assessment

An initial assessment of MyHR SHS points to a breach of contextual integrity due to the shift from a 'push' method of information sharing to a 'pull' method of information sharing. This is a change from the current curated and event-based nature of information sharing.

5.7. Evaluation I - Moral and Political

MyHR has been claimed to empower the individual by giving them control over their health record [5]. This aligns with a shift towards greater participation by patients, and the democratising of health care through ownership of one's health information [18]. This is seen in the patient's ability to access MyHR and apply security controls, but also in the recommendation that clinicians collaborate with their patients when writing that person's SHS. However, the benefits of this shift are not guaranteed to be experienced equally by all people. People may be marginalised due to issues such as low literacy or limited communication options [19, 20].

5.8. Evaluation II – Values, Goals, and Ends

When we consider the values, goals, and ends of health care, we are faced with a challenge due to the shift towards more complex models of care in the community [12]. Health care traditionally involved seeing a GP who provided treatment or referral on to a specialist with a referral letter; in this context, two clinicians balanced confidentiality

and the patient's best interest. The emergence of chronic and complex conditions has led to more collaborative care where several clinicians and services provide integrated aspects of care in parallel [21]. With this has come a shift in the importance of information sharing, and this has required new interpretations of the value of confidentiality [12, 21, 22]. Clinicians and patients may be willing for information to be shared more liberally if there is a benefit to a person's health [11, 15]. The trade-off between benefit to patient health and confidentiality when applied to MyHR is unclear, as we have little evidence to date about the benefits of the SHS. The SHS is supposed to improve the availability of "potentially lifesaving" information according to the Australian Digital Health Agency [5 p. 21]. However, there is a risk with summary records that this essential information will be lost because data are not curated [23].

5.9. Outcome

There is no definitive outcome from this evaluation of MyHR SHS, but it does raise issues for discussion in the shift to a more digital health system. There is a need to reflect on what confidentiality means in the age of complex and integrated care, and how this applies to an individual's electronic health record. Further, the benefit of promoting patient participation in care through their access to their MyHR needs to be considered within the context of power and privilege regarding who will be able to take up this opportunity to participate. Finally, the value of the SHS needs to be backed up with evidence.

6. Discussion and Conclusion

Initial assessment of MyHR SHS points to a breach in contextual integrity due to a shift from a 'push' to 'pull' method of information sharing. This disrupts the event-specific nature of current information sharing. Evaluating the contextual integrity of shared information in an electronic health record is complicated by the changing nature of health care. Team-based care requires greater sharing of information, which challenges traditional values related to confidentiality and privacy. In addition, clinicians' need for information to support individualised decision making is growing, and providing that information in an efficient and effective way is essential. If MyHR proves to have benefits to patients and clinicians, a breach of contextual integrity may be warranted. However, the evidence for summary records is still limited. There appears to be a risk that the promise of better care will be sunk by too much data with too little relevance at the point of care. New values related to patient empowerment pose opportunities for a shareable electronic health record that may justify breaches of contextual integrity. However, this rests on the assumption that patients have the resources to take control of their MyHR. Further evidence of MyHR SHS benefits, and of patients and clinicians actual use, is needed before we can conclusively determine whether MyHR breaches contextual integrity.

References

 H. Nissenbaum, Contextual integrity up and down the data food chain, *Theoretical Inquiries in Law* 20 (2019) 221–256.

- [2] H. Nissenbaum, Privacy in context: Technology, policy, and the integrity of social life, Stanford University Press, CA, 2009.
- [3] M. Zwaanswijk, M. Ploem, F. Wiesman, and R. Verheij, Understanding health care providers' reluctance to adopt a national electronic patient record: an empirical and legal analysis, *Med. Law* 32 (2013), 13-31
- [4] Shared health summaries versus event summaries, Australian Digital Health Agency. https://www.myhealthrecord.gov.au/shared-health-summaries-versus-event-summaries. (accessed Apr 10, 2019).
- [5] Australia's national digital health strategy, Australian Digital Health Agency, (2017). https://conversation.digitalhealth.gov.au/sites/default/files/adha-strategy-doc-2ndaug_0_1.pdf.
- [6] Understand when you can view and upload information, Australian Digital Health Agency. https://www.myhealthrecord.gov.au/for-healthcare-professionals/howtos/understand-when-you-canview-and-upload-information (accessed Apr 5, 2019).
- [7] My health record statistics, Australian Digital Health Agency, (2019). https://www.myhealthrecord.gov.au/statistics. (accessed Apr 12, 2019).
- [8] Keeping your health care information secure: Simple security tips, Australian Digital Health Agency, (2018). https://www.myhealthrecord.gov.au/sites/default/files/hd208_cyberprivacy_tips_wr_10april20-18.pdf?v=1534725567.
- [9] T. Greenhalgh, K. Stramer, T. Bratan, E. Byrne, Y. Mohammad, and J. Russell, Introduction of shared electronic records: multi-site case study using diffusion of innovation theory, *BMJ*. 337 (2008), a1786.
- [10] S. Duckett, and S. Willcox, *The Australian health care system*, Fifth edition, Oxford University Press, South Melbourne, Victoria, 2015.
- [11] A. Burns, J. Young, T.L. Roberts, J.F. Courtney, and T.S. Ellis, Exploring the role of contextual integrity in electronic medical record (EMR) system workaround decisions: an information security and privacy perspective, AIS Transactions on Human-Computer Interaction 7 (2015), 142–165.
- [12] M.A. Rothstein, The Hippocratic Bargain and Health Information Technology, J Law Med Ethics 38 (2010), 7–13.
- [13] Privacy and your health information, Office of the Australian Information Commissioner, (2014). https://www.oaic.gov.au/engage-with-us/consultations/health-privacy-guidance/fact sheet- privacy-andyour-health-information. (accessed Feb 15, 2019).
- [14] R. Whiddett, I. Hunter, J. Engelbrecht, and J. Handy, Patients' attitudes towards sharing their health information, *Int J Med Inform.* 75 (2006), 530–541.
- [15] N. Shen, T. Bernier, L. Sequeira, J. Strauss, M.P. Silver, A. Carter-Langford, et al., Understanding the patient privacy perspective on health information exchange: A systematic review, *Int J Med Inform.* 125 (2019), 1–12.
- [16] I. Cairns, M. Jonas, and K. Wallis, The Ethics of Sharing: How do social workers decide what to record in shared health records?, *Ethics and Social Welfare* 12 (2018), 348–369.
- [17] Anonymous, My Health Record system Senate inquiry: Submission 9, (2018). https://www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=1c53ccad-439a-40ed-8500-0c2db195d4da&subId=65-8980.
- [18] J. Calvillo, I. Román, and L.M. Roa, How technology is empowering patients? A literature review, *Health Expectations* 18 (2015), 643–652.
- [19] B. Hemsley, S. McCarthy, N. Adams, A. Georgiou, S. Hill, and S. Balandin, Legal, ethical, and rights issues in the adoption and use of the "My Health Record" by people with communication disability in Australia, *J Intellect Dev Dis.* 43 (2018), 506–514.
- [20] T.C. Kariotis, and K.M. Harris, Clinician perceptions of My Health Record in mental health care: medication management and sharing mental health information, Aust. J. Prim. Health. 25 (2019), 66–71.
- [21] L.C. Gray, K. Berg, B.E. Fries, J.-C. Henrard, J.P. Hirdes, K. Steel, et al., Sharing clinical information across care settings: the birth of an integrated assessment system, *BMC Health Services Research* 9 (2009).
- [22] M. Siegler, Confidentiality in medicine A decrepit concept, New England Journal of Medicine 307 (1982), 1518–1521.
- [23] R. Anderson, Do summary care records have the potential to do more harm than good? Yes, BMJ 340 (2010), c3020.

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0).

Subject Index

acceptability	37
adapted design	37
adoption rate	207
annotation guideline	113
APIs	201
apomediation	163
capacity building	195
care coordination	42
clinical decision support	86, 134
closed platform	207
cognition	80
collective mindfulness	31
community health workers	48
consumer informatics	175
consumer medication	
information	189
context	3,69
continuous implementation	22
data display	69
data quality	101
data sharing	157
de-identification	157
decision making	80
decision quality	163
decision support	3
digital health	12
ecological approach	169
ecology	121
education	74
electronic error reporting	107
electronic health record(s)	
(EHR) 69, 74, 141,	201, 207
electronic medication	
management	95
electronic patient record	86
emergency care	128
emergency department	134
error reporting system	107
ethics	213
evaluation	54, 141
FHIR®	201
fiduciary	157
health informatics	3,74

health information	
technology 63, 80,	128, 175
health IT	31
health literacy	175
health policy	157
health technology	181
HIT	121
homecare	42, 54
hospital	107
human centered design process	s 148
human factors	80
human factors and ergonomics	s 12
human factors and systems	
engineering	22
implementation	141, 207
implementation science	175
incident report	113
infrastructure	121
intermediation	163
International Classification for	
Patient Safety (ICPS)	113
interoperability	86, 201
interoperable	63
interventions	169
learning	121
management	141
mandatory documentation	95
medical errors	69
medical imaging	128
medical records	213
medication error	101
medication error reporting	107
medication indication	95
mHealth	48, 54
mHealth application	195
nurses	74
nursing	42
nursing homes	37
online systems	213
ontologies	3
open platform	86, 207
openEHR	207
organizational learning	22

overcrowding	148
pathology	128
patient-centred care	128, 181
patient decision aid	163
patient medication information	n 189
patient prioritization tool	148
patient safety 12, 31, 63,	101, 113,
	121, 181
pediatric emergency	148
person decision support tool	163
physicians	74
preferences	163
prescription drug information	
leaflets	189
privacy	157, 213
psycho-social aspects	195
pulmonary embolism	134
quality improvement	175
realist synthesis	63
reasoning	80
reporting system	101
research methods	31
reuse	86
safety culture	107
sedentary work	169

self-efficacy	195
shared decision making	128, 163
silo systems	86
smart drinking glass	37
socio-technical systems	22, 48, 54
sociology of translation	42
standards	3, 201
support	121
sustainability	3
system evaluation	207
teams	42
technology requirements	37
telemedicine	181
transformation	121
unintended consequences	121
usability	3, 80
usability engineering	175
usability of health IT	22
usage assessment	148
user-centered design	134
user satisfaction	195, 207
work organization	37
work practice	3
workflow	54
written medication information	on 189

Context Sensitive Health Informatics: Sustainability in Dynamic Ecosystems R. Marcilly et al. (Eds.) © 2019 The authors and IOS Press. This article is published online with Open Access by IOS Press and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License 4.0 (CC BY-NC 4.0).

Author Index

Abdulwahid M	63	Kannelsgaard I	160
Ademi A	107	Kappensgaard, L. Kariotis T	213
Airan-Iavia S	69	Keen I	63
Albolino, S.	12	Kidholm K	141
Antonsen, M.A.	107	King, N.	63
Barnett, J.	189	Kitson, N.	80
Baysari, M.	95	Kleinschmidt, P.	134
Bellandi, T.	12	Koppel, R.	69
Borvcki, E.M.	74, 80, 189	Kovacs, B.	37
Brox, N.M.B.	107	Kushniruk, A.W.	74, 80, 189
Bygholm, A.	169	Kuziemsky, C.E.	v, 3, 69
Carayon, P.	22, 134	Larsson, R.	42
Chang, S.	213	Lehnbom, E.C.	95, 107
Dahm, M.R.	128	Lesselroth, B.	175
Day, R.	95	Li, J.	128
Del Gigante, J.	95	Lichtner, V.	31
Demuro, P.R.	157	Lindberg, M.	48, 54
Dowie, J.	163	Malm-Nicolaisen, K.	207
Dubos, F.	148	Marcilly, R.	v, 3, 37, 148
Dullabh, P.	201	Miao, M.	128
Elkin, P.L.	3	Monkman, H.	80, 175, 189
Ellingsen, G.	86	Moran, M.	95
Elmholdt, K.T.	141	Nøhr, C.	v, 3, 141
Erlingsdottir, G.	42	Novak, C.	134
Fagerlund, A.J.	207	Patterson, B.W.	134
Fensli, R.W.	181	Pedersen, R.	86, 207
Franklin, B.D.	31	Pelayo, S.	v, 3, 37, 148
Fredheim, M.	107	Persson, J.	42
Gazza, C.	37	Petersen, C.	157
Georgiou, A.	128	Prictor, M.	213
Gong, Y.	101	Pulia, M.S.	134
Gray, K.	213	Rajendran, N.	201
Greenhalgh, J.	63	Ramukumba, M.M.	48, 54, 195
Hägglund, M.	48, 54, 195	Randell, R.	63
Hansen, M.B.	141	Rosborg, S.	48, 54
Heaney-Huls, K.	201	Rydenfält, C.	42
Hoonakker, P.L.T.	134	Salwei, M.E.	134
Hovey, L.	201	Schiro, J.	37, 148
Hundt, A.S.	134	Schmidt, T.	141
Jäderlund Hagstedt, L.	54	Schwartz, D.G.	69
Johansson, G.	42	Severinsen, GH.	86
Kaltoft, M.K.	163	Sheets, D.	189
Kang, H.	101	Shiima, Y.	113

Silsand, L.	86	Wentzer, H.S.	121
Sittig, D.F.	201	Westbrook, J.I.	31
Smaradottir, B.F.	181	Wiegmann, D.	134
Thomas, J.	128	Wong, Z.SY.	113
Waaseth, M.	107	Wright, A.	201
Wang, Y.	134	Wright, J.	63
Wawrzyniak, C.	148	Yao, B.	101